# English Phonetics and Phonology

A practical course

**Peter Roach** 

# Fourth edition

# **English Phonetics and Phonology**

# A practical course

English Phonetics and Phonology: A practical course by Peter Roach has been a leading coursebook on English pronunciation for twenty-five years. It presents the basic theoretical material needed to understand phonetics, phonology and the pronunciation of English in the form of a 20-unit course. Each unit ends with notes on issues that deserve further study and recommendations for further reading, as well as notes for teachers and written exercises. In addition, there are audio exercises for every chapter of the course on the two accompanying CDs. The new edition adds to this a website with additional written and spoken exercises, as well as a wealth of other material offering a wider perspective on the subject.

Combines examination of theoretical matters with extensive practice material

Designed as a 20-unit course which is suitable both for self-study or group work

• Includes notes for teachers working with a class and an answer key at the back of the book

• Is suitable for beginners who are expected to achieve a thorough working knowledge of English phonetics and phonology

• Includes updated references and bibliography, greater coverage of different varieties of English

Visit www.cambridge.org/elt/peterroach for additional exercises and resources

Peter Roach has taught phonetics and English pronunciation in France and Spain and has been a visiting lecturer in many countries around the world. He is the principal editor of the *Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary*, 17th edition, and a member of the International Phonetic Association, the British Association of Academic Phoneticians and IATEFL. Before retiring in 2003 he was Professor of Phonetics and Head of the School of Linguistics and Applied Language Studies at the University of Reading. He is now Emeritus Professor of Phonetics at the University of Reading.

977.0211115.2

# **English Phonetics and Phonology** A practical course

.

**Fourth edition** 

PETER ROACH

Emeritus Professor of Phonetics University of Reading

CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS Cambridge, New York, Melbourne, Madrid, Cape Town, Singapore, Sao Paulo, Delhi

Cambridge University Press The Edinburgh Building, Cambridge CB<sup>Y</sup> ARU, UK

www.cambridge.org

© Cambridge University Press ۲۰۰۹

This publication is in copyright. Subject to statutory exception and to the provisions of relevant collective licensing agreements, no reproduction of any part may take place without the written permission of Cambridge University Press.

First published ۱۹۸۳ Fourth edition ۲۰۰۹

Printed in Italy by G.Canale & C. S.p.A.

A catalogue record for this publication is available from the British Library

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Roach, Peter (Peter John)

English phonetics and phonology: a practical course / Peter Roach. - <sup>t</sup> th ed. p. cm.
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN <sup>4</sup>VA<sub>-</sub>·-<sup>o</sup>Y)-<sup>V</sup>Y<sup>t</sup>·-<sup>Y</sup> (pbk.) - ISBN <sup>4</sup>VA<sub>-</sub>·-<sup>o</sup>Y)-<sup>AAAAY</sup><sup>1</sup>. English language - Phonetics. <sup>Y</sup>. English language - Phonology. <sup>Y</sup>. English language - Study and teaching - Foreign speakers. I. Title.

PE1188.00 1..9

ISBN ٩٧٨-...٥٢١-٧١٧٤.-٣ paperback

ISBN ٩٧٨-...٥٢١-٨٨٨٨٢-. hardback

Cambridge University Press has no responsibility for the persistence or accuracy of URLs for external or third-party internet websites referred to in this publication, and does not guarantee that any content on such websites is, or will remain, accurate or appropriate.

# Contents

Preface to the fourth edition ix List of symbols x Chart of the International Phonetic Alphabet xii

# ۱. Introduction

- 1 How the course is organised 1 •
- The English Phonetics and Phonology website 2 •
- Phonemes and other aspects of pronunciation • 2
- Accents and dialects 3 •

# **\*.** The production of speech sounds 8

- Articulators above the larynx 8 •
- Vowel and consonant 10 •
- English short vowels 13 •

# **°**. Long vowels, diphthongs and triphthongs 16

- English long vowels • 16
- Diphthongs 17 •
- Triphthongs 18 •

### **£**. Voicing and consonants 22

- The larynx 22 •
- Respiration and voicing • 24
- Plosives 26 •
- **English plosives** 26 •
- Fortis and lenis 28 •

### •. Phonemes and symbols 31

- The phoneme 31 •
- Symbols and transcription 33 •
- Phonology 35

# ۲. Fricatives and affricates 39

- Production of fricatives and affricates 39
- The fricatives of English 40
- The affricates of English 🐖
- Fortis consonants 44

# $^{\rm V}.\,$ Nasals and other consonants $\,46$

- Nasals 46
- The consonant | 48
- The consonant r 49
- The consonants j and w 50

# The syllable 56

- The nature of the syllable 56
- The structure of the English syllable •v
- Syllable division 60

# **1. Strong and weak syllables** 64

- Strong and weak 64
- The @ vowel ("schwa") 👎
- Close front and close back vowels
- Syllabic consonants 74

# 1. Stress in simple words 73

- The nature of stress vr
- Levels of stress Vi
- Placement of stress within the word v•

# 11. Complex word stress 82

- Complex words 82
- Suffixes ^\*
- Prefixes 85
- Compound words 85
- Variable stress 86
- Word-class pairs 87

# 17. Weak forms 89

# ۱۳. Problems in phonemic analysis 97

- Affricates 97
- The English vowel system 99
- Syllabic consonants 100
- Clusters of **s** with plosives 101
- Schwa (@) 101
- Distinctive features 102
- Conclusion 103

# ۱۵۶ Aspects of connected speech د ۱۵۶

- Rhythm 107
- Assimilation 110
- Elision 113
- Linking 115

# ۱۰. Intonation 1 119

- Form and function in intonation 120
- Tone and tone languages 121
- Complex tones and pitch height 122
- Some functions of English tones 123
- Tones on other words 126

# 13. Intonation 2 129

- The tone-unit 129
- The structure of the tone-unit 130
- Pitch possibilities in the simple tone-unit 133

# 1V. Intonation 3 136

- Fall-rise and rise-fall tones followed by a tail 136
- High and low heads 138
- Problems in analysing the form of intonation 140
- Autosegmental treatment of intonation 143

# 146 1. Functions of intonation 1 146

- The attitudinal function of intonation 147
- Expressing attitudes 150

# 14. Functions of intonation 2 153

- The accentual function of intonation 153
- The grammatical function of intonation 154
- The discourse function of intonation 156
- Conclusions 159

# \*•. Varieties of English pronunciation 161

- The study of variety 161
- Geographical variation 162
- Other sources of variation 165

# ۲۱. Recorded exercises 169

Audio Unit 1: Introduction 169 Audio Unit 2: English short vowels 170 Audio Unit 3: Long vowels, diphthongs and triphthongs 171 Audio Unit 4: Plosives 173 Audio Unit 5: Revision 176 Audio Unit 6: Fricatives and affricates 177 Audio Unit 7: Further consonants 179 Audio Unit 8: Consonant clusters 181 Audio Unit 9: Weak syllables 183 Audio Unit 10: Word stress 185 Audio Unit 11: Complex word stress 187 Audio Unit 12: Weak forms 188 Audio Unit 13: Revision 190 Audio Unit 14: Elisions and rhythm 191 Audio Unit 15: Tones 192 Audio Unit 16: The tone-unit 193 Audio Unit 17: Intonation 195 Audio Unit 18: Intonation: extracts from conversation 196 Audio Unit 19: Further practice on connected speech 197 Audio Unit 20: Transcription of connected speech 198

# ۲۲. Answers to written exercises 200

# ۲۳. Answers to recorded exercises 210

Recommendations for general reading 219

Bibliography 222 Index 227

# Preface

In previous editions I have used the Preface as a place to thank all the people who have helped me with the book. My debt to them, which in some cases dates back more than twenty-five years, remains, and I have put copies of the Prefaces to the first three editions on the new website of the book so that those acknowledgements are not lost and forgotten. In this new edition, I would like firstly to thank Professor Nobuo Yuzawa of the Takasaki City University of Economics for his wise suggestions and his meticulous and expert scrutiny of the text, which have been invaluable to me. Any errors that remain are entirely my fault.

At Cambridge University Press, I would like to thank Jane Walsh, Jeanette Alfoldi, Liz Driscoll, Anna Linthe, Clive Rumble and Brendan Wightman.

As in all previous editions, I want to thank my wife Helen for all her help and support.

# List of symbols

Syr	nbols for phonemes		
I	as in 'pit' pit	i	as in 'key' k1:
ε	as in 'pet' pet	a:	as in 'car' ka:
æ	as in 'pat' pæt	31	as in 'core' ko:
Λ	as in 'putt' pAt	u:	as in 'coo' ku:
D	as in 'pot' ppt	31	as in 'cur' k3:
υ	as in 'put' put		
ə	as in 'about', upper' əbaut, Apə		

eı as in 'bay' beı	əu as in 'go' gəu
aı as in 'buy' baı	au as in 'cow' kau

1ə as in 'peer' p1əeə as in 'pear' pesuə as in 'poor' puə

oi as in 'boy' boi

as in 'pea' pi: р as in 'toe' tou t as in 'cap' kæp k f as in 'fat' fset as in 'thing' 01ŋ θ as in 'sip' sip S ſ as in 'ship' ∫ip as in 'hat' hæt h m as in 'map' mæp as in 'nap' næp n as in 'hang' hæŋ ŋ as in 'chin' t∫ın t∫

as in 'bee' bi: b as in 'doe' dou d as in 'gap' gæp g as in 'vat' væt V as in 'this' ðis ð as in 'zip' zıp Z as in 'measure' mezə 3 as in 'led' led 1 as in 'red' red r as in 'yet' jet j as in 'wet' wet W dʒ as in 'gin' dʒɪn

- *Non-phonemic symbols* 
  - i as in 'react', 'happy' riækt, hæpi
  - u as in 'to each' tu i:t∫
  - ? (glottal stop)
  - <sup>h</sup> aspiration, as in 'pin' p<sup>h</sup>In
  - syllabic consonant, as in 'button' bAtn
  - shortened vowel, as in 'miss' mĭs
  - syllable division, as in 'differ' dɪf.ə
- ۳ Word stress
  - primary stress, as in 'open' 'oupon
  - secondary stress, as in 'half time' ha:f 'taim
- ٤ Intonation

.

- tone-unit boundary
- || pause
- Tones: \ fall
  - / rise
  - v fall-rise
  - $\Lambda$  rise-fall
  - level
- ' stressed syllable in head, high pitch, as in 'please  $\underline{do}$
- , stressed syllable in head, low pitch, as in please  $\underline{do}$
- . stressed syllable in the tail, as in  $\underline{my}$  .turn
- <sup> $\dagger$ </sup> extra pitch height, as in <sup> $\dagger$ </sup> <u>my</u> .turn

### THE INTERNATIONAL PHONETIC ALPHABET (revised to ۲۰۰۰)

CONSONANTS (PULMONIC)

```
Alveolar Postalveolar Retroflex
              Bilabial Labiodental
                                  Dental
                                                                         Palatal
                                                                                   Velar
                                                                                            Uvular
                                                                                                     Pharyngeal
                                                                                                                 Giortal
                                                                                                                 2
                  b
                                            t d
                                                                    d
                                                                         С
                                                                                   k
Plosive
                                                                              Ŧ
                                                                                                 G
              р
                                                                                       g
                                                                                            q
                  m
                                               n
                                                                                                Ν
Nasal
                            ŋ
                                                                    η
                                                                              n
                                                                                       ŋ
                                                                                                      10756200520-0-75
Trill
                   в
                                               r
                                                                                                 R
                                               ſ
                                                                    t
                             v
Tap or Flap
                   β
                                  θð
                                                                                                      ħΥ
                                                                                                                h fi
                        f
                                               Z
                                                                                                 R
             φ
                             v
                                           S
                                                          3
                                                                    Z
Fricative
                                                                Ş
                                                                         ç
                                                                              ł
                                                                                  х
                                                                                       Y
                                                                                            χ
Lateral
                                            ł
                                               k
fricative
                                                                                                      ana and an and a second
                                               1
Approximant
                             υ
                                                                    J
                                                                                       щ
Lateral
                                               1
                                                                              λ
                                                                                        L
approximant
```

Where symbols appear in pairs, the one to the right represents a voiced consonant. Shaded areas denote articulations judged impossible.

**VOWELS** 

Front

### CONSONANTS (NON-PULMONIC)



### OTHER SYMBOLS

M	Voiceless labiai-velar fricative	ÇZ Alveolo-palatal fricatives		
W	Voiced labial-velar approximant	J Voiced alveolar lateral flap		
q	Voiced labial-palatel approximant	$\hat{h}$ Simultaneous $\int$ and $X$		
н	Voiceless epiglottal fricative			
£	Voiced epigioual fricative	Affricates and double articulations can be represented by two symbols		
<del>2</del>	Epiglottal plosive	joined by a tie bar if necessary.		

DIACRITICS	Diacritics may be placed above a symbol with a descender, e.g. $\overline{I}$	ł

0	Voiceless	ņ	ģ		Breathy voiced	þ	a	P	Dental	ţd
~	Voiced	Ş	ţ	~	Creaky voiced	þ	ą	J	Apical	ţ₫
h	Aspirated	th	dh	~	Linguolabial	ţ	đ		Laminal	ţd
,	More rounded	ş		w	Labialized	tw	d <sup>w</sup>	~	Nasalized	ẽ
	Less rounded	ç		j	Palatalized	tj	dj	n	Nasal release	dn
+	Advanced	ų		¥	Velarized	t <sup>y</sup>	dY	1	Lateral release	$d^1$
_	Retracted	ē		٢	Pharyngealized	t <sup>s</sup>	ds	٦	No audible relea	se d'
••	Centralized	ë		~	Velarized or pha	ryngea	lized 1	/		
×	Mid-centralized	ě		÷	Raised	ę	( <b>J</b>	= ve	oiced alveolar fric	ative)
	Syllabic	ņ		т	Lowered	ę	( <b>]</b>	} = vi	piced bilabial appr	oximant)
_	Non-syllabic	ĕ		-	Advanced Tong	ie Rooi	ę	;		
r	Rhoticity	ð	æ	F	Retracted Tongu	e Root	ę	;		

Close i 🔍 y		i • ʉ	— u	• u
	ΙΥ		υ	
Close-mid e	•ø	-ə•e-	γ	0
	and from	en de la		1. m.
Open-mid	ενα	е—з∳в	Λ	• <b>3</b>
	æ	B		
Open	1	a • Œ	a	d.
	Where symb to the right r	ols appear in p epresents a rou	airs, the o inded vow	ne /el.
	SUPRA	SEGMENTAL	LS	12
	ł	Primary stree	55	
ts		Secondary st	ress ∪nə'tı∫i	าก
<b>–</b>		Long	el	<b>911</b>
ŋ	Y	Half-long	e'	1
		Extra-short	ĕ	
ţd		Minor (foot)	group	
ţġ		Major (inton	ation) gro	пр
ţġ	•	Syllable brea	ak li.a	ekt

Central

Back

© ۲۰۰۰ IPA

$\sim$	Linking	(absence	of a	break)
--------	---------	----------	------	--------

	TONES AND W EVEL		CENTS CONTOUR
ế or	T Extra high	ě or	Rising
é	High	ê	V Falling
ē	- Mid	se se se	1 High rising
è	_ Low	è	Low
ề	L Extra	è	A Rising- falling
t	Downstep	7	Globat rise
1	Upstep	$\mathbf{Y}$	Giobai fall

Reproduced by kind permission of the International Phonetic Association, Department of Theoretical and Applied Linguistics, School of English, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki °٤١٢٤, Greece.

# 1 Introduction

You probably want to know what the purpose of this course is, and what you can expect to learn from it. An important purpose of the course is to explain how English is pronounced in the accent normally chosen as the standard for people learning the English spoken in England. If this was the only thing the course did, a more suitable title would have been "English Pronunciation". However, at the comparatively advanced level at which this course is aimed, it is usual to present this information in the context of a general theory about speech sounds and how they are used in language; this theoretical context is called **phonetics and phonology.** Why is it necessary to learn this theoretical background? A similar question arises in connection with grammar: at lower levels of study one is concerned simply with setting out how to form grammatical sentences, but people who are going to work with the language at an advanced level as teachers or researchers need the deeper understanding provided by the study of grammatical theory and related areas of linguistics. The theoretical material in the present course is necessary for anyone who needs to understand the principles regulating the use of sounds in spoken English.

# 1.1 How the course is organised

You should keep in mind that this is a *course*. It is designed to be studied from beginning to end, with the relevant exercises being worked on for each chapter, and it is therefore quite different from a reference book. Most readers are expected to be either studying English at a university, or to be practising English language teachers. You may be working under the supervision of a teacher, or working through the course individually; you may be a native speaker of a language that is not English, or a native English-speaker.

Each chapter has additional sections:

- Notes on problems and further reading: this section gives you information on how to find out more about the subject matter of the chapter.
- Notes for teachers: this gives some ideas that might be helpful to teachers using the book to teach a class.
- Written exercises: these give you some practical work to do in the area covered by the chapter. Answers to the exercises are given on pages 7...9.
- Audio exercises: these are recorded on the CDs supplied with this book (also convertible to mp<sup>\u03c4</sup> files), and there are places marked in the text when there is a relevant exercise.

• Additional exercises: you will find more written and audio exercises, with answers, on the book's website.

Only some of the exercises are suitable for native speakers of English. The exercises for Chapter  $\uparrow$  are mainly aimed at helping you to become familiar with the way the written and audio exercises work.

# 1,7 The English Phonetics and Phonology website

If you have access to the Internet, you can find more information on the website produced to go with this book. You can find it at www.cambridge.org/elt/peterroach. Everything on the website is additional material - there is nothing that is essential to using the book itself, so if you don't have access to the Internet you should not suffer a disadvantage.

The website contains the following things:

- Additional exercise material.
- Links to useful websites.
- A discussion site for exchanging opinions and questions about English phonetics and phonology in the context of the study of the book.
- Recordings of talks given by Peter Roach.
- Other material associated with the book.
- A Glossary giving brief explanations of the terms and concepts found in phonetics and phonology.

# ۱,۳ Phonemes and other aspects of pronunciation

The nature of phonetics and phonology will be explained as the course progresses, but one or two basic ideas need to be introduced at this stage. In any language we can identify a small number of regularly used sounds (vowels and consonants) that we call **phonemes;** for example, the vowels in the words 'pin' and 'pen' are different phonemes, and so are the consonants at the beginning of the words 'pet' and 'bet'. Because of the notoriously confusing nature of English spelling, it is particularly important to learn to think of English pronunciation in terms of phonemes rather than letters of the alphabet; one must be aware, for example, that the word 'enough' begins with the same vowel phoneme as that at the beginning of 'inept' and ends with the same consonant as 'stuff'. We often use special symbols to represent speech sounds; with the symbols chosen for this course, the word 'enough' would be written (**transcribed**) as inAf. The symbols are always printed in **blue** type in this book to distinguish them from letters of the alphabet. A list of the symbols is given on pp. x-xi, and the chart of the International Phonetic Association (IPA) on which the symbols are based is reproduced on p. xii

The first part of the course is mainly concerned with identifying and describing the phonemes of English. Chapters  $\checkmark$  and % deal with vowels and Chapter  $\ddagger$  with some consonants. After this preliminary contact with the practical business of how some English sounds are

pronounced, Chapter  $\circ$  looks at the phoneme and at the use of symbols in a theoretical way, while the corresponding Audio Unit revises the material of Chapters  $\checkmark$ - $\pounds$ . After the phonemes of English have been introduced, the rest of the course goes on to look at larger units of speech such as the **syllable** and at aspects of speech such as **stress** (which could be roughly described as the relative strength of a syllable) and **intonation** (the use of the pitch of the voice to convey meaning). As an example of stress, consider the difference between the pronunciation of contract' as a noun ('they signed a <u>contract</u>') and 'contract' as a verb ('it started to con<u>tract</u>'). In the former the stress is on the first syllable, while in the latter it is on the second syllable. A possible example of intonation would be the different pitch movements on the word 'well' said as an exclamation and as a question: in the first case the pitch will usually fall from high to low, while in the second it will rise from low to high.

You will have to learn a number of technical terms in studying the course: you will find that when they are introduced in order to be defined or explained, they are printed in **bold type**. This has already been done in this Introduction in the case of, for example, **phoneme, phonetics** and **phonology\*.** Another convention to remember is that when words used as examples are given in spelling form, they are enclosed in single quotation marks - see for example 'pin', 'pen', etc. Double quotation marks are used where quotation marks would normally be used - that is, for quoting something that someone has said or might say. Words are sometimes printed in *italics* to mark them as specially important in a particular context.

# 1.4 Accents and dialects

Languages have different **accents:** they are pronounced differently by people from different geographical places, from different social classes, of different ages and different educational backgrounds. The word *accent* is often confused with **dialect**. We use the word *dialect* to refer to a variety of a language which is different from others not just in pronunciation but also in such matters as vocabulary, grammar and word order. Differences of accent, on the other hand, are pronunciation differences only.

The accent that we concentrate on and use as our model is the one that is most often recommended for foreign learners studying British English. It has for a long time been identified by the name **Received Pronunciation** (usually abbreviated to its initials, **RP**), but this name is old-fashioned and misleading: the use of the word "received" to mean "accepted" or "approved" is nowadays very rare, and the word if used in that sense seems to imply that other accents would not be acceptable or approved of. Since it is most familiar as the accent used by most announcers and newsreaders on BBC and British independent television broadcasting channels, a preferable name is **BBC pronunciation**. This should not be taken to mean that the BBC itself imposes an "official" accent - individual broadcasters all have their own personal characteristics, and an increasing number of broadcasters with Scottish, Welsh and Irish accents are employed. However, the accent described here is typical of broadcasters with an English accent, and there is a useful degree of consistency in the broadcast speech of these speakers.

<sup>\*</sup> You will find these words in the Glossary on the website.

This course is not written for people who wish to study American pronunciation, though we look briefly at American pronunciation in Chapter  $\checkmark$ . The pronunciation of English in North America is different from most accents found in Britain. There are exceptions to this - you can find accents in parts of Britain that sound American, and accents in North America that sound English. But the pronunciation that you are likely to hear from most Americans does sound noticeably different from BBC pronunciation.

In talking about accents of English, the foreigner should be careful about the difference between **England** and **Britain**; there are many different accents in England, but the range becomes very much wider if the accents of Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland (Scotland and Wales are included in Britain, and together with Northern Ireland form the **United Kingdom**) are taken into account. Within the accents of England, the distinction that is most frequently made by the majority of English people is between **northern** and **southern**. This is a very rough division, and there can be endless argument over where the boundaries lie, but most people on hearing a pronunciation typical of someone from Lancashire, Yorkshire or other counties further north would identify it as "Northern". This course deals almost entirely with BBC pronunciation. There is no implication that other accents are inferior or less pleasant-sounding; the reason is simply that BBC is the accent that has usually been chosen by British teachers to teach to foreign learners, it is the accent that has been most fully described, and it has been used as the basis for textbooks and pronunciation dictionaries.

A term which is widely found nowadays is **Estuary English**, and many people have **been** given the impression that this is a new (or newly-discovered) accent of English. In reality there is no such accent, and the term should be used with care. The idea originates from the sociolinguistic observation that some people in public life who would previously have been expected to speak with a BBC (or RP) accent now find it acceptable to speak with some characteristics of the accents of the London area (the estuary referred to is the Thames estuary), such as glottal stops, which would in earlier times have caused comment or disapproval.

If you are a native speaker of English and your accent is different from BBC you should try, as you work through the course, to note what your main differences are for purposes of comparison. I am certainly not suggesting that you should try to change your pronunciation. If you are a learner of English you are recommended to concentrate on BBC pronunciation initially, though as you work through the course and become familiar with this you will probably find it an interesting exercise to listen analytically to other accents of English, to see if you can identify the ways in which they differ from BBC and even to learn to pronounce some different accents yourself.

# Notes on problems and further reading

The recommendation to use the name BBC pronunciation rather than RP is not universally accepted. 'BBC pronunciation' is used in recent editions of the Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary (Jones, eds. Roach, Hartman and Setter,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \uparrow$ ), in Trudgill (1999)

and in Ladefoged  $(7 \cdot \cdot \xi)$ ; for discussion, see the Introduction to the Longman Pronunciation Dictionary (Wells,  $7 \cdot \cdot \Lambda$ ), and to the Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary (Jones, eds. Roach *et al*,  $7 \cdot \cdot 7$ ). In Jones's original English Pronouncing Dictionary of 1917 the term used was Public School Pronunciation (PSP). Where I quote other writers who have used the term RP in discussion of standard accents, I have left the term unchanged. Other writers have suggested the name GB (General British) as a term preferable to RP: I do not feel this is satisfactory, since the accent being described belongs to England, and citizens of other parts of Britain are understandably reluctant to accept that this accent is the standard for countries such as Scotland and Wales. The BBC has an excellent Pronunciation Research Unit to advise broadcasters on the pronunciation of difficult words and names, but most people are not aware that it has no power to make broadcasters use particular pronunciations: BBC broadcasters only use it on a voluntary basis.

I feel that if we had a completely free choice of model accent for British English it would be possible to find more suitable ones: Scottish and Irish accents, for example, have a more straightforward relationship between spelling and sounds than does the BBC accent; they have simpler vowel systems, and would therefore be easier for most foreign learners to acquire. However, it seems that the majority of English teachers would be reluctant to learn to speak in the classroom with a non-English accent, so this is not a practical possibility.

For introductory reading on the choice of English accent, see Brown (199: 17-17); Abercrombie (199: 14-07); Cruttenden ( $7 \cdot \cdot h$ : Chapter  $^{\vee}$ ); Collins and Mees ( $7 \cdot \cdot h$ : 7-7); Roach ( $7 \cdot \cdot t$ ,  $7 \cdot \cdot o$ ). We will return to the subject of accents of English in Chapter  $7 \cdot$ .

Much of what has been written on the subject of "Estuary English" has been in minor or ephemeral publications. However, I would recommend looking at Collins and Mees  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land: \circ - \neg, \uparrow \cdot \neg - \land, \uparrow \neg \land - \uparrow \lor \uparrow)$ ; Cruttenden  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land: \land \lor)$ .

A problem area that has received a lot of attention is the choice of symbols for representing English phonemes. In the past, many different conventions have been proposed and students have often been confused by finding that the symbols used in one book are different from the ones they have learned in another. The symbols used in this book are in most respects those devised by A. C. Gimson for his *Introduction to the Pronunciation of English*, the latest version of which is the revision by Cruttenden (Cruttenden,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land$ ). These symbols are now used in almost all modern works on English pronunciation published in Britain, and can therefore be looked on as a *de facto* standard. Although good arguments can be made for some alternative symbols, the advantages of having a common set of symbols for pronunciation teaching materials and pronunciation entries in dictionaries are so great that it would be very regrettable to go back to the confusing diversity of earlier years. The subject of symbolisation is returned to in Section  $\circ, \uparrow$  of Chapter  $\circ$ .

# Notes for teachers

Pronunciation teaching has not always been popular with teachers and language-teaching theorists, and in the 194.5 and 194.5 it was fashionable to treat it as a rather outdated activity. It was claimed, for example, that it attempted to make learners try to sound like

native speakers of Received Pronunciation, that it discouraged them through difficult and repetitive exercises and that it failed to give importance to communication. A good example of this attitude is to be found in Brown and Yule ( $14\Lambda$ °: 1-V). The criticism was misguided, I believe, and it is encouraging to see that in recent years there has been a significant growth of interest in pronunciation teaching and many new publications on the subject. There are very active groups of pronunciation teachers who meet at TESOL and IATEFL conferences, and exchange ideas via Internet discussions.

No pronunciation course that I know has ever said that learners must try to speak with a perfect RP accent. To claim this mixes up **models** with **goals:** the *model* chosen **is BBC** (RP), but the *goal* is normally to develop the learner's pronunciation sufficiently to permit effective communication with native speakers. Pronunciation exercises can be difficult, of course, but if we eliminate everything difficult from language teaching and learning, we may end up doing very little beyond getting students to play simple communication games. It is, incidentally, quite incorrect to suggest that the classic works on pronunciation and phonetics teaching concentrated on mechanically perfecting vowels and consonants: Jones (\^o, \, first published \^o, \, for example, writes " 'Good' speech may be defined as a way of speaking which is clearly intelligible to all ordinary people. 'Bad' speech is a way of talking which is difficult for most people to understand ... A person may speak with sounds very different from those of his hearers and yet be clearly intelligible to all of them, as for instance when a Scotsman or an American addresses an English audience with clear articulation. Their speech cannot be described as other than 'good''' (pp.  $\xi$ -o).

Much has been written recently about **English as an International Language**, with a view to defining what is used in common by the millions of people around the world who use English (Crystal,  $\forall \cdot \cdot \forall$ ; Jenkins,  $\forall \cdot \cdot \cdot$ ). This is a different goal from that of this book, which concentrates on a specific accent. The discussion of the subject in Cruttenden ( $\forall \cdot \cdot \wedge$ : Chapter  $\forall \forall$ ) is recommended as a survey of the main issues, and the concept of an International English pronunciation is discussed there.

There are many different and well-tried methods of teaching and testing pronunciation, some of which are used in this book. I do not feel that it is suitable in this book to go into a detailed analysis of classroom methods, but there are several excellent treatments of the subject; see, for example, Dalton and Seidlhofer (1990); Celce-Murcia *et al.* (1997) and Hewings ( $7 \cdot \cdot \xi$ ).

# Written exercises

The exercises for this chapter are simple ones aimed at making you familiar with the style of exercises that you will work on in the rest of the course. The answers to the exercises are given on page  $\gamma \cdot \cdot$ .

• Give three different names that have been used for the accent usually used for teaching the pronunciation of British English.

- Y What is the difference between accent and dialect<sup>7</sup>.
- $\gamma$  Which word is used to refer to the relative strength of a syllable?
- <sup>£</sup> How many sounds (phonemes) do you think there are in the following words?
  - a) love b) half c) wrist d) shrink e) ought

Now look at the answers on page  $\gamma \cdot \cdot$ .

# 2 The production of speech sounds

### 2.1 Articulators above the larynx

All the sounds we make when we speak are the result of muscles contracting. The muscles in the chest that we use for breathing produce the flow of air that is needed for almost all speech sounds; muscles in the **larynx** produce many different modifications in the flow of air from the chest to the mouth. After passing through the larynx, the air goes through what we call the **vocal tract**, which ends at the mouth and nostrils; we call the part comprising the mouth the **oral cavity** and the part that leads to the nostrils the **nasal cavity**. Here the air from the lungs escapes into the atmosphere. We have a large and complex set of muscles that can produce changes in the shape of the vocal tract, and in order to learn how the sounds of speech are produced it is necessary to become familiar with the different parts of the vocal tract. These different parts are called **articulators**, and the study of them is called **articulatory phonetics**.

Fig. Y is a diagram that is used frequently in the study of phonetics. It represents the human head, seen from the side, displayed as though it had been cut in half. You will need to look at it carefully as the articulators are described, and you will find it useful to have a mirror and a good light placed so that you can look at the inside of your mouth.

i) The **pharynx** is a tube which begins just above the larynx. It is about <sup>V</sup> cm long in women and about <sup>A</sup> cm in men, and at its top end it is divided into two, one



Fig. 1 The articulators

part being the back of the oral cavity and the other being the beginning of the way through the nasal cavity. If you look in your mirror with your mouth open, you can see the back of the pharynx.

- ii) The **soft palate** or **velum** is seen in the diagram in a position that allows air to pass through the nose and through the mouth. Yours is probably in that position now, but often in speech it is raised so that air cannot escape through the nose. The other important thing about the soft palate is that it is one of the articulators that can be touched by the tongue. When we make the sounds k, g the tongue is in contact with the lower side of the soft palate, and we call these **velar** consonants.
- iii) The **hard palate** is often called the "roof of the mouth". You can feel its smooth curved surface with your tongue. A consonant made with the tongue close to the hard palate is called **palatal.** The sound j in 'yes' is palatal.
- iv) The **alveolar ridge** is between the top front teeth and the hard palate. You can feel its shape with your tongue. Its surface is really much rougher than it feels, and is covered with little ridges. You can only see these if you have a mirror small enough to go inside your mouth, such as those used by dentists. Sounds made with the tongue touching here (such as t, d, n) are called **alveolar**.
- v) The tongue is a very important articulator and it can be moved into many different places and different shapes. It is usual to divide the tongue into different parts, though there are no clear dividing lines within its structure. Fig. <sup>Y</sup> shows the tongue on a larger scale with these parts shown: tip, blade, front, back and root. (This use of the word "front" often seems rather strange at first.)
- vi) The **teeth** (upper and lower) are usually shown in diagrams like Fig. <sup>1</sup> only at the front of the mouth, immediately behind the lips. This is for the sake of a simple diagram, and you should remember that most speakers have teeth to the sides of their mouths, back almost to the soft palate. The tongue is in contact with the upper side teeth for most speech sounds. Sounds made with the tongue touching the front teeth, such as English T, D, are called **dental.**



vii) The **lips** are important in speech. They can be pressed together (when we produce the sounds p, b), brought into contact with the teeth (as in f, v), or rounded to produce the lip-shape for vowels like u:. Sounds in which the lips are in contact with each other are called **bilabial**, while those with lip-to-teeth contact are called **labiodental**.

The seven articulators described above are the main ones used in speech, but there are a few other things to remember. Firstly, the larynx (which will be studied in Chapter  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) could also be described as an articulator - a very complex and independent one. Secondly, the **jaws** are sometimes called articulators; certainly we move the lower jaw a lot in speaking. But the jaws are not articulators in the same way as the others, because they cannot themselves make contact with other articulators. Finally, although there is practically nothing active that we can do with the **nose** and the nasal cavity when speaking, they are a very important part of our equipment for making sounds (which is sometimes called our **vocal apparatus**), particularly nasal consonants such as m, n. Again, we cannot really describe the nose and the nasal cavity as articulators in the same sense as (i) to (vii) above.

# 2.2 Vowel and consonant

The words **vowel** and **consonant** are very familiar ones, but when we study the sounds of speech scientifically we find that it is not easy to define exactly what they mean. The most common view is that vowels are sounds in which there is no obstruction to the flow of air as it passes from the larynx to the lips. A doctor who wants to look at the back of a patient's mouth often asks them to say "ah"; making this vowel sound is the best way of presenting an unobstructed view. But if we make a sound like s, d it can be clearly felt that we are making it difficult or impossible for the air to pass through the mouth. Most people would have no doubt that sounds like s, d should be called consonants. However, there are many cases where the decision is not so easy to make. One problem is that some English sounds that we think of as consonants, such as the sounds at the beginning of the words 'hay' and 'way', do not really obstruct the flow of air more than some vowels do. Another problem is that different languages have different ways of dividing their sounds into vowels and consonants; for example, the usual sound produced at the beginning of the word 'red' is felt to be a consonant by most English speakers, but in some other languages (e.g. Mandarin Chinese) the same sound is treated as one of the vowels.

If we say that the difference between vowels and consonants is a difference in the way that they are produced, there will inevitably be some cases of uncertainty or disagreement; this is a problem that cannot be avoided. It is possible to establish two distinct groups of sounds (vowels and consonants) in another way. Consider English words beginning with the sound h; what sounds can come next after this h? We find that most of the sounds we normally think of as vowels can follow (e.g. e in the word 'hen'), but practically none of the sounds we class as consonants, with the possible exception of j in a word such as 'huge' hju:d<sub>3</sub>. Now think of English words beginning with the two sounds bI; we find many cases where a consonant can follow (e.g. d in the word 'bid', or l in the word 'bill'),

but practically no cases where a vowel may follow. What we are doing here is looking at the different contexts and positions in which particular sounds can occur; this is the study of the **distribution** of the sounds, and is of great importance in phonology. Study of the sounds found at the beginning and end of English words has shown that two groups of sounds with quite different patterns of distribution can be identified, and these two groups are those of vowel and consonant. If we look at the vowel-consonant distinction in this way, we must say that the most important difference between vowel and consonant is not the way that they are made, but their different distributions. It is important to remember that the distribution of vowels and consonants is different for each language.

We begin the study of English sounds in this course by looking at vowels, and it is necessary to say something about vowels in general before turning to the vowels of English. We need to know in what ways vowels differ from each other. The first matter to consider is the shape and position of the tongue. It is usual to simplify the very complex possibilities by describing just two things: firstly, the vertical distance between the upper surface of the tongue and the palate and, secondly, the part of the tongue, between front and back, which is raised highest. Let us look at some examples:

i) Make a vowel like the i: in the English word 'see' and look in a mirror; if you tilt your head back slightly you will be able to see that the tongue is held up close to the roof of the mouth. Now make an { vowel (as in the word 'cat') and notice how the distance between the surface of the tongue and the roof of the mouth is now much greater. The difference between i: and as is a difference of tongue height, and we would describe i: as a relatively **close** vowel and as as a relatively **open** vowel. Tongue height can be changed by moving the tongue up or down, or moving the lower jaw up or down. Usually we use some combination of the two sorts of movement, but when drawing side-of-the-head diagrams such as Fig. <sup>1</sup> and Fig. <sup>7</sup> it is usually found simpler to illustrate tongue shapes for vowels as if tongue height were altered by tongue movement alone, without any accompanying jaw movement. So we would illustrate the tongue height difference between i: and æ as in Fig. <sup>r</sup>.



Fig. 3 Tongue positions for ir and æ

ii) In making the two vowels described above, it is the front part of the tongue that is raised. We could therefore describe i: and æ as comparatively **front** vowels. By changing the shape of the tongue we can produce vowels in which a different part of the tongue is the highest point. A vowel in which the back of the tongue is the highest point is called a **back** vowel. If you make the vowel in the word 'calm', which we write phonetically as a:, you can see that the back of the tongue is raised. Compare this with æ in front of a mirror; as is a front vowel and a: is a back vowel. The vowel in 'too' (u:) is also a comparatively back vowel, but compared with a: it is close.

So now we have seen how four vowels differ from each other; we can show this in a simple diagram.

	Front	Back
Close	ir	u:
Open	æ	a:

However, this diagram is rather inaccurate. Phoneticians need a very accurate way of classifying vowels, and have developed a set of vowels which are arranged in a close-open, front-back diagram similar to the one above but which are not the vowels of any particular language. These **cardinal vowels** are a standard reference system, and people being trained in phonetics at an advanced level have to learn to make them accurately and recognise them correctly. If you learn the cardinal vowels, you are not learning to make English sounds, but you are learning about the range of vowels that the human vocal apparatus can make, and also learning a useful way of describing, classifying and comparing vowels. They are recorded on Track  $\Upsilon$  of CD  $\Upsilon$ .

It has become traditional to locate cardinal vowels on a four-sided figure (a quadrilateral of the shape seen in Fig.  $\frac{1}{2}$  - the design used here is the one recommended by the **International Phonetic Association**). The exact shape is not really important - a square would do quite well - but we will use the traditional shape. The vowels in Fig.  $\frac{1}{2}$  are the so- called **primary** cardinal vowels; these are the vowels that are most familiar to the speakers of most European languages, and there are other cardinal vowels (**secondary** cardinal vowels) that sound less familiar. In this course cardinal vowels are printed within square brackets [] to distinguish them clearly from English vowel sounds.



Fig. 4 Primary cardinal vowels

Cardinal vowel no.  $\$  has the symbol [i], and is defined as the vowel which is as close and as front as it is possible to make a vowel without obstructing the flow of air enough to produce friction noise; friction noise is the hissing sound that one hears in consonants like s or f. Cardinal vowel no.  $\circ$  has the symbol [a] and is defined as the most open and back vowel that it is possible to make. Cardinal vowel no.  $\land$  [u] is fully close and back and no.  $\leq$  [a] is fully open and front. After establishing these extreme points, it is possible to put in intermediate points (vowels no.  $\checkmark$ ,  $\ulcorner$ ,  $\urcorner$  and  $\lor$ ). Many students when they hear these vowels find that they sound strange and exaggerated; you must remember that they are *extremes* of vowel quality. It is useful to think of the cardinal vowel framework like a map of an area or country that you are interested in. If the map is to be useful to you it must cover all the area; but if it covers the whole area of interest it must inevitably go a little way beyond that and include some places that you might never want to go to.

When you are familiar with these extreme vowels, you have (as mentioned above) learned a way of describing, classifying and comparing vowels. For example, we can say that the English vowel { (the vowel in 'cat') is not as open as cardinal vowel no.  $\xi$  [a]. We have now looked at how we can classify vowels according to their tongue height and their frontness or backness. There is another important variable of vowel quality, and that is lip-position. Although the lips can have many different shapes and positions, we will at this stage consider only three possibilities. These are:

- i) Rounded, where the corners of the lips are brought towards each other and the lips pushed forwards. This is most clearly seen in cardinal vowel no. ^ [u].
- ii) Spread, with the corners of the lips moved away from each other, as for a smile. This is most clearly seen in cardinal vowel no. 1 [i].
- iii) Neutral, where the lips are not noticeably rounded or spread. The noise most English people make when they are hesitating (written 'er') has neutral lip position.

# Now, using the principles that have just been explained, we will examine some of the English vowels.

# 2.3 English short vowels

₩ AU<sup>1</sup>, Exs <sup>1</sup>-°

English has a large number of vowel sounds; the first ones to be examined are short vowels. The symbols for these short vowels are: I,e, {, **v**, **q**, **u**. Short vowels are only *relatively* short; as we shall see later, vowels can have quite different lengths in different contexts.

Each vowel is described in relation to the cardinal vowels.



Fig. 5 English short vowels

- I (example words: 'bit', 'pin', 'fish') The diagram shows that, though this vowel is in the close front area, compared with cardinal vowel no. \ [i] it is more open, and nearer in to the centre. The lips are slightly spread,
- e (example words: 'bet', 'men', 'yes') This is a front vowel between cardinal vowel no. <sup>γ</sup> [e] and no. <sup>γ</sup>
   [ε]. The lips are slightly spread.
- æ (example words: 'bat', 'man', 'gas') This vowel is front, but not quite as open as cardinal vowel no.
   <sup>ε</sup> [a]. The lips are slightly spread.
- **Λ** (example words: 'cut', 'come', 'rush') This is a central vowel, and the diagram shows that it is more open than the open-mid tongue height. The lip position is neutral.
- b (example words: 'pot', 'gone', 'cross') This vowel is not quite fully back, and between open-mid and open in tongue height. The lips are slightly rounded.
- $\upsilon$  (example words: 'put', 'pull', 'push') The nearest cardinal vowel is no.  $\land$  [u], but it can be seen that u is more open and nearer to central. The lips are rounded.

There is one other short vowel, for which the symbol is  $\mathfrak{d}$ . This central vowel - which is called **schwa** - is a very familiar sound in English; it is heard in the first syllable of the words 'about', 'oppose', 'perhaps', for example. Since it is different from the other vowels in several important ways, we will study it separately in Chapter <sup>9</sup>.

# Notes on problems and further reading

One of the most difficult aspects of phonetics at this stage is the large number of technical terms that have to be learned. Every phonetics textbook gives a description of the articulators. Useful introductions are Ladefoged ( $\gamma \cdot \gamma$ : Chapter  $\gamma$ ), Ashby ( $\gamma \cdot \circ \circ$ ), and Ashby and Maidment ( $\gamma \cdot \circ \circ$ : Chapter  $\gamma$ ).

An important discussion of the vowel-consonant distinction is by Pike (1927;11-99). He suggested that since the two approaches to the distinction produce such different results we should use new terms: sounds which do not obstruct the airflow (traditionally called "vowels") should be called **vocoids**, and sounds which *do* obstruct the airflow (traditionally called "consonants") should be called **contoids**. This leaves the terms "vowel" and "consonant" for use in labelling phonological elements according to their distribution and their role in syllable structure; see Section  $\circ$ ,  $\wedge$  of Laver (1992). While vowels are usually vocoids and consonants are usually contoids, this is not always the case; for example, j in 'yet' and w in 'wet' are (phonetically) vocoids but function (pho- nologically) as consonants. A study of the distributional differences between vowels and consonants in English is described in O'Connor and Trim (1907); a briefer treatment is in Cruttenden  $(7 \cdot \cdot \wedge$ : Sections  $\xi$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\circ$ ,  $\gamma$ ). The classification of vowels has a large literature: I would recommend Jones  $(1990: Chapter \wedge)$ ; Ladefoged  $(7 \cdot \cdot \gamma)$  gives a brief introduction in Chapter  $\gamma$ , and much more detail in Chapter q; see also Abercrombie  $(1970: \circ\circ-7 \cdot$  and Chapter  $1 \cdot$ ). The *Handbook of the International Phonetic Association* (1999: Section 7,7) explains the IPA's principles of vowel classification. The distinction between primary and secondary cardinal vowels is a rather dubious one which appears to be based to some extent on a division between those vowels which are familiar and those which are unfamiliar to speakers of most European languages. It is possible to classify vowels quite unambiguously without resorting to this notion by specifying their front/back, close/open and lip positions.

# Written exercises

• On the diagram provided, various articulators are indicated by labelled arrows (a-e). Give the names for the articulators.



<sup>Y</sup> Using the descriptive labels introduced for vowel classification, say what the following cardinal vowels are:

a) [u] b) [e] c) [a] d) [i] e) [o]

- <sup> $\Upsilon$ </sup> Draw a vowel quadrilateral and indicate on it the correct places for the following English vowels: a) æ b) A C) I d) e
- <sup>2</sup> Write the symbols for the vowels in the following words:

a) bread	b) rough	c) foot	d) hymn
e) pull	f) cough	g) mat	h) friend

# 3 Long vowels, diphthongs and triphthongs

# 3.1 English long vowels

In Chapter <sup>Y</sup> the short vowels were introduced. In this chapter we look at other types of English vowel sound. The first to be introduced here are the five long vowels; these are the vowels which tend to be longer than the short vowels in similar contexts. It is necessary to say "in similar contexts" because, as we shall see later, the length of all English vowel sounds varies very much according to their context (such as the type of sound that follows them) and the presence or absence of stress. To remind you that these vowels tend to be long, the symbols consist of one vowel symbol plus a length mark made of two dots :. Thus we have i:, 3:, a:, o:, u:. We will now look at each of these long vowels individually.

The five long vowels are different from the six short vowels described in Chapter  $\checkmark$ , not only in length but also in quality. If we compare some similar pairs of long and short vowels, for example I with it, or  $\upsilon$  with ut, or æ with at, we can see distinct differences in quality (resulting from differences in tongue shape and position, and lip position) as well as in length. For this reason, all the long vowels have symbols which are different from those of short vowels; you can see that the long and short vowel symbols would still all be different from each other even if we omitted the length mark, so it is important to remember that the length mark is used not because it is essential but because it helps learners to remember the length difference. Perhaps the only case where a long and a short vowel are closely similar in quality is that of  $\vartheta$  and  $\vartheta$ , but  $\vartheta$  is a special case - as we shall see later.

€ AU<sup>r</sup>, Exs 1-0



Fig. 6 English long vowels

- i: (example words: 'beat', 'mean', 'peace') This vowel is nearer to cardinal vowel no. \ [i] (i.e. it is closer and more front) than is the short vowel of 'bid', 'pin', 'fish' described in Chapter \. Although the tongue shape is not much different from cardinal vowel no. \, the lips are only slightly spread and this results in a rather different vowel quality.
- 3: (example words: 'bird', 'fern', 'purse') This is a mid-central vowel which is used in most English accents as a hesitation sound (written 'er'), but which many learners find difficult to copy. The lip position is neutral.
- a: (example words: 'card', 'half, 'pass') This is an open vowel in the region of cardinal vowel no. ° [a], but not as back as this. The lip position is neutral.
- o: (example words: 'board', 'torn', 'horse') The tongue height for this vowel is between cardinal vowel no. 7 [o] and no. 7 [o], and closer to the latter. This vowel is almost fully back and has quite strong lip-rounding.
- u: (example words: 'food', 'soon', 'loose') The nearest cardinal vowel to this is no. ^ [u], but BBC u: is much less back and less close, while the lips are only moderately rounded.

# **r.r** Diphthongs

**ω** AU<sup>γ</sup>, Exs <sup>¬</sup> & <sup>γ</sup>

BBC pronunciation has a large number of diphthongs - sounds which consist of a movement or glide from one vowel to another. A vowel which remains constant and does not glide is called a **pure vowel**.

In terms of length, diphthongs are similar to the long vowels described above. Perhaps the most important thing to remember about all the diphthongs is that the first part is much longer and stronger than the second part; for example, most of the diphthong aI (as in the words 'eye', 'I') consists of the a vowel, and only in about the last quarter of the diphthong does the glide to I become noticeable. As the glide to I happens, the loudness of the sound decreases. As a result, the I part is shorter and quieter. Foreign learners should, therefore, always remember that the last part of English diphthongs must not be made too strongly.

The total number of diphthongs is eight (though  $\upsilon \vartheta$  is increasingly rare). The easiest way to remember them is in terms of three groups divided as in this diagram (Fig. <sup>V</sup>):



The centring diphthongs glide towards the  $\mathfrak{d}$  (schwa) vowel, as the symbols indicate.



# Fig. 8 Centring diphthongs

i> (example words: 'beard', 'weird', 'fierce') The starting point is a little closer than I in 'bit', 'bin',

- eə (example words: 'aired', 'cairn', 'scarce') This diphthong begins with a vowel sound that is more open than the e of 'get', 'men'.
- υθ (example words: 'moored', 'tour', 'lure') For speakers who have this diphthong, this has a starting point similar to υ in 'put', 'pull'. Many speakers pronounce ρ: instead.

The closing diphthongs have the characteristic that they all end with a glide towards a closer vowel. Because the second part of the diphthong is

weak, they often do not reach a position that could be called close. The important thing is that a glide from a relatively more open towards a relatively closer vowel is produced.

Three of the diphthongs glide towards I, as described below:



eI (example words: 'paid', 'pain', 'face') The starting point is the same as the e of 'get', 'men',

at (example words: 'tide', 'time', 'nice') This diphthong begins with an open vowel which is between front and back; it is quite similar to the  $\Lambda$  of the words 'cut', 'bun',

oı (example words: 'void', 'loin', 'voice') The first part of this diphthong is slightly more open than o: in 'ought', 'born'.

# Fig. 9 Closing diphthongs

Two diphthongs glide towards U, so that as the tongue moves closer to the roof of the mouth there is at the same time a rounding movement of the

lips. This movement is not a large one, again because the second part of the diphthong is weak.

 $\vartheta u$  (example words: 'load', 'home', 'most') The vowel position for the beginning of this is the same as for the "schwa" vowel  $\vartheta$ , as found in the first syllable of the word 'about'. The lips may be slightly rounded in anticipation of the glide towards u, for which there is quite noticeable lip-rounding.

au (example words: 'loud', 'gown', 'house') This diphthong begins with a vowel similar to aI. Since this is an open vowel, a glide to  $\upsilon$  would necessitate a large movement, and the tongue often does not reach the u position. There is only slight lip-rounding.

# 3.3 Triphthongs

The most complex English sounds of the vowel type are the **triphthongs.** They can be rather difficult to pronounce, and very difficult to recognise. A triphthong is a glide from

one vowel to another and then to a third, all produced rapidly and without interruption. For example, a careful pronunciation of the word 'hour' begins with a vowel quality similar to  $\alpha$ ; goes on to a glide towards the back close rounded area (for which we use the symbol  $\upsilon$ ), then ends with a mid-central vowel (schwa,  $\vartheta$ ). We use the symbol  $\alpha \upsilon$  to represent the pronunciation of 'hour', but this is not always an accurate representation of the pronunciation.

The triphthongs can be looked on as being composed of the five closing diphthongs described in the last section, with O added on the end. Thus we get:

$e_{I} + a = e_{I}a$	əu + ə = əuə
$a_1 + a_2 = a_1 a_3$	$a\upsilon + \vartheta = a\upsilon\vartheta$
$\Im = \Im = \Im$	

The principal cause of difficulty for the foreign learner is that in present-day English the extent of the vowel movement is very small, except in very careful pronunciation. Because of this, the middle of the three vowel qualities of the triphthong (i.e. the I or u part) can hardly be heard and the resulting sound is difficult to distinguish from some of the diphthongs and long vowels. To add to the difficulty, there is also the problem of whether a triphthong is felt to contain one or two syllables. Words such as 'fire' faiə or 'hour' auə are probably felt by most English speakers (with BBC pronunciation) to consist of only one syllable, whereas 'player' pleiə or 'slower' slouo are more likely to be heard as two syllables.

We will not go through a detailed description of each triphthong. This is partly because there is so much variation in the amount of vowel movement according to how slow and careful the pronunciation is, and also because the "careful" pronunciation can be found by looking at the description of the corresponding diphthong and adding  $\vartheta$  to the end. However, to help identify these triphthongs, some example words are given here:

eıə 'layer', 'player' əuɔ 'lower', 'mower' aıə 'liar', 'fire' auə 'power', 'hour' ɔıə 'loyal', 'royal'

### Notes on problems and further reading

For more information about vowels, see Ashby  $({}^{\cdot}{}^{\cdot}{}^{\circ}$ , Chapter  ${}^{\epsilon}$ ), Ladefoged  $({}^{\cdot}{}^{\cdot}{}^{\epsilon}$ , Chapter  ${}^{\tau}$ ). Long vowels and diphthongs can be seen as a group of vowel sounds that are consistently longer *in a given context* than the short vowels described in the previous chapter. Some writers give the label tense to long vowels and diphthongs and *lax* to the short vowels. Giegerich  $({}^{1}{}^{q}{}^{\gamma})$  explains how this concept applies to three different accents of English: SSE (Standard Scottish English), RP (BBC pronunciation) and GA (General American). The accents are described in  ${}^{\tau}{}^{,\tau}$  and  ${}^{\tau}{}^{,\tau}$ ; the idea of pairs of vowels differing in tenseness and laxness follows in  ${}^{\tau}{}^{,\tau}$ . Jakobson and Halle  $({}^{1}{}^{1}{}^{\xi})$  explain the historical background to the distinction, which plays an important role in the treatment of the English vowel system by Chomsky and Halle  $({}^{1}{}^{1}{}^{\lambda})$ .

As mentioned in the notes on Chapter \, the choice of symbols has in the past tended to vary from book to book, and this is particularly noticeable in the case of length marks

for long vowels (this issue comes up again in Section  $\circ, \uparrow$  of Chapter  $\circ$ ); you could read Cruttenden ( $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land$ : Section  $\land, \circ$ ). As an example of a contemporary difference in symbol choice, see Kreidler ( $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \xi, \xi, \uparrow$ ).

The phonemes i:, u: are usually classed as long vowels; it is worth noting that most English speakers pronounce them with something of a diphthongal glide, so that a possible alternative transcription could be 1i, ou, respectively. This is not normally proposed, however.

It seems that triphthongs in BBC pronunciation are in a rather unstable state, resulting in the loss of some distinctions: in the case of some speakers, for example, it is not easy to hear a difference between 'tyre' taio, 'tower' tauo, 'tar' ta:. BBC newsreaders often pronounce 'Ireland' as a:lond. Gimson (1975) suggested that this shows a change in progress in the phonemic system of RP.

### Notes for teachers

I mention above that i:, u: are often pronounced as slightly diphthongal: although this glide is often noticeable, I have never found it helpful to try to teach foreign learners to pronounce i:, u: in this way. Foreign learners who wish to get close to the BBC model should be careful not to pronounce the "r" that is often found in the spelling corresponding to a:, o:, o:, o:, ('ar', 'or', 'er').

Most of the essential pronunciation features of the diphthongs are described in Chapter  $\mathcal{V}$ . One of the most common pronunciation characteristics that result in a learner of English being judged to have a foreign accent is the production of pure vowels where a diphthong should be pronounced (e.g. [e] for et, [o] for  $\vartheta \upsilon$ ).

Two additional points are worth making. The diphthong  $\upsilon \vartheta$  is included, but this is not used as much as the others - many English speakers use  $\vartheta$ : in words like 'moor', 'mourn', 'tour'. However, I feel that it is important for foreign learners to be aware of this diphthong because of the distinctiveness of words in pairs like 'moor' and 'more', 'poor' and 'paw' for many speakers. The other diphthong that requires comment is  $\vartheta \upsilon$ . English speakers seem to be specially sensitive to the quality of this diphthong, particularly to the first part. It often happens that foreign learners, having understood that the first part of the diphthong is not a back vowel, exaggerate this by using a vowel that is too front, producing a diphthong like  $\varepsilon \upsilon$ . Unfortunately, this gives the impression of someone trying to copy a "posh" or upper- class accent:  $\varepsilon \upsilon$  for  $\vartheta \upsilon$  is noticeable in the speech of the Royal Family.

- <sup>1</sup> On the vowel diagram provided, indicate the glides for the diphthongs in the following words:
  - fright c) clear
  - home d) cow



- Write the symbols for the long vowels in the following words:
  - broad d) learn g) err
  - ward e) cool h) seal
  - calf f) team i) curl
- Write the symbols for the diphthongs in the following words:
  - tone d) way g) hair
  - style e) beer h) why
  - out f) coil i) prey

# 4 Voicing and consonants

### 4.1 The larynx

We begin this chapter by studying the **larynx**. The larynx has several very important functions in speech, but before we can look at these functions we must examine its anatomy and physiology - that is, how it is constructed and how it works.

The larynx is in the neck; it has several parts, shown in Fig. **`.** Its main structure is made of **cartilage**, a material that is similar to bone but less hard. If you press down on your nose, the hard part that you can feel is cartilage. The larynx's structure is made of two large cartilages. These are hollow and are attached to the top of the **trachea**; when we breathe, the air passes through the trachea and the larynx. The front of the larynx comes to a point and you can feel this point at the front of your neck - particularly if you are a man and/or slim. This point is commonly called the **Adam's Apple**.

Inside the "box" made by these two cartilages are the **vocal folds**, which are two thick flaps of muscle rather like a pair of lips; an older name for these is **vocal cords**. Looking down the throat is difficult to do, and requires special optical equipment, but Fig. 11 shows in diagram form the most important parts. At the front the vocal folds are joined together and fixed to the inside of the **thyroid cartilage**. At the back they are attached to a pair of





Fig. 11 The inside of the larynx seen from above

small cartilages called the **arytenoid cartilages** so that if the arytenoid cartilages move, the vocal folds move too.

The arytenoid cartilages are attached to the top of the **cricoid cartilage**, but they can move so as to move the vocal folds apart or together (Fig. 1). We use the word **glottis** to refer to the opening between the vocal folds. If the vocal folds are apart we say that the glottis is open; if they are pressed together we say that the glottis is closed. This seems quite simple, but in fact we can produce a very complex range of changes in the vocal folds and their positions.

These changes are often important in speech. Let us first look at four easily recognisable states of the vocal folds; it would be useful to practise moving your vocal folds into these different positions.

- Wide apart: The vocal folds are wide apart for normal breathing and usually during voiceless consonants like p, f, s (Fig. 17a). Your vocal folds are probably apart now.
- Narrow glottis: If air is passed through the glottis when it is narrowed as in Fig. *\"b*, the result is a fricative sound for which the symbol is h. The sound is not very different from a whispered vowel. It is called a **voiceless glottal fricative.** (Fricatives are discussed in more detail in Chapter *\.*) Practise saying hahahaha alternating between this state of the vocal folds and that described in (iii) below.
- Position for vocal fold vibration: When the edges of the vocal folds are touching each other, or nearly touching, air passing through the glottis will usually cause vibration (Fig. *\"c*). Air is pressed up from the lungs and this air pushes the vocal folds apart so that a little air escapes. As the air flows quickly past the edges of



Fig. 12 Arytenoid cartilages causing closing and opening of the glottis



### Fig. 13 Four different states of the glottis

the vocal folds, the folds are brought together again. This opening and closing happens very rapidly and is repeated regularly, roughly between two and three hundred times per second in a woman's voice and about half that rate in an adult man's voice.

iv) Vocal folds tightly closed: The vocal folds can be firmly pressed together so that air cannot pass between them (Fig. 1°d). When this happens in speech we call it a **glottal stop** or **glottal plosive**, for which we use the symbol ?. You can practise this by coughing gently; then practise the sequence a?a?a?a?a.

### 4.2 Respiration and voicing

Section  $\{\cdot,\cdot\}$  referred several times to air passing between the vocal folds. The normal way for this airflow to be produced is for some of the air in the lungs to be pushed out; when air is made to move out of the lungs we say that there is an **egressive pulmonic airstream.** All speech sounds are made with some movement of air, and the egressive pulmonic is by far the most commonly found air movement in the languages of the world. There are other ways of making air move in the vocal tract, but they are not usually relevant in the study of English pronunciation, so we will not discuss them here.

How is air moved into and out of the lungs? Knowing about this is important, since it will make it easier to understand many aspects of speech, particularly the nature of stress and intonation. The lungs are like sponges that can fill with air, and they are contained within the rib cage (Fig. 12). If the rib cage is lifted upwards and outwards there



# Fig. 14 The lungs and the rib cage

n a la segui de la segui d La segui de la s

is more space in the chest for the lungs and they expand, with the result that they take in more air. If we allow the rib cage to return to its rest position quite slowly, some of the air is expelled and can be used for producing speech sounds. If we wish to make the egressive pulmonic airstream continue without breathing in again - for example, when saying a long sentence and not wanting to be interrupted - we can make the rib cage press down on the lungs so that more air is expelled.

In talking about making air flow into and out of the lungs, the process has been described as though the air were free to pass with no obstruction. But, as we saw in Chapter  $\Upsilon$ , to make speech sounds we must obstruct the airflow in some way - breathing by itself makes very little sound. We obstruct the airflow by making one or more obstructions or **strictures** in the vocal tract, and one place where we can make a stricture is in the larynx, by bringing the vocal folds close to each other as described in the previous section. Remember that there will be no vocal fold vibration unless the vocal folds are in the correct position and the air below the vocal folds is under enough pressure to be forced through the glottis.

If the vocal folds vibrate we will hear the sound that we call **voicing** or **phonation**. There are many different sorts of voicing that we can produce - think of the differences in the quality of your voice between singing, shouting and speaking quietly, or think of the different voices you might use reading a story to young children in which you have to read out what is said by characters such as giants, fairies, mice or ducks; many of the differences are made with the larynx. We can make changes in the vocal folds themselves - they can, for example, be made longer or shorter, more tense or more relaxed or be more or less strongly pressed together. The pressure of the air below the vocal folds (the **subglottal pressure**) can also be varied. Three main differences are found:

- Variations in **intensity:** We produce voicing with high intensity for shouting, for example, and with low intensity for speaking quietly.
- Variations in **frequency:** If the vocal folds vibrate rapidly, the voicing is at high frequency; if there are fewer vibrations per second, the frequency is lower.
- Variations in **quality:** We can produce different-sounding voice qualities, such as those we might call *harsh, breathy, murmured or creaky.*
# • Plosives

A **plosive** is a consonant articulation with the following characteristics:

- One articulator is moved against another, or two articulators are moved against each other, so as to form a stricture that allows no air to escape from the vocal tract. The stricture is, then, total.
- After this stricture has been formed and air has been compressed behind it, it is **released** that is, air is allowed to escape.
- If the air behind the stricture is still under pressure when the plosive is released, it is probable that the escape of air will produce noise loud enough to be heard. This noise is called **plosion.** d) There may be voicing during part or all of the plosive articulation.

To give a complete description of a plosive consonant we must describe what happens at each of the following four phases in its production:

- The first phase is when the articulator or articulators move to form the stricture for the plosive. We call this the **closing phase**.
- The second phase is when the compressed air is stopped from escaping. We call this the **compression phase.**
- The third phase is when the articulators used to form the stricture are moved so as to allow air to escape. This is the **release phase.**
- The fourth phase is what happens immediately after (iii), so we will call it the post-release phase.

# ۱,٤ English plosives

English has six plosive consonants: p, t, k, b, d, g. The glottal plosive ? occurs frequently but it is of less importance, since it is usually just an alternative pronunciation of p, t, k in certain contexts. The plosives have different places of articulation. The plosives p, b are bilabial since the lips are pressed together (Fig.  $1^\circ$ ); t, d are alveolar since the tongue blade is pressed against the alveolar ridge (Fig.  $1^\circ$ ). Normally the tongue does not touch the front teeth as it does in the dental plosives found in many languages. The plosives k, g are velar; the back of the tongue is pressed against the area where the hard palate ends and the soft palate begins (Fig.  $1^\circ$ ).

The plosives p, t, k are always voiceless; b, d, g are sometimes fully voiced, sometimes partly voiced and sometimes voiceless. We will consider what b, d, g should be called in Section  $\xi_{,\circ}$  below.

All six plosives can occur at the beginning of a word (**initial position**), between other sounds (**medial position**) and at the end of a word (**final position**). To begin with we will look at plosives preceding vowels (which can be abbreviated as CV, where C stands for a consonant and V stands for a vowel), between vowels (VCV) and following vowels (VC). We will look at more complex environments in later chapters.



Fig. 15 Bilabial articulation

Fig. 16 Alveolar articulation

Q AU<sup>ε</sup>, Ex )

i) Initial position (CV): The closing phase for p, t, k and b, d, g takes place silently. During the compression phase there is no voicing in p, t, k; in b, d, g there is normally very little voicing - it begins only just before the release. If the speaker pronounces an initial b, d, g very slowly and carefully there may be voicing during the entire compression phase (the plosive is then fully voiced), while in rapid speech there may be no voicing at all.

The release of p, t, k is followed by audible plosion - that is, a burst of noise. There is then, in the post-release phase, a period during which air escapes through the vocal folds, making a sound like h. This is called **aspiration.** Then the vocal folds come together and voicing begins. The release of b, d, g is followed by weak plosion, and this happens at about the same time as, or shortly after, the beginning of voicing. The most noticeable and important difference, then, between initial p, t, k and b, d, g is the aspiration of the voiceless plosives p, t, k. The different phases of the plosive all happen very



Fig. 17 Velar articulation

rapidly, but the ear distinguishes clearly between p, t, k and b, d, g. If English speakers hear a fully voiced initial plosive, they will hear it as one of b, d, g but will notice that it does not sound quite natural. If they hear a voiceless unaspi- rated plosive they will also hear that as one of b, d, g, because it is aspiration, not voicing which distinguishes initial p, t, k from b, d, g. Only when they hear a voiceless aspirated plosive will they hear it as one of p, t, k; experiments have shown that we perceive aspiration when there is a delay between the sound of plosion and the beginning (or **onset**) of voicing.

In initial position, b, d, g cannot be preceded by any consonant, but p, t, k may be preceded by s. When one of p, t, k is preceded by s it is unaspirated. From what was said above it should be clear that the unaspirated p, t, k of the initial combinations sp, st, sk have the sound quality that makes English speakers perceive a plosive as one of b, d, g; if a recording of a word beginning with one of sp, st, sk is heard with the s removed, an initial b, d or g is perceived by English speakers.

• Medial position (VCV): The pronunciation of p, t, k and b, d, g in medial position depends to some extent on whether the syllables preceding and following the plosive are stressed. In general we can say that a medial plosive may have the characteristics either of final or of initial plosives.

**ω** AU<sup>ε</sup>, Exs <sup>γ</sup> & <sup>γ</sup>

• Final position (VC): Final b, d, g normally have little voicing; if there is voicing, it is at the beginning of the compression phase; p, t, k are always voiceless. The plosion following the release of p, t, k and b, d, g is very weak and often not audible. The difference between p, t, k and b, d, g is primarily the fact that vowels preceding p, t, k are much shorter. The shortening effect of p, t, k is most noticeable when the vowel is one of the long vowels or diphthongs. This effect is sometimes known as **pre-fortis clipping.** 

#### 4.5 Fortis and lenis

Are b, d, g voiced plosives? The description of them makes it clear that it is not very accurate to call them "voiced"; in initial and final position they are scarcely voiced at all, and any voicing they may have seems to have no perceptual importance. Some phoneticians say that p, t, k are produced with more force than b, d, g, and that it would therefore be better to give the two sets of plosives (and some other consonants) names that indicate that fact; so the voiceless plosives p, t, k are sometimes called **fortis** (meaning 'strong') and b, d, g are then called **lenis** (meaning 'weak'). It may well be true that p, t, k are produced with more force, though nobody has really proved it - force of articulation is very difficult to define and measure. On the other hand, the terms fortis and lenis are difficult to remember. Despite this, we shall follow the practice of many books and use these terms.

The plosive phonemes of English can be presented in the form of a table as shown here:

	PLACE OF ARTICULATION					
	Bilabial	Bilabial Alveolar Velar				
Fortis ("voiceless")	Р	t	k			
Lenis ("voiced")	b	b d g				

Tables like this can be produced for all the different consonants. Each major type of consonant (such as plosives like p, t, k, fricatives like s, z, and nasals like m, n) obstructs the airflow in a different way, and these are classed as different **manners of articulation**.

# Notes on problems and further reading

 $\xi, \gamma, \xi, \gamma$  For more information about the larynx and about respiration in relation to speech, see Raphael *et al*,  $(\gamma, \gamma)$ ; Laver  $(\gamma, \gamma, \xi)$ ; Chapters  $\gamma$  and  $\gamma$ ); Ashby and Maidment  $(\gamma, \gamma, \varphi)$ : Chapter  $\gamma$ ).

• The outline of the stages in the production of plosives is based on Cruttenden ( $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land$ :  $\uparrow \circ \land$ ). In classifying consonants it is possible to go to a very high level of complexity if one wishes to account for all the possibilities; see, for example, Pike ( $\uparrow \circ \uparrow \circ \uparrow$ ).

• It has been pointed out that the transcription sb, sd, sg could be used quite appropriately instead of sp, st, sk in syllable-initial position; see Davidsen-Nielsen (1979). The vowel length difference before final voiceless consonants is apparently found in many (possibly all) languages, but in English this difference - which is very slight in most languages - has become exaggerated so that it has become the most important factor in distinguishing between final p, t, k and b, d, g; see Chen (1974). Some phonetics books wrongly state that b, d, g lengthen preceding vowels, rather than that p, t, k shorten them. The conclusive evidence on this point is that if we take the pair 'right' rait and 'ride' raid, and then compare 'rye' rai, the length of the ai diphthong when no consonant follows is practically the same as in 'ride'; the ai in 'right' is much shorter than the ai in 'righ'.

• The fortis/lenis distinction is a very complicated matter. It is necessary to consider how one could measure "force of articulation"; many different laboratory techniques have been tried to see if the articulators are moved more energetically for fortis consonants, but all have proved inconclusive. The only difference that seems reasonably reliable is that fortis consonants have higher air pressure in the vocal tract, but Lisker (14V) has argued convincingly that this is not conclusive evidence for a "force of articulation" difference. It is possible to ask phonetically untrained speakers whether they feel that more energy is used in pronouncing p, t, k than in b, d, g, but there are many difficulties in doing this. A useful review of the "force of articulation" question is in Catford (14VV: 149-7. A). I feel the best conclusion is that any term one uses to deal with this distinction (whether fortis/lenis or voiceless/voiced) is to be looked on as a **cover term** - a term which

has no simple physical meaning but which may stand for a large and complex set of phonetic characteristics.

# Written exercises

• Write brief descriptions of the actions of the articulators and the respiratory system in the words given below. Your description should start and finish with the position for normal breathing. Here is a description of the pronunciation of the word 'bee' bi: as an example:

Starting from the position for normal breathing, the lips are closed and the lungs are compressed to create air pressure in the vocal tract. The tongue moves to the position for a close front vowel, with the front of the tongue raised close to the hard palate. The vocal folds are brought close together and voicing begins; the lips then open, releasing the compressed air. Voicing continues for the duration of an i: vowel. Then the lung pressure is lowered, voicing ceases and the articulators return to the normal breathing position.

Words to describe: (a) goat; (b) ape.

- Transcribe the following words:
  - a) bake d) bought g) bored
  - b) goat e) tick h) guard
  - c) doubt f) bough i) pea

# **5 Phonemes and symbols**

#### 5.1 The phoneme

In Chapters  $7-\epsilon$  we have been studying some of the sounds of English. It is now necessary to consider some fundamental theoretical questions. What do we mean when we use the word "sound"? How do we establish what are the sounds of English, and how do we decide how many there are of them?

When we speak, we produce a continuous stream of sounds. In studying speech we divide this stream into small pieces that we call **segments.** The word 'man' is pronounced with a first segment m, a second segment a; and a third segment n. It is not always easy to decide on the number of segments. To give a simple example, in the word 'mine' the first segment is m and the last is n, as in the word 'man' discussed above. But should we regard the aI in the middle as one segment or two? We will return to this question.

As well as the question of how we divide speech up into segments, there is the question of how many different sounds (or segment types) there are in English. Chapters  $\uparrow$  and  $\neg$  introduced the set of vowels found in English. Each of these can be pronounced in many slightly different ways, so that the total range of sounds actually produced by speakers is practically infinite. Yet we feel quite confident in saying that the number of English vowels is not greater than twenty. Why is this? The answer is that if we put one of those twenty in the place of one of the others, we can change the meaning of a word. For example, if we substitute as for e in the word 'bed' we get a different word: 'bad'. But in the case of two slightly different ways of pronouncing what we regard as "the same sound", we usually find that, if we substitute one for the other, a change in the meaning of a word does not result. If we substitute a more open vowel, for example cardinal vowel no.  $\pounds$  [a] for the Š in the word 'bad', the word is still heard as 'bad'.

The principles involved here may be easier to understand if we look at a similar situation related to the letters of the alphabet that we use in writing English. The letter of the alphabet in writing is a unit which corresponds fairly well to the unit of speech we have been talking about earlier in this chapter - the segment. In the alphabet we have five letters that are called vowels: 'a', 'e', 'i', 'o', 'u'. If we choose the right context we can show how substituting one letter for another will change meaning. Thus with a letter 'p' before and a letter 't' after the vowel letter, we get the five words spelt 'pat', 'pet', 'pit', 'pot', 'put', each of which has a different meaning. We can do the same with sounds. If we look at the short

vowels I, e, æ, a, p, o, for example, we can see how substituting one for another in between the plosives p and t gives us six different words as follows (given in spelling on the left):

'pit' p1t	'putt' pʌt
'pet' pet	'pot' pɒt
'pat' pæt	'put' pot

Let us return to the example of letters of the alphabet. If someone who knew nothing about the alphabet saw these four characters:

'A' 'a' 'a' 'u'

they would not know that to users of the alphabet three of these characters all represent the same letter, while the fourth is a different letter. They would quickly discover, through noticing differences in meaning, that 'u' is a different letter from the first three. What would our illiterate observer discover about these three? They would eventually come to the conclusion about the written characters 'a' and 'a' that the former occurs most often in printed and typed writing while the latter is more common in handwriting, but that if you substitute one for the other it will not cause a difference in meaning. If our observer then examined a lot of typed and printed material they would eventually conclude that a word that began with 'a' when it occurred in the middle of a sentence would begin with 'A', and *never* with 'a', at the beginning of a sentence. They would also find that names could begin with 'A' but *never* with 'a'; they would conclude that 'A' and 'a' were different ways of writing the same letter and that a context in which one of them could occur was always a context in which the other could not. As will be explained below, we find similar situations in speech sounds.

If you have not thought about such things before, you may find some difficulty in understanding the ideas that you have just read about. The principal difficulty lies in the fact that what is being talked about in our example of letters is at the same time something *abstract* (the alphabet, which you cannot see or touch) and something *real* and *concrete* (marks on paper). The alphabet is something that its users know; they also know that it has twenty-six letters. But when the alphabet is used to write with, these letters appear on the page in a practically infinite number of different shapes and sizes.

Now we will leave the discussion of letters and the alphabet; these have only been introduced in this chapter in order to help explain some important general principles. Let us go back to the sounds of speech and see how these principles can be explained. As was said earlier in this chapter, we can divide speech up into segments, and we can find great variety in the way these segments are made. But just as there is an abstract alphabet as the basis of our writing, so there is an abstract set of units as the basis of our speech. These units are called **phonemes**, and the complete set of these units is called the **phonemic system** of the language. The phonemes themselves are abstract, but there are many slightly different ways in which we make the sounds that represent these phonemes, just as there are many ways in which we may make a mark on a piece of paper to represent a particular (abstract) letter of the alphabet. We find cases where it makes little difference which of two possible ways we choose to pronounce a sound. For example, the b at the beginning of a word such as 'bad' will usually be pronounced with practically no voicing. Sometimes, though, a speaker may produce the b with full voicing, perhaps in speaking very emphatically. If this is done, the sound is still identified as the phoneme b, even though we can hear that it is different in some way. We have in this example two different ways of making b - two different **realisations** of the phoneme. One can be substituted for the other without changing the meaning.

We also find cases in speech similar to the writing example of capital 'A' and little 'a' (one can only occur where the other cannot). For example, we find that the realisation of t in the word 'tea' is aspirated (as are all voiceless plosives when they occur before stressed vowels at the beginning of syllables). In the word 'eat', the realisation of t is unaspirated (as are all voiceless plosives when they occur at the end of a syllable and are not followed by a vowel). The aspirated and unaspirated realisations are both recognised as t by English speakers despite their differences. But the aspirated realisation will never be found in the place where the unaspirated realisation is appropriate, and vice versa. When we find this strict separation of places where particular realisations can occur, we say that the realisations are in **complementary distribution.** One more technical term needs to be introduced: when we talk about different realisations of phonemes, we sometimes call these realisations **allophones.** In the last example, we were studying the aspirated and unaspirated allophones of the phoneme t. Usually we do not indicate different allophones when we write symbols to represent sounds.

## 5.2 Symbols and transcription

You have now seen a number of symbols of several different sorts. Basically the symbols are for one of two purposes: either they are symbols for phonemes (**phonemic** symbols) or they are **phonetic** symbols (which is what the symbols were first introduced as).

We will look first at phonemic symbols. The most important point to remember is the rather obvious-seeming fact that the number of phonemic symbols must be exactly the same as the number of phonemes we decide exist in the language. It is rather like typing on a keyboard - there is a fixed number of keys that you can press. However, some of our phonemic symbols consist of two characters; for example, we usually treat  $t \int$  (as in 'chip'  $t \int Ip$ ) as one phoneme, so  $t \int$  is a phonemic symbol consisting of two characters (t and  $\int$ ).

One of the traditional exercises in pronunciation teaching by phonetic methods is that of **phonemic transcription**, where every speech sound must be identified as one of the phonemes and written with the appropriate symbol. There are two different kinds of transcription exercise: in one, **transcription from dictation**, the student must listen to a person, or a recording, and write down what they hear; in the other, **transcription from a written text**, the student is given a passage written in orthography and must use phonemic symbols to represent how she or he thinks it would be pronounced by

a speaker of a particular accent. In a phonemic transcription, then, only the phonemic symbols may be used; this has the advantage that it is comparatively quick and easy to learn to use it. The disadvantage is that as you continue to learn more about phonetics you become able to hear a lot of sound differences that you were not aware of before, and students at this stage find it frustrating not to be able to write down more detailed information. The phonemic system described here for the BBC accent contains forty-four phonemes. We can display the complete set of these phonemes by the usual classificatory methods used by most phoneticians; the vowels and diphthongs can be located in the vowel quadrilateral - as was done in Chapters  $\gamma$  and  $\gamma$  - and the consonants can be placed in a chart or table according to place of articulation, manner of articulation and voicing. Human beings can make many more sounds than these, and phoneticians use a much larger set of symbols when they are trying to represent sounds more accurately. The best- known set of symbols is that of the International Phonetic Association's alphabet (the letters IPA are used to refer to the Association and also to its alphabet). The vowel symbols of the cardinal vowel system (plus a few others) are usually included on the chart of this alphabet, which is reproduced at the beginning of the book (p. xii). It is important to note that in addition to the many symbols on the chart there are a lot of **diacritics** - marks which modify the symbol in some way; for example, the symbol for cardinal vowel no.  $\xi$  [a] may be modified by putting two dots above it. This **centralisation** diacritic then gives us the symbol [ä] for a vowel which is nearer to central than [a]. It would not be possible in this course to teach you to use all these symbols and diacritics, but someone who did know them all could write a transcription that was much more accurate in phonetic detail, and contained much more information than a phonemic transcription. Such a transcription would be called a **phonetic transcription**; a phonetic transcription containing a lot of information about the exact quality of the sounds would be called a **narrow** phonetic transcription, while one which only included a little more information than a phonemic transcription would be called a **broad** phonetic transcription. One further type of transcription is one which is basically phonemic, but contains additional symbolic information about allophones of particular symbols: this is often called an **allophonic** transcription. As an example of the use of allophonic transcription, in this course phonetic symbols are used occasionally when it is necessary to give an accurate label to an allophone of some English phoneme, but we do not do any phonetic transcription of continuous speech: that is a rather specialised exercise. A widely-used convention is to enclose symbols within brackets that show whether they are phonemic or phonetic: when symbols are used to represent precise phonetic values, rather than phonemes, they are often enclosed in square brackets [], as we have done already with cardinal vowels; in many phonetics books, phonemic symbols are enclosed within slant brackets / /. While this convention is useful when giving a few examples, there is so much transcription in this book that I feel it would be an unnecessary distraction to enclose each example in brackets. We will continue to use square brackets for cardinal vowel symbols, but elsewhere all symbols are printed in **blue** 

type, and the context should make it clear whether the symbols are phonemic or phonetic in function.

It should now be clear that there is a fundamental difference between phonemic symbols and phonetic symbols. Since the phonemic symbols do not have to indicate precise phonetic quality, it is possible to choose among several possible symbols to represent a particular phoneme; this has had the unfortunate result that different books on English pronunciation have used different symbols, causing quite a lot of confusion to students. In this course we are using the symbols now most frequently used in British publishing. It would be too long a task to examine other writers' symbols in detail, but it is worth considering some of the reasons for the differences. One factor is the complication and expense of using special symbols which create problems in typing and printing; it could, for example, be argued that a is a symbol that is found in practically all typefaces whereas æ is unusual, and that the a symbol should be used for the vowel in 'cat' instead of æ. Some writers have concentrated on producing a set of phonemic symbols that need the minimum number of special or non-standard symbols. Others have thought it important that the symbols should be as close as possible to the symbols that a phonetician would choose to give a precise indication of sound quality. To use the same example again, referring to the vowel in 'cat', it could be argued that if the vowel is noticeably closer than cardinal vowel no.  $\xi$  [a], it is more suitable to use the symbol æ, which is usually used to represent a vowel between open-mid and open. There can be disagreements about the most important characteristics of a sound that a symbol should indicate: one example is the vowels of the words 'bit' and 'beat'. Some writers have claimed that the most important difference between them is that the former is short and the latter long, and transcribed the former with i and the latter with i: (the difference being entirely in the length mark); other writers have said that the length (or quantity) difference is less important than the quality difference, and transcribe the vowel of 'bit' with the symbol I and that of 'beat' with i. Yet another point of view is that quality and quantity are both important and should both be indicated; this point of view results in a transcription using I for 'bit' and i:, a symbol different from 1 both in shape of symbol (suggesting quality difference) and in length mark (indicating quantity difference), for 'beat'. This is the approach taken in this course.

## 5.3 Phonology

Chapters  $r_{-\ell}$  were mainly concerned with matters of **phonetics** - the comparatively straightforward business of describing the sounds that we use in speaking. When we talk about how phonemes function in language, and the relationships among the different phonemes - when, in other words, we study the *abstract* side of the sounds of language, we are studying a related but different subject that we call **phonology**. Only by studying both the phonetics and the phonology of English is it possible to acquire a full understanding of the use of sounds in English speech. Let us look briefly at some areas that come within the subject of phonology; these areas of study will be covered in more detail later in the course.

#### Study of the phonemic system

It is sometimes helpful to think of the phonemic system as being similar to the set of cards used in a card game, or the set of pieces used in a game of chess. In chess, for example, the exact shape and colour of the pieces are not important to the game as long as they can be reliably distinguished. But the number of pieces, the moves they can make and their relationship to all the other pieces are very important; we would say that if any of these were to be changed, the game would no longer be what we call chess. Similarly, playing cards can be printed in many different styles and sizes, but while changing these things does not affect the game, nobody would accept that we were playing the game correctly. In a similar way, we have a more or less fixed set of "pieces" (phonemes) with which to play the game of speaking English. There may be many slightly different realisations of the various phonemes, but the most important thing for communication is that we should be able to make use of the full set of phonemes.

#### Phoneme sequences and syllable structure

In every language we find that there are restrictions on the sequences of phonemes that are used. For example, no English word begins with the consonant sequence zbf and no word ends with the sequence {h. In phonology we try to analyse what the restrictions and regularities are in a particular language, and it is usually found helpful to do this by studying the **syllables** of the language.

#### Suprasegmental phonology

Many significant sound contrasts are not the result of differences between phonemes. For example, **stress** is important: when the word 'import' is pronounced with the first syllable sounding stronger than the second, English speakers hear it as a noun, whereas when the second syllable is stronger the word is heard as a verb. **Intonation** is also important: if the word 'right' is said with the pitch of the voice rising, it is likely to be heard as a question or as an invitation to a speaker to continue, while falling pitch is more likely to be heard as confirmation or agreement. These examples show sound contrasts that extend over several segments (phonemes), and such contrasts are called **suprasegmental.** We will look at a number of other aspects of suprasegmental phonology later in the course.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

This chapter is theoretical rather than practical. There is no shortage of material to read on the subject of the phoneme, but much of it is rather difficult and assumes a lot of background knowledge. For basic reading I would suggest Katamba (19A9: Chapter 7), Cruttenden ( $7 \cdot \cdot A$ : Chapter °, Section °) or Giegerich (1997: 79-7°). There are many classic works: Jones (1977; first published  $190 \cdot$ ) is widely regarded as such, although it is often criticised nowadays for being superficial or even naive. Another classic work is Pike's *Phonemics* (1957), subtitled "A Technique for Reducing Languages to Writing":

this is essentially a practical handbook for people who need to analyse the phonemes of unknown languages, and contains many examples and exercises.

The subject of symbols is a large one: there is a good survey in Abercrombie ( $\^{\1}$ : Chapter  $\)$ . The IPA has tried as far as possible to keep to Roman-style symbols, although it is inevitable that these symbols have to be supplemented with **diacritics** (extra marks that add detail to symbols - to mark the vowel [e] as long, we can add the length diacritic : to give [e:], or to mark it as centralised we can add the centralisation diacritic " to give [ë]). The IPA's present practice on symbolisation is set out in the *Handbook of the International Phonetic Association* (IPA,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ , There is a lot of information about symbol design and choice in Pullum and Ladusaw ( $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^{\1}$ , some phonetic as working at the end of the nineteenth century tried to develop non-alphabetic sets of symbols whose shape would indicate all essential phonetic characteristics; these are described in Abercrombie ( $\^{\1}$ ,  $\^$ 

We have seen that one must choose between, on the one hand, symbols that are very informative but slow to write and, on the other, symbols that are not very precise but are quick and convenient to use. Pike  $(1^{4} \xi^{\tau})$  presents at the end of his book an "analphabetic notation" designed to permit the coding of sounds with great precision on the basis of their articulation; an indication of the complexity of the system is the fact that the full specification of the vowel [o] requires eighty-eight characters. On the opposite side, many American writers have avoided various IPA symbols as being too complex, and have tried to use as far as possible symbols and diacritics which are already in existence for various special alphabetic requirements of European languages and which are available on standard keyboards. For example, where the IPA has  $\int$  and z, symbols not usually found outside phonetics, many Americans use s and z, the mark above the symbols being widely used for Slavonic languages that do not use the Cyrillic alphabet. The widespread use of computer printers and word processing has revolutionised the use of symbols, and sets of phonetic fonts are widely available via the Internet. We are still some way, however, from having a universally agreed set of IPA symbol codes, and for much computer-based phonetic research it is necessary to make do with conventions which use existing keyboard characters.

#### Note for teachers

It should be made clear to students that the treatment of the phoneme in this chapter is only an introduction. It is difficult to go into detailed examples since not many symbols have been introduced at this stage, so further consideration of phonological issues is left until later chapters.

#### Written exercises

The words in the following list should be transcribed first phonemically, then (in square brackets) phonetically. In your phonetic transcription you should use the following diacritics:

b, d, g pronounced without voicing are transcribed b, d, g

• p, t, k pronounced with aspiration are transcribed p<sup>h</sup>, t<sup>h</sup>, k<sup>h</sup>

- i:, a:, ɔ:, ɜ:,u: when shortened by a following fortis consonant should be transcribed i', a', ɔ', ɜ', u'
- I, e, æ, Λ, <code>p</code>, υ, <code>ə</code> when shortened by a following fortis consonant should be transcribed ĭ, ě, ǎ, ň, ὕ, ὅ. Use ٠ the same mark for diphthongs, placing the diacritic on the first part of the diphthong.

*Example* spelling: 'peat'; phonemic: pi:t phonetic: p<sup>h</sup>i't

### Words for transcription

a)	Speed	c) book	e) car	g) appeared	i) stalk
b)	partake	d) goat	f) bad	h) toast	

d) goat f) bad h) toast

# <sup>¬</sup> Fricatives and affricates

#### 6.1 Production of fricatives and affricates

**Fricatives** are consonants with the characteristic that air escapes through a narrow passage and makes a hissing sound. Most languages have fricatives, the most commonly- found being something like s. Fricatives are **continuant** consonants, which means that you can continue making them without interruption as long as you have enough air in your lungs. Plosives, which were described in Chapter  $\xi$ , are not continuants. You can demonstrate the importance of the narrow passage for the air in the following ways:

- Make a long, hissing s sound and gradually lower your tongue so that it is no longer close to the roof of the mouth. The hissing sound will stop as the air passage gets larger.
- Make a long f sound and, while you are producing this sound, use your fingers to pull the lower lip away from the upper teeth. Notice how the hissing sound of the air escaping between teeth and lip suddenly stops.

Affricates are rather complex consonants. They begin as plosives and end as fricatives. A familiar example is the affricate heard at the beginning and end of the word church'. It begins with an articulation practically the same as that for t, but instead of a rapid release with plosion and aspiration as we would find in the word 'tip', the tongue moves to the position for the fricative  $\int$  that we find at the beginning of the word 'ship'. So the plosive is followed immediately by fricative noise. Since phonetically this affricate is composed of t and  $\int$  we represent it as t $\int$ , so that the word 'church' is transcribed as t $\int 3$ :t $\int$ .

However, the definition of an affricate must be more restricted than what has been given so far. We would not class all sequences of plosive plus fricative as affricates; for example, we find in the middle of the word 'breakfast' the plosive k followed by the fricative f. English speakers would generally not accept that kf forms a consonantal unit in the way that t $\int$  seems to. It is usually said that the plosive and the following fricative must be made with the same articulators - the plosive and fricative must be **homorganic**. The sounds k, f are not homorganic, but t, d and  $\int$ , 3, being made with the tongue blade against the alveolar ridge, *are* homorganic. This still leaves the possibility of quite a large number of affricates since, for example, t, d are homorganic not only with  $\int$ , 3 but also with s, z, so

ts, dz would also count as affricates. We could also consider tr, dr as affricates for the same reason. However, we normally only count t, dz as affricate phonemes of English.

Although  $t\int$ , dz can be said to be composed of a plosive and a fricative, it is usual to regard them as being single, independent phonemes of English. In this way, t is one phoneme,  $\int$  is another and  $t\int$  yet another. We would say that the pronunciation of the word 'church'  $t\int zt\int$  is composed of three phonemes,  $t\int$ , z: and  $t\int$ . We will look at this question of "two sounds = one phoneme" from the theoretical point of view in Chapter 1°.

#### 6.2 The fricatives of English

English has quite a complex system of fricative phonemes. They can be seen in the table below:

	PLACE OF ARTICULATION					
	Labiodental	Dental	Alveolar	Post-alveolar	' Glottal	
Fortis ("voiceless")	f	θ	S	ſ	h	
Lenis ("voiced")	v	ð	Z	3		

With the exception of glottal, each place of articulation has a pair of phonemes, one fortis and one lenis. This is similar to what was seen with the plosives. The fortis fricatives are said to be articulated with greater force than the lenis, and their friction noise is louder. The lenis fricatives have very little or no voicing in initial and final positions, but may be voiced when they occur between voiced sounds. The fortis fricatives have the effect of shortening a preceding vowel in the same way as fortis plosives do (see Chapter  $\xi$ , Section  $\xi$ ). Thus in a pair of words like 'ice' als and 'eyes' alz, the al diphthong in the first word is considerably shorter than al in the second. Since there is only one fricative with glottal place of articulation, it would be rather misleading to call it fortis or lenis (which is why there is a line on the chart above dividing h from the other fricatives).

AU7, Exs 1-7

We will now look at the fricatives separately, according to their place of articulation. f, v (example words:

'fan', 'van'; 'safer', 'saver'; 'half, 'halve')

These are **labiodental:** the lower lip is in contact with the upper teeth as shown in Fig.  $\lambda$ . The fricative noise is never very strong and is scarcely audible in the case of v.

T, D (example words: 'thumb', 'thus'; 'ether', 'father'; 'breath', 'breathe')

The **dental** fricatives are sometimes described as if the tongue were placed between the front teeth, and it is common for teachers to make their students do this when they are trying to teach them to make this sound. In fact, however, the tongue is normally placed



Fig. 18 Labiodental fricative

Fig. 19 Dental fricative

behind the teeth, as shown in Fig.  $1^{9}$ , with the tip touching the inner side of the lower front teeth and the blade touching the inner side of the upper teeth. The air escapes through the gaps between the tongue and the teeth. As with f, v, the fricative noise is weak.

s, z (example words: 'sip', 'zip'; 'facing', 'phasing'; 'rice, 'rise')

These are alveolar fricatives, with the same place of articulation as t, d. The air escapes through a narrow passage along the centre of the tongue, and the sound produced is comparatively intense. The tongue position is shown in Fig. 13 in Chapter  $\frac{1}{2}$ .

∫, ʒ (example words: 'ship' (initial <sup>™</sup> is very rare in English); 'Russia', 'measure'; 'Irish', 'garage')

These fricatives are called **post-alveolar**, which can be taken to mean that the tongue is in contact with an area slightly further back than that for s, z (see Fig.  $\langle \cdot \rangle$ ). If you make s, then  $\int$ , you should be able to feel your tongue move backwards.



Fig. 20 Post-alveolar fricative

The air escapes through a passage along the centre of the tongue, as in s, z, but the passage is a little wider. Most BBC speakers have rounded lips for  $\int$ ,  $\Im$ , and this is an important difference between these consonants and s, z. The fricative  $\int$  is a common and widely distributed phoneme, but  $\Im$  is not. All the other fricatives described so far (f, v,  $\theta$ ,  $\delta$ , s, z,  $\int$ ) can be found in initial, medial and final positions, as shown in the example words. In the case of  $\Im$ , however, the distribution is much more limited. Very few English words begin with  $\Im$  (most of them have come into the language comparatively recently from French) and not many end with this consonant. Only medially, in words such as 'measure' me $\Im$ , 'usual' ju: $\Im$ uel is it found at all commonly.

h (example words: 'head', 'ahead', 'playhouse')

The place of articulation of this consonant is **glottal.** This means that the narrowing that produces the friction noise is between the vocal folds, as described in Chapter  $\pounds$ . If you breathe out silently, then produce h, you are moving your vocal folds from wide apart to close together. However, this is not producing speech. When we produce h in speaking English, many different things happen in different contexts. In the word 'hat', the h is followed by an as vowel. The tongue, jaw and lip positions for the vowel are all produced simultaneously with the h consonant, so that the glottal fricative has an æ quality. The same is found for all vowels following h; the consonant always has the quality of the vowel it precedes, so that in theory if you could listen to a recording of h-sounds cut off from the beginnings of different vowels in words like 'hit', 'hat', 'hot', 'hut', etc., you should be able to identify which vowel would have followed the h. One way of stating the above facts is to say that *phonetically* h is a voiceless vowel with the quality of the vowel that follows it.

Phonologically, h is a consonant. It is usually found before vowels. As well as being found in initial position it is found medially in words such as 'ahead' shed, 'greenhouse' gri:nhaUs, 'boathook' bouthok. It is noticeable that when h occurs between voiced sounds (as in the words 'ahead', 'greenhouse'), it is pronounced with voicing - not the normal voicing of vowels but a weak, slightly fricative sound called **breathy voice.** It is not necessary for foreign learners to attempt to copy this voicing, although it is important to pronounce h where it should occur in BBC pronunciation. Many English speakers are surprisingly sensitive about this consonant; they tend to judge as sub-standard a pronunciation in which h is missing. In reality, however, practically all English speakers, however carefully they speak, omit the h in non-initial unstressed pronunciations of the words 'her', 'he', 'him', 'his' and the auxiliary 'have', 'has', 'had', although few are aware that they do this.

There are two rather uncommon sounds that need to be introduced; since they are said to have some association with h, they will be mentioned here. The first is the sound produced by some speakers in words which begin orthographically (i.e. in their spelling form) with 'wh'; most BBC speakers pronounce the initial sound in such words (e.g. 'which', 'why', 'whip', 'whale') as w (which is introduced in Chapter <sup>V</sup>), but there are some (particularly when they are speaking clearly or emphatically) who pronounce the sound used by most American and Scottish speakers, a *voiceless* fricative with the same

lip, tongue and jaw position as w. The phonetic symbol for this voiceless fricative is Ay. We can find pairs of words showing the difference between this sound and the voiced sound w:

'witch' wɪt∫	'which' м1t∫
'wail' werl	'whale' Meil
'Wye' wai	'why' mai
'wear' <b>weə</b>	'where' Meə

The obvious conclusion to draw from this is that, since substituting one sound for the other causes a difference in meaning, the two sounds must be two different phonemes. It is therefore rather surprising to find that practically all writers on the subject of the phonemes of English decide that this answer is not correct, and that the sound Ay in 'which', 'why', etc., is not a phoneme of English but is a realisation of a sequence of two phonemes, h and w. We do not need to worry much about this problem in describing the BBC accent. However, it should be noted that in the analysis of the many accents of English that do have a "voiceless w" there is not much more theoretical justification for treating the sound as h plus w than there is for treating p as h plus b. Whether the question of this sound is approached phonetically or phonologically, there is no h sound in the "voiceless w".

A very similar case is the sound found at the beginning of words such as 'huge', 'human', 'hue'. Phonetically this sound is a voiceless palatal fricative (for which the phonetic symbol is  $\varsigma$ ); there is no glottal fricative at the beginning of 'huge', etc. However, it is usual to treat this sound as h plus j (the latter is another consonant that is introduced in Chapter  $\vee$  - it is the sound at the beginning of 'yes', 'yet'). Again we can see that a phonemic analysis does not necessarily have to be exactly in line with phonetic facts. If we were to say that these two sounds  $\Lambda$ ,  $\varsigma$  were phonemes of English, we would have two extra phonemes that do not occur very frequently. We will follow the usual practice of transcribing the sound at the beginning of 'huge', etc., as hj just because it is convenient and common practice.

#### 6.3 The affricates of English

It was explained in Section  $\exists, \uparrow$  that  $t \int$ , dz are the only two affricate phonemes in English. As with the plosives and most of the fricatives, we have a fortis/lenis pair, and the voicing characteristics are the same as for these other consonants,  $t \int$  is slightly aspirated in the positions where p, t, k are aspirated, but not strongly enough for it to be necessary for foreign learners to give much attention to it. The place of articulation is the same as for  $\int$ , z - that is, it is post-alveolar. This means that the t component of  $t \int$  has a place of articulation rather further back in the mouth than the t plosive usually has. When  $t \int$  is final in the syllable it has the effect of shortening a preceding vowel, as do other fortis consonants,  $t \int$ , dz often have rounded lips.

#### AU, Exst &o

#### 6.4 Fortis consonants

All the consonants described so far, with the exception of h, belong to pairs distinguished by the difference between fortis and lenis. Since the remaining consonants to be described are not paired in this way, a few points that still have to be made about fortis consonants are included in this chapter.

The first point concerns the shortening of a preceding vowel by a syllable-final fortis consonant. As was said in Chapter  $\xi$ , the effect is most noticeable in the case of long vowels and diphthongs, although it does also affect short vowels. What happens if something other than a vowel precedes a fortis consonant? This arises in syllables ending with 1, m, n, n, followed by a fortis consonant such as p, t, k as in 'belt' belt, 'bump' bAmp, 'bent' bent, 'bank' bæŋk. The effect on those continuant consonants is the same as on a vowel: they are considerably shortened.

Fortis consonants are usually articulated with open glottis - that is, with the vocal folds separated. This is always the case with fricatives, where airflow is essential for successful production. However, with plosives an alternative possibility is to produce the consonant with completely *closed* glottis. This type of plosive articulation, known as **glottalisation**, is found widely in contemporary English pronunciation, though only in specific contexts. The glottal closure occurs immediately before p, t, k, t $\int$ . The most widespread glottalisation is that of t $\int$  at the end of a stressed syllable (I leave defining what "stressed syllable" means until Chapter ^). If we use the symbol ? to represent a glottal closure, the phonetic transcription for various words containing t $\int$  can be given as follows:

With glottalisation	Without glottalisation
neı?t∫ə	neıt∫ə
kæ?tʃɪŋ rı?tʃɪz	kæt∫ıŋ rıt∫ız
	ner?tʃə

There is similar glottalisation of p, t, k, although this is not so noticeable. It normally happens when the plosive is followed by another consonant or a pause; for example:

	With glottalisation	Without glottalisation
'actor'	æ?ktə	æktə
'petrol'	pe?trəl	petrol
'mat'	mæ?t	mast
'football'	fu?tbo:l	futbo:1

Learners usually find these rules difficult to learn, from the practical point of view, and find it simpler to keep to the more conservative pronunciation which does not use glottalisation. However, it is worth pointing out the fact that this occurs - many learners

notice the glottalisation and want to know what it is that they are hearing, and many of them find that they acquire the glottalised pronunciation in talking to native speakers.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

The dental fricative  $\delta$  is something of a problem: although there are not many English words in which this sound appears, those words are ones which occur very frequently - words like 'the', 'this, 'there', 'that'. This consonant often shows so little friction noise that on purely phonetic grounds it seems incorrect to class it as a fricative. It is more like a weak (lenis) dental plosive. This matter is discussed again in Chapter  $1^{\xi}$ , Section  $1^{\xi}$ , 7.

On the phonological side, I have brought in a discussion of the phonemic analysis of two "marginal" fricatives AY, • which present a problem (though not a particularly important or fundamental one): I feel that this is worth discussing in that it gives a good idea of the sort of problem that can arise in analysing the phonemic system of a language. The other problem area is the glottalisation described at the end of the chapter. There is now a growing awareness of how frequently this is to be found in contemporary English speech; however, it not easy to formulate rules stating the contexts in which this occurs. There is discussion in Brown (199.; 7A-, ), in Cruttenden ( $7 \cdot \cdot A$ : Section 9,7,A), in Ladefoged ( $7 \cdot \cdot 7$ :  $1 \cdot 1$ ) and in Wells (19A7: Section 7, 2, 0).

#### Notes for teachers

Whether learners should be taught to produce glottalisation of p, t, k, t $\int$  must depend on the level of the learner - I have often found advanced learners have been able to pick up this pronunciation, and I find the increase in naturalness in their accent very striking.

#### Written exercises

- Transcribe the following words phonemically:
  - a) fishes e) achieves
  - b) shaver f) others
  - c) sixth g) measure
  - d) these h) ahead
- Following the style introduced in Exercise \ for Chapter <sup>ξ</sup>, describe the movements of the articulators in the first word of the above list.

# <sup>V</sup> Nasals and other consonats

So far we have studied two major groups of consonants - the plosives and fricatives - and also the affricates tS, dZ; this gives a total of seventeen. There remain the **nasal** consonants - m, n,  $\eta$  - and four others - l, r, w, j; these four are not easy to fit into groups. All of these seven consonants are continuants and usually have no friction noise, but in other ways they are very different from each other.

#### 7.1 Nasals

The basic characteristic of a nasal consonant is that the air escapes through the nose. For this to happen, the soft palate must be lowered; in the case of all the other consonants and vowels of English, the soft palate is raised and air cannot pass through the nose. In nasal consonants, however, air does not pass through the mouth; it is prevented by a complete closure in the mouth at some point. If you produce a long sequence dndndndndn without moving your tongue from the position for alveolar closure, you will feel your soft palate moving up and down. The three types of closure are: bilabial (lips), alveolar (tongue blade against alveolar ridge) and velar (back of tongue against the palate). This set of places produces three nasal consonants - m, n,  $\eta$  - which correspond to the three places of articulation for the pairs of plosives p b, t d, k g.

The consonants m, n are simple and straightforward with distributions quite similar to those of the plosives. There is in fact little to describe. However, N is a different matter. It is a sound that gives considerable problems to foreign learners, and one that is so unusual in its phonological aspect that some people argue that it is not one of the phonemes of English at all. The place of articulation of  $_{N}$  is the same as that of k, g; it is a useful exercise to practise making a continuous r) sound. If you do this, it is very important not to produce a k or g at the end - pronounce the N like m or n.

₩ AU<sup>V</sup>, Exs <sup>1</sup> & <sup>7</sup>

We will now look at some ways in which the distribution of N is unusual.

- In initial position we find m, n occurring freely, but N never occurs in this position. With the possible exception of 3, this makes 9 the only English consonant that does not occur initially.
- Medially,  $\eta$  occurs quite frequently, but there is in the BBC accent a rather complex and quite interesting rule concerning the question of when  $\eta$  may

be pronounced without a following plosive. When we find the letters 'nk' in the middle of a word in its orthographic form, a k will always be pronounced; however, some words with orthographic 'ng' in the middle will have a pronunciation containing ng and others will have n without g. For example, in BBC pronunciation we find the following:

A	В
'finger' fıŋgə	'singer' sıŋə
'anger' æŋgə	'hanger' hæŋə

In the words of column A the ŋ is followed by g, while the words of column B have no g. What is the difference between A and B? The important difference is in the way the words are constructed - their **morphology.** The words of column B can be divided into two grammatical pieces: 'sing' + '-er', 'hang' + '-er'. These pieces are called **morphemes**, and we say that column B words are morphologically different from column A words, since these *cannot* be divided into two morphemes. 'Finger' and 'anger' consist of just one morpheme each.

We can summarise the position so far by saying that (within a word containing the letters 'ng' in the spelling)  $\eta$  occurs without a following g if it occurs at the end of a morpheme; if it occurs in the middle of a morpheme it has a following g.

Let us now look at the ends of words *ending* orthographically with 'ng'. We find that these always end with N; this  $\eta$  is never followed by a g. Thus we find that the words 'sing' and 'hang' are pronounced as s1 $\eta$  and hæ $\eta$ ; to give a few more examples, 'song' is sp $\eta$ , 'bang' is bæ $\eta$  and 'long' is lp $\eta$ . We do not need a separate explanation for this: the rule given above, that no g is pronounced after  $\eta$  at the end of a morpheme, works in these cases too, since the end of a word must also be the end of a morpheme. (If this point seems difficult, think of the comparable case of sentences and words: a sound or letter that comes at the end of a sentence must necessarily also come at the end of a word, so that the final k of the sentence 'This is a book' is also the final k of the word 'book'.)

Unfortunately, rules often have exceptions. The main exception to the above morpheme-based rule concerns the comparative and superlative suffixes '-er' and '-est'. According to the rule given above, the adjective 'long' will be pronounced  $10\eta$ , which is correct. It would also predict correctly that if we add another morpheme to 'long', such as the suffix '-ish', the pronunciation of  $\eta$  would again be without a following g. However, it would additionally predict that the comparative and superlative forms 'longer' and 'longest' would be pronounced with no g following the  $\eta$ , while in fact the correct pronunciation of the words is:

'longer' longo 'longest' longost

As a result of this, the rule must be modified: it must state that comparative and superlative forms of adjectives are to be treated as single-morpheme words for the purposes of

this rule. It is important to remember that English speakers in general (apart from those trained in phonetics) are quite ignorant of this rule, and yet if a foreigner uses the wrong pronunciation (i.e. pronounces  $\eta g$  where  $\eta$  should occur, or  $\eta$  where  $\eta g$  should be used), they notice that a mispronunciation has occurred.

iii) A third way in which the distribution of η is unusual is the small number of vowels it is found to follow. It rarely occurs after a diphthong or long vowel, so only the short vowels I, e, æ, a, p, u, a are regularly found preceding this consonant.

The velar nasal consonant N is, in summary, phonetically simple (it is no more difficult to produce than m or n) but phonologically complex (it is, as we have seen, not easy to describe the contexts in which it occurs).

#### 7.2 The consonant l

#### ₩AUY, Ex ۳

The l phoneme (as in 'long' roŋ, 'hill' h1) is a **lateral approximant.** This is a consonant in which the passage of air through the mouth does not go in the usual way along the centre of the tongue; instead, there is complete closure between the centre of the tongue and the part of the roof of the mouth where contact is to be made (the alveolar ridge in the case of l). Because of this complete closure along the centre, the only way for the air to escape is along the sides of the tongue. The lateral approximant is therefore somewhat different from other approximants, in which there is usually much less contact between the articulators. If you make a long l sound you may be able to feel that the sides of your tongue are pulled in and down while the centre is raised, but it is not easy to become consciously aware of this; what is more revealing (if you can do it) is to produce a long sequence of alternations between d and l without any intervening vowel. If you produce dldldldldl without moving the middle of the tongue, you will be able to feel the movement of the sides of the tongue that is necessary for the production of a lateral. It is also possible to see this movement in a mirror if you open your lips wide as you produce it. Finally, it is also helpful to see if you can feel the movement of air past the sides of the tongue; this is not really possible in a voiced sound (the obstruction caused by the vibrating vocal folds reduces the airflow), but if you try to make a very loud whispered l, you should be able to feel the air rushing along the sides of your tongue.

We find 1 initially, medially and finally, and its distribution is therefore not particularly limited. In BBC pronunciation, the consonant has one unusual characteristic: the realisation of 1 found before vowels sounds quite different from that found in other contexts. For example, the realisation of 1 in the word 'lea' li: is quite different from that in 'eel' i:1. The sound in 'eel' is what we call a "dark 1"; it has a quality rather similar to an [u] vowel, with the back of the tongue raised. The phonetic symbol for this sound is <sup>1</sup>. The sound in 'lea' is what is called a "clear 1"; it resembles an [i] vowel, with the front of the tongue raised (we do not normally use a special phonetic symbol,

different from l, to indicate this sound). The "dark l" is also found when it precedes a consonant, as in 'eels' i:lz. We can therefore predict which realisation of l (clear or dark) will occur in a particular context: clear l will never occur before consonants or before a pause, but only before vowels; dark l never occurs before vowels. We can say, using terminology introduced in Chapter °, that clear l and dark l are allophones of the phoneme l in complementary distribution. Most English speakers do not consciously know about the difference between clear and dark l, yet they are quick to detect the difference when they hear English speakers with different accents, or when they hear foreign learners who have not learned the correct pronunciation. You might be able to observe that most American and lowland Scottish speakers use a "dark l" in all positions, and don't have a "clear l" in their pronunciation, while most Welsh and Irish speakers have "clear l" in all positions.

Another allophone of l is found when it follows p, k at the beginning of a stressed syllable. The I is then devoiced (i.e. produced without the voicing found in most realisations of this phoneme) and pronounced as a fricative. The situation is (as explained in Chapter  $\xi$ ) similar to the aspiration found when a vowel follows p, t, k in a stressed syllable: the first part of the vowel is devoiced.

#### 7.3 The consonant r

#### ₩ AUY, Ex ٤

This consonant is important in that considerable differences in its articulation and its distribution are found in different accents of English. As far as the articulation of the sound is concerned, there is really only one pronunciation that can be recommended to the foreign learner, and that is what is called a post-alveolar approximant. An **approximant**, as a type of consonant, is rather difficult to describe; informally, we can say that it is an articulation in which the articulators approach each other but do not get sufficiently close to each other to produce a "complete" consonant such as a plosive, nasal or fricative. The difficulty with this explanation is that articulators are always in *some* positional relationship with each other, and any vowel articulation could also be classed as an approximant - but the term "approximant" is usually used only for consonants.

The important thing about the articulation of r is that the tip of the tongue approaches the alveolar area in approximately the way it would for a t or d, but never actually makes contact with any part of the roof of the mouth. You should be able to make a long r sound and feel that no part of the tongue is in contact with the roof of the mouth at any time. This is, of course, very different from the "r-sounds" of many other languages where some kind of tongue-palate contact is made. The tongue is in fact usually slightly curled backwards with the tip raised; consonants with this tongue shape are usually called **retroflex.** If you pronounce an alternating sequence of d and r (drdrdrdr) while looking in a mirror you should be able to see more of the underside of the tongue in the r than in the d, where the tongue tip is not raised and the tongue is not curled back. The "curling- back" process usually carries the tip of the tongue to a position slightly further back in

the mouth than that for alveolar consonants such as t, d, which is why this approximant is called "post-alveolar". A rather different r sound is found at the beginning of a syllable if it is preceded by p, t, k; it is then voiceless and fricative. This pronunciation is found in words such as 'press', 'tress', 'cress'.

One final characteristic of the articulation of r is that it is usual for the lips to be slightly rounded; learners should do this but should be careful not to exaggerate it. If the lip-rounding is too strong the consonant will sound too much like w, which is the sound that most English children produce until they have learned to pronounce r in the adult way.

The distributional peculiarity of r in the BBC accent is very easy to state: this phoneme only occurs before vowels. No one has any difficulty in remembering this rule, but foreign learners (most of whom, quite reasonably, expect that if there is a letter 'r' in the spelling then r should be pronounced) find it difficult to apply the rule to their own pronunciation. There is no problem with words like the following:

i) 'red' red 'arrive' əraiv 'hearing' hiərin

In these words r is followed by a vowel. But in the following words there is no r in the pronunciation:

ii) 'car' ka:	'ever' evə	'here' hiə
iii) 'hard' ha:d	'verse' v3:s	'cares' keəz

Many accents of English do pronounce r in words like those of (ii) and (iii) (e.g. most American, Scots and West of England accents). Those accents which have r in final position (before a pause) and before a consonant are called **rhotic** accents, while accents in which r only occurs before vowels (such as BBC) are called **non-rhotic**.

#### 7.4 The consonants j and w

#### ₩ AU7, Ex 5

These are the consonants found at the beginning of words such as 'yet' and 'wet'. They are known as approximants (introduced in Section  $\vee, \vee$  above). The most important thing to remember about these phonemes is that they are phonetically like vowels but phonologically like consonants (in earlier works on phonology they were known as "semivowels"). From the phonetic point of view the articulation of j is practically the same as that of a front close vowel such as [i], but is very short. In the same way w is closely similar to [u]. If you make the initial sound of 'yet' or 'wet' very long, you will be able to hear this. But despite this vowel-like character, we use them like consonants. For example, they only occur before vowel phonemes; this is a typically consonantal distribution. We can show that a word beginning with w or j is treated as beginning with a consonant in the following way: the indefinite article is 'a' before a consonant (as in 'a cat', 'a dog'), and 'an' before a vowel (as in 'an apple', 'an orange'). If a word beginning with w or j is preceded by the indefinite article, it is the 'a' form that is found (as in 'a way', 'a year'). Another example is that of the definite article. Here the rule is that 'the' is pronounced as  $\eth$ 

consonants (as in 'the dog' ðə dog, 'the cat' ðə kæt) and as Di before vowels (as in 'the apple' ði æpl, 'the orange' ði brindʒ). This evidence illustrates why it is said that j, w are phonologically consonants. However, it is important to remember that to pronounce them as fricatives (as many foreign learners do), or as affricates, is a mispronunciation. Only in special contexts do we hear friction noise in j or w; this is when they are preceded by p, t, k at the beginning of a syllable, as in these words:

'pure'	pjuə	(no En	glish words begin with pw)
'tune'	tju:n	'twin'	twin
'queue'	kju:	'quit'	kwit

When p, t, k come at the beginning of a syllable and are followed by a vowel, they are aspirated, as was explained in Chapter  $\pounds$ . This means that the beginning of a vowel is voiceless in this context. However, when p, t, k are followed not by a vowel but by one of l, r, j, w, these voiced continuant consonants undergo a similar process, as has been mentioned earlier in this chapter: they lose their voicing and become fricative. So words like 'play' plei, 'tray' trei, 'quick' kwik, 'cue' kju: contain devoiced and fricative l, r, w, j whereas 'lay', 'ray', 'wick', 'you contain voiced l, r, w, j. Consequently, if for example 'tray' were to be pronounced without devoicing of the r (i.e. with fully voiced r) English speakers would be likely to hear the word 'dray'.

This completes our examination of the consonant phonemes of English. It is useful to place them on a consonant chart, and this is done in Table 1. On this chart, the different places of articulation are arranged from left to right and the manners of articulation are arranged from top to bottom. When there is a pair of phonemes with the same place and manner of articulation but differing in whether they are fortis or lenis (voiceless or voiced), the symbol for the fortis consonant is placed to the left of the symbol for the lenis consonant.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

The notes for this chapter are devoted to giving further detail on a particularly difficult theoretical problem. The argument that  $\eta$  is an allophone of n, not a phoneme in its own right, is so widely accepted by contemporary phonological theorists that few seem to feel it worthwhile to explain it fully. Since the velar nasal is introduced in this chapter, I have chosen to attempt this here. However, it is a rather complex theoretical matter, and you may prefer to leave consideration of it until after the discussion of problems of phonemic analysis in Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ .

There are brief discussions of the phonemic status of N in Chomsky and Halle (197A:  $A^{\circ}$ ) and Ladefoged ( $7 \cdot \cdot 7$ ); for a fuller treatment, see Wells (19A7:  $7 \cdot -2$ ) and Giegerich (1997:  $79V-7 \cdot 1$ ). Everyone agrees that English has at least two contrasting nasal phonemes, m and n. However, there is disagreement about whether there is a third nasal phoneme  $\eta$ . In favour of accepting  $\eta$  as a phoneme is the fact that traditional phoneme theory more or less demands its acceptance despite the usual preference for making phoneme inventories as small as possible. Consider **minimal pairs** (pairs of words in which a difference in

# Table 1 Chart of English consonant phonemes

		PLACE OF	PLACE OF ARTICULATION						
		Bilabial	Labiodental	Dental	Alveolar	Post-alveolar	Palatal	Velar	Glottal
NO	Plosive	рb			t d		91	kg	
ULAT	Fricative		f v	θð	S Z	∫ 3			h
ARTIC	Affricate					t∫ d3			
Ч	Nasal	m			n			ŋ	
NNER	Lateral approximant				1				
MA	Approximant	w				r	j .		9 N.

meaning depends on the difference of just one phoneme) like these: 'sin' sin - 'sing' siŋ; 'sinner' sinə - 'singer' siŋə. There are three main arguments against accepting ŋ as a phoneme:

- iv) In some English accents it can easily be shown that ŋ is an allophone of n, which suggests that something similar might be true of BBC pronunciation too.
- v) If n is a phoneme, its distribution is very different from that of m and n, being restricted to syllable-final position (phonologically), and to morpheme-final position (morphologically) unless it is followed by k or g.
- vi) English speakers with no phonetic training are said to feel that n is not a 'single sound' like m, n. Sapir (1970) said that "no native speaker of English could be made to feel in his bones" that N formed part of a series with m, n. This is, of course, very hard to establish, although that does not mean that Sapir was wrong.

We need to look at point (i) in more detail and go on to see how this leads to the argument against having N as a phoneme. Please note that I am not trying to argue that this proposal must be correct; my aim is just to explain the argument. The whole question may seem of little or no practical consequence, but we ought to be interested in any phonological problem if it appears that conventional phoneme theory is not able to deal satisfactorily with it.

In some English accents, particularly those of the Midlands,  $\eta$  is only found with k or g following. For example:

'sink' sıŋk 'singer' sıŋgə 'sing' sıŋq 'singing' sıŋqıŋq

This was my own pronunciation as a boy, living in the West Midlands, but I now usually have the BBC pronunciation s1ŋk, s1ŋ, s1ŋə, s1ŋ1ŋ. In the case of an accent like this, it can be shown that within the morpheme the only nasal that occurs before k, g is ŋ. Neither m nor n can occur in this environment. Thus within the morpheme ŋ is in complementary distribution with m, n. Since m, n are already established as distinct English phonemes in other contexts (mæp, næp, etc.), it is clear that for such non-BBC accents ŋ must be an allophone of one of the other nasal consonant phonemes. We choose n because when a morpheme-final n is followed by a morpheme-initial k, g it is usual for that n to change to ŋ; however, a morpheme-final m followed by a morpheme-initial k, g usually doesn't change to ŋ. Thus:

'raincoat' reinkout but 'tramcar' træmka:

So in an analysis which contains no ŋ phoneme, we would transcribe 'raincoat' phonemically as reinkəut and 'sing', 'singer', 'singing' as sing, singə, singing. The phonetic realisation of the n phoneme as a velar nasal will be accounted for by a general rule that we will call Rule ':

*Rule 1:* n is realised as ŋ when it occurs in an environment in which it precedes either k or g.

Let us now look at BBC pronunciation. As explained in Section  $\forall, \flat$  above, the crucial difference between 'singer' sing and 'finger' finge is that 'finger' is a single, indivisible morpheme whereas 'singer' is composed of two morphemes 'sing' and '-er'. When  $\eta$  occurs without a following k or g it is always immediately before a morpheme boundary. Consequently, the sound  $\eta$  and the sequence  $\eta g$  are in complementary distribution. But within the morpheme there is no contrast between the sequence  $\eta g$  and the sequence  $\eta g$ , which makes it possible to say that  $\eta$  is also in complementary distribution with the sequence  $\eta g$ .

After establishing these "background facts", we can go on to state the argument as follows:

- i) English has only m, n as nasal phonemes.
- ii) The sound  $\eta$  is an allophone of the phoneme n.
- iii) The words 'finger', 'sing', 'singer', 'singing' should be represented phonemically as fingə, sing, singə, singing.
- iv) Rule \ (above) applies to all these phonemic representations to give these phonetic forms: f1ŋgə, s1ŋg, s1ŋgə, s1ŋg1ŋg
- v) A further rule (Rule  $\gamma$ ) must now be introduced:

Rule 2: g is deleted when it occurs after  $\eta$  and before a morpheme boundary.

It should be clear that Rule  $\uparrow$  will not apply to 'finger' because the  $\eta$  is not immediately followed by a morpheme boundary. However, the rule does apply to all the others, hence the final phonetic forms: fing $\varphi$ , sin, sin $\varphi$ , sinin.

vi) Finally, it is necessary to remember the exception we have seen in the case of comparatives and superlatives.

The argument against treating  $\eta$  as a phoneme may not appeal to you very much. The important point, however, is that if one is prepared to use the kind of complexity and abstractness illustrated above, one can produce quite far-reaching changes in the phonemic analysis of a language.

The other consonants - l, r, w, j - do not, I think, need further explanation, except to mention that the question of whether j, w are consonants or vowels is examined on distributional grounds in O'Connor and Trim (1907).

## Written exercises

- a. List all the consonant phonemes of the BBC accent, grouped according to manner of articulation.
- b. Transcribe the following words phonemically:
  - a) sofa c) steering
  - b) verse d) breadcrumb

e) square

g) bought h) nineteen f) anger

"When the vocal tract is in its resting position for normal breathing, the soft palate is usually lowered. Describe what movements are carried out by the soft palate in the pronunciation of the following words:

a) banner b) mid c) angle

# ^ The syllable

The syllable is a very important unit. Most people seem to believe that, even if they cannot define what a syllable is, they can count how many syllables there are in a given word or sentence. If they are asked to do this they often tap their finger as they count, which illustrates the syllable's importance in the rhythm of speech. As a matter of fact, if one tries the experiment of asking English speakers to count the syllables in, say, a recorded sentence, there is often a considerable amount of disagreement.

#### $\Lambda, \Lambda$ The nature of the syllable

When we looked at the nature of vowels and consonants in Chapter <sup>1</sup> it was shown that one could decide whether a particular sound was a vowel or a consonant on phonetic grounds (in relation to how much they obstructed the airflow) or on phonological grounds (vowels and consonants having different distributions). We find a similar situation with the syllable, in that it may be defined both phonetically and phonologically. Phonetically (i.e. in relation to the way we produce them and the way they sound), syllables are usually described as consisting of a centre which has little or no obstruction to airflow and which sounds comparatively loud; before and after this centre (i.e. at the beginning and end of the syllable), there will be greater obstruction to airflow and/or less loud sound. We will now look at some examples:

- i) What we will call a minimum syllable is a single vowel in isolation (e.g. the words 'are' at, 'or' ot, 'err' st). These are preceded and followed by silence. Isolated sounds such as m, which we sometimes produce to indicate agreement, or ∫, to ask for silence, must also be regarded as syllables.
- ii) Some syllables have an **onset** that is, instead of silence, they have one or more consonants preceding the centre of the syllable:

'bar' ba: 'key' ki: 'more' mo:

- iii) Syllables may have no onset but have a coda that is, they end with one or more consonants:
  'am' æm 'ought' o:t 'ease' i:z
- iv) Some syllables have both onset and coda: 'ran' ræn 'sat' sæt 'fill' fil

This is one way of looking at syllables. Looking at them from the phonological point of view is quite different. What this involves is looking at the possible combinations of English phonemes; the study of the possible phoneme combinations of a language is called **phonotactics.** It is simplest to start by looking at what can occur in initial position - in other words, what can occur at the beginning of the first word when we begin to speak after a pause. We find that the word can begin with a vowel, or with one, two or three consonants. No word begins with more than three consonants. In the same way, we can look at how a word ends when it is the last word spoken before a pause; it can end with a vowel, or with one, two, three or (in a small number of cases) four consonants. No current word ends with more than four consonants.

#### **Λ, Υ** The structure of the English syllable

Let us now look in more detail at syllable onsets. If the first syllable of the word in question begins with a vowel (any vowel may occur, though  $\upsilon$  is rare) we say that this initial syllable has a **zero onset**. If the syllable begins with one consonant, that initial consonant may be any consonant phoneme except n; z is rare.

We now look at syllables beginning with two consonants. When we have two or more consonants together we call them a consonant cluster. Initial two-consonant clusters are of two sorts in English. One sort is composed of s followed by one of a small set of consonants; examples of such clusters are found in words such as 'sting' stin, 'sway' swei, 'smoke' smouk. The s in these clusters is called the **pre-initial** consonant and the other consonant (t, w, m in the above examples) the **initial** consonant. These clusters are shown in Table  $\gamma$ .

The other sort begins with one of a set of about fifteen consonants, followed by one of the set l, r, w, j as in, for example, 'play' plei, 'try' trai, 'quick' kwik, 'few' fju. We call the first consonant of these clusters the **initial** consonant and the second the post-initial. There are some restrictions on which consonants can occur together. This can best be shown in table form, as in Table  $\mathcal{F}$ . When we look at three-consonant clusters we can recognise a clear relationship between them and the two sorts of two-consonant cluster described above; examples of threeconsonant initial clusters are: 'split, 'stream' stri:m, 'square' skweo. The s is the pre-initial consonant, the p, t, k that follow s in the three example words are the initial consonant and the l, r, w are post-initial. In fact, the number of possible initial three-consonant clusters is quite small and they can be set out in full (words given in spelling form):

		POST-INITIAL			
		1	r	W	j
	Р	'splay'	'spray'	-	'spew'
s plus initial	Т	-	'string'	-	'stew'
	k	'sclerosis'	'screen'	'squeak'	'skewer'

AU^,	Ex	۲
------	----	---

# Table 2 Two-consonant clusters with pre-initial s **Pre-initial** s **followed by:**

	INITIAL																
р	t	k	b	d	g	f	θ	S	ſ	h	v	ð	z	3	m	n	ŋ
spin	stık	skın	-	-	-	sfiə	-		-	-	-	-		-	smel	snəບ	-

Note: Two-consonant clusters of s plus l, w, j are also possible (e.g. slip, swiŋ, sju:), and even perhaps sr in 'syringe' srindʒ for many speakers. These clusters can be analysed *either* as pre-initial s plus initial l, w, j, r or initial s plus post-initial l, w, j, r. There is no clear answer to the question of which analysis is better; here they are treated in the latter way, and appear in Table 3.

Table 3 Two-consonant clusters with post-initial l, r, w, j

		р	t	k	b	d	g	$\mathbf{f}$	θ	s	ſ	h	v	ð	Z	3	m	n	ŋ	1	r	w	j
AL	1	pleı		kleı	blæk		gluː	flaı	_	slıp	_	_	-	-	_		_	_	_	_	_		-
ΕN	r	prei	trei	kraı	brıŋ	drıp	grın	frai	θrəυ	<b>?</b> <sup>1</sup>	∫ru:	_	-	_	_	_	_		_	- ; ~		_	_
ST-I	w	-	twin	kwık		dwel	<b>?</b> <sup>2</sup>	-	θwort	swim	<b>?</b> <sup>3</sup>		_	_	_	_	_	_ ``~	_		-	_	_
Q	j	pjor	tjum	kju:	bjurti	djur	<b>?</b> <sup>4</sup>	fjur	<b>?</b> <sup>5</sup>	sju:	_	hju:d3	vjur	_		_	mjurz	njurz	_	ljurd	-		_

Notes in doubtful cases:

•. Some people pronounce the word 'syringe' as srind3; there are no other cases of sr unless one counts foreign names (e.g. Sri Lanka).

- Y. Many Welsh names (including some well known outside Wales) such as girls' names like Gwen and place names like the county of Gwent - have initial gw and English speakers seem to find them perfectly easy to pronounce.
- <sup>r</sup>. Two cases make ∫w seem familiar: the vowel name 'schwa', and the name of the soft drinks brand Schweppes. This is, however, a very infrequent cluster for English.

<sup>£</sup>. The only possible occurrence of gj would be in the archaic (heraldic) word 'gules', which is in very few people's vocabulary.

°.  $\theta j$  occurs in the archaic word 'thew' only.

# € AU^, Exs ۳ & ٤

We now have a similar task to do in studying final consonant clusters. Here we find the possibility of up to four consonants at the end of a word. If there is no final consonant we say that there is a **zero coda**. When there is one consonant only, this is called the **final** consonant. Any consonant may be a final consonant except h, w, j. The consonant r is a special case: it doesn't occur as a final consonant in BBC pronunciation, but there are many rhotic accents of English (see Section  $\vee, \vee$ ) in which syllables may end with this consonant. There are two sorts of two-consonant final cluster, one being a final consonant preceded by a **pre-final** consonant and the other a final consonant followed by a **post-final** consonant. The pre-final consonants form a small set: m, n, ŋ, l, s. We can see these in 'bump' bAmp, 'bent' bent, 'bank' bæŋk, 'belt' belt, 'ask' a:sk. The post-final consonants also form a small set: s, z, t, d,  $\theta$ ; example words are: 'bets' bets, 'beds' bedz, 'backed' baekt, 'bagged' bægd, 'eighth' ett $\theta$ . These post-final consonants can often be identified as separate morphemes (although not always - 'axe' æks, for example, is a single morpheme and its final s has no separate meaning). A point of pronunciation can be pointed out here: the release of the first plosive of a plosive-plus-plosive cluster such as the g (of gd) in b{gd or the k (of kt) in bækt is usually without plosion and is therefore practically inaudible.

There are two types of final three-consonant cluster; the first is pre-final plus final plus post-final, as set out in the following table:

		Pre-final	Final	Post-final
'helped'	he		р	t
'banks'	bæ	ŋ	k	S
'bonds'	bp	n	d	Z
'twelfth'	twe	Ι	f	θ

The second type shows how more than one post-final consonant can occur in a final cluster: final plus post-final l plus post-final  $\gamma$ . Post-final  $\gamma$  is again one of s, z, t, d,  $\theta$ .

		U				
		Pre-final	Final	Post-final 1	Post-final 2	
'fifths'	fı	-	f	θ	S	•
'next'	ne	-	k	S	t	
'lapsed'	læ	-	р	S	t	

Most four-consonant clusters can be analysed as consisting of a final consonant preceded by a pre-final and followed by post-final <sup>1</sup> and post-final <sup>1</sup>, as shown below:

		Pre-final	Final	Post-final 1	Post-final 2
'twelfths'	twe	I	f	θ	S
'prompts'	pro	m	Р	t	S

A small number of cases seem to require a different analysis, as consisting of a final consonant with no pre-final but three post-final consonants:

		Pre-final	Final	Post-final 1	Post-final 2	Post-fi	nal 3		
'sixths'	SI			S	θ	S			
'texts'	te	-	k	S	t	S			
To sum u	p, we may	describe the Er	nglish syllable	as having	the following	maximu	m phon	ological strue	cture:
	pre- initia	n initial	post- initial VOWE	L pre- final	final	post- final	post- final	post- final	
						1	2	3	
		ONSET				CODA			

In the above structure there must be a vowel in the centre of the syllable. There is, however, a special case, that of **syllabic consonants** (which are introduced in Chapter <sup>4</sup>); we do not, for example, analyse the word 'students' stju:dnts as consisting of one syllable with the three-consonant cluster stj for its onset and a four-consonant final cluster dnts. To fit in with what English speakers feel, we say that the word contains two syllables, with the second syllable ending with the cluster nts; in other words, we treat the word as though there was a vowel between d and n, although a vowel only occurs here in very slow, careful pronunciation. This phonological problem will be discussed in Chapter <sup>1</sup><sup>r</sup>.

Much present-day work in phonology makes use of a rather more refined analysis of the syllable in which the vowel and the coda (if there is one) are known as the **rhyme;** if you think of rhyming English verse you will see that the rhyming works by matching just that part of the last syllable of a line. The rhyme is divided into the **peak** (normally the vowel) and the **coda** (but note that this is optional: the rhyme may have no coda, as in a word like 'me'). As we have seen, the syllable may also have an onset, but this is not obligatory. The structure is thus the following



# 8.3 Syllable division

There are still problems with the description of the syllable: an unanswered question is how we decide on the division between syllables when we find a connected sequence of them as we usually do in normal speech. It often happens that one or more consonants from the end of one word combine with one or more at the beginning of the following word, resulting in a consonant sequence that could not occur in a single syllable. For example, 'walked through' wo:kt  $\theta$ ru: gives us the consonant sequence kt $\theta$ r.

We will begin by looking at two words that are simple examples of the problem of dividing adjoining syllables. Most English speakers feel that the word 'morning' mo:nin consists of two syllables, but we need a way of deciding whether the division into syllables should be mo: and nin, or mom and in. A more difficult case is the word 'extra' ekstro. One problem is that by some definitions the s in the middle, between k and t, could be counted as a syllable, which most English speakers would reject. They feel that the word has two syllables. However, the more controversial issue relates to where the two syllables are to be divided; the possibilities are (using the symbol . to signify a syllable boundary):

- i) e.kstrə
- ii) ek.strə
- iii) eks.trə
- iv) ekst.rə
- v) ekstr.ə

How can we decide on the division? No single rule will tell us what to do without bringing up problems.

One of the most widely accepted guidelines is what is known as the maximal onsets principle. This principle states that where two syllables are to be divided, any consonants between them should be attached to the right-hand syllable, not the left, as far as possible. In our first example above, 'morning' would thus be divided as mo:.nin. If we just followed this rule, we would have to divide 'extra' as (i) e.kstra, but we know that an English syllable cannot begin with kstr. Our rule must therefore state that consonants are assigned to the right-hand syllable as far as possible within the restrictions governing syllable onsets and codas. This means that we must reject (i) e.kstra because of its impossible onset, and (v) ekstr. because of its impossible coda. We then have to choose between (ii), (iii) and (iv). The maximal onsets rule makes us choose (ii). There are, though, many problems still remaining. How should we divide words like 'better' beta? The maximal onsets principle tells us to put the t on the right-hand syllable, giving be.to, but that means that the first syllable is analysed as be. However, we never find isolated syllables ending with one of the vowels I, e, as, A, Q, U, so this division is not possible. The maximal onsets principle must therefore also be modified to allow a consonant to be assigned to the left syllable if that prevents one of the vowels I, e,  $\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{v}$  from occurring at the end of a syllable. We can then analyse the word as bet  $\mathfrak{I}, \mathfrak{s}, \mathfrak{h}, \mathfrak{v}$  which seems more satisfactory. There are words like 'carry' kasri which still give us problems: if we divide the word as kas.ri, we get a syllable-final as, but if we divide it as kasr.i we have a syllable-final r, and both of these are non-occurring in BBC pronunciation. We have to decide on the lesser of two evils here, and the preferable solution is to divide the word as kær.i on the grounds that in the many rhotic accents of English (see Section  $^{\vee},^{\vee}$ ) this division would be the natural one to make.
One further possible solution should be mentioned: when one consonant stands between vowels and it is difficult to assign the consonant to one syllable or the other - as in 'better' and 'carry' - we could say that the consonant belongs to both syllables. The term used by phonologists for a consonant in this situation is **ambisyllabic.** 

## Notes on problems and further reading

The study of syllable structure is a subject of considerable interest to phonologists. If you want to read further in this area, I would recommend Giegerich (1997: Chapter 7), Katamba (19A9: Chapter 4), Hogg and McCully (19AV: Chapter 7) and Goldsmith (199: Chapter 7). In the discussion of the word 'extra' ekstrə it was mentioned that the s in the middle might be classed as a syllable. This could happen if one followed the **sonority** theory of syllables: sonority corresponds to loudness, and some sounds have greater sonority than others. Vowels have the greatest sonority, and these are usually the centre of a syllable. Consonants have a lower level of sonority, and usually form the beginnings and ends of syllables. But s has greater sonority than k or t, and this could lead to the conclusion that s is the centre of a syllable in the middle of the word 'extra', which goes against English speakers' feelings. There is a thorough discussion, and a possible solution, in Giegerich (1997: Sections 7,7-7,5). Some writers believe that it is possible to describe the combinations of phonemes with little reference to the syllable as an independent unit in theoretical phonology; see, for example, Harris (1995: Section 7,7). Cruttenden ( $7 \cdot \cdot 5$ : Chapters ° and 7) describe the phonotactics of English in more detail.

A paper that had a lot of influence on more recent work is Fudge (1979). This paper brought up two ideas first discussed by earlier writers: the first is that sp, st, sk could be treated as individual phonemes, removing the pre-initial position from the syllable onset altogether and removing s from the pre-final set of consonants; the second is that since post-initial j only occurs before v, u; v = (which in his analysis all begin with the same vowel), one could postulate a diphthong ju and remove j from post-initial position. These are interesting proposals, but there is not enough space here to examine the arguments in full.

There are many different ways of deciding how to divide syllables. To see two different approaches, see the Introductions to the Longman Pronunciation Dictionary (Wells,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ) and the Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary (Jones, eds. Roach et al,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ).

# Notes for teachers

Analysing syllable structure, as we have been doing in this chapter, can be very useful to foreign learners of English, since English has a more complex syllable structure than most languages. There are many more limitations on possible combinations of vowels and consonants than we have covered here, but an understanding of the basic structures described will help learners to become aware of the types of consonant cluster that present

them with pronunciation problems. In the same way, teachers can use this knowledge to construct suitable exercises. Most learners find *some* English clusters difficult, but few find *all* of them difficult. For reading in this area, see Celce-Murcia *et al.*  $(1997: 4 \cdot -9)$ ; Dalton and Seidlhofer (1992: 72-A); Hewings  $(7 \cdot 2 \cdot 2, 7, 1)$ .

# Written exercise

Using the analysis of the word 'cramped' given below as a model, analyse the structure of the following one-syllable English words:



# 9 Strong and weak syllables

### ۹, ۱ Strong and weak

One of the most noticeable features of English pronunciation is that some of its syllables are **strong** while many others are **weak;** this is also true of many other languages, but it is necessary to study how these weak syllables are pronounced and where they occur in English. The distribution of strong and weak syllables is a subject that will be met in several later chapters. For example, we will look later at **stress**, which is very important in deciding whether a syllable is strong or weak. **Elision** is a closely related subject, and in considering **intonation** the difference between strong and weak syllables is also important. Finally, words with "strong forms" and "weak forms" are clearly a related matter. In this chapter we look at the general nature of weak syllables.

What do we mean by "strong" and "weak"? To begin with, we can look at how we use these terms to refer to phonetic characteristics of syllables. When we compare weak syllables with strong syllables, we find the vowel in a weak syllable tends to be shorter, of lower intensity (loudness) and different in quality. For example, in the word 'data' delta the second syllable, which is weak, is shorter than the first, is less loud and has a vowel that cannot occur in strong syllables. In a word like 'bottle' bbt! the weak second syllable contains no vowel at all, but consists entirely of the consonant l. We call this a **syllable consonant**.

There are other ways of characterising strong and weak syllables. We could describe them partly in terms of stress (by saying, for example, that strong syllables are stressed and weak syllables unstressed) but, until we describe what "stress" *means*, such a description would not be very useful. The most important thing to note at present is that any strong syllable will have as its peak one of the vowel phonemes (or possibly a triphthong) listed in Chapters  $\Upsilon$  and  $\Upsilon$ , but not a, i, u (the last two are explained in Section  $4, \Gamma$  below). If the vowel is one of 1, e, æ,  $\Lambda$ , p,  $\upsilon$ , then the strong syllable will always have a coda as well. Weak syllables, on the other hand, as they are defined here, can only have one of a very small number of possible peaks. At the end of a word, we may have a weak syllable ending with a vowel (i.e. with no coda):

- i) the vowel  $\Rightarrow$  ("schwa");
- ii) a close front unrounded vowel in the general area of i:, I, symbolised i;
- iii) a close back rounded vowel in the general area of u:, u, symbolised u.

Examples would be:

- i) 'better' betə
- ii) 'happy' hæpi
- iii) 'thank you' θæŋk ju

We also find weak syllables in word-final position with a coda if the vowel is a. For example:

'open' əupən 'sharpen' ∫ɑ:pən

Inside a word, we can find the above vowels acting as peaks without codas in weak syllables; for example, look at the second syllable in each of these words:

- i. 'photograph' foutogra:f
- ii. 'radio' reidiəu
- iii. 'influence' Influəns

In addition, the vowel I can act as a peak without a coda if the following syllable begins with a consonant:

iv. 'architect' a:kitekt

In the rest of this chapter we will look at the different types of weak syllable in more detail.

## ۹,۲ The a vowel ("schwa")

AU٩,Ex ۱ کې

The most frequently occurring vowel in English is a, which is always associated with weak syllables. In quality it is mid (i.e. halfway between close and open) and central (i.e. halfway between front and back). It is generally described as lax - that is, not articulated with much energy. Of course, the quality of this vowel is not always the same, but the variation is not important.

Not all weak syllables contain  $\vartheta$ , though many do. Learners of English need to learn where  $\vartheta$  is appropriate and where it is not. To do this we often have to use information that traditional phonemic theory would not accept as relevant - we must consider spelling. The question to ask is: if the speaker were to pronounce a particular weak syllable as if it were strong instead, which vowel would it be most likely to have, according to the usual rules of English spelling? Knowing this will not tell us which syllables in a word or utterance should be weak - that is something we look at in later chapters - but it will give us a rough guide to the correct pronunciation of weak syllables. Let us look at some examples:

i) Spelt with 'a'; strong pronunciation would have æ 'attend' ətend 'character' kaerəktə 'barracks' baerəks

	ii)	Spelt with 'ar'; strong pronur	ciation would have a:
		'particular' pətıkjələ	'molar' mauls
		'monarchy' mɒnəki	
iii)		Adjectival endings spelt 'ate	'; strong pronunciation would have er
		'intimate' ıntımət	'accurate' ækjərət
		'desolate' desələt (although	there are exceptions to this: 'private' is usually praivit)
	iv)	Spelt with 'o'; strong pronun	ciation would have <b>b</b> or au
		'tomorrow' təmprəu	'potato' pəteitəu
		'carrot' kærət	
	v)	Spelt with 'or'; strong pronut	nciation would have or
		'forget' fəget	'ambassador' æmbæsədə
		'opportunity' ɒpət∫u:nə	ti
	vi)	Spelt with 'e'; strong pronun	ciation would have e
		'settlement' setlmənt	'violet' vaiələt
		'postmen' pəustmən	
vii) Spelt wi		) Spelt with 'er'; strong pronu	
		'perhaps' pəhæps	'stronger' strongə
		'superman' su:pəmæn	
	viii	viii) Spelt with 'u'; strong pronunciation would have $\Lambda$	
		'autumn' o:təm	'support' səpə:t
		'halibut' hælıbət	
	ix)		many pronunciations for the letter-sequence 'ough')
		'thorough' $\theta_{\Lambda}$ rə	'borough' bʌrə
	x)	Spelt with 'ou'; strong pronu	-
		'gracious' greı∫əs	'callous' kæləs

### ${}^{9},{}^{r}$ Close front and close back vowels

Two other vowels are commonly found in weak syllables, one close front (in the general region of i:, I) and the other close back rounded (in the general region of u:, u). In strong syllables it is comparatively easy to distinguish i: from I or u: from u, but in weak syllables the difference is not so clear. For example, although it is easy enough to decide which vowel one hears in 'beat' or 'bit', it is much less easy to decide which vowel one hears in the second syllable of words such as 'easy' or 'busy'. There are accents of English (e.g. Welsh accents) in which the second syllable sounds most like the i: in the first syllable of 'easy', and others (e.g. Yorkshire accents) in which it sounds more like the I in the first syllable of 'busy'. In present-day BBC pronunciation, however, the matter is not so clear. There is uncertainty, too, about the corresponding close back rounded vowels. If we look at the words 'good to eat' and 'food to eat', we must ask if the word 'to' is pronounced with the u vowel phoneme of 'good' or the u: phoneme of 'food'. Again, which vowel comes in 'to' in 'I want to'?

One common feature is that the vowels in question are more like i: or u: when they precede another vowel, less so when they precede a consonant or pause. You should notice one further thing: with the exception of one or two very artificial examples, there is really no possibility in these contexts of a phonemic contrast between i: and I, or between u: and o. Effectively, then, the two distinctions, which undoubtedly exist within strong syllables, are **neutralised** in weak syllables of BBC pronunciation. How should we transcribe the words 'easy' and 'busy'? We will use the close front unrounded case as an example, since it is more straightforward. The possibilities, using our phoneme symbols, are the following:

	'easy'	'busy'
i)	izi	bızi:
ii)	i:zı	bızı

Few speakers with a BBC accent seem to feel satisfied with any of these transcriptions. There is a possible solution to this problem, but it goes against standard phoneme theory. We can symbolise this weak vowel as i - that is, using the symbol for the vowel in 'beat' but without the length mark. Thus:

i:zi bızi

The i vowel is neither the i: of 'beat' nor the I of 'bit', and is not in contrast with them. We can set up a corresponding vowel u that is neither the u: of 'shoe' nor the  $\upsilon$  of 'book' but a weak vowel that shares the characteristics of both. If we use i, u in our transcription as well as i:, I, u:,  $\upsilon$ , it is no longer a true phonemic transcription in the traditional sense. However, this need not be too serious an objection, and the fact that native speakers seem to think that this transcription fits better with their feelings about the language is a good argument in its favour.

### ۵ AU۹, Ex ۲

Let us now look at where these vowels are found, beginning with close front unrounded ones. We find i occurring:

- a. In word-final position in words spelt with final 'y' or 'ey' after one or more consonant letters (e.g. 'happy' h{pi, 'valley' v{li} and in morpheme-final position when such words have suffixes beginning with vowels (e.g. 'happier' hæpiə, 'easiest' i:ziəst, 'hurrying' h∧riıŋ.
- b. In a prefix such as those spelt 're', 'pre', 'de' if it precedes a vowel and is unstressed (e.g. in 'react' riækt, 'create' krieit, 'deodorant' diaudarant).
- c. In the suffixes spelt 'iate', 'ious' when they have two syllables (e.g. in 'appreciate' əpri:∫iəīt, 'hilarious' hileəriəs).
- d. In the following words when unstressed: 'he', 'she', 'we', me', 'be' and the word 'the' when it precedes a vowel.

In most other cases of syllables containing a short close front unrounded vowel we can assign the vowel to the I phoneme, as in the first syllable of 'resist' rIZIST, 'inane' INEIN,

'enough'  $In \wedge f$ , the middle syllable of 'incident' msIdant, 'orchestra' a:kIstra, 'artichoke' a:tIt fauk, and the final syllable of 'swimming' swImin, 'liquid' likwId, 'optic' pptIk. It can be seen that this vowel is most often represented in spelling by the letters 'i' and 'e'.

Weak syllables with close back rounded vowels are not so commonly found. We find u most frequently in the words 'you', 'to', 'into', 'do', when they are unstressed and are not immediately preceding a consonant, and 'through', 'who' in all positions when they are unstressed. This vowel is also found before another vowel within a word, as in 'evacuation' Iv{kjueISn, 'influenza' influenza.

### ۹, <sup>٤</sup> Syllabic consonants

In the above sections we have looked at vowels in weak syllables. We must also consider syllables in which no vowel is found. In this case, a consonant, either l, r or a nasal, stands as the peak of the syllable instead of the vowel, and we count these as weak syllables like the vowel examples given earlier in this chapter. It is usual to indicate that a consonant is syllabic by means of a small vertical mark () beneath the symbol, for example 'cattle' kætl.

### Syllabic \

# ₩AU٩, Ex ۳

Syllabic 1 is perhaps the most noticeable example of the English syllabic consonants, although it would be wrong to expect to find it in all accents. It occurs after another consonant, and the way it is produced depends to some extent on the nature of that consonant. If the preceding consonant is alveolar, as in 'bottle' bottl, 'muddle' madl, 'tunnel' tAnl, the articulatory movement from the preceding consonant to the syllabic 1 is quite simple. The sides of the tongue, which are raised for the preceding consonant, are lowered to allow air to escape over them (this is called **lateral release**). The tip and blade of the tongue do not move until the articulatory contact for the 1 is released. The 1 is a "dark 1" (as explained in Chapter  $\vee$ ). In some accents - particularly London ones, and "Estuary English" - we often find a close back rounded vowel instead (e.g. 'bottle' bbtu). Where do we find syllabic 1 in the BBC accent? It is useful to look at the spelling as a guide. The most obvious case is where we have a word ending with one or more consonant letters followed by 'le' (or, in the case of noun plurals or third person singular verb forms, 'les'). Examples are:

- i) with alveolar consonant preceding 'cattle' k{tl• 'bottle' bDtl 'wrestle' resl• 'muddle' mVdl•
  - ii) with non-alveolar consonant preceding 'couple' kVpl• 'trouble' trVbl• 'struggle' strAgl 'knuckle' nVkl•

Such words usually lose their final letter 'e' when a suffix beginning with a vowel is attached, but the l usually remains syllabic. Thus:

'bottle'-'bottling'	bnt - bɒthr)
'muddle' - 'muddling'	mʌdl - nʌdlıŋ
'struggle' - 'struggling'	stragl - straglıŋ

Similar words not derived in this way do not have the syllabic 1 - it has been pointed out that the two words 'coddling' (derived from the verb 'coddle') and 'codling' (meaning "small cod", derived by adding the diminutive suffix '-ling' to 'cod') show a contrast between syllabic and non-syllabic 1: 'coddling' kndl1ŋ and 'codling' kbdl1ŋ. In the case of words such as 'bottle', 'muddle', 'struggle', which are quite common, it would be a mispronunciation to insert a vowel between the 1 and the preceding consonant in the accent described here. There are many accents of English which may do this, so that, for example, 'cattle' is pronounced kætəl, but this is rarely the case in BBC pronunciation.

We also find syllabic 1 in words spelt, at the end, with one or more consonant letters followed by 'al' or 'el', for example:

'panel' paen¦	'petal' petl
'kernel' k3:nl	'pedal' pedl
'parcel' pa:sl	'papal' peɪpl
'Babel' beɪbl	'ducal' dju:kl

In some less common or more technical words, it is not obligatory to pronounce syllabic 1 and the sequence  $\Im$  may be used instead, although it is less likely: 'missal' misl or mis'l, 'acquittal'  $\Im$ kwitl or  $\Im$ kwitol.

### Syllabic n

### € AU<sup>9</sup>,EX<sup>€</sup>

Of the syllabic nasals, the most frequently found and the most important is n. When should it be pronounced? A general rule could be made that weak syllables which are phonologically composed of a plosive or fricative consonant plus an are uncommon except in initial position in the words. So we can find words like 'tonight' tənait, 'canary' kəneəri, 'fanatic' fənætik, 'sonata' sənɑ:tə with a before n, but medially and finally - as in words like 'threaten', 'threatening' - we find much more commonly a syllabic n: θretn, θretning. To pronounce a vowel before the nasal consonant would sound strange (or at best over-careful) in the BBC accent.

Syllabic n is most common after alveolar plosives and fricatives; in the case of t, d, s, z followed by n the plosive is nasally released by lowering the soft palate, so that in the word 'eaten' itn, for example, the tongue does not move in the tn sequence but the soft palate is lowered at the end of t so that compressed air escapes through the nose. We do not usually find n after 1, t, d, so that for example 'sullen' must be pronounced  $\int Al \theta n$ , 'Christian' as krist $\int \theta n$  (though this word may be pronounced with t followed by i or j) and 'pigeon' as pId $2\theta n$ .

Syllabic n after non-alveolar consonants is not so widespread. In words where the syllable following a velar consonant is spelt 'an' or 'on' (e.g. 'toboggan', 'wagon') it is rarely heard, the more usual pronunciation being təbbgən, wægən. After bilabial consonants, in

words like 'happen', 'happening', 'ribbon' we can consider it equally acceptable to pronounce them with syllabic n (hæpn, haepnin, ribn) or with ən (hæpən, hæpənin, ribən). In a similar way, after velar consonants in words like 'thicken', 'waken', syllabic n is possible but an is also acceptable.

After f, v, syllabic n is more common than an (except, as with the other cases described, in word-initial syllables). Thus 'seven', 'heaven', 'often' are more usually sevn, hevn, pfn than sevon, hevon, pfon.

In all the examples given so far the syllabic n has been following another consonant; sometimes it is possible for another consonant to precede that consonant, but in this case a syllabic consonant is less likely to occur. If n is preceded by 1 and a plosive, as in 'Wilton', the pronunciation wiltn is possible, but wilton is also found regularly. If s precedes, as in 'Boston', a final syllabic nasal is less frequent, while clusters formed by nasal + plosive + syllabic nasal are very unusual: thus 'Minton', 'lantern', 'London', 'abandon' will normally have a in the last syllable and be pronounced minton, lænton, lʌndon, obændon. Other nasals also discourage a following plosive plus syllabic nasal, so that for example 'Camden' is normally pronounced kaemdon.

## Syllabic m, ŋ

We will not spend much time on the syllabic pronunciation of these consonants. Both can occur as syllabic, but only as a result of processes such as assimilation and elision that are introduced later. We find them sometimes in words like 'happen', which can be pronounced hæpm, though haepn and hæpən are equally acceptable, and 'uppermost', which could be pronounced as apməost, though Apəməost would be more usual. Examples of possible syllabic velar nasals would be 'thicken'  $\theta_{Ik\eta}$  (where  $\theta_{Ik\ni}$  and  $\theta_{Ik\eta}$  are also possible), and 'broken key' brəokŋ ki:, where the nasal consonant occurs between velar consonants (n or an could be substituted for  $\eta$ ).

### Syllabic r

In many accents of the type called "rhotic" (introduced in Chapter  $\vee$ ), such as most American accents, syllabic r is very common. The word 'particular', for example, would probably be pronounced prt1kjəlr in careful speech by most Americans, while BBC speakers would pronounce this word pət1kjələ. Syllabic r is less common in BBC pronunciation: it is found in weak syllables such as the second syllable of 'preference' prefrəns. In most cases where it occurs there are acceptable alternative pronunciations without the syllabic consonant.

There are a few pairs of words (minimal pairs) in which a difference in meaning appears to depend on whether a particular r is syllabic or not, for example:

# 'hungry' hʌŋgri 'Hungary' hʌŋgri

But we find no case of syllabic r where it would not be possible to substitute either non-syllabic r or  $\Im$ ; in the example above, 'Hungary' could equally well be pronounced hAng $\Im$ ri.

# Combinations of syllabic consonants

It is not unusual to find two syllabic consonants together. Examples are: 'national'  $n \approx \int n!$ , 'literal' litr!, 'visionary' viʒnri, 'veteran' vetrn. It is important to remember that it is often not possible to say with certainty whether a speaker has pronounced a syllabic consonant, a non-syllabic consonant or a non-syllabic consonant plus a. For example, the word 'veteran' given above could be pronounced in other ways than vetrn. A BBC speaker might instead say vetrən, vetərn or vetərən. The transcription makes it look as if the difference between these words is clear; it is not. In examining colloquial English it is often more or less a matter of arbitrary choice how one transcribes such a word. Transcription has the unfortunate tendency to make things seem simpler and more clear-cut than they really are.

# Notes on problems and further reading

- 9, I have at this point tried to bring in some preliminary notions of stress and prominence without giving a full explanation. By this stage in the course it is important to be getting familiar with the difference between stressed and unstressed syllables, and the nature of the "schwa" vowel. However, the subject of stress is such a large one that I have felt it best to leave its main treatment until later. On the subject of schwa, see Ashby (Y • °: p. Y9); Cruttenden (Y • ^: Section ^,9,1Y).
- **1**, Y The introduction of i and u is a relatively recent idea, but it is now widely accepted as a convention in influential dictionaries such as the Longman Pronunciation Dictionary (Wells, Y · · ^), the Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary (Jones, eds. Roach et al, Y · · <sup>1</sup>) and the Oxford Dictionary of Pronunciation (Upton et al, Y · · <sup>1</sup>). Since I mention native speakers' feelings in this connection, and since I am elsewhere rather sceptical about appeals to native speakers' feelings, I had better explain that in this case my evidence comes from the native speakers of English I have taught in practical classes on transcription over many years. A substantial number of these students have either been speakers with BBC pronunciation or had accents only slightly different from it, and their usual reaction to being told to use I for the vowel at the end of 'easy', 'busy' has been one of puzzlement and frustration; like them, I cannot equate this vowel with the vowel of 'bit'. I am, however, reluctant to use i:, which suggests a stronger vowel than should be pronounced (like the final vowel in 'evacuee', 'Tennessee'). I must emphasise that the vowels i, u are not to be included in the set of English phonemes but are simply additional symbols to make the writing and reading of transcription easier. The Introduction to the Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary (Jones, eds. Roach et al, Y · · <sup>1</sup>) discusses some of the issues involved in syllabic consonants and weak syllables: see section Y, <sup>1</sup> · and p. <sup>£9Y</sup>.

## Notes for teachers

Introduction of the "schwa" vowel has been deliberately delayed until this chapter, since I wanted it to be presented in the context of weak syllables in general. Since students

should by now be comparatively well informed about basic segmental phonetics, it is very important that their production and recognition of this vowel should be good before moving on to the following chapters.

This chapter is in a sense a crucial point in the course. Although the segmental material of the preceding chapters is important as a foundation, the strong/weak syllable distinction and the overall prosodic characteristics of words and sentences are essential to intelligibility. Most of the remaining chapters of the course are concerned with such matters.

## Written exercise

The following sentences have been partially transcribed, but the vowels have been left blank. Fill in the vowels, taking care to identify which vowels are weak; put no vowel at all if you think a syllabic consonant is appropriate, but put a syllabic mark beneath the syllabic consonant

- 1. A particular problem of the boat was a leak
- p t kj l pr bl mv ð b t wz l k <sup>5</sup>. Opening the bottle presented no difficulty
  - p n ŋ ð b t l pr z nt d n d f k lt
- ". There is no alternative to the government's proposal ð r z n lt ntvtð gv nm nt spr p zl
- ٤. We ought to make a collection to cover the expenses w ttmk klk∫ntkvð ksp ns z
- °. Finally they arrived at a harbour at the edge of the mountains fnlð rvdthbrtð dʒ v ð m nt nz

# 10 Stress in simple words

# **\., \** The nature of stress

€ AU<sup>1</sup>, Ex<sup>1</sup>

Stress has been mentioned several times already in this course without an explanation of what the word means. The nature of stress is simple enough: practically everyone would agree that the first syllable of words like 'father', 'open', 'camera' is stressed, that the middle syllable is stressed in 'potato', 'apartment', 'relation', and that the final syllable is stressed in 'about', 'receive', 'perhaps'. Also, most people feel they have some sort of idea of what the difference is between stressed and unstressed syllables, although they might explain it in different ways.

We will mark a stressed syllable in transcription by placing a small vertical line (') high up, just before the syllable it relates to; the words quoted above will thus be transcribed as follows:

'fa:ðə	pə'teitəu	ə'baut
'əupən	ə'pa:tmənt	rı'si:v
'kæmrə	rı'leı∫ņ	pə'hasps

What are the characteristics of stressed syllables that enable us to identify them? It is important to understand that there are two different ways of approaching this question. One is to consider what the speaker does in producing stressed syllables and the other is to consider what characteristics of sound make a syllable seem to a listener to be stressed. In other words, we can study stress from the points of view of **production** and of **perception**; the two are obviously closely related, but are not identical. The production of stress is generally believed to depend on the speaker using more muscular energy than is used for unstressed syllables. Measuring muscular effort is difficult, but it seems possible, according to experimental studies, that when we produce stressed syllables, the muscles that we use to expel air from the lungs are often more active, producing higher subglottal pressure. It seems probable that similar things happen with muscles in other parts of our vocal apparatus.

Many experiments have been carried out on the perception of stress, and it is clear that many different sound characteristics are important in making a syllable recognisably stressed. From the perceptual point of view, all stressed syllables have one characteristic in common, and that is **prominence**. Stressed syllables are recognised as stressed because they

are more prominent than unstressed syllables. What makes a syllable prominent? At least four different factors are important:

- i) Most people seem to feel that stressed syllables are **louder** than unstressed syllables; in other words, loudness is a component of prominence. In a sequence of identical syllables (e.g. ba:ba:ba:ba:ba:), if one syllable is made louder than the others, it will be heard as stressed. However, it is important to realise that it is very difficult for a speaker to make a syllable louder without changing other characteristics of the syllable such as those explained below (ii-iv); if one literally changes *only* the loudness, the perceptual effect is not very strong.
- ii) The length of syllables has an important part to play in prominence. If one of the syllables in our "nonsense word" ba:ba:ba:ba: is made longer than the others, there is quite a strong tendency for that syllable to be heard as stressed.
- iii) Every voiced syllable is said on some pitch; pitch in speech is closely related to the frequency of vibration of the vocal folds and to the musical notion of low- and high-pitched notes. It is essentially a *perceptual* characteristic of speech. If one syllable of our "nonsense word" is said with a pitch that is noticeably different from that of the others, this will have a strong tendency to produce the effect of prominence. For example, if all syllables are said with low pitch except for one said with high pitch, then the high-pitched syllable will be heard as stressed and the others as unstressed. To place some movement of pitch (e.g. rising or falling) on a syllable is even more effective in making it sound prominent.

Prominence, then, is produced by four main factors: (i) loudness, (ii) length, (iii) pitch and (iv) quality. Generally these four factors work together in combination, although syllables may sometimes be made prominent by means of only one or two of them. Experimental work has shown that these factors are not equally important; the strongest effect is produced by pitch, and length is also a powerful factor. Loudness and quality have much less effect.

## $\mathbf{1},\mathbf{7}$ Levels of stress

Up to this point we have talked about stress as though there were a simple distinction between "stressed" and "unstressed" syllables with no intermediate levels; such a treatment would be a **two-level** analysis of stress. Usually, however, we have to recognise one or more intermediate levels. It should be remembered that in this chapter we are dealing only with

stress within the word. This means that we are looking at words as they are said in isolation, which is a rather artificial situation: we do not often say words in isolation, except for a few such as 'yes', 'no', 'possibly', 'please' and interrogative words such as 'what', 'who', etc. However, looking at words in isolation does help us to see stress placement and stress levels more clearly than studying them in the context of continuous speech.

Let us begin by looking at the word 'around' ə'raond, where the stress always falls clearly on the last syllable and the first syllable is weak. From the point of view of stress, the most important fact about the way we pronounce this word is that on the second syllable the pitch of the voice does not remain level, but usually falls from a higher to a lower pitch. We can diagram the pitch movement as shown below, where the two parallel lines represent the speaker's highest and lowest pitch level. The prominence that results from this pitch movement, or **tone**, gives the strongest type of stress; this is called **primary stress**.

\_\_\_\_\_\_ speaker's highest pitch level



In some words, we can observe a type of stress that is weaker than primary stress but stronger than that of the first syllable of 'around'; for example, consider the first syllables of the words 'photographic' foutoræfik, 'anthropology' æn $\theta$ ropplodzi. The stress in these words is called **secondary stress**. It is usually represented in transcription with a low mark (,) so that the examples could be **transcribed** as 'fouto'græfik, 'æn $\theta$ ropplodzi.

We have now identified two levels of stress: primary and secondary; this also implies a third level which can be called **unstressed** and is regarded as being the absence of any recognisable amount of prominence. These are the three levels that we will use in describing English stress. However, it is worth noting that unstressed syllables containing  $\vartheta$ , I, i, u, or a syllabic consonant, will sound less prominent than an unstressed syllable containing some other vowel. For example, the first syllable of 'poetic' pəu'etIk is more prominent than the first syllable of 'pathetic' pə'θetIk. This *could* be used as a basis for a further division of stress levels, giving us a third ("tertiary") level. It is also possible to suggest a tertiary level of stress in some polysyllabic words. To take an example, it has been suggested that the word 'indivisibility' shows four different levels: the syllable bII is the strongest (carrying primary stress), the initial syllable In has secondary stress, while the third syllable vIZ has a level of stress which is weaker than those two but stronger than the second, fourth, sixth and seventh syllable (which are all unstressed). Using the symbol to mark this tertiary stress, the word could be represented like this: 'mdIovIZə'bIləti. While this may be a phonetically correct account of some pronunciations, the introduction of tertiary stress seems to introduce an unnecessary degree of complexity. We will transcribe the word as 'IndI'vIZə'bIləti.

### $\iota \, \cdot \, , {}^{r}$ Placement of stress within the word

We now come to a question that causes a great deal of difficulty, particularly to foreign learners (who cannot simply dismiss it as an academic question): how can one select

the correct syllable or syllables to stress in an English word? As is well known, English is not one of those languages where word stress can be decided simply in relation to the syllables of the word, as can be done in French (where the last syllable is usually stressed), Polish (where the syllable before the last - the penultimate syllable - is usually stressed) or Czech (where the first syllable is usually stressed). Many writers have said that English word stress is so difficult to predict that it is best to treat stress placement as a property of the individual word, to be learned when the word itself is learned. Certainly anyone who tries to analyse English stress placement has to recognise that it is a highly complex matter. However, it must also be recognised that in most cases (though certainly not all), when English speakers come across an unfamiliar word, they can pronounce it with the correct stress; in principle, it should be possible to discover what it is that the English speaker knows and to write it in the form of rules. The following summary of ideas on stress placement in nouns, verbs and adjectives is an attempt to present a few rules in the simplest possible form. Nevertheless, practically all the rules have exceptions and readers may feel that the rules are so complex that it would be easier to go back to the idea of learning the stress for each word individually.

In order to decide on stress placement, it is necessary to make use of some or all of the following information:

- i) Whether the word is morphologically **simple**, or whether it is **complex** as a result either of containing one or more affixes (i.e. prefixes **or** suffixes) or of being a compound word.
- ii) What the grammatical category of the word is (noun, verb, adjective, etc.).
- iii) How many syllables the word has.
- iv) What the phonological structure of those syllables is.

It is sometimes difficult to make the decision referred to in (i). The rules for complex words are different from those for simple words and these will be dealt with in Chapter *V*. Single- syllable words present no problems: if they are pronounced in isolation they are said with primary stress.

Point (iv) above is something that should be dealt with right away, since it affects many of the other rules that we will look at later. We saw in Chapter <sup>9</sup> that it is possible to divide syllables into two basic categories: **strong** and **weak.** One component of a syllable is the **rhyme**, which contains the syllable peak and the coda. A strong syllable has a rhyme with

either (i) a syllable peak which is a long vowel or diphthong, with or without a

following consonant (coda). Examples:

'die' daı 'heart' ha:t 'see' si:

or (ii) a syllable peak which is a short vowel, one of I, e, æ,  $\Lambda$ , **D**, **U**, followed by at least one consonant. Examples:

'bat' baet 'much' m∧t∫ 'pull' pul

A weak syllable has a syllable peak which consists of one of the vowels æ, i, u and no coda except when the vowel is a. Syllabic consonants are also weak. Examples:

'fa' in 'sofa' 'səufə 'zy' in 'lazy' 'leızi

'flu' in 'influence' 'influens 'en' in 'sudden' 'sadn

The vowel I may also be the peak of a weak syllable if it occurs before a consonant that is initial in the syllable that follows it. Examples:

'bi' in 'herbicide' 'h3:b1sa1d 'e' in 'event' 1'vent

(However, this vowel is also found frequently as the peak of stressed syllables, as in 'thinker' 'θιŋkə, 'input' 'input.) The important point to remember is that, although we do find unstressed strong syllables (as in the last syllable of 'dialect' 'daɪəlekt), only strong syllables can be stressed. Weak syllables are always unstressed. This piece of knowledge does not by any means solve all the problems of how to place English stress, but it does help in some cases.

## Two-syllable words

# **₩AU** )•, Ex **\***

In the case of simple two-syllable words, either the first or the second syllable will be stressed - not both. There is a general tendency for verbs to be stressed nearer the end of a word and for nouns to be stressed nearer the beginning. We will look first at verbs. If the final syllable is weak, then the first syllable is stressed. Thus:

'enter' 'entə	'open' 'əupən
'envy' 'envi	'equal' 'i:kwəl

A final syllable is also unstressed if it contains au (e.g. 'follow' 'fpləu, 'borrow' 'bprəu).

If the final syllable is strong, then that syllable is stressed even if the first syllable is also strong. Thus:

'apply' ə'plaı	'attract' ə'traekt	'rotate' rəu'teit
'arrive' ə'raıv	'assist' ə'sıst	'maintain' mein'tein

Two-syllable simple adjectives are stressed according to the same rule, giving:

'lovely' 'lʌvli	'divine' dı'vaın
'even' 'i:vən	'correct' kə'rekt
'hollow' 'hnləບ	'alive' ə'laıv

As with most stress rules, there are exceptions; for example: 'honest' 'pnist, 'perfect' 'p3:fikt, both of which end with strong syllables but are stressed on the first syllable.

Nouns require a different rule: stress will fall on the first syllable unless the first syllable is weak and the second syllable is strong. Thus:

'money''mani	'divan' dı'væn
'product' 'prodʌkt	'balloon' bə'lu:n
'larynx' 'laer1ŋks	'design' dı'zaın

Other two-syllable words such as adverbs seem to behave like verbs and adjectives. Three-syllable words

Here we find a more complicated picture. One problem is the difficulty of identifying three-syllable words which are indisputably simple. In simple verbs, if the final syllable is strong, then it will receive primary stress. Thus:

'entertain', entə'tein 'resurrect', rezə'rekt

If the last syllable is weak, then it will be unstressed, and stress will be placed on the preceding (penultimate) syllable if that syllable is strong. Thus:

'encounter' ıŋ'kauntə 'determine 'dı't3:mın

If both the second and third syllables are weak, then the stress falls on the initial syllable:

'parody' 'pærədi 'monitor' 'mpnītə

Nouns require a slightly different rule. The general tendency is for stress to fall on the first syllable unless it is weak. Thus:

'quantity' 'kwontəti	'emperor' 'empərə
'custody' 'ka∫tədi	'enmity' 'enməti

However, in words with a weak first syllable the stress comes on the next syllable:

'mimosa'm1'məuzə	'disaster' dı'za:stə
'potato' pə'teitəu	'synopsis' si'nopsis

When a three-syllable noun has a strong final syllable, that syllable will not usually receive the main stress:

'intellect' 'intəlekt	'marigold' 'mærıgəuld
'alkali' 'ælkəlaı	'stalactite' 'stæləktaıt

Adjectives seem to need the same rule, to produce stress patterns such as:

'opportune' 'ppətju:n	'insolent' 'Insələnt
'derelict' 'derəlıkt	'anthropoid' 'ænθrəpɔɪd

The above rules certainly do not cover all English words. They apply only to major categories of lexical words (nouns, verbs and adjectives in this chapter), not to function

words such as articles and prepositions. There is not enough space in this course to deal with simple words of more than three syllables, nor with special cases of loan words (words brought into the language from other languages comparatively recently). Complex and compound words are dealt with in Chapter 11. One problem that we must also leave until Chapter 11 is the fact that there are many cases of English words with alternative possible stress patterns (e.g. 'controversy' as either 'kontrovs:si or kon'trnvosi). Other words - which we will look at in studying connected speech - change their stress pattern according to the context they occur in. Above all, there is not space to discuss the many exceptions to the above rules. Despite the exceptions, it seems better to attempt to produce some stress rules (even if they are rather crude and inaccurate) than to claim that there is no rule or regularity in English word stress.

# Notes on problems and further reading

The subject of English stress has received a large amount of attention, and the references given here are only a small selection from an enormous number. As I suggested in the notes on the previous chapter, incorrect stress placement is a major cause of intelligibility problems for foreign learners, and is therefore a subject that needs to be treated very seriously.

# I have deliberately avoided using the term *accent*, which is found widely in the literature on stress see, for example, Cruttenden (<sup>\*</sup>··<sup>^</sup>), p. <sup>\*</sup><sup>\*</sup>. This is for three main reasons:

- i. It increases the complexity of the description without, in my view, contributing much to its value.
- ii. Different writers do not agree with each other about the way the term should be used.
- iii. The word *accent* is used elsewhere to refer to different varieties of pronunciation (e.g. "a foreign *accent*"); it is confusing to use it for a quite different purpose. To a lesser extent we also have this problem with the word *stress*, which can be used to refer to psychological tension.
- )., TOn the question of the number of levels of stress, in addition to Laver (1992: 017), see also Wells  $(7 \cdot \cdot \Lambda)$ .
- It is said in this chapter that one may take one of two positions. One is that stress is not predictable by rule and must be learned word by word (see, for example, Jones  $19\sqrt{2}$ : Sections  $97\cdot-1$ ). The second (which I prefer) is to say that, difficult though the task is, one must try to find a way of writing rules that express what native speakers naturally tend to do in placing stress, while acknowledging that there will always be a substantial residue of cases which appear to follow no regular rules. A very thorough treatment is given by Fudge (1945). More recently, Giegerich (1947) has presented a clear analysis of English word stress (including a useful explanation of strong, weak, heavy and light syllables); see p. 157

and Chapter  $\vee$ . I have not adopted the practice of labelling syllables *heavy* and *light* to denote characteristics of phonological structure (e.g. types of peak and coda), though this could have been done to avoid confusion with the more phonetically-based terms *strong* and *weak* introduced in Chapter <sup>4</sup>. For our purposes, the difference is not important enough to need additional terminology.

There is another approach to English stress rules which is radically different. This is based on **generative phonology**, an analysis which was first presented in Chomsky and Halle (197A) and has been followed by a large number of works exploring the same field. To anyone not familiar with this type of treatment, the presentation will seem difficult or even unintelligible; within the generative approach, many different theories, all with different names, tend to come and go with changes in fashion. The following paragraph is an attempt to summarise the main characteristics of basic generative phonology, and recommends some further reading for those interested in learning about it in detail.

The level of phonology is very abstract in this theory. An old-fashioned view of speech communication would be that what the speaker intends to say is coded - or represented - as a string of phonemes just like a phonemic transcription, and what a hearer hears is also converted by the brain from sound waves into a similar string of phonemes. A generative phonologist, however, would say that this phonemic representation is not accurate: the representation in the brain of the speaker or hearer is much more abstract and is often quite different from the 'real' sounds recognisable in the sound wave. You may hear the word 'football' pronounced as fupbo;], but your brain recognises the word as made up of 'foot' and 'ball' and interprets it phonologically as futbo: I. You may hear a in the first syllable of 'photography', in the second syllable of 'photograph' and in the third syllable of 'photographer', but these a vowels are only the surface realizations of underlying vowel phonemes. An abstract phonemic representation of 'photograph' (including the relevant part of 'photography', 'photographic' and 'photographer') would be something like fo:tograf; each of the three underlying vowels (for which I am using symbols different from those used in the rest of this book) would be realised differently according to the stress they received and their position in the word: the o: in the first syllable would be realized as au if stressed ('photograph' 'foutographic' fouto'græfik) and as a if unstressed ('photography' fa'tðgrofi); the o in the second syllable would be realised as g if stressed ('photography' fa'tðgrafi) and as a if unstressed ('photograph' 'foutogra:f), while the a in the third syllable would be realised as ae if stressed ('photographic' fouto'graefik), as either a: or ae if in a word-final syllable ('photograph' 'foutogra: f or 'foutograf) and as a if unstressed in a syllable that is not word-final ('photography' fa'tôgrafi). These vowel changes are brought about by rules - not the sort of rules that one might teach to language learners, but more like the instructions that one might build into a machine or write into a computer program. According to Chomsky and Halle, at the abstract phonological level words do not possess stress; stress (of many different levels) is the result of the application of phonological rules, which are simple enough in theory but highly complex in practice. The principles of these rules are explained first on pp. 10- $\mathfrak{L}^{\mathfrak{r}}$  of Chomsky and Halle (197Å), and in greater detail on pp.  $\mathfrak{19}$ -1 $\mathfrak{17}$ .

There is a clear and thorough introductory account of generative phonology in Clark *et al.* ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ : Chapter °), and they present a brief account of the generative treatment of stress in section  $\gamma, \gamma$ . A briefer review is given in Katamba ( $\gamma \gamma \gamma$ : Chapter  $\gamma$ ), Section  $\gamma$ ).

# Notes for teachers

It should be clear from what is said above that from the purely practical classroom point of view, explaining English word stress in terms of generative phonology could well create confusion for learners. Finding practice and testing material for word stress is very simple, however: any modern English dictionary shows word stress patterns as part of word entries, and lists of these can be made either with stress marks for students to read from (as in Exercise  $\uparrow$  of Audio Unit  $\uparrow \cdot$ ), or without stress marks for students to put their own marks on (as in Exercise  $\uparrow$  of the same Audio Unit).

## Written exercises

Mark the stress on the following words:

ii) Verbs

a) protect	e) bellow
b) clamber	f) menace
c) festoon	g) disconnect
d) detest	h) enter
iii) Nouns	
a) language	e) event
b) captain	f) jonquil
c) career	g) injury
d) paper	h) connection

(Native speakers of English should transcribe the words phonemically as well as marking stress.)

# 11 Complex word stress

### **UNICOMPLEX WORDS**

In Chapter \. the nature of stress was explained and some broad general rules were given for deciding which syllable in a word should receive primary stress. The words that were described were called "simple" words; "simple" in this context means "not composed of more than one grammatical unit", so that, for example, the word 'care' is simple while 'careful' and 'careless' (being composed of two grammatical units each) are complex; 'carefully' and 'carelessness' are also complex, and are composed of three grammatical units each. Unfortunately, as was suggested in Chapter *Y*, it is often difficult to decide whether a word should be treated as complex or simple. The majority of English words of more than one syllable (polysyllabic words) have come from other languages whose way of constructing words is easily recognisable; for example, we can see how combining 'mit' with the prefixes 'per-', 'sub-', 'com-' produced 'permit', 'submit', 'commit' - words which have come into English from Latin. Similarly, Greek has given us 'catalogue', 'analogue', 'dialogue', 'monologue', in which the prefixes 'cata-', 'ana-', 'dia-', 'mono-' are recognisable. But we cannot automatically treat the separate grammatical units of other languages as if they were separate grammatical units of English. If we did, we would not be able to study English morphology without first studying the morphology of five or six other languages, and we would be forced into ridiculous analyses such as that the English word 'parallelepiped' is composed of four or five grammatical units (which is the case in Ancient Greek). We must accept, then, that the distinction between "simple" and "complex" words is difficult to draw.

Complex words are of two major types:

- ii) words made from a basic word form (which we will call the stem), with the addition of an affix; and
- iii) **compound** words, which are made of two (or occasionally more) independent English words (e.g. 'ice cream', 'armchair').

We will look first at the words made with affixes. Affixes are of two sorts in English: **prefixes**, which come before the stem (e.g. prefix 'un-' + stem 'pleasant' —> 'unpleasant') and **suffixes**, which come after the stem (e.g. stem 'good' + suffix '-ness' —> 'goodness').

Affixes have one of three possible effects on word stress:

- a) The affix itself receives the primary stress (e.g. 'semi-' + 'circle'  $\int \mathfrak{s} kl \longrightarrow$  'semicircle' 'semIs $\mathfrak{s} kl$ ; '-ality' + 'person' 'p $\mathfrak{s} \mathfrak{s} n \longrightarrow$  'personality' p $\mathfrak{s} \mathfrak{s} n'\mathfrak{a} \mathfrak{l} \mathfrak{s} \mathfrak{t}$ ).
- b) The word is stressed as if the affix were not there (e.g. 'pleasant' 'pleznt, 'unpleasant' an'pleznt; 'market' 'ma:kit, 'marketing' 'ma:kitiŋ).
- c) The stress remains on the stem, not the affix, but is shifted to a different syllable (e.g. 'magnet' 'mægnət, 'magnetic' mæg'net1k).

### **NUMP** Suffixes

There are so many suffixes that it will only be possible here to examine a small proportion of them: we will concentrate on those which are common and **productive** - that is, are applied to a considerable number of stems and could be applied to more to make new English words. In the case of the others, foreign learners would probably be better advised to learn the 'stem + affix' combination as an individual item.

One of the problems that we encounter is that we find words which are obviously complex but which, when we try to divide them into stem + affix, turn out to have a stem that is difficult to imagine as an English word. For example, the word 'audacity' seems to be a complex word - but what is its stem? Another problem is that it is difficult in some cases to know whether a word has one, or more than one, suffix: for example, should we analyse 'personality' from the point of view of stress assignment, as  $p_{3:Sn} + aeləti$  or as  $p_{3:Sn} + Eel + ati?$  In the study of English word formation at a deeper level than we can go into here, it is necessary for such reasons to distinguish between a stem (which is what remains when affixes are removed), and a **root**, which is the smallest piece of lexical material that a stem can be reduced to. So, in 'personality', we could say that the *suffix* '-ity' is attached to the *stem* 'personal' which contains the *root* 'person' and the suffix 'al'. We will not spend more time here on looking at these problems, but go on to look at some generalisations about suffixes and stress, using only the term 'stem' for the sake of simplicity. The suffixes are referred to in their spelling form.

### Suffixes carrying primary stress themselves

### ₩ AU11, Ex 1

In the examples given, which seem to be the most common, the primary stress is on the first syllable of the suffix. If the stem consists of more than one syllable there will be a secondary stress on one of the syllables of the stem. This cannot fall on the last syllable of the stem and is, if necessary, moved to an earlier syllable. For example, in 'Japan' dʒə'pæn the primary stress is on the last syllable, but when we add the stress-carrying suffix'ese' the primary stress is on the suffix and the secondary stress is placed not on the second syllable but on the first: 'Japanese'.dʒæpə'ni:z.

- '-ee': 'refugee' refju'dzi:; 'evacuee' 1,vækju'i:
- '-eer': 'mountaineer' maunti'niə; 'volunteer' volən'tiə
- '-ese': 'Portuguese' po:tʃə'gi:z; 'journalese' dʒ3:nli:z

- '-ette': 'cigarette' sıgr'et; 'launderette' lo:ndr'et
- 'esque': 'picturesque' piktfr'esk

# Suffixes that do not affect stress placement

۲

- '-able': 'comfort' 'kamfət; 'comfortable' 'kʌmfətəbl
- '-age': 'anchor' 'æŋkə; 'anchorage' 'æŋkridʒ
- '-al': 'refuse' (verb) rı'fju:z; 'refusal' rı'fju:zl
- '-en': 'wide' 'waɪd; 'widen' 'waɪdn
- '-ful': 'wonder' 'wandə; 'wonderful' 'wandəflı
- '-ing': 'amaze' ə'meiz; 'amazing' ə'meiziŋ
- '-like': 'bird' 'b3:d; 'birdlike' 'b3:dla1k
- '-less': 'power' 'pauə; 'powerless' 'pauələs
- '-ly': 'hurried' 'hArId; 'hurriedly' 'hArIdli
- '-ment' (noun): 'punish' 'p∧nı∫; 'punishment' 'p∧nı∫mənt
- '-ness': 'yellow' 'jeləu; 'yellowness' 'jeləunəs
- '-ous': 'poison' 'poizn; 'poisonous' 'poizņos
- '-fy: 'glory' 'gb:ri; 'glorify' 'glo:rifai
- '-wise': 'other' 'Aðə; 'otherwise' 'Aðəwaiz
- '-y' (adjective or noun): 'fun' 'fAn; 'funny' 'fani
- ('-ish' in the case of adjectives does not affect stress placement: 'devil' 'devil; 'devilish' 'devilish' 'devilish' verbs with stems of more than one syllable always have the stress on the syllable immediately preceding 'ish' for example, 'replenish' ri'plenish' ri'plenish' di'mðlis)

# Suffixes that influence stress in the stem

٣

In these examples primary stress is on the last syllable of the stem.

• '-eous':	'advantage'	əd'va:ntıdz;	'advantageous'	,ædvən'teidzəs
• '-graphy':	'photo'	'fəutəu;	'photography'	fa'tðgrafi
• '-ial':	'proverb'	'prðʌз:b;	'proverbial'	prə'vɜːbiəl
• '-ic':	'climate'	'klaımət;	'climatic'	klaı'mætık
• '-ion':	'perfect'	'pɜːfɪkt;	'perfection'	pə'fek∫n
• '-ious':	'injure'	'ındʒə;	'injurious'	ın'dsuəriəs
• '- ty':	'tranquil'	'trəŋkwıl;	'tranquillity'	træŋ'kwıləti
• '-ive':	'reflex'	ri;fleks;	'reflexive'	rı'fleksıv

Finally, when the suffixes '-ance', '-ant' and '-ary' are attached to single-syllable stems, the stress is almost always placed on the stem (e.g. 'guidance', 'sealant', 'dietary'). When the stem has more than one syllable, the stress is on one of the syllables in the stem. To explain this we need to use a rule based on syllable structure, as was done for simple words in the previous chapter. If the final syllable of the stem is strong, that syllable receives the stress. For example: 'importance' Im'pottns, 'centenary' sen'ti:nri.

₩AU11, Ex

Otherwise the syllable before the last one receives the stress: 'inheritance' In'heritans, 'military' 'militri.

# d)Prefixes

We will look only briefly at prefixes. Their effect on stress does not have the comparative regularity, independence and predictability of suffixes, and there is no prefix of one or two syllables that always carries primary stress. Consequently, the best treatment seems to be to say that stress in words with prefixes is governed by the same rules as those for polysyllabic words without prefixes.

### 11.4 Compound words

### ₩AU<sup>11</sup>, Ex<sup>€</sup>

The words discussed so far in this chapter have all consisted of a stem plus an affix. We now pass on to another type of word. This is called **compound**, and its main characteristic is that it can be analysed into two words, both of which can exist independently as English words. Some compounds are made of more than two words, but we will not consider these. As with many of the distinctions being made in connection with stress, there are areas of uncertainty. For example, it could be argued that 'photograph' may be divided into two independent words, 'photo' and 'graph'; yet we usually do not regard it as a compound, but as a simple word. If, however, someone drew a graph displaying numerical information about photos, this would perhaps be called a 'photo-graph' and the word would then be regarded as a compound. Compounds are written in different ways: sometimes they are written as one word (e.g. 'armchair', 'sunflower'); sometimes with the words separated by a hyphen (e.g. 'open-minded', 'cost-effective'); and sometimes with two words separated by a space (e.g. 'desk lamp', 'battery charger'). In this last case there would be no indication to the foreign learner that the pair of words was to be treated as a compound. There is no clear dividing line between two-word compounds and pairs of words that simply happen to occur together quite frequently.

As far as stress is concerned, the question is quite simple. When is primary stress placed on the first constituent word of the compound and when on the second? Both patterns are found. A few rules can be given, although these are not completely reliable. Perhaps the most familiar type of compound is the one which combines two nouns and which normally has the stress on the first element, as in:

'typewriter' 'taıpraıtə 'car ferry' 'ka:feri 'sunrise' 'sanraız 'suitcase' 'su:tkeıs 'teacup' 'ti:kap

It is probably safest to assume that stress will normally fall in this way on other compounds; however, a number of compounds receive stress instead on the second element. The first

words in such compounds often have secondary stress. For example, compounds with an adjectival first element and the *-ed* morpheme at the end have this pattern (given in spelling only):

.bad-'tempered

,half-'timbered

,heavy-'handed

Compounds in which the first element is a number in some form also tend to have final stress:

,three-'wheeler

,second-'class

,five-'finger

Compounds functioning as adverbs are usually final-stressed:

,head'first

,North-'East

,down'stream

Finally, compounds which function as verbs and have an adverbial first element take final stress:

,down'grade

.back-'pedal

.ill-`'treat

## 11.5 Variable stress

It would be wrong to imagine that the stress pattern is always fixed and unchanging in English words. Stress position may vary for one of two reasons: either as a result of the stress on other words occurring next to the word in question, or because not all speakers agree on the placement of stress in some words. The former case is an aspect of connected speech that will be encountered again in Chapter  $1^{\pm}$ : the main effect is that the stress on a final-stressed compound tends to move to a preceding syllable and change to secondary stress if the following word begins with a strongly stressed syllable. Thus (using some examples from the previous section):

,bad-'tempered	but	a ,bad-tempered 'teacher
.half-'timbered	but	a ,half-timbered 'house
.heavy-'handed	but	a .heavy-handed 'sentence

The second is not a serious problem, but is one that foreign learners should be aware of. A well-known example is 'controversy', which is pronounced by some speakers as 'kQntr@v":si and by others as k@n'trQv@si; it would be quite wrong to say that one version was correct and one incorrect. Other examples of different possibilities are 'ice cream'

(either ,ais kri:m or 'ais kri:m), 'kilometre' (either ki'ipmitə or 'kiləmi:tə) and 'formidable' ('fɔ:midəbl or fo:'midəbl).

### **11,7** Word-class pairs

€ AUN, Ex 5

One aspect of word stress is best treated as a separate issue. There are several dozen pairs of two-syllable words with identical spelling which differ from each other in stress placement, apparently according to word class (noun, verb or adjective). All appear to consist of prefix + stem. We shall treat them as a special type of word and give them the following rule: if a pair of prefix-plus-stem words exists, both members of which are spelt identically, one of which is a verb and the other of which is either a noun or an adjective, then the stress is placed on the second syllable of the verb but on the first syllable of the noun or adjective. Some common examples are given below (V = verb, A = adjective, N = noun):

abstract	'æbstraekt (A)	æb'straekt (V)
conduct	'kondakt (N)	kən'dakt (V)
contract	'kðptrækt (N)	kən'trækt (V)
contrast	'kontra:st (N)	kən'tra:st (V)
desert	'dezət (N)	dı'zs:t (V)
escort	'esko:t (N)	ı'sko:t (V)
export	'ekspo:t (N)	ık'sport (V)
import	'Import (N)	ım'pɔ:t (V)
insult	'InsAlt (N)	ın'salt (V)
object	'pbdzekt (N)	əb'dzekt (V)
perfect	'рз:fıkt (А)	pə'fekt (V)
permit	'рз:mɪt (N)	pə'mıt (V)
present	'preznt (N, A)	prı'zent (V)
produce	'prodju:s (N)	prə'dju:s (V)
protest	'prəutest (N)	prə'test (V)
rebel	'rebl (N)	rı'bel (V)
record	'reko:d (N, A)	rı'kə:d (V)
subject	'sʌbdʒekt (N)	səb'dзekt (V)

### Notes on problems and further reading

Most of the reading recommended in the notes for the previous chapter is relevant for this one too. Looking specifically at compounds, it is worth reading Fudge ( $19\Lambda\xi$ : Chapter °). See also Cruttenden ( $7\cdot\cdot\Lambda$ :  $7\xi7-\circ$ ). If you wish to go more deeply into compound-word stress, you should first study English word formation. Recommended reading for this is Bauer ( $19\Lambda$ ). On the distinction between stem and root, see Radford *et al* (1999:  $7V-\Lambda$ ).

# Written exercises

Put stress marks on the following words (try to put secondary stress marks on as well).

- a) shopkeeper f) confirmation
- b) open-ended g) eight-sided
- c) Javanese h) fruitcake
- d) birthmark i) defective
- e) anti-clockwise j) roof timber

Write the words in phonemic transcription, including the stress marks.

# 12 Weak forms

Chapter <sup>4</sup> discussed the difference between strong and weak syllables in English. We have now moved on from looking at syllables to looking at words, and we will consider certain well-known English words that can be pronounced in two different ways; these are called **strong forms** and **weak forms**. As an example, the word 'that' can be pronounced ðæt (strong form) or ðət (weak form). The sentence 'I like that' is pronounced at latk ðæt (strong form); the sentence 'I hope that she will' is pronounced at həop dət  $\int i$  wtl (weak form). There are roughly forty such words in English. It is possible to use only strong forms in speaking, and some foreigners do this. Usually they can still be understood by other speakers of English, so why is it important to learn how weak forms are used? There are two main reasons: first, most native speakers of English find an "all-strong form" pronunciation unnatural and foreign-sounding, something that most learners would wish to avoid. Second, and more importantly, speakers who are not familiar with the use of weak forms are likely to have difficulty understanding speakers who do use weak forms; since practically all native speakers of British English use them, learners of the language need to learn about these weak forms to help them to understand what they hear.

We must distinguish between weak forms and **contracted forms.** Certain English words are shortened so severely (usually to a single phoneme) and so consistently that they are represented differently in informal writing (e.g. 'it is'  $\rightarrow$  'it's'; 'we have'  $\rightarrow$  'we've'; 'do not'  $\rightarrow$  'don't'). These contracted forms are discussed in Chapter  $1\xi$ , and are not included here.

Almost all the words which have both a strong and weak form belong to a category that may be called **function words** - words that do not have a dictionary meaning in the way that we normally expect nouns, verbs, adjectives and adverbs to have. These function words are words such as auxiliary verbs, prepositions, conjunctions, etc., all of which are in certain circumstances pronounced in their strong forms but which are more frequently pronounced in their weak forms. It is important to remember that there are certain contexts where only the strong form is acceptable, and others where the weak form is the normal pronunciation. There are some fairly simple rules; we can say that the strong form is used in the following cases:

i) For many weak-form words, when they occur at the end of a sentence; for example, the word 'of has the weak form  $\exists v$  in the following sentence:

'I'm fond of chips' aim 'fond əv 't∫ips

However, when it comes at the end of the sentence, as in the following example, it has the strong form by:

'Chips are what I'm fond of 't $\int Ips \vartheta$  'wot aim 'fond **v** 

Many of the words given below (particularly 1-9) never occur at the end of a sentence (e.g. 'the', 'your'). Some words (particularly the pronouns numbered 1-12 below) do occur in their weak forms in final position.

ii) When a weak-form word is being contrasted with another word; for example:
 'The letter's *from* him, not *to* him' ðə 'letəz 'from Im not 'tu: Im

A similar case is what we might call a **co-ordinated** use of prepositions:

'I travel to and from London a lot' aɪ 'trævl 'tu: an 'from 'lʌndən ə 'lɒt

'A work of and about literature' ə 'w3:k 'pv ən ə'baut 'lıtrət∫ə

iii) When a weak-form word is given stress for the purpose of emphasis; for example:

'You must give me more money' ju 'mAst 'gıv mi 'mo: 'mAni

iv) When a weak-form word is being "cited" or "quoted"; for example:

'You shouldn't put "and" at the end of a sentence'

ju 'Judnt put 'ænd ət ði 'end əv ə 'sentəns

Another point to remember is that when weak-form words whose spelling begins with 'h' (e.g. 'her', 'have') occur at the beginning of a sentence, the pronunciation is with initial h, even though this is usually omitted in other contexts.

• AU17, Exs 1-έ

In the rest of this chapter, the most common weak-form words will be introduced.

Weak forms:	ðə (before consonants)
	'Shut the door' '∫∧t ðə 'dɔ:
	di (before vowels)
	'Wait for the end' 'weit fo di 'end

۲ 'a','an'

٣

Weak forms:	ə (before consonants)
	'Read a book' 'ri:d ə 'buk
	ən (before vowels)
	'Eat an apple' 'i:t ən 'æpl
'and'	
Weak form:	ən (sometimes n after t. d. s. z

/eak form: on (sometimes n after t, d, s, z, ∫)
'Come and see' 'k∧m on 'si:
'Fish and chips' 'fi∫ n 't∫ips

٤	'but'			
	Weak form:	bət		
		'It's good but expensive'	its 'gud bət ik'spensiv	
0	'that'			
	-	y has a weak form when use nced in its strong form.	d in a relative clause; when used with a demonstrative sense it is	
	Weak form:	ðət		
		The price is the thing that	annoys me' ðə 'prais iz ðə 'θιŋ ðət ə'nɔiz mi	
٦	'than'	'than'		
	Weak form:	ðən		
		'Better than ever'	'betə ðən 'evə	
٧	'his' (when it o	ccurs before a noun)		
	Weak form:	Iz (h1z at the beginning of	a sentence)	
		'Take his name'	'terk iz 'nerm	
	(Another sense of 'his', as in 'it was his', or 'his was late', always has the strong form)			
٨	'her'			
	When used with of a sentence.	th a possessive sense, preced	ding a noun; as an object pronoun, this can also occur at the end	
	Weak forms:	ə (before consonants)		
		'Take her home'	'teik ə 'həum	
		ər (before vowels)		
		'Take her out'	'teik ər 'aut	
٩	'your'			
	Weak forms:	jə (before consonants)		
		'Take your time'	'terk jə 'tarm	
		jər (before vowels)		
		'On your own'	'on jər 'əun	
۱۰	'she', 'he', 'we',	'you'		
	forms. I use the	e symbols i, u (in preference	conounced with weaker vowels than the i:, u: of their strong e to I, $\upsilon$ ) to represent them. There is little difference in the ntence, except in the case of 'he'.	
	Weak forms:			
	a) 'she'	Si		

'Why did she read it?' 'waɪ dɪd ∫i 'ri:d ɪt
'Who *is* she?' 'hu: 'IZ ∫i
b) 'he' i (the weak form is usually pronounced without h except at the beginning of a sentence)
'Which did he choose?' 'wit∫ dɪd i 't∫u:Z
'He was late, wasn't he?' hi wəz 'leɪt 'wpznt i

	c) 'we'	wi 'How can we get there?' 'We need that, don't we?'	'hau kən wi 'get ðeə wi 'ni:d dæt 'daunt wi
	d) 'you'	ju 'What do you think?' 'You like it, do you?'	'wot də ju 'dıŋk ju 'laık ıt 'du; ju
۱۱	'him'		
	Weak form:	Im	
		'Leave him alone'	'li:v ım ə'ləun
		'I've seen him'	aiv 'si:n im
۱۲	'her'		
	Weak form:	ə (hə when sentence-initial)	
		'Ask her to come'	'a:sk ə tə 'kʌm
		'I've met her'	aiv 'met ə
۱۳	'them'		
	Weak form:	ðəm	
		'Leave them here'	'li:v ðəm 'hıə
		'Eat them'	'i:t ðəm
١٤	'us'		
	Weak form:	əs	
		'Write us a letter'	'rait as ə 'letə
		'They invited all of us'	ðei in'vaitid 'o:l əv əs

The next group of words (some prepositions and other function words) occur in their strong forms when they are in final position in a sentence; examples of this are given. Number 19, 'to', is a partial exception.

١٥	'at'		
	Weak form:	ət	
		'I'll see you at lunch'	aıl' si: ju ət 'lʌn∫
	In final position	n: æt	
		'What's he shooting at?'	'wots i '∫u:tıŋ æt
١٦	'for'		
	Weak form:	fa (before consonants)	
		'Tea for two'	'ti: fə 'tu:
		fər (before vowels)	
		'Thanks for asking'	'Øæŋks fər 'a:skıŋ
In final position: fo:			
		'What's that for?'	'wots 'ðæt fo:
١٧	'from'		
	Weak form:	frəm	
		'I'm home from work'	aım 'həum frəm 'wɜ:k

	In final position	n: from	
		'Here's where it came from'	'hıəz weər it 'keim from
١٨	'of'		
	Weak form:	əv	
		'Most of all'	'məust əv 'ə:l
	In final position		
	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	'Someone I've heard of'	'samwan aiv 'hs:d dv
١٩	'to'		
	Weak forms:	tə (before consonants)	
		'Try to stop'	'trai tə 'stop
		tu (before vowels)	in to stop
		'Time to eat'	'taım tu 'i:t
	In final position		e strong form tu:; the pre-consonantal weak form to is never
	p ======	used)	
		'I don't want to'	aı 'dəunt 'wont tu
۲.	'as'		
	Weak form:	θZ	
	vi cun formi	'As much as possible'	əz 'mʌt∫ əz 'pɒsəbl
	In final position	-	
	in mui posición		'ðæts 'wpt it wəz 'səuld æz
		That's what it was sold as	
	'some'		
		-	sense (typically, when it occurs before a countable noun,
meanir	ig "an unknown"	individual") it has the strong	
T4 3	a also used hefe		it' at ' $\theta$ tyk sam 'æntmel 'breuk it
			ng "an unspecified amount of") and before other nouns in the h uses it has the weak form s@m
piurai	inearing an un	'Have some more tea'	'həv səm 'mə: 'ti:
	In final position		
	in mai positio	'I've got some'	aiv 'gpt sam
		i ve got some	arv got shin
	'there'		
WI for exa		s a demonstrative function, it	always occurs in its strong form De@ (dear before vowels);
101 0110		'There it is'	'ðeər it iz
		'Put it there'	'put it 'ðeə
	Weak forms:	də (before consonants)	F
		'There should be a rule'	ðə '∫ud bi a 'ru:l
		ðər (before vowels)	
		'There is'	Dər 'ız
	In final position	n: the pronunciation may be o	
	in mai posición	'There isn't any, is there?'	ðər 'ıznt eni ız da
		•	ðər 'iznt eni iz ðeə
		07	

The remaining weak-form words are all auxiliary verbs, which are always used in conjunction with (or at least implying) another ("full") verb. It is important to remember that in their negative form (i.e. combined with 'not') they never have the weak pronunciation, and some (e.g. 'don't', 'can't') have different vowels from their non-negative strong forms.

		-				
	۲۳	'can', 'could'				
		Weak forms:	kən, kəd			
			'They can wait'	'ðei kən 'weit		
			'He could do it'	'hi: kəd 'du: ıt		
In final position: ka			n: kæn, kud			
			'I think we can'	aı 'θıŋk wi 'kæn		
			'Most of them could'	'məust əv ðəm 'kud		
	۲٤	'have', 'has', 'had'				
		Weak forms: əv, əz, əd (with initial		initial position)		
			'Which have you seen?'	'wıt∫ əv ju 'si:n		
			'Which has been best?'	'wıt∫ əz bi:n 'best		
			'Most had gone home'	'məust ad gon 'həum		
		In final position	n final position: hæv, hæz, hæd			
			'Yes, we have'	'jes wi 'hæv		
			'I think she has'	aı 'θıŋk ∫i 'hæz		
			'I thought we had'	aı 'bo:t wi 'hæd		
	٢٥	'shall', 'should'				
		Weak forms:	∫əl or ∫ı; ∫əd			
			'We shall need to hurry'	wi ∫ı 'ni:d tə 'h∧ri		
			'I should forget it'	'aı aəd fə'get ıt		
		In final position	final position: ∫æl, ∫∪d			
			'I think we shall'	aı 'θıŋk wi '∫æl		
			'So you should'	'səu ju '∫ud		

### ۲٦ 'must'

This word is sometimes used with the sense of forming a conclusion or deduction (e.g. 'she left at eight o'clock, so she must have arrived by now'); when 'must' is used in this way, it is less likely to occur in its weak form than when it is being used in its more familiar sense of obligation.

Weak forms: məs (before consonants)

		'You must try harder'	ju məs 'traı <sup>j</sup> ha:də	
		məst (before vowels)		
		'He must eat more'	hi məst 'i:t 'mə:	
	In final position: mAst			
		'She certainly must'	∫i 'sɜ:tņli 'mʌst	
۲۷	'do', 'does'			
	Weak forms:			
	'do'	də (before consonants)		
		'Why do they like it?'	'waı də ðeı 'laık ıt	

		du (before vowels)		
		'Why do all the cars stop?'	'waI du 'O:l D@ 'ka:z 'stQp	
	'does'	d@z		
		'When does it arrive?'	'wen d@z It @'raIv	
	In final position	n: du:, dVz		
	'We don't smoke, but some people		lo' 'wi: daunt 'sm@Uk bat 'sVm pi:pl□ 'du:	
		'I think John does'	aI 'TINk 'dZQn dVz	
۲۸	'am', 'are', 'was', 'were'			
	Weak forms:	@m		
		'Why am I here?'	'waI @m aI 'hI@	
		@ (before consonants)		
		'Here are the plates'	'hI@r @ D@ 'pleIts	
		@r (before vowels)		
		'The coats are in there'	D@ 'k@Uts @r In 'De@	
		w@z		
		'He was here a minute ago'	hi w@z 'hI@r a 'mInIt @ 'g@U	
		w@ (before consonants)		
		'The papers were late'	D@ 'peIp@z w@ 'leIt	
		w@r (before vowels)		
		'The questions were easy'	D@ 'kwestS@nz w@r 'i:zi	
	In final position	n: {m, A:, <b>WQZ, W<sup>♥</sup>:</b>		
		'She's not as old as I am'	SIz 'not @z '@Uld @z 'aI {m	
		'I know the Smiths are'	aI 'n@U D@ 'smITs A:	
		'The last record was'	D@ 'lA:st 'rekO:d WQZ	
		'They weren't as cold as we were'	DeI 'w <sup>#</sup> :nt @z 'k@Uld @z 'wi: <b>W<sup>#</sup>:</b>	

## Notes on problems and further reading

This chapter is almost entirely practical. All books about English pronunciation devote a lot of attention to weak forms. Some of them give a great deal of importance to using these forms, but do not stress the importance of also knowing when to use the strong forms, something which I feel is very important; see Hewings ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ :  $\epsilon_{\Lambda-\eta}$ ). There is a very detailed study of English weak forms in Obendorfer ( $199\Lambda$ ).

# Written exercise

In the following sentences, the transcription for the weak-form words is left blank. Fill in the blanks, taking care to use the appropriate form (weak or strong).

- <sup>1</sup> I want her to park that car over there,
  - aı wont pa:k ka:r əuvə

- <sup>Y</sup> Of all the proposals, the one that you made is the silliest.
  - o:l prəpəuzlz wan meid iz siliəst
- $\tilde{\phantom{a}}$  Jane and Bill could have driven them to and from the party.

dzein bil drivn pa:ti

- <sup>2</sup> To come to the point, what shall we do for the rest of the week? kAM point wpt rest wi:k
- Has anyone got an idea where it came from?
   eniwAn gpt aidip wear it keim
- Pedestrians must always use the crossings provided.
   pədestriənz o:lweiz ju:z krosiŋz prəvaidid
- $^{\vee}$  Each one was a perfect example of the art that had been

i:t $\int$  wan p3:fikt igza:mpl a:t bi:n

developed there.

diveləpt

# 13 Problems in phonemic analysis

The concept of the phoneme was introduced in Chapter  $\circ$ , and a few theoretical problems connected with phonemic analysis have been mentioned in other chapters. The general assumption (as in most phonetics books) has been that speech is composed of phonemes and that usually whenever a speech sound is produced by a speaker it is possible to identify which phoneme that sound belongs to. While this is often true, we must recognise that there are exceptions which make us consider some quite serious theoretical problems. From the comparatively simple point of view of learning pronunciation, these problems are not particularly important. However, from the point of view of learning about the phonology of English they are too important to ignore.

There are problems of different types. In some cases, we have difficulty in deciding on the overall phonemic system of the accent we are studying, while in others we are concerned about how a particular sound fits into this system. A number of such problems are discussed below.

#### ۱۳,۱ Affricates

The affricates  $t\int$ , dz are, phonetically, composed of a plosive followed by a fricative, as explained in Chapter 3. It is possible to treat each of the pair  $t\int$ , dz as a single consonant phoneme; we will call this the **one-phoneme analysis** of  $t\int$ , dz. It is also possible to say that they are composed of two phonemes each - t plus  $\int$ , and d plus z respectively - all of which are already established as independent phonemes of English; this will be called the **two-phoneme analysis** of  $t\int$ , dz. If we adopted the two-phoneme analysis, the words 'church' and 'judge' would be composed of five phonemes each, like this:

 $t - \int -3! - t - \int d - 3 - \Lambda - d - 3$ 

instead of the three phonemes that result from the one-phoneme analysis:

 $t\int -3! - t\int d3 - \Lambda - d3$ 

and there would be no separate t, d<sub>3</sub> phonemes. But how can we decide which analysis is preferable? The twophoneme analysis has one main advantage: if there are no separate t, d<sub>3</sub> phonemes, then our total set of English consonants is smaller. Many phonologists have claimed that one should prefer the analysis which is the most "economical" in the number of phonemes it results in. The argument for this might be based on the claim
that when we speak to someone we are using a code, and the most efficient codes do not employ unnecessary symbols. Further, it can be claimed that a phonological analysis is a type of scientific theory, and a scientific theory should be stated as economically as possible. However, it is the one-phoneme analysis that is generally chosen by phonologists. Why is this? There are several arguments: no single one of them is conclusive, but added together they are felt to make the one-phoneme analysis seem preferable. We will look briefly at some of these arguments.

- i) One argument could be called "phonetic" or "allophonic": if it could be shown that the phonetic quality of the t and  $\int$  (or d and 3) in t $\int$ , d3 is clearly different from realisations of t,  $\int$ , d, 3 found elsewhere in similar contexts, this would support the analysis of t $\int$ , d3 as separate phonemes. As an example, it might be claimed that  $\int$  in 'hutch' hAt $\int$  was different (perhaps in having shorter duration) from 5 in 'hush' hA $\int$  or 'Welsh' wel $\int$ ; or it might be claimed that the place of articulation of t in 'watch apes' wpt $\int$  eIps was different from that of t in 'what shapes' wpt  $\int$  eIps. This argument is a weak one: there is no clear evidence that such phonetic differences exist, and even if there were such evidence, it would be easy to produce explanations for the differences that did not depend on phonemic analyses (e.g. the position of the word boundary in 'watch apes', 'what shapes').
- ii) It could be argued that the proposed phonemes tS, dZ have distributions similar to other consonants, while other combinations of plosive plus fricative do not. It can easily be shown that tS, dZ are found initially, medially and finally, and that no other combination (e.g. pf, dz, tθ) has such a wide distribution. However, several consonants *are* generally accepted as phonemes of the BBC accent despite *not* being free to occur in all positions (e.g. r, w, j, h, ŋ, ʒ), so this argument, although supporting the one-phoneme analysis, does not actually *prove* that t∫, dʒ must be classed with other single-consonant phonemes.
- iii) If t∫, dʒ were able to combine quite freely with other consonants to form consonant clusters, this would support the one-phoneme analysis. In initial position, however, t∫, dʒ never occur in clusters with other consonants. In final position in the syllable, we find that t∫ can be followed by t (e.g. 'watched' wpt∫t) and dʒ by d (e.g. 'wedged' wedʒd). Final t∫, dʒ can be preceded by l (e.g. 'squelch' skweltS, 'bulge' bAldʒ); ʒ is never preceded by l, and ∫ is preceded by l only in a few words and names (e.g. 'Welsh' wel∫, 'Walsh' wpl∫). A fairly similar situation is found if we ask if n can precede t∫, dʒ; some BBC speakers have nt∫ in 'lunch', 'French', etc., and never pronounce the sequence n∫ within a syllable, while other speakers (like me) always have n∫ in these contexts and never nt∫. In words like 'lunge', 'flange' there seems to be no possible phonological distinction between lAndʒ, flændʒ and lAnʒ, flænʒ. It seems, then, that no contrast between syllable-final l∫ and lt∫ exists in the BBC accent, and the same

appears to be true in relation to  $n\int$  and  $nt\int$  and to nz and ndz. There are no other possibilities for final-consonant clusters containing  $t\int$ , dz, except that the pre-final l or n may occur in combination with post-final t, d as in 'squelched' skwelt $\int$ t, 'hinged' hIndzd. It could not, then, be said that  $t\int$ , dz combine freely with other consonants in forming consonant clusters; this is particularly noticeable in initial position.

How would the two-phoneme analysis affect the syllable-structure framework that was introduced in Chapter  $\land$ ? Initial t $\int$ , d $_3$  would have to be interpreted as initial t, d plus post-initial  $\int$ ,  $_3$ , with the result that the post-initial set of consonants would have to contain l, r, w, j and also  $\int$ , Z - consonants which are rather different from the other four and which could only combine with t, d. (The only alternative would be to put t, d with s in the pre-initial category, again with very limited possibilities of combining with another consonant.)

iv) Finally, it has been suggested that if native speakers of English who have not been taught phonetics feel that  $t\int$ ,  $d_3$  are each "one sound", we should be guided by their intuitions and prefer the one-phoneme analysis. The problem with this is that discovering what untrained (or "naive") speakers feel about their own language is not as easy as it might sound. It would be necessary to ask questions like this: "Would you say that the word 'chip' begins with one sound - like 'tip' and 'sip' - or with two sounds - like 'trip' and 'skip'?" But the results would be distorted by the fact that two consonant letters are used in the spelling; to do the test properly one should use illiterate subjects, which raises many further problems.

This rather long discussion of the phonemic status of  $t\int$ , d<sub>3</sub> shows how difficult it can be to reach a conclusion in phonemic analysis.

For the rest of this chapter a number of other phonological problems will be discussed comparatively briefly. We have already seen (in Chapter 3) problems of analysis in connection with the sounds usually transcribed hw, hj. The velar nasal  $\eta$ , described in Chapter  $\forall$ , also raises a lot of analysis problems: many writers have suggested that the correct analysis is one in which there is no r) phoneme, and this sound is treated as an allophone of the phoneme n that occurs when it precedes the phoneme g. It was explained in Chapter  $\forall$  that in certain contexts no g is pronounced, but it can be claimed that at an abstract level there *is* a g phoneme, although in certain contexts the g is not actually pronounced. The sound  $\eta$  is therefore, according to this theory, an allophone of n.

#### ۱۳,۲ The English vowel system

The analysis of the English vowel system presented in Chapters  $\uparrow$  and  $\neg$  contains a large number of phonemes, and it is not surprising that some phonologists who believe in the importance of keeping the total number of phonemes small propose different analyses

which contain fewer than ten vowel phonemes and treat all long vowels and diphthongs as composed of two phonemes each. There are different ways of doing this: one way is to treat long vowels and diphthongs as composed of two vowel phonemes. Starting with a set of basic or "simple" vowel phonemes (e.g. I, e, æ,  $\Lambda$ , p,  $\upsilon$ , ə) it is possible to make up long vowels by using short vowels twice. Our usual transcription for long vowels is given in brackets:

ii (i:) aaa (a:) ddaa (b) (d) ddaaa (d) ddaaa (d) ddaaa (d) ddaaa

This can be made to look less unusual by choosing different symbols for the basic vowels. We will use i, e, a,  $\Lambda$ ,  $\Im$ , u,  $\Im$ : thus i: could be transcribed as ii, a: as aa,  $\Im$ : as  $\Im$ , u: as uu and  $\Im$ : as  $\Im$ . In this approach, diphthongs would be composed of a basic vowel phoneme followed by one of i, u,  $\Im$ , while triphthongs would be made from a basic vowel plus one of i, u followed by  $\Im$ , and would therefore be composed of three phonemes.

Another way of doing this kind of analysis is to treat long vowels and diphthongs as composed of a vowel plus a consonant; this may seem a less obvious way of proceeding, but it was for many years the choice of most American phonologists. The idea is that long vowels and diphthongs are composed of a basic vowel phoneme followed by one of j, w, h (we should add r for rhotic accents). Thus the diphthongs would be made up like this (our usual transcription is given in brackets):

ej (ei)	aw (əu)	1h (19)
æj (aı)	æw (au)	eh (eə)
Dj (31)		uh (uə)

Long vowels:

If (i:) ab (a:) bb (o:) ab (o:) w (u:)

Diphthongs and long vowels are now of exactly the same phonological composition. An important point about this analysis is that j, w, h do not otherwise occur finally in the syllable. In this analysis, the inequality of distribution is corrected.

In Chapter <sup>9</sup> we saw how, although I, i: are clearly distinct in most contexts, there are other contexts where we find a sound which cannot clearly be said to belong to one or other of these two phonemes. The suggested solution to this problem was to use the symbol i, which does not represent any single phoneme; a similar proposal was made for u. We use the term **neutralisation** for cases where contrasts between phonemes which exist in other places in the language disappear in particular contexts. There are many other ways of analysing the very complex vowel system of English, some of which are extremely ingenious. Each has its own advantages and disadvantages.

## ۱۳,۳ Syllabic consonants

A final analysis problem that we will consider is that mentioned at the end of Chapter A: how to deal with syllabic consonants. It has to be recognised that syllabic consonants are a

problem: they *are* phonologically different from their non-syllabic counterparts. How do we account for the following minimal pairs, which were given in Chapter 9?

Syllabic		Non-syllabic				
'coddling'	kodļīŋ	'codling'	kodlıŋ			
'Hungary'	hʌŋgṛi	'hungry'	hлŋgri			

One possibility is to add new consonant phonemes to our list. We could invent the phonemes l, r, n, etc. The distribution of these consonants would be rather limited, but the main problem would be fitting them into our pattern of syllable structure. For a word like 'button' b $\Lambda$ tn or 'bottle' botl, it would be necessary to add n, l to the first post-final set; the argument would be extended to include the r in 'Hungary'. But if these consonants now form part of a syllable-final consonant cluster, how do we account for the fact that English speakers hear the consonants as extra syllables? The question might be answered by saying that the new phonemes are to be classed as vowels. Another possibility is to set up a phoneme that we might name **syllabicity**, symbolised with the mark Then the word 'codling' would consist of the following six phonemes: k-D-d-l-I-I, while the word 'coddling' would consist of the following *seven* phonemes: k - D - d - l and simultaneously, — I — ŋ. This is superficially an attractive theory, but the proposed phoneme is nothing like the other phonemes we have identified up to this point - putting it simply, the syllabic mark doesn't have any sound.

Some phonologists maintain that a syllabic consonant is really a case of a vowel and a consonant that have become combined. Let us suppose that the vowel is a. We could then say that, for example, 'Hungary' is phonemically hVNgarI while 'hungry' is hVNgri; it would then be necessary to say that the a vowel phoneme in the phonemic representation is not pronounced as a vowel, but instead causes the following consonant to become syllabic. This is an example of the abstract view of phonology where the way a word is represented phonologically may be significantly different from the actual sequence of sounds heard, so that the phonetic and the phonemic levels are quite widely separated.

#### 13.4 Clusters of s with plosives

Words like 'spill', 'still', 'skill' are usually represented with the phonemes p, t, k following the s. But, as many writers have pointed out, it would be quite reasonable to transcribe them with b, d, g instead. For example, b, d, g are unaspirated while p, t, k in syllable-initial position are usually aspirated. However, in sp, st, sk we find an unaspirated plosive, and there could be an argument for transcribing them as sb, sd, sg. We do not do this, perhaps because of the spelling, but it is important to remember that the contrasts between p and b, between t and d and between k and g are neutralised in this context.

#### 13.5 Schwa (ə)

It has been suggested that there is not really a contrast between  $\Im$  and  $\Lambda$ , since a only occurs in weak syllables and no minimal pairs can be found to show a clear contrast between

 $\vartheta$  and  $\Lambda$  in unstressed syllables (although there have been some ingenious attempts). This has resulted in a proposal that the phoneme symbol  $\vartheta$  should be used for representing any occurrence of  $\vartheta$  or  $\Lambda$ , so that 'cup' (which is usually stressed) would be transcribed 'k $\vartheta$ p and 'upper' (with stress on the initial syllable) as ' $\vartheta$ p $\vartheta$ . This new  $\vartheta$  phoneme would thus have two allophones, one being  $\vartheta$  and the other  $\Lambda$ ; the stress mark would indicate the  $\Lambda$  allophone and in weak syllables with no stress it would be more likely that the  $\vartheta$  allophone would be pronounced.

#### ۱۳,۶ Distinctive features

Many references have been made to phonology in this course, with the purpose of making use of the concepts and analytical techniques of that subject to help explain various facts about English pronunciation as efficiently as possible. One might call this "applied phonology"; however, the phonological analysis of different languages raises a great number of difficult and interesting theoretical problems, and for a long time the study of phonology "for its own sake" has been regarded as an important area of theoretical linguistics. Within this area of what could be called "pure phonology", problems are examined with little or no reference to their relevance to the language learner. Many different theoretical approaches have been developed, and no area of phonology has been free from critical examination. The very fundamental notion of the phoneme, for example, has been treated in many different ways. One approach that has been given a lot of importance is distinctive feature analysis, which is based on the principle that phonemes should be regarded not as independent and indivisible units, but instead as combinations of different features. For example, if we consider the English d phoneme, it is easy to show that it differs from the plosives b, g in its place of articulation (alveolar), from t in being lenis, from s, z in not being fricative, from n in not being nasal, and so on. If we look at each of the consonants just mentioned and see which of the features each one has, we get a table like this, where + means that a phoneme does possess that feature and - means that it does not.

If you look carefully at this table, you will see that the combination of + and - values for each phoneme is different; if two sounds were represented by exactly the same +'s and

	d	b	g	t	S	Z	n
alveolar	+			+	+	+	+
bilabial		+					
velar			+				
lenis	+	+	+			+	(+)*
plosive	+	+	+	+			
fricative					+	+	
nasal	—				_		+

\* Since there is no fortis/lenis contrast among nasals this could be left blank.

-'s, then by definition they could not be different phonemes. In the case of the limited set of phonemes used for this example, not all the features are needed: if one wished, it would be possible to dispense with, for example, the feature *velar* and the feature *nasal*. The g phoneme would still be distinguished from b, d by being neither bilabial nor alveolar, and n would be distinct from plosives and fricatives simply by being neither plosive nor fricative. To produce a complete analysis of all the phonemes of English, other features would be needed for representing other types of consonant, and for vowels and diphthongs. In distinctive feature analysis the features themselves thus become important components of the phonology.

It has been claimed by some writers that distinctive feature analysis is relevant to the study of language learning, and that pronunciation difficulties experienced by learners are better seen as due to the need to learn a particular feature or combination of features than as the absence of particular phonemes. For example, English speakers learning French or German have to learn to produce front rounded vowels. In English it is not necessary to deal with vowels which are +front, +round, whereas this is necessary for French and German; it could be said that the major task for the English-speaking learner of French or German in this case is to learn the combination of these features, rather than to learn the individual vowels y,  $\emptyset$  and (in French)  $\alpha^*$ .

English, on the other hand, has to be able to distinguish dental from labiodental and alveolar places of articulation, for  $\theta$  to be distinct from f, s and for ð to be distinct from v, z. This requires an additional feature that most languages do not make use of, and learning this could be seen as a specific task for the learner of English. Distinctive feature phonologists have also claimed that when children are learning their first language, they acquire features rather than individual phonemes.

#### ۱۳,۷ Conclusion

This chapter is intended to show that there are many ways of analysing the English phonemic system, each with its own advantages and disadvantages. We need to consider

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The phonetic symbols represent the following sounds: y is a close front rounded vowel (e.g. the vowel in French *tu*, German *Bühne*); • is a close-mid front rounded vowel (e.g. French *peu*, German *schön*); œ is an open-mid front rounded vowel (e.g. French *oeuf*).

the practical goal of teaching or learning about English pronunciation, and for this purpose a very abstract analysis would be unsuitable. This is one criterion for judging the value of an analysis; unless one believes in carrying out phonological analysis for purely aesthetic reasons, the only other important criterion is whether the analysis is likely to correspond to the representation of sounds in the human brain. Linguistic theory is preoccupied with economy, elegance and simplicity, but cognitive psychology and neuropsychology show us that the brain often uses many different pathways to the same goal.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

The analysis of t,  $d_3$  is discussed in Cruttenden ( $7 \cdot \cdot A$ :  $1 \wedge 1 - A$ ). The phonemic analysis of the velar nasal has already been discussed above (see Notes on problems and further reading in Chapter <sup>V</sup>). The "double vowel" interpretation of English long vowels was put forward by MacCarthy (1907) and is used by Kreidler  $(7 \cdot \cdot \xi; \xi_{0-0})$ . The "vowel- plus-semivowel" interpretation of long vowels and diphthongs was almost universally accepted by American (and some British) writers from the 192. s to the 197. s, and still pervades contemporary American descriptions. It has the advantage of being economical on phonemes and very "neat and tidy". The analysis in this form is presented in Trager and Smith (1901). In generative phonology it is claimed that, at the abstract level, English vowels are simply tense or lax. If they are lax they are realised as short vowels, if tense as diphthongs (this category includes what I have been calling long vowels). The quality of the first element of the diphthongs/long vowels is modified by some phonological rules, while other rules supply the second element automatically. This is set out in Chomsky and Halle (197A: 197A-AV). There is a valuable discussion of the interpretation of the English vowel system with reference to several different accents in Giegerich (1997: Chapter 7), followed by an explanation of the distinctive feature analysis of the English vowel system (Chapter ٤) and the consonant system (Chapter °). A more wide-ranging discussion of distinctive features is given in Clark *et al*,  $({}^{\vee} \cdot {}^{\vee})$ : Chapter  $\cdot$ .).

The idea that  $\vartheta$  is an allophone of many English vowels is not a new one. In generative phonology,  $\vartheta$  results from vowel reduction in vowels which have never received stress in the process of the application of stress rules. This is explained - in rather difficult terms - in Chomsky and Halle (197A:11.-17). A clearer treatment of the schwa problem is in Giegerich (1997: 1A-9 and 1AO-V).

## Note for teachers

Since this is a theoretical chapter it is difficult to provide practical work. I do not feel that it is helpful for students to do exercises on using different ways of transcribing English phonemes - just learning one set of conventions is difficult enough. Some books on phonology give exercises on the phonemic analysis of other languages (e.g. Katamba, 1969; Roca and Johnson, 1999), but although these are useful, I do not feel that it would be appropriate in this book to divert attention from English. The exercises given below

therefore concentrate on bits of phonetically transcribed English which involve problems when a phonemic representation is required.

## Written exercises

All the following exercises involve different ways of looking at the phonemic interpretation of English sounds. We use square brackets here to indicate when symbols are phonetic rather than phonemic.

<sup>1</sup> In this exercise you must look at phonetically transcribed material from an English accent different from BBC pronunciation and decide on the best way to interpret and transcribe it phonemically.

a) thing [Ung]	a)	'thing'	[ፀւŋg]
----------------	----	---------	--------

- b) 'think'  $[\theta i \eta k]$
- c) 'thinking' [θιŋkιŋg]
- d) 'finger' [fɪŋgə]
- e) 'singer' [sıŋgə]
- f) 'singing' [sıŋgıŋg]
- Y It often happens in rapid English speech that a nasal consonant disappears when it comes between a vowel and another consonant. For example, this may happen to the n in 'front': when this happens the preceding vowel becomes nasalised - some of the air escapes through the nose. We symbolise a nasalised vowel in phonetic transcription by putting the ~ diacritic above it; for example, the word 'front' may be pronounced [frÃt]. Nasalised vowels are found in the words given in phonetic transcription below. Transcribe them phonemically.
  - a) 'sound' [sãữd]
  - b) 'anger' [æ̃gə]
  - c) 'can't' [kã:t]
  - d) 'camper' [keeps]
  - e) 'bond' [bod]
- <sup>\*</sup> When the phoneme t occurs between vowels it is sometimes pronounced as a "tap": the tongue blade strikes the alveolar ridge sharply, producing a very brief voiced plosive. The IPA phonetic symbol for this is r, but many books which deal with American pronunciation prefer to use the phonetic symbol t; this sound is frequently pronounced in American English, and is also found in a number of accents in Britain: think of a typical American pronunciation of "getting better", which we can transcribe phonetically as [getin beto]. Look at the transcriptions of the words given below and see if you can work out (for the accent in question) the environment in which t is found.

a) beaung [beanj]	a)	'betting'	[beţıŋ]
-------------------	----	-----------	---------

- b) 'bedding' [bedin]
- c) 'attend' [əthend]
- d) 'attitude' [æeţəthu:d]

- e) 'time' [thaɪm]
- f) 'tight' [thaɪt]
- <sup>2</sup> Distinctive feature analysis looks at different properties of segments and classes of segments. In the following exercise you must mark the value of each feature in the table for each segment listed on the top row with either a + or -; you will probably find it useful to look at the IPA chart on p. xii.

	р	d	S	m	Z
Continuant					
Alveolar					
Voiced					

- In the following sets of segments (a-f), all segments in the set possess some characteristic feature which they have in common and which may distinguish them from other segments. Can you identify what this common feature might be for each set?
  - a) English i:, I, u:, U; cardinal vowels [i], [e], [u], [0]
  - b) t d n l s t∫ dʒ ∫ ʒ r
  - c) b f v k g h
  - d) ptkfθs∫t∫
  - e) u: ว: จบ aบ
  - f) lrwj

# 14 Aspects of connected speech

Many years ago scientists tried to develop machines that produced speech from a vocabulary of prerecorded words; the machines were designed to join these words together to form sentences. For very limited messages, such as those of a "talking clock", this technique was usable, but for other purposes the quality of the speech was so unnatural that it was practically unintelligible. In recent years, developments in computer technology have led to big improvements in this way of producing speech, but the inadequacy of the original "mechanical speech" approach has many lessons to teach us about pronunciation teaching and learning. In looking at connected speech it is useful to bear in mind the difference between the way humans speak and what would be found in "mechanical speech".

#### 15,1 Rhythm

The notion of **rhythm** involves some noticeable event happening at regular intervals of time; one can detect the rhythm of a heartbeat, of a flashing light or of a piece of music. It has often been claimed that English speech is rhythmical, and that the rhythm is detectable in the regular occurrence of stressed syllables. Of course, it is not suggested that the timing is as regular as a clock: the regularity of occurrence is only relative. The theory that English has **stress-timed rhythm** implies that stressed syllables will tend to occur at relatively regular intervals whether they are separated by unstressed syllables or not; this would not be the case in "mechanical speech". An example is given below. In this sentence, the stressed syllables are given numbers: syllables  $^{1}$  and  $^{2}$  are not separated by any unstressed syllables,  $^{7}$  and  $^{7}$  are separated by one unstressed syllable,  $^{7}$  and  $^{5}$  by two, and  $^{5}$  and  $^{9}$  by three.

۱ ۲ ۳ ٤ ٥ Walk 'down the 'path to the 'end of the ca'nal'

The stress-timed rhythm theory states that the times from each stressed syllable to the next will tend to be the same, irrespective of the number of intervening unstressed syllables. The theory also claims that while some languages (e.g. Russian, Arabic) have stress-timed rhythm similar to that of English, others (e.g. French, Telugu, Yoruba) have a different rhythmical structure called **syllable-timed rhythm;** in these languages, all syllables, whether stressed or unstressed, tend to occur at regular time intervals and the

QAU'ε. Ex

time between stressed syllables will be shorter or longer in proportion to the number of unstressed syllables. Some writers have developed theories of English rhythm in which a unit of rhythm, the **foot**, is used (with a parallel in the metrical analysis of verse). The foot begins with a stressed syllable and includes all following unstressed syllables up to (but not including) the following stressed syllable. The example sentence given above would be divided into feet as follows:

yyyyyy'Walk'down the'path to the'end of the ca'nal

Some theories of rhythm go further than this, and point to the fact that some feet are stronger than others, producing strong-weak patterns in larger pieces of speech above the level of the foot. To understand how this could be done, let's start with a simple example: the word 'twenty' has one strong and one weak syllable, forming one foot. A diagram of its rhythmical structure can be made, where s stands for "strong" and w stands for "weak".



The word 'places' has the same form:

Now consider the phrase 'twenty places', where 'places' normally carries stronger stress than 'twenty' (i.e. is rhythmically stronger). We can make our "tree diagram" grow to look like this:



If we then look at this phrase in the context of a longer phrase 'twenty places further back', and build up the 'further back' part in a similar way, we would end up with an even more elaborate structure:



By analysing speech in this way we are able to show the relationships between strong and weak elements, and the different levels of stress that we find. The strength of any particular syllable can be measured by counting up the number of times an **s** symbol occurs above it. The levels in the sentence shown above can be diagrammed like this (leaving out syllables that have never received stress at any level):

						S	
		S		S		S	
S		S		S		S	
twen	ty	pla	ces	fur	ther	back	

The above "metrical grid" may be correct for very slow speech, but we must now look at what happens to the rhythm in normal speech: many English speakers would feel that, although in 'twenty places' the right-hand foot is the stronger, the word 'twenty' is stronger than 'places' in 'twenty places further back' when spoken in conversational style. It is widely claimed that English speech tends towards a regular alternation between stronger and weaker, and tends to adjust stress levels to bring this about. The effect is particularly noticeable in cases such as the following, which all show the effect of what is called **stress-shift:** 

compact (adjective) kəm <sup>j</sup> pækt	but	compact disk 'kompækt 'dısk
thirteen θ3: <sup>j</sup> ti:n	but	thirteenth place 'θ3:ti:nθ' ple1s
Westminster west'mınstə	but	Westminster Abbey 'westminstər' æbi

In brief, it seems that stresses are altered according to context: we need to be able to explain how and why this happens, but this is a difficult question and one for which we have only partial answers.

An additional factor is that in speaking English we vary in how rhythmically we speak: sometimes we speak very rhythmically (this is typical of some styles of public speaking) while at other times we may speak arhythmically (i.e. without rhythm) if we are hesitant or nervous. Stress-timed rhythm is thus perhaps characteristic of one style of speaking, not of English speech as a whole; one always speaks with some degree of rhythmicality,

but the degree varies between a minimum value (arhythmical) and a maximum value (completely stress-timed rhythm).

It follows from what was stated earlier that in a stress-timed language all the feet are supposed to be of roughly the same duration. Many foreign learners of English are made to practise speaking English with a regular rhythm, often with the teacher beating time or clapping hands on the stressed syllables. It must be pointed out, however, that the evidence for the existence of truly stress-timed rhythm is not strong. There are many laboratory techniques for measuring time in speech, and measurement of the time intervals between stressed syllables in connected English speech has not shown the expected regularity; moreover, using the same measuring techniques on different languages, it has not been possible to show a clear difference between "stress-timed" and "syllable-timed" languages. Experiments have shown that we tend to hear speech as more rhythmical than it actually is, and one suspects that this is what the proponents of the stress-timed rhythm theory have been led to do in their auditory analysis of English rhythm. However, one ought to keep an open mind on the subject, remembering that the large-scale, objective study of suprasegmental aspects of real speech is difficult to carry out, and much research remains to be done.

What, then, is the practical value of the traditional "rhythm exercise" for foreign learners? The argument about rhythm should not make us forget the very important difference in English between strong and weak syllables. Some languages do not have such a noticeable difference (which may, perhaps, explain the subjective impression of "syllable- timing"), and for native speakers of such languages who are learning English it can be helpful to practise repeating strongly rhythmical utterances since this forces the speaker to concentrate on making unstressed syllables weak. Speakers of languages like Japanese, Hungarian and Spanish - which do not have weak syllables to anything like the same extent as English does - may well find such exercises of some value (as long as they are not overdone to the point where learners feel they have to speak English as though they were reciting verse).

#### ۱٤,۲ Assimilation

The device mentioned earlier that produces "mechanical speech" would contain all the words of English, each having been recorded in isolation. A significant difference in natural connected speech is the way that sounds belonging to one word can cause changes in sounds belonging to neighbouring words. Assuming that we know how the phonemes of a particular word would be realised when the word is pronounced in isolation, in cases where we find a phoneme realised differently as a result of being near some other phoneme belonging to a neighbouring word we call this difference an instance of **assimilation.** Assimilation is something which varies in extent according to speaking rate and style: it is more likely to be found in rapid, casual speech and less likely in slow, careful speech. Sometimes the difference caused by assimilation is very noticeable, and sometimes it is very slight. Generally speaking, the cases that have most often been described are

assimilations affecting consonants. As an example, consider a case where two words are combined, the first of which ends with a single final consonant (which we will call  $C^{f}$ ) and the second of which starts with a single initial consonant (which we will call  $C^{i}$ ); we can construct a diagram like this:

----- Cf | C<sup>i</sup>-----Word boundary

If  $C^{f}$  changes to become like  $C^{i}$  in some way, then the assimilation is called **regressive** (the phoneme that comes first is affected by the one that comes after it); if  $C^{i}$  changes to become like  $C^{f}$  in some way, then the assimilation is called **progressive.** An example of the latter is what is sometimes called **coalescence**, or **coalescent assimilation:** a final **t**, d and an initial j following often combine to form  $t\int$ , d<sub>3</sub>, so that 'not yet' is pronounced nptfet and 'could you' is kud<sub>3</sub>u. In what ways can a consonant change? We have seen that the main differences between consonants are of three types:

- i) differences in place of articulation;
- ii) differences in manner of articulation;
- iii) differences in voicing.

In parallel with this, we can identify assimilation of place, of manner and of voicing in consonants. Assimilation of place is most clearly observable in some cases where a final consonant (C<sup>f</sup>) with alveolar place of articulation is followed by an initial consonant (C<sup>i</sup>) with a place of articulation that is *not* alveolar. For example, the final consonant in 'that' ðæt is alveolar t. In rapid, casual speech the t will become p before a bilabial consonant, as in: 'that person' dep ps:sn; 'that man' dep men; 'meat pie' mip pai. Before a dental consonant, t will change to a dental plosive, for which the phonetic symbol is t, as in: 'that thing' ðæt θıŋ; 'get those' qet ðəuz; 'cut through' kʌt θru. Before a velar consonant, the t will become k, as in: 'that case' ðæk keIs, 'bright colour' braik kAlə, 'quite good' kwaik qud. In similar contexts d would become b, d and g, respectively, and n would become m, n and n; examples of this 'fine thought' fain θo:t, 'ten girls' teg go:lz. However, the same is not true of the other alveolar consonants: s and z behave differently, the only noticeable change being that s becomes S, and z becomes Z when followed by S or j, as in: 'this shoe'  $\delta_{I}$  (u:; 'those years'  $\delta_{2}$  jizz. It is important to note that the consonants that have undergone assimilation have not disappeared; in the above examples, the duration of the consonants remains more or less what one would expect for a two-consonant cluster. Assimilation of place is only noticeable in this regressive assimilation of alveolar consonants; it is not something that foreign learners need to learn to do.

Assimilation of manner is much less noticeable, and is only found in the most rapid and casual speech; generally speaking, the tendency is again for regressive assimilation and the change in manner is most likely to be towards an "easier" consonant - one which

makes less obstruction to the airflow. It is thus possible to find cases where a final plosive becomes a fricative or nasal (e.g. 'that side' ðæs saīd, 'good night' gun naīt), but most unlikely that a final fricative or nasal would become a plosive. In one particular case we find progressive assimilation of manner, when a word-initial ð follows a plosive or nasal at the end of a preceding word: it is very common to find that the  $C^i$  becomes identical in manner to the  $C^f$  but with dental place of articulation. For example (the arrow symbol means "becomes"):

'in the'	in ðə	$\rightarrow$	iņņə
'get them'	get ðəm	$\rightarrow$	get təm
'read these'	ri:d ði:z	$\rightarrow$	ri:d di:z

The ð phoneme frequently occurs with no discernible friction noise.

Assimilation of voice is also found, but again only in a limited way. Only regressive assimilation of voice is found across word boundaries, and then only of one type; since this matter is important for foreign learners we will look at it in some detail. If  $C^{f}$  is a lenis (i.e. "voiced") consonant and  $C^{i}$  is fortis ("voiceless") we often find that the lenis consonant has no voicing; for example in 'I have to' the final v becomes voiceless f because of the following voiceless t in at hæf tu, and in the same way the z in 'cheese' tfitz becomes more like s when it occurs in 'cheesecake' tfitsketk. This is not a very noticeable case of assimilation, since, as was explained in Chapter  $\pounds$ , initial and final lenis consonants usually have little or no voicing anyway; these devoiced consonants do not shorten preceding vowels as true fortis consonants do. However, when  $C^{f}$  is fortis ("voiceless") and  $C^{i}$  lenis ("voiced"), a context in which in many languages  $C^{f}$  would become voiced, assimilation of voice never takes place; consider the following example: 'I like that black dog' aI laIk ðæt blæk dog. It is typical of many foreign learners of English that they allow regressive assimilation of voicing to change the final k of 'like' to g, the final t of 'that' to d and the final k of 'black' to g, giving aI laIg ðæd blæg dog. This creates a strong impression of a foreign accent.

Up to this point we have been looking at some fairly clear cases of assimilation across word boundaries. However, similar effects are also observable across morpheme boundaries and to some extent also within the morpheme. Sometimes in the latter case it seems that the assimilation is rather different from the word-boundary examples; for example, if in a syllable-final consonant cluster a nasal consonant precedes a plosive or a fricative in the same morpheme, then the place of articulation of the nasal is always determined by the place of articulation of the other consonant; thus: 'bump' bAmp, 'tenth' ten $\theta$ , 'hunt' hAnt, 'bank' bæŋk. It could be said that this assimilation has become fixed as part of the phonological structure of English syllables, since exceptions are almost non-existent. A similar example of a type of assimilation that has become fixed is the progressive assimilation of voice with the suffixes s, z; when a verb carries a third person singular '-s' suffix, or a noun carries an '-s' plural suffix or an '-'s' possessive suffix, that suffix will be pronounced as s if the preceding consonant is fortis ("voiceless") and as z if the preceding consonant is lenis ("voiced"). Thus:

'cats'	kæts	'dogs'	døgz
'jumps	'dʒʌmps	'runs'	rлnz
'Pat's'	pæts	'Pam's'	pæmz

Assimilation creates something of a problem for phoneme theory: when, for example, d in 'good' gud becomes g in the context 'good girl', giving quq q3:1 or b in the context 'good boy' qub boi, should we say that one phoneme has been substituted for another? If we do this, how do we describe the assimilation in 'good thing', where d becomes dental d before the  $\theta$  of 'thing', or in 'good food', where d becomes a labiodental plosive before the f in 'food'? English has no dental or labiodental plosive phonemes, so in these cases, although there is clearly assimilation, there could not be said to be a substitution of one phoneme for another. The alternative is to say that assimilation causes a phoneme to be realised by a different allophone; this would mean that, in the case of gug g3:1 and gub b31, the phoneme d of 'good' has velar and bilabial allophones. Traditionally, phonemes were supposed not to overlap in their allophones, so that the only plosives that could have allophones with bilabial place of articulation were p, b; this restriction is no longer looked on as so important. The traditional view of assimilation as a change from one phoneme to another is, therefore, naive: modern instrumental studies in the broader field of coarticu- Iation show that when assimilation happens one can often see some sort of combination of articulatory gestures. In 'good girl', for example, it is not a simple matter of the first word ending either in d or in g, but rather a matter of the extent to which alveolar and/or velar closures are achieved. There may be an alveolar closure immediately preceding and overlapping with a velar closure; there may be simultaneous alveolar and velar closure, or a velar closure followed by slight contact but not closure in the alveolar region. There are many other possibilities.

Much more could be said about assimilation but, from the point of view of learning or teaching English pronunciation, to do so would not be very useful. It is essentially a natural phenomenon that can be seen in any sort of complex physical activity, and the only important matter is to remember the restriction, specific to English, on voicing assimilation mentioned above.

#### ۴,۳ Elision

#### €AU، ٤,EX2

The nature of **elision** may be stated quite simply: under certain circumstances sounds disappear. One might express this in more technical language by saying that in certain circumstances a phoneme may be realised as **zero**, or have **zero realisation** or be **deleted**. As with assimilation, elision is typical of rapid, casual speech. Producing elisions is something which foreign learners do not need to learn to do, but it is important for them to be aware that when native speakers of English talk to each other, quite a number of phonemes that the foreigner might expect to hear are not actually pronounced. We will look at some examples, although only a small number of the many possibilities can be given here.

i) Loss of weak vowel after p, t, k.

In words like 'potato', 'tomato', 'canary', 'perhaps', 'today', the vowel in the first syllable may disappear; the aspiration of the initial plosive takes up the whole of the middle portion of the syllable, resulting in these pronunciations (where h indicates aspiration in the phonetic transcription):

p<sup>h</sup>'teitəu t<sup>h</sup>'ma:təu k<sup>h</sup>'neəri p<sup>h</sup>'hæps t<sup>h</sup>'dei

ii) Weak vowel + n, l, r becomes syllabic consonant (see Chapter <sup>9</sup> for details of syllabic consonants). For example:

'tonight' that 'police' plits 'correct' krekt

iii) Avoidance of complex consonant clusters.

It has been claimed that no normal English speaker would ever pronounce all the consonants between the last two words of the following:

'George the Sixth's throne' dʒɔ:dʒ ðə sɪksθs θrəun

Though this is not impossible to pronounce, something like sIksTr@Un or sIksr@Un is a more likely pronunciation for the last two words. In clusters of three plosives or two plosives plus a fricative, the middle plosive may disappear, so that the following pronunciations result:

'acts' æks, 'looked back' luk bæk, 'scripts' skrips

iv) Loss of final v in 'of before consonants; for example:

'lots of them' lbts a  $\delta \epsilon m$ , 'waste of money' weist  $\rho m n n$ i

This last example is typical of very casual speech, and would be regarded as substandard by conservative listeners. A more common case is where the vowel of 'of' is lost, leaving either v in a voiced context (e.g. 'all of mine' O:l v maIn) or f in a voiceless context (e.g. 'best of three' best f Tri:).

It is difficult to know whether contractions of grammatical words should be regarded as examples of elision or not. The fact that they are regularly represented with special spelling forms makes them seem rather different from the above examples. The best-known cases are:

- 'had', 'would': spelt' d, pronounced d (after vowels), əd (after consonants);
- 'is', 'has': spelt's, pronounced s (after fortis consonants), z (after lenis consonants), except that after s, z, ∫, 3, t∫, d3 'is' is pronounced Iz and 'has' is pronounced @z in contracted form;
- 'will': spelt 'll, pronounced l (after vowels), l (after consonants);
- 'have': spelt' ve, pronounced v (after vowels), əv (after consonants);
- 'not': spelt n't, pronounced nt (after vowels), nt (after consonants). There are also vowel changes associated with n't (e.g. 'can' kæn 'can't' ka:nt; 'do' du: 'don't' dount; 'shall' jæl -'shan't' ja:nt);

'are': spelt 're, pronounced a after vowels, usually with some change in the preceding vowel (e.g. 'you' ju: - 'you're' jup or jp:, 'we' wi: - 'we're' wIp, 'they' ðeI - 'they're' ðep); linking is used when a vowel follows, as explained in the next section. Contracted 'are' is also pronounced as p or pr when following a consonant.

## ۱٤,٤ Linking

In our hypothetical "mechanical speech" all words would be separate units placed next to each other in sequence; in real connected speech, however, we link words together in a number of ways. The most familiar case is the use of **linking** r; the phoneme r does not occur in syllable-final position in the BBC accent, but when the spelling of a word suggests a final r, and a word beginning with a vowel follows, the usual pronunciation is to pronounce with r. For example:

'here'	hiə	but	'here are'	hıər ə
'four'	fo:	but	'four eggs'	fo:r egz

BBC speakers often use r in a similar way to link words ending with a vowel, even when there is no "justification" from the spelling, as in:

'Formula A' fɔ:mjələr eı 'Australia all out' pstreıliər ɔ:l aut 'media event' mi:diər ıvent

This has been called **intrusive** r; some English speakers and teachers still regard this as incorrect or substandard pronunciation, but it is undoubtedly widespread.

"Linking r" and "intrusive r" are special cases of **juncture**; we need to consider the relationship between one sound and the sounds that immediately precede and follow it. If we take the two words 'my turn' mat 13:n, we know that the sounds m and at, t and 3:, and 3: and n are closely linked. The problem lies in deciding what the relationship is between aI and t; since we do not usually pause between words, there is no silence to indicate word division and to justify the space left in the transcription. But if English speakers hear maI 13:n they can usually recognise this as 'my turn' and not 'might earn'. This is where the problem of juncture becomes apparent. What is it that makes perceptible the difference between mat 13:n and matt 3:n? The answer is that in one case the t is fully aspirated (initial in 'turn'), and in the other case it is not (being final in 'might'). In addition to this, the aI diphthong is shorter in 'might'. If a difference in meaning is caused by the difference between aspirated and unaspirated t, how can we avoid the conclusion that English has a phonemic contrast between aspirated and unaspirated t? The answer is that the position of a word boundary has some effect on the realisation of the t phoneme; this is one of the many cases in which the occurrence of different allophones can only be properly explained by making reference to units of grammar (something which was for a long time disapproved of by many phonologists). Many ingenious minimal pairs have been invented to show the significance of juncture, a few of which are given below:

- 'might rain' mait rein (r voiced when initial in 'rain', ai shortened), vs. 'my train' mai trein (r voiceless following t in 'train', ai longer)
- 'all that I'm after today' o:l ðət arm a:ftə təder (t relatively unaspirated when final in 'that')
- 'all the time after today' o:l ðo taim o:fto todei (t aspirated when initial in 'time')
- 'tray lending' treI lendIN ("clear l" initial in 'lending') 'trail ending' tre1 end19 ("dark l" final in 'trail')
- 'keep sticking' ki:p st1k1ŋ (t unaspirated after s) 'keeps ticking' ki:ps t1k1ŋ (t aspirated in 'ticking')

The context in which the words occur almost always makes it clear where the boundary comes, and the juncture information is then redundant.

It should by now be clear that there is a great deal of difference between the way words are pronounced in isolation and their pronunciation in the context of connected speech.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

 $1^{\pm}$ , English rhythm is a controversial subject on which widely differing views have been expressed. On one side there have been writers such as Abercrombie  $(1^{9}TV)$  and Halliday  $(1^{9}TV)$  who set out an elaborate theory of the rhythmical structure of English speech (including foot theory). On the other side there are sceptics like Crystal  $(1^{9}T^{9}: 1^{1})^{-0}$  who reject the idea of an inherent rhythmical pattern. The distinction between physically measurable time intervals and subjective impressions of rhythmicality is discussed in Roach  $(1^{9}\Lambda^{7})$  and Lehiste  $(1^{9}VV)$ . Adams  $(1^{9}V^{9})$  presents a review and experimental study of the subject, and concludes that, despite the theoretical problems, there is practical value in teaching rhythm to learners of English. The "stress-timed / syllable-timed" dichotomy is generally agreed in modern work to be an oversimplification; a more widely accepted view is that all languages display characteristics of both types of rhythm, but each may be closer to one or the other; see Mitchell  $(1^{9}T^{9})$ and Dauer  $(1^{9}\Lambda^{7})$ . Dauer's theory makes possible comparisons between different languages in terms of their relative positions on a scale from maximally stress-timed to maximally syllable-timed (see for example Dimitrova,  $1^{9}T^{9}$ ).

For some writers concerned with English language teaching, the notion of rhythm is a more practical matter of making a sufficiently clear difference between strong and weak syllables, rather than concentrating on a rigid timing pattern, as I suggest at the end of Section  $\Sigma$ , see, for example, Taylor  $(\Sigma^{A})$ .

The treatment of rhythmical hierarchy is based on the theory of metrical phonology. Hogg and McCully (19AY) give a full explanation of this, but it is difficult material.

Goldsmith (199: Chapter ) and Katamba (194: Chapter ) are briefer and somewhat simpler. A paper by Fudge (199) discusses the relationship between syllables, words and feet. James (194) explores the relevance of metrical phonology to language learning.

<sup> $\gamma \xi, \gamma$ </sup> Factors such as assimilation and elision are dealt with in an interesting and original way in Shockey ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ ). Assimilation is described in more conventional terms in Cruttenden ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \lambda : \gamma \gamma \gamma - \gamma \cdot \gamma$ ). For reading on coarticulation, which studies the influences of sounds on each other in wider and more complex ways than assimilation, see Roach ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ ), Ladefoged ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma : \gamma \wedge \gamma \gamma$ ).

15,7 An essential part of acquiring fluency in English is learning to produce connected speech without gaps between words, and this is the practical importance of linking. You can read about "linking r" and "intrusive r" in Collins and Mees  $(7 \cdot \cdot \wedge)$  and Giegerich  $(1997; 7\wedge)-7$ ).

An important question to be asked in relation to juncture is whether it can actually be heard. Jones (197) implies that it can, but experimental work (e.g. O'Connor and Tooley, 1975) suggests that in many cases it is not perceptible unless a speaker is deliberately trying to avoid ambiguity. It is interesting to note that some phonologists of the 190 s and 197 s felt it necessary to invent a 'phoneme' of juncture in order to be able to transcribe minimal pairs like 'grey tape' / 'great ape' unambiguously without having to refer to grammatical boundaries; see, for example, Trager and Smith (190).

#### Notes for teachers

There is a lot of disagreement about the importance of the various topics in this chapter from the language teacher's point of view. My feeling is that while the practice and study of connected speech are agreed by everyone to be very valuable, this can sometimes result in some relatively unimportant aspects of speech (e.g. assimilation, juncture) being given more emphasis than they should. It would not be practical or useful to teach all learners of English to produce assimilations; practice in making elisions is more useful, and it is clearly valuable to do exercises related to rhythm and linking. Perhaps the most important consequence of what has been described in this chapter is that learners of English must be made very clearly aware of the problems that they will meet in listening to colloquial, connected speech.

In looking at the importance of studying aspects of speech above the segmental level some writers have claimed that learners can come to identify an overall "feel" of the pronunciation of the language being learned. Differences between languages have been described in terms of their **articulatory settings** - that is, overall articulatory posture - by Honikman (1975). She describes such factors as lip mobility and tongue setting for English, French and other languages. The notion seems a useful one, although it is difficult to confirm these settings scientifically.

Audio Unit  $1 \pm$  is liable to come as something of a surprise to students who have not had the experience of examining colloquial English speech before. The main message to get across is that concentration on selective, analytic listening will help them to recognise what is being said, and that practice usually brings confidence.

#### Written exercises

- Divide the following sentences up into feet, using a dotted vertical line (i) as a boundary symbol.
  If a sentence starts with an unstressed syllable, leave it out of consideration it doesn't belong in a foot.
  - a) A bird in the hand is worth two in the bush.
  - b) Over a quarter of a century has elapsed since his death.
  - c) Computers consume a considerable amount of money and time.
  - d) Most of them have arrived on the bus.
  - e) Newspaper editors are invariably underworked.
- <sup>Y</sup> Draw tree diagrams of the rhythmical structure of the following phrases.
  - a) Christmas present
  - b) Rolls-Royce
  - c) pet-food dealer
  - d) Rolls-Royce rally event
- \* The following sentences are given in spelling and in a "slow, careful" phonemic transcription. Rewrite the phonemic transcription as a "broad phonetic" one so as to show likely assimilations, elisions and linking.

a)			asthma væsθmə	-			0	
b)			populatior popjəleı∫ı					
	She ∫i	1	articularly ətıkjələli					

## vo Intonation v

Many of the previous chapters have been concerned with the description of phonemes, and in Section °,<sup>↑</sup> it was pointed out that the subject of phonology includes not just this aspect (which is usually called **segmental phonology**) but also several others. In Chapters  $\cdot \cdot$  and  $\cdot \cdot$ , for example, we studied stress. Clearly, stress has linguistic importance and is therefore an aspect of the phonology of English that must be described, but it is not usually regarded as something that is related to individual segmental phonemes; normally, stress is said to be something that is applied to (or is a property of) syllables, and is therefore part of the **suprasegmental phonology** of English. (Another name for suprasegmental phonology is **prosodic phonology** or **prosody.**) An important part of suprasegmental phonology is **intonation**, and the next five chapters are devoted to this subject.

What is intonation? No definition is completely satisfactory, but any attempt at a definition must recognise that the **pitch** of the voice plays the most important part. Only in very unusual situations do we speak with fixed, unvarying pitch, and when we speak normally the pitch of our voice is constantly changing. One of the most important tasks in analysing intonation is to listen to the speaker's pitch and recognise what it is doing; this is not an easy thing to do, and it seems to be a quite different skill from that acquired in studying segmental phonetics. We describe pitch in terms of **high** and **low**, and some people find it difficult to relate what they hear in someone's voice to a scale ranging from low to high. We should remember that "high" and "low" are arbitrary choices for end- points of the pitch scale. It would be perfectly reasonable to think of pitch as ranging instead from "light" to "heavy", for example, or from "left" to "right", and people who have difficulty in "hearing" intonation patterns are generally only having difficulty in relating what they hear (which is the same as what everyone else hears) to this "pseudo-spatial" representation.

It is very important to make the point that we are not interested in all aspects of a speaker's pitch; the only things that should interest us are those which carry some linguistic information. If a speaker tries to talk while riding fast on a horse, his or her pitch will make a lot of sudden rises and falls as a result of the irregular movement; this is something which is outside the speaker's control and therefore cannot be linguistically significant. Similarly, if we take two speakers at random we will almost certainly find that one speaker typically speaks with lower pitch than the other; the difference between the two speakers is not linguistically significant because their habitual pitch level is determined by their physical structure. But an individual speaker does have control over his or her own pitch,

and may choose to speak with a higher than normal pitch; this is something which *is* potentially of linguistic significance.

A word of caution is needed in connection with the word **pitch.** Strictly speaking, this should be used to refer to an auditory sensation experienced by the hearer. The rate of vibration of the vocal folds - something which is physically measurable, and which is related to activity on the part of the speaker - is the **fundamental frequency** of voiced sounds, and should not be called "pitch". However, as long as this distinction is understood, it is generally agreed that the term "pitch" is a convenient one to use informally to refer both to the subjective sensation and to the objectively measurable fundamental frequency.

We have established that for pitch differences to be linguistically significant, it is a necessary condition that they should be under the speaker's control. There is another necessary condition and that is that a pitch difference must be **perceptible**; it is possible to detect differences in the **frequency** of the vibration of a speaker's voice by means of laboratory instruments, but these differences may not be great enough to be heard by a listener as differences in pitch. Finally, it should be remembered that in looking for linguistically significant aspects of speech we must always be looking for *contrasts;* one of the most important things about any unit of phonology or grammar is the set of items it contrasts with. We know how to establish which phonemes are in contrast with b in the context -in; we can substitute other phonemes (e.g. p, s) to change the identity of the word from 'bin' to 'pin' to 'sin'. Can we establish such units and contrasts in intonation?

#### 10,1 Form and function in intonation

To summarise what was said above, we want to know the answers to two questions about English speech:

- i) What can we observe when we study pitch variations?
- ii) What is the linguistic importance of the phenomena we observe?

These questions might be rephrased more briefly as:

- i) What is the **form** of intonation?
- ii) What is the **function** of intonation?

We will begin by looking at intonation in the shortest piece of speech we can find - the single syllable. At this point a new term will be introduced: we need a name for a continuous piece of speech beginning and ending with a clear pause, and we will call this an **utterance.** In this chapter, then, we are going to look at the intonation of one-syllable utterances. These are quite common, and give us a comparatively easy introduction to the subject.

Two common one-syllable utterances are 'yes' and 'no'. The first thing to notice is that we have a choice of saying these with the pitch remaining at a constant level, or with the pitch changing from one level to another. The word we use for the overall behaviour

of the pitch in these examples is **tone**; a one-syllable word can be said with either a **level tone** or a **moving tone**. If you try saying 'yes' or 'no' with a level tone (rather as though you were trying to sing them on a steady note) you may find the result does not sound natural, and indeed English speakers do not use level tones on one-syllable utterances very frequently. Moving tones are more common. If English speakers want to say 'yes' or 'no' in a definite, final manner they will probably use a **falling** tone - one which descends from a higher to a lower pitch. If they want to say 'yes?' or 'no?' in a questioning manner they may say it with a **rising** tone - a movement from a lower pitch to a higher one.

Notice that already, in talking about different tones, some idea of function has been introduced; speakers are said to select from a choice of tones according to how they want the utterance to be heard, and it is implied that the listener will hear one-syllable utterances said with different tones as sounding different in some way. During the development of modern phonetics in the twentieth century it was for a long time hoped that scientific study of intonation would make it possible to state what the function of each different aspect of intonation was, and that foreign learners could then be taught rules to enable them to use intonation in the way that native speakers use it. Few people now believe this to be possible. It is certainly possible to produce a few general rules, and some will be given in this course, just as a few general rules for word stress were given in Chapters ). However, these rules are certainly not adequate as a complete practical guide to how to use English intonation. My treatment of intonation is based on the belief that foreign learners of English at advanced levels who may use this course should be given training to make them better able to recognise and copy English intonation. The only really efficient way to learn to use the intonation of a language is the way a child acquires the intonation of its first language, and the training referred to above should help the adult learner of English to acquire English intonation in a similar (though much slower) way - through listening to and talking to English speakers. It is perhaps a discouraging thing to say, but learners of English who are not able to talk regularly with native speakers of English, or who are not able at least to listen regularly to colloquial English, are not likely to learn English intonation, although they may learn very good pronunciation of the segments and use stress correctly.

#### 10,7. Tone and tone languages

QAU10, Exs 1-2

In the preceding section we mentioned three simple possibilities for the intonation used in pronouncing the one-word utterances 'yes' and 'no'. These were: level, fall and rise. It will often be necessary to use symbols to represent tones, and for this we will use marks placed before the syllable in the following way (phonemic transcription will not be used in these examples - words are given in spelling):

Level	_yes	_no
Falling	\yes	\no
Rising	/yes	/no

This simple system for tone transcription could be extended, if we wished, to cover a greater number of possibilities. For example, if it were important to distinguish between a high level and low level tone for English we could do it in this way:

High level \_yes \_no Low level \_yes \_no

Although in English we do on occasions say <sup>-</sup>yes or <sup>-</sup>no and on other occasions \_yes or \_no, a speaker of English would be unlikely to say that the meaning of the words 'yes' and 'no' was different with the different tones; as will be seen below, we will not use the symbols for high and low versions of tones in the description of English intonation. But there are many languages in which the tone can determine the meaning of a word, and changing from one tone to another can completely change the meaning. For example, in Kono, a language of West Africa, we find the following (meanings given in brackets):

High level	<sup>-</sup> bEN	('uncle')	<sup>-</sup> buu	('horn')
Low level	_bEN	('greedy')	_buu	('to be cross')

Similarly, while we can hear a difference between English \_yes, /yes and \yes, and between \_no, /no and \no, there is not a difference in meaning in such a clear-cut way as in Mandarin Chinese, where, for example, ma means 'mother', /ma means 'hemp' and \ma means 'scold'. Languages such as the above are called **tone languages;** although to most speakers of European languages they may seem strange and exotic, such languages are in fact spoken by a very large proportion of the world's population. In addition to the many dialects of Chinese, many other languages of South-East Asia (e.g. Thai, Vietnamese) are tone languages; so are very many African languages, particularly those of the South and West, and a considerable number of Native American languages. English, however, is not a tone language, and the function of tone is much more difficult to define than in a tone language.

## ${}^{\,\nu\,\sigma,\tau}$ Complex tones and pitch height

We have introduced three simple tones that can be used on one-syllable English utterances: level, fall and rise. However, other more complex tones are also used. One that is quite frequently found is the **fall-rise** tone, where the pitch descends and then rises again. Another complex tone, much less frequently used, is the **rise-fall** in which the pitch follows the opposite movement. We will not consider any more complex tones, since these are not often encountered and are of little importance.

One further complication should be mentioned here. Each speaker has his or her own normal **pitch range:** a top level which is the highest pitch normally used by the speaker, and a bottom level that the speaker's pitch normally does not go below. In ordinary speech, the intonation tends to take place within the lower part of the speaker's pitch range, but in situations where strong feelings are to be expressed it is usual to make use of extra pitch height. For example, if we represent the pitch range by drawing two parallel

lines representing the highest and lowest limits of the range, then a normal unemphatic 'yes' could be diagrammed like this:



but a strong, emphatic 'yes' like this:



We will use a new symbol <sup>†</sup> (a vertical upward arrow) to indicate extra pitch height, so that we can distinguish between:

\yes and  $^{\dagger}$  \ yes

Any of the tones presented in this chapter may be given extra pitch height, but since this course is based on normal, unemotional speech, the symbol will be used only occasionally.

€AU<sup>1</sup>°, Ex

## ) °, $\xi$ Some functions of English tones

0

In this chapter only a very small part of English intonation has been introduced. We will now see if it is possible to state in what circumstances the different tones are used within the very limited context of the words 'yes' and 'no' said in isolation. We will look at some typical occurrences; no examples of extra pitch height will be considered here, so the examples should be thought of as being said relatively low in the speaker's pitch range.

## Fall\yes\no

This is the tone about which least needs to be said, and which is usually regarded as more or less "neutral". If someone is asked a question and replies \yes or \no it will be understood that the question is now answered and that there is nothing more to be said. The fall could be said to give an impression of "finality".

## Rise/yes/no

In a variety of ways, this tone conveys an impression that something more is to follow. A typical occurrence in a dialogue between two speakers whom we shall call A and B might be the following:

A (wishing to attract B's attention): Excuse me.

B:/ yes

(B's reply is, perhaps, equivalent to 'what do you want?') Another quite common occurrence would be:

A: Do you know John Smith?

One possible reply from B would be /yes, inviting A to continue with what she intends to say about John Smith after establishing that B knows him. To reply instead \yes would give a feeling of "finality", of "end of the conversation"; if A did have something to say about John Smith, the response with a fall would make it difficult for A to continue.

We can see similar "invitations to continue" in someone's response to a series of instructions or directions. For example:

A: You start off on the ring road ...

B: /yes

A: turn left at the first roundabout ...

B: /yes

A: and ours is the third house on the left.

Whatever B replies to this last utterance of A, it would be most unlikely to be / yes again, since A has clearly finished her instructions and it would be pointless to "prompt" her to continue.

With 'no', a similar function can be seen. For example:

A: Have you seen Ann?

If B replies no (without using high pitch at the start) he implies that he has no interest in continuing with that topic of conversation. But a reply of /no would be an invitation to A to explain why she is looking for Ann, or why she does not know where she is.

Similarly, someone may ask a question that implies readiness to present some new information. For example:

A: Do you know what the longest balloon flight was?

If B replies / no he is inviting A to tell him, while a response of \no would be more likely to mean that he does not know and is not expecting to be told. Such "do you know?" questions are, in fact, a common cause of misunderstanding in English conversation, when a question such as A's above might be a request for information or an offer to provide some.

## Fall-rise vyes vno

The fall-rise is used a lot in English and has some rather special functions. In the present context we will only consider one fairly simple one, which could perhaps be described as "limited agreement" or "response with reservations". Examples may make this clearer:

A: I've heard that it's a good school.

B: vyes

B's reply would be taken to mean that he would not completely agree with what A said, and A would probably expect B to go on to explain why he was reluctant to agree. Similarly:

A: It's not really an expensive book, is it?

B: vno

The fall-rise in B's reply again indicates that he would not completely agree with A. Fall-rise in such contexts almost always indicates both something "given" or "conceded" and at the same time some reservation or hesitation. This use of intonation will be returned to in Chapter 19.

## Rise-fall Ayes Ano

This is used to convey rather strong feelings of approval, disapproval or surprise. It is not usually considered to be an important tone for foreign learners to acquire, although it is still useful practice to learn to distinguish it from other tones. Here are some examples:

A: You wouldn't do an awful thing like that, would you?

B: vno

A: Isn't the view lovely!

B: Ayes

A: I think you said it was the best so far.

B: Ayes

#### Level \_yes\_ no

This tone is certainly used in English, but in a rather restricted context: it almost always conveys (on single-syllable utterances) a feeling of saying something routine, uninteresting or boring. A teacher calling the names of students from a register will often do so using a level tone on each name, and the students are likely to respond with \_yes when their name is called. Similarly, if one is being asked a series of routine questions for some purpose - such as applying for an insurance policy - one might reply to each question of a series (like 'Have you ever been in prison?', 'Do you suffer from any serious illness?', 'Is your eyesight defective?', etc.) with \_no.

A few meanings have been suggested for the five tones that have been introduced, but each tone may have many more such meanings. Moreover, it would be quite wrong to conclude that in the above examples only the tones given would be appropriate; it is, in fact, almost impossible to find a context where one could not substitute a different tone. This is not the same thing as saying that any tone can be used in any context: the point is that no particular tone has a unique "privilege of occurrence" in a particular context. When we come to look at more complex intonation patterns, we will see that defining intonational "meanings" does not become any easier.

#### 10,0 Tones on other words

We can now move on from examples of 'yes' and 'no' and see how some of these tones can be applied to other words, either single-syllable words or words of more than one syllable. In the case of polysyllabic words, it is always the most strongly stressed syllable that receives the tone; the tone mark is equivalent to a stress mark. We will underline syllables that carry a tone from this point onwards.

Examples:

When a speaker is giving a list of items, they often use a rise on each item until the last, which has a fall, for example:

You can have it in / red, /<u>blue,</u> / <u>green</u> or <u>black</u>

Fall-rise (often suggesting uncertainty or hesitation)

v<u>some</u> v<u>near</u>ly perv<u>haps</u>

Fall-rise is sometimes used instead of rise in giving lists.

Rise-fall (often sounds surprised or impressed)

A<u>oh</u> A<u>love</u>ly iA<u>mmense</u>

#### Notes on problems and further reading

**``.** The study of intonation went through many changes in the twentieth century, and different theoretical approaches emerged. In the United States the theory that evolved was based on 'pitch phonemes' (Pike, 1920;Trager and Smith, 1901): four contrastive pitch levels were established and intonation was described basically in terms of a series of movements from one of these levels to another. You can read a summary of this approach in Cruttenden (199V: 7A-20). In Britain the 'tone-unit' or 'tonetic' approach was developed by (among others) O'Connor and Arnold (19VT) and Halliday (197V). These two different theoretical approaches became gradually more elaborate and difficult to use. I have tried in this course to stay within the conventions of the British tradition, but to present an analysis that is simpler than most. A good introduction to the theoretical issues is Cruttenden (199V). Wells (7.13) is also in the tradition of British analyses, but goes into much more detail than the present course, including a lot of recorded practice material.

*Yo,Y* The amount of time to be spent on learning about tone languages should depend to some extent on your background. Those whose native language is a tone language should be aware of the considerable linguistic importance of tone in such languages; often it is extremely difficult for people who have spoken a tone language all their life to learn to

observe their own use of tone objectively. The study of tone languages when learning English is less important for native speakers of non-tone languages, but most students seem to find it an interesting subject. A good introduction is Ladefoged  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \uparrow; \uparrow \xi \lor \neg \circ \urcorner)$ . The classic work on the subject is Pike  $(\uparrow \uparrow \xi \land)$  while more modern treatments are Hyman  $(\uparrow \P \lor \circ; \uparrow \uparrow \uparrow \neg \uparrow)$ , Fromkin  $(\uparrow \P \lor \land)$  and Katamba  $(\uparrow \P \land \P)$ .

Many analyses within the British approach to intonation include among tones both "high" and "low" varieties. For example, O'Connor and Arnold (197) distinguished between "high fall" and "low fall" (the former starting from a high pitch, the latter from mid), and also between "low rise" and "high rise" (the latter rising to a higher point than the former). Some writers had high and low versions of all tones. Compared with our separate feature of *extra pitch height* (which is explained more fully in Section 14,1), this is unnecessary duplication. However, if one adds extra pitch height to a tone, one has not given all possible detail about it. If we take as an example a fall-rise without extra pitch height:



then something symbolised as  $^{\dagger}v$  could be any of the following:



It would be possible to extend our framework to distinguish between these possibilities, but I do not believe it would be profitable to do so. Several writers have included in their set of tones **fall-rise-fall** and **rise-fall-rise;** I have seldom felt the need to recognise these as distinct from rise-fall and fall-rise respectively.

## Note for teachers

To devote five chapters to intonation may seem excessive, but I feel that this is necessary since the subject is difficult and complex, and needs to be explained at considerable length if the explanation is to be intelligible. On the positive side, working on intonation helps to improve learners' fluency and helps native speakers to understand how spoken communication works.

As explained above, some students may be perfectly well able to discriminate between tones, but have difficulty in labelling them as "fall", "rise", etc. I find that a small number of the students I teach are never able to overcome this difficulty (even though they may have perfect hearing and in some cases a high level of linguistic and musical ability). Of the remainder, a few are especially gifted and cannot understand how anyone could find the task difficult, and most others eventually learn after a few hours of practical classes. Many

students find it very helpful to work with a computer showing a real-time display of their pitch movements as they speak.

#### Written exercise

In the following sentences and bits of dialogue, each underlined syllable must be given an appropriate tone mark. Write a tone mark just in front of the syllable.

- <sup>1</sup> This train is for <u>Leeds</u>, <u>York</u> and <u>Hull</u>.
- <sup>Y</sup> Can you give me a <u>lift</u>? <u>Poss</u>ibly. Where to?
- ۳ No! Certainly not! Go <u>away</u>!
- Did you know he'd been convicted of drunken driving? No!
- If I give him <u>mon</u>ey he goes and <u>spends</u> it.
  If I lend him the <u>bike</u> he loses it.
  He's completely unreliable.

## **11 Ilntonation 1**

#### ۱٦,۱ The tone-unit

In Chapter  $1^{\circ}$  it was explained that many of the world's languages are tone languages, in which substituting one distinctive tone for another on a particular word or morpheme can cause a change in the dictionary ("lexical") meaning of that word or morpheme, or in some aspect of its grammatical categorisation. Although tones or pitch differences are used for other purposes, English is one of the languages that do not use tone in this way. Languages such as English are sometimes called intonation languages. In tone languages the main suprasegmental contrastive unit is the tone, which is usually linked to the phonological unit that we call the syllable. It could be said that someone analysing the function and distribution of tones in a tone language would be mainly occupied in examining utterances syllable by syllable, looking at each syllable as an independently variable item. In Chapter 10, five tones found on English one-syllable utterances were introduced, and if English were spoken in isolated monosyllables, the job of tonal analysis would be a rather similar one to that described for tone languages. However, when we look at continuous speech in English utterances we find that these tones can only be identified on a small number of particularly prominent syllables. For the purposes of analysing intonation, a unit generally greater in size than the syllable is needed, and this unit is called the **tone- unit**; in its smallest form the tone-unit may consist of only one syllable, so it would in fact be wrong to say that it is always composed of more than one syllable. The tone-unit is difficult to define, and one or two examples may help to make it easier to understand the concept. As explained in Chapter 10, examples used to illustrate intonation transcription are usually given in spelling form, and you will notice that no punctuation is used; the reason for this is that intonation and stress are the vocal equivalents of written punctuation, so that when these are transcribed it would be unnecessary or even confusing to include punctuation as well.

• AU<sup>17</sup>, Exs<sup>1</sup>&<sup>γ</sup>

Let us begin with a one-syllable utterance:

/y<u>ou</u>

We underline syllables that carry a tone, as explained at the end of the previous chapter. Now consider this utterance:

is it /<u>you</u>

The third syllable is more prominent than the other two and carries a rising tone. The other two syllables will normally be much less prominent, and be said on a level pitch. Why do we not say that each of the syllables 'is' and 'it' carries a level tone? This is a difficult question that will be examined more holly later; for the present I will answer it (rather unsatisfactorily) by saying that it is unusual for a syllable said on a level pitch to be so prominent that it would be described as carrying a level *tone*. To summarise the analysis of 'is it /you' so far, it is an utterance of three syllables, consisting of one tone- unit; the only syllable that carries a tone is the third one. From now on, a syllable which carries a tone will be called a **tonic syllable**. It has been mentioned several times that tonic syllables have a high degree of prominence; prominence is, of course, a property of stressed syllables, and a tonic syllable not only carries a tone (which is something related to intonation) but also a type of stress that will be called **tonic stress**. (Some writers use the terms **nucleus** and **nuclear stress** for *tonic syllable* and *tonic stress*.)

The example can now be extended:

## vJ<u>ohn</u> is it /you

A fall-rise tone is used quite commonly in calling someone's name. If there is a clear pause (silence) between 'vJohn' and 'is it /you', then, according to the definition of an utterance given in Chapter 'o, there are two utterances; however, it is quite likely that a speaker would say 'vJohn is it /you' with no pause, so that the four syllables would make up a single utterance. In spite of the absence of any pause, the utterance would normally be regarded as divided into two tone-units: 'vJohn' and 'is it /you'. Since it is very difficult to lay down the conditions for deciding where the boundaries between tone-units exist, the discussion of this matter must wait until later.

It should be possible to see now that the tone-unit has a place in a range of phonological units that are in a hierarchical relationship: speech consists of a number of utterances (the largest units that we shall consider); each utterance consists of one or more tone-units; each tone-unit consists of one or more feet; each foot consists of one or more syllables; each syllable consists of one or more phonemes.

#### ۱٦,۲ The structure of the tone-unit

In Chapter <sup>A</sup> the structure of the English syllable was examined in some detail. Like the syllable, the toneunit has a fairly clearly defined internal structure, but the only component that has been mentioned so far is the tonic syllable. The first thing to be done is to make more precise the role of the tonic syllable in the tone-unit. Most tone-units are of a type that we call **simple**, and the sort that we call **compound** are not discussed in this chapter. Each simple tone-unit has one and only one tonic syllable; this means that the tonic syllable is an obligatory component of the tone-unit. (Compare the role of the vowel in the syllable.) We will now see what the other components may be.

## The Head

Consider the following one-syllable utterance:

 $\ \underline{\text{those}}$ 

We can find the same tonic syllable in a long utterance (still of one tone-unit):

'give me \those

The rest of the tone-unit in this example is called the head. Notice that the first syllable has a stress mark: this is important. A head is all of that part of a tone-unit that extends from the first stressed syllable up to (but not including) the tonic syllable. It follows that if there is no stressed syllable before the tonic syllable, there cannot be a head. In the above example, the first two syllables (words) are the head of the tone-unit. In the following example, the head consists of the first five syllables:

'Bill 'called to 'give me  $\$ 

As was said a little earlier, if there is no stressed syllable preceding the tonic syllable, there is no head. This is the case in the following example:

in an \<u>hour</u>

Neither of the two syllables preceding the tonic syllable is stressed. The syllables 'in an' form a pre-head, which is the next component of the tone-unit to be introduced.

## The pre-head

The pre-head is composed of all the unstressed syllables in a tone-unit preceding the first stressed syllable. Thus pre-heads are found in two main environments:

i) when there is no head (i.e. no stressed syllable preceding the tonic syllable), as in this example:

in an \<u>hour</u>

ii) when there is a head, as in this example:

in a 'little 'less than an  $\underline{\text{hour}}$ 

In this example, the pre-head consists of 'in a', the head consists of "little 'less than an', and the tonic syllable is '\<u>hour</u>'.

## The tail

It often happens that some syllables follow the tonic syllable. Any syllables between the tonic syllable and the end of the tone-unit are called the **tail**. In the following exam ples, each tone-unit consists of an initial tonic syllable and a tail:

 $\underline{\text{look}}$  at it /<u>what</u> did you say

\both of them were here

When it is necessary to mark stress in a tail, we will use a special symbol, a raised dot • for reasons that will be explained later. The above examples should, then, be transcribed as follows:

\<u>look</u> at it /<u>what</u> did you -say \both of them were -here

This completes the list of tone-unit components. If we use brackets to indicate optional components (i.e. components which may be present or may be absent), we can summarise tone-unit structure as follows:

(pre-head) (head) tonic syllable (tail)

or, more briefly, as:

(PH) (H) TS (T)

To illustrate this more fully, let us consider the following passage, which is transcribed from a recording of spontaneous speech (the speaker is describing a picture). When we analyse longer stretches of speech, it is necessary to mark the places where tone-unit boundaries occur - that is, where one tone-unit ends and another begins, or where a tone- unit ends and is followed by a pause, or where a tone-unit begins following a pause. It was mentioned above that tone-units are sometimes separated by silent pauses and sometimes not; pause-type boundaries can be marked by double vertical lines (II) and non-pause boundaries with a single vertical line (I). In practice it is not usually important to mark pauses at the beginning and end of a passage, though this is done here for completeness. The boundaries within a passage are much more important.

|| and then 'nearer to the v $\underline{front}$  || on the /left | theres a 'bit of \forest | 'coming

'down to the \waterside  $\parallel$  and then a 'bit of a /bay  $\parallel$ 

We can mark their structure as follows (using dotted lines to show divisions between tone- unit components, though this is only done for this particular example):

	PH		Н			TS	PH	TS	PH	
	and the	en 'ı	'nearer to t							
ļ										
	Н	TS	T			Н		TS	Т	
	'bit of	\for	est	con	ning '	down	to the	∖wa	terside	
PH H			H	TS						
	and the	en a	'bit	of a	/bay	7				

The above passage contains five tone-units. Notice that in the third tone-unit, since it is the syllable rather than the word that carries the tone, it is necessary to divide the word 'forest' into two parts, 'for-' for and '- est' 1st; in the fourth tone-unit the word 'waterside' is

divided into 'wa-' wo: (the tonic syllable) and '-terside' təsaɪd (tail). This example shows clearly how the units of phonological analysis can sometimes be seen to differ from those of grammatical analysis.

#### ۲۰٫۳ Pitch possibilities in the simple tone-unit

It has been said several times in this chapter that tone is carried by the tonic syllable, and it is now necessary to examine this statement more carefully. Before doing this, another general statement will be made (and will also need further explanation): intonation is carried by the tone-unit.

In a one-syllable utterance, the single syllable must have one of the five tones described in Chapter *\o.* In a tone-unit of more than one syllable, the tonic syllable must have one of those tones. If the tonic syllable is the final syllable, the tone will not sound much different from that of a corresponding one-syllable tone-unit. For example, the word 'here' will be said in much the same way in the following two utterances:

/here 'shall we 'sit /here

However, if there are other syllables following the tonic syllable (i.e. there is a tail), we find that the pitch movement of the tone is not completed on the tonic syllable. If a tail follows a tonic syllable that has a rising tone, it will almost always be found that the syllable or syllables of the tail will continue to move upwards from the pitch of the tonic syllable. For example, if the word 'what' is said on a rising tone, '/what' it might have a pitch movement that could be diagrammed like this:



The four syllables in '/<u>what</u> did you say' might be said like this:



with the pitch of the syllables in the tail getting progressively higher. In such cases, the tonic syllable is the syllable on which the pitch movement of the tone begins, but that pitch movement is completed over the rest of the tone-unit (i.e. the tail). If, in rising progressively higher, the pitch reaches the highest part of the speaker's normal pitch range, subsequent syllables will continue at that top level.

We find a similar situation with the falling tone. On a single syllable '\why', the pitch movement might be of this sort:


but if there are syllables following, the fall may not be completed on the tonic syllable:

\<u>why</u> did you -go



Again, if the speaker's lowest pitch is reached before the end of the tail, the pitch continues at the bottom level. In the case of a level tone, syllables following in the tail will continue at the same level; since level tone is to be treated as a rather unusual type of tone, we will not examine it in more detail at this stage. The situation is more complicated when we have a tail following a fall-rise or a rise-fall, and this is described in Chapter 1Y.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

It would not be useful (unless you are doing research on the subject) to go into all the different ways in which English intonation has been represented, but it is worth noting that simpler approaches have been used in the past. In the earlier part of the last century, a common approach was to treat all the pitch movement in the tone-unit as a single "tune"; Tune I was typically descending and ending in a fall, while Tune  $\Upsilon$  ended up rising (I was taught French intonation in this way in the  $\Upsilon$ ' $\Upsilon$ 's). In more modern work, we can see that it is possible to represent intonation as a simple sequence of tonic and non-tonic stressed syllables, and pauses, with no higher-level organisation; an example of this is the transcription used in the Spoken English Corpus (Williams,  $\Upsilon$ ' $\Upsilon$ ', Chapter °) uses a relatively simple analysis of intonation to present valuable examples of authentic recorded speech. Most contemporary British analyses, however, use a unit similar or identical to what I call a tone-unit divided into components such as pre-head, head, tonic syllable and tail. Different writers use different names: "tone-group", "intonation-group", "intonation unit" and "intonation phrase (IP)" are all more or less synonymous with "tone-unit". Good background reading on this is Cruttenden ( $\Upsilon$ ' $\Upsilon$ ',  $\Upsilon$ - $\circ$ ).

#### Note for teachers

The move from tones to tone-units is a difficult one, and I feel it is advisable at this stage to use only slow, careful speech for exercises (Audio Units  $1^{\circ}$  and  $1^{\uparrow}$ ). More difficult exercises with more natural speech follow later (Audio Units  $1^{\wedge}$  and  $1^{\uparrow}$ ).

#### Written exercises

- Here is a list of single tonic syllables. Add a number of extra syllables (as specified by the number in brackets) to make a tail. Example: go (<sup>7</sup>); Example answer: go for it
  - a) buy (<sup>r</sup>)
  - b) hear (1)
  - c) talk (<sup>ү</sup>)

(The answers section gives some possible versions.)

- Now expand the following tonic syllables by putting heads in front of them, containing the number of stressed syllables indicated in brackets. Example: (<sup>Y</sup>) <u>dark</u>; Example answer: 'John was a'fraid of the <u>dark</u>
  - a) (<sup>1</sup>) <u>step</u>
  - b) (<sup>r</sup>) <u>train</u>
  - c)) (<sup>ү</sup>) hot
- The following sentences are given with intonation transcribed. Draw underneath them a diagram of the pitch movements, leaving a gap between each syllable.

Example:

'W	ould	you	'like	some	'more / <u>milk</u>
					<u> </u>
a)	'Only	when	the	v <u>wind</u>	.blows
b)	/When	_did	you	.say	
c)	'What	was	the	\ <u>name</u>	of the .place

# vv Intonations

In Chapter *``* the structure of the tone-unit was introduced and it was explained that when a tonic syllable is followed by a tail, that tail continues and completes the tone begun on the tonic syllable. Examples were given to show how this happens in the case of rising and falling tones. We now go on to consider the rather more difficult cases of fall-rise and rise-fall tones.

## **1**Y, **1** Fall-rise and rise-fall tones followed by a tail

€ AU\Y, Exsl&۲

A rising or a falling tone is relatively easy to identify, whether it falls on a single syllable or extends over more syllables in the case of a tonic syllable followed by a tail. Fall-rise and rise-fall tones, howl theory, it seems unlikely that it would be more useful to learners of English than the traditional analysis presented in this book.

### Notes on problems and further reading

The main concern of this chapter is to complete the description of <u>int</u>onational form, including analysis of perhaps the most difficult aspect: that of recognising fall-rise and rise-fall tones when they are extended over a number of syllables. This is necessary since no complete analysis of intonation can be done without having studied

# 

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of in**terest in the** comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (199V: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (199A); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\xi$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (199V: 171-7).

sis of perhaps the most difficult aspect: that of recognising fall-rise and rise-fall tones when they are extended over a number of syllables. This is necessary since no complete analysis of intonation can be done without having studied

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of in**terest in the** comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (199V: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (199A); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\pounds$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (199V: 171-7).

s of perhaps the most difficult aspect: that of recognising fall-rise and rise-fall tones when they are extended over a number of syllables. This is necessary since no complete analysis of intonation can be done without having studied

# 

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of interest in the comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (199V: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (199A); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\sharp$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (199V: 171-7).

「LEIBI保護局」
「協士」
「法法
「LEIBIRATION LANDING LA

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of in**terest in the** compar<u>ative</u> study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (1997: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo ( $199\Lambda$ ); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\sharp$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (1997: 171-7).

### 

愠頭寫就歸效揭 [造瞿重□ 瑩美□ 湯映師孚□ 据表録廓放天愠激痫缺乏 阶入污□ 據春稀資物□ 獩所柬□ 獩€毀匠景□ 振差〈 ,enot smret eht gnisu ni )<sup>V19</sup>( yadillaH wollof s竹瑩拴□ 活氟□ 歯黄茂整 知蒙著有重残都□ 愠與蒂突奪 映闲造□ -enot otni hceeps fo noisivid eht ot ,enot ot )ylevitcepser( refer ot )"sT eerht" eht( yticinot dna ytilanot ym nI .)<sup>1,...</sup>( slleW ,)<sup>199</sup>( hcneT elpmaxe rof ees ;elballys cinot eht fo tnemecalp eht ot dna stinu .smret eseht esu t'nod I os ,hcihw si hcihw rebmemer ot tluciffid ti dnif elpoep ecneirepxe <u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of in**terest in th**e comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (<sup>199</sup>): Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (<sup>199</sup>Λ); Ladd (<sup>199</sup><sup>1</sup>: Chapter <sup>٤</sup>). On declination, see Cruttenden (<sup>199</sup>): <sup>1</sup>(<sup>1</sup>)-<sup>(1)</sup>.

### 

愠頭寫就當效揭 (造瞿重□ 釜美□ 湯典師祭□ 提集資源放灭塩激頻與文 輸入污□ 擁着稱資約□ 獩研柬□ 獩隻閔匠景□ 掘差〈 ,enot smret eht gnisu ni )<sup>V</sup><sup>1</sup>() (yadillaH wollof s竹塗拴□ 活和□ 歯黄宾螯 知湯者百動猪□ 愠臭帝没奪 映闲造□ -enot otni hceeps fo noisivid eht ot ,enot ot )ylevitcepser( refer ot )"sT eerht" eht( yticinot dna ytilanot ym nI .)<sup>1</sup>··<sup>↑</sup>( slleW ,)<sup>1</sup><sup>9</sup>( hcneT elpmaxe rof ees ;elballys cinot eht fo tnemecalp eht ot dna stinu .smret eseht esu t'nod I os ,hcihw si hcihw rebmemer ot tluciffid ti dnif elpoep ecneirepxe <u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of interest in the comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (<sup>1</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>V</sup>: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (<sup>1</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>4</sup>); Ladd (<sup>1</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>1</sup><sup>1</sup>: Chapter <sup>\$</sup>). On declination, see Cruttenden (<sup>1</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>9</sup><sup>V</sup>: <sup>1</sup><sup>1</sup><sup>-</sup><sup>7</sup>).

□ 潴証評習蒙紅 整済黃海□ 衛浯□ 栓塗坊 follow Halliday (۱۹٦٧) in using the terms tone, tonality and tonicity (the "three Ts") to refer (respectively) to tone, to the division of speech into tone-units and to the placement of the tonic syllable; see for example Tench (۱۹۹٦), Wells (۲۰۰٦). In my experience people find it difficult to remember which is which, so I don't use these terms.

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of interest in the comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (199%: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (199%); Ladd (199%: Chapter  $\xi$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (199%: 1%1-%).

控筆方 follow Halliday (1977) in using the terms tone, tonality and tonicity (the "three Ts") to refer (respectively) to tone, to the division of speech into tone-units and to the placement of the tonic syllable; see for example Tench (1997), Wells ( $7 \cdot \cdot 7$ ). In my experience people find it difficult to remember which is which, so I don't use these terms.

<u>The</u>re has recently been a growth of in**terest in the** compar<u>ative</u> study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (1997: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo ( $199\Lambda$ ); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\xi$ ). On declination, see Cruttenden (1997: 171-7).

For reading on autosegmental analysis (often given the name ToBI, which stands for Tones and Break Indices), a good introduction is Cruttenden (1997: o7-77). A fuller and more critical analysis can be read in Ladd (1997: Chapters 7 and 7); see also Roca and Johnson (1999: Chapter 12). A short account of the problems found in trying to compare this approach with the traditional British analysis is given in Roach (1992). ToBI is essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄碗/愠擎舞奶帶辣栗が激」 運動整 對方差禺熱市漠」 将票场帶貫 抽出数糖的酒粉 年期 潭級紫術 意美国 國家 经资源费 地名威尔 (古名明东方 軍皆市無突勢 居勉 La 动英语 医神经 (古名明东方 軍皆市 美容 的 La 动英语 (如本) 和 一 一 一

lin a)	es. (rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

h the t<u>radit</u>ional British analysis is given in Roach (1995). ToBI is essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website. Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/ 愠擎箕铋碑碑 新游] ] 重量擎 擊防差 禺忽市谟] 将 票场 常貫 牡扎敬嫌能妨 语 就 年期, 潭誠縈 稍 奈美 □ 国林提 梁 雅妙 卷 歲 敫 《 吉治 央 太 單 皆 市 典 突 客 居 敫 L 局 规 舞 頌 民 登 ] 軍 猪 袁 帝 二 □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d) (rise-fall)	magnificent
----	--------	-------------	----------------	-------------

b) (fall-rise) actually e) (rise) rela	ationship
--	-----------

$C_{1}$ ( $T_{1}$ ) $C_{1}$ ( $T$	c)	(fall)	confidently	f) (fall-rise)	afternoon
---	----	--------	-------------	----------------	-----------

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

sh analysis is given in Roach (۱۹۹٤). ToBI is essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website. Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/愠擎舞過碼與票/激] 運畫擎 對方差禺忽市莫] 将票场帶貫 抽扯数糖的酒級牟典』潭影繁裕意美 □ 国林瓷發釀她卷歲敫((吉治)映広戰皆市無突勢捂數L島胡英爾須民瑩] 軍猪氣怖] □ □ □

湯□ (
潜性土: 20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (
20) (

a) (ri	lse)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
--------	------	-------------	----	-------------	-------------

- b) (fall-rise) actually e) (rise) relationship
- c) (fall) confidently f) (fall-rise) afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

analysis is given in Roach (1995). ToBI is essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/ 愠擎箕铋碑碑 新游] ] 重量擎 擊防差 禺忽市谟] 将 票场 常貫 牡扎敬嫌能妨 语 就 年期, 潭誠縈 稍 奈美 □ 国林提 梁 雅妙 卷 歲 敫 《 吉治 央 太 單 皆 市 典 突 客 居 敫 L 局 规 舞 頌 民 登 ] 軍 猪 袁 帝 二 □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d) (rise-fall)	magnificent
----	--------	-------------	----------------	-------------

b) (fall-rise) actually e) (rise) rela	ationship
--	-----------

c)	(fall)	confidently	f) (fall-rise)	afternoon
ς,	(Iuii)	connaonary	1) (1un 1150)	arternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

is essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/愠擎舞過碼與票/激] 運畫擎 對方差禺忽市莫] 将票场帶貫 抽扯数糖的酒級牟典』潭影繁裕意美 □ 国林瓷發釀她卷歲敫((吉治)映広戰皆市無突勢捂數L島胡英爾須民瑩] 軍猪氣怖] □ □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d) (rise-fall)	magnificent
----	--------	-------------	----------------	-------------

- b) (fall-rise) actually e) (rise) relationship
- c) (fall) confidently f) (fall-rise) afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

essentially a computer-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/ 愠擎箕铋碑碑 新游] ] 重量擎 擊防差 禺忽市谟] 将 票场 常貫 牡扎敬嫌能妨 语 就 年期, 潭誠縈 稍 奈美 □ 国林提 梁 雅妙 卷 歲 敫 《 吉治 央 太 單 皆 市 典 突 客 居 敫 L 局 规 舞 頌 民 登 ] 軍 猪 袁 帝 二 □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d) (rise-fall)	magnificent
----	--------	-------------	----------------	-------------

b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e) (rise)	relationship
----	-------------	----------	-----------	--------------

$C_{1}$ ( $T_{1}$ ) $C_{1}$ ( $T$	c)	(fall)	confidently	f) (fall-rise)	afternoor
---	----	--------	-------------	----------------	-----------

 $\Lambda$  Functions of intonation  $\Lambda$ 

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

ter-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website. Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄碗/愠擎箕盼碑碑帶游』] 重虛擊 對形差禺忽市莫] 将票场帶貫 牡扎敬糖的酒就牟典』潭誠縈稍奈美 □ 国林愛深腰妙卷歲散((吉治)時方戰皆市典深熱困激L島胡英賴須民堂) 軍猪震怖] □ □

磁ou are given polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines

	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship

c) (fall) confidently f) (fall-rise) afternoon

 $\Lambda$  Functions of intonation  $\Lambda$ 

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

r-based transcription system,??and more information about it is provided on this book's website. Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄碗/愠擎箕盼碑碑帶游』] 重虛擊 對形差禺忽市莫] 将票场帶貫 牡扎敬糖的酒就牟典』潭誠縈稍奈美 □ 国林愛深腰妙卷歲散((吉治)時方戰皆市典深熱困激L島胡英賴須民堂) 軍猪震怖] □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

??and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄碗/愠擎箕盼碑碑帶游』] 重虛擊 對形差禺忽市莫] 将票场帶貫 牡扎敬糖的酒就牟典』潭誠縈稍奈美 □ 国林愛深腰妙卷歲散((吉治)時方戰皆市典深熱困激L島胡英賴須民堂) 軍猪震怖] □ □

湯□は皆生む映写は当時、後20数世気振□治療突然語び蘭英語は気活の運び回転した。 「南康子高改吉→□獵異養豆」「慷□報音符物宗□窥君覚翊民改產」「交63束整厚番」「映型康子容易子會論」「柴玖□流□检□ 出言、「「秋春外蘭戲」「「「秋春秋館最佳」」「「ま25日」」「し、「秋日小園」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」「流」「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」「「秋春秋館」」

磁ou are given polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship

c) (fall) confidently f) (fall-rise) afternoon

 $\Lambda$  Functions of intonation  $\Lambda$ 

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

nd more information about it is provided on this book's website.

Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading | 桴] 畳欄苑/ 愠擎箕铋碑碑 新游] ] 重量擎 擊防差 禺忽市谟] 将 票场 常貫 牡扎敬嫌能妨 语 就 年期, 潭誠縈 稍 奈美 □ 国林提 梁 雅妙 卷 歲 敫 《 吉治 央 太 單 皆 市 典 突 客 居 敫 L 局 规 舞 頌 民 登 ] 軍 猪 袁 帝 二 □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

 $\Lambda$  Functions of intonation  $\Lambda$ 

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

□ 国林處没強驟數卷歲敫《古設映応單皆市無突整括敫倡高規英類沒民瑩□ 軍猪憲席□ □ □ □

湯□慥档土設無鶏味掛損玉,換20敬地菜振□捡藤突敷暗覚蘭英語市瓷造靠ω渾取□載揭□杼 植碧味岩瓷袋短烘岩瑶飲□ □ 浦康¥高波吉⇒□獵異養琶□ 慷□ 椠晉竹深宗□ 癡君竟翊思说匬 技动莱整魣番 喪栗康¥ 祒湯¥醯━□ 柴玖□ 潹□ 楤□ 牡汩浩無歲□ 獩卷數齋歲吉(ゐ□ 洋陳党煊辞野取□ 潹 泪眼瞀七₃ ↓□ 毁峻栭□ 桴 椠铌聪好□ 漠荧炎漉雪 陳類畢□ 部敲 碎如 are given polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

w, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

湯□儲档土設典調時当損玉,悔20敬地菜液□捡蘼突敷臨找蘭英語市瓷造靠ω渾取□載揭□将 植碧時当瓷瓷切典当路飲 □ 浦康承蘭波吉⇒□獵異蹇琶□慷□ 椠晉行衆宗□癡君竟翊民改圖F 技好東整寫番 典栗康子祒湯天醯━□ 呉玖□ 潹□ 楤□ 牡汩浩典歳□ 獩卷數齋歲吉(云〕 洋辣发扉音取□ 森 泪眼登忆 ↓□ 敳畯栭□ 将 椠瞎肠牙□ 漠龙戏龍瓢 陳類畢□ 部敲

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of

reading↑ 桴□ 畳橢碗 愠擎莲酚酶积带脱□ 〕 重量擎 擊防差 禺忽市莫□ 棕葉 动帘貫 1抽 齿炎糖 场 否說 牟典 潭 频繁 術 奈美 □ 国林處 安 雅 教 道 殿 広 黄 皆 市 佛 突 整 居 勉 區 姆 預 第 三 □ □ □

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

g↑ 桴□畳橢宛/愠擎箕铋碼與票/激□/重量擎擎/透思物市奠□ 桴票够簡貫 牡扎墩/縮坡河 召敫牟典·潭敲縈稍奈 浅□ 圍肺處災殺癮數/卷歲敫《吉迪央次戰皆市無突整/困激温的現象彈民瑩□運猪震/掃□□□□

湯□ (
潜性土:30) (
潮見当真王) (
始2) (
敬世表派□ 法癖?, (
数四) (
潮見当) (
潮見当) (
本回) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 + 1)) (
+ (1 +

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

h潭減燃稅系表□圍城還沒聽數卷歲敫《吉說映次戰掛柿無突整捂激倡調換竊須民瑩□重猎意棉□□□□ 湯□慥對土說無疑時對損玉,悔20敬他求很□捡靡突數暗找蘭與盐柿資造量ω渾敗□敮揭□桴 植瑩眼對瑩瓷絮没無對單數 □湳康子高說古⇒□獵異賽琶□慷□穎晉符眾宗□癡君竟翊賠边匬ī 技动異整寫番 琐栗東康子徑湯子醯告□柴玖□潹□楤□ 牡日浩熱歲□獩禮數驚歲告(る□洋辣燉暈能野馼□潹 泪民醫也з ↓□ 敳酸補□桴 緊閉聽好已 漠散泼漉颤 陳旗興□ 設敲 磁ou are given polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines.

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon
۱۸ Functions of intonation ۱

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

## 

polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines.

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

۱۸ Functions of intonation ۱

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

#### 

a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines.

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

1^ Functions of intonation 1

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines.

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

1^ Functions of intonation 1

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1^{\circ}$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

ment between the lines.

a)	(rise)	opportunity	d)	(rise-fall)	magnificent
b)	(fall-rise)	actually	e)	(rise)	relationship
c)	(fall)	confidently	f)	(fall-rise)	afternoon

۱۸ Functions of intonation ۱

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to **start is** to **ask ours**elves what would be lost if we were to speak without intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of <u>speech</u> that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter 12) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1 \le$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very

comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>gra</u>mmatical function of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

h that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $\mathfrak{l}(\mathfrak{s})$  that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>gra</u>mmatical function of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1 \pm 1$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>gra</u>mmatical function of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

which intonation does this are very comple<u>x</u>, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular

lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

nd many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syllable marks out the word to which it belongs

as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by

using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

i) Intonation enables us to express emotions *and* attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation.

ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs

as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by

using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the attitudinal function of intonation. ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syllable marks out the word to which it belongs

as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

the placing of tonic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

ic stress on a particular syll<u>able</u> marks out the word to which it belongs as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

marks out the word to which it belongs as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

rks out the word to which it belongs as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

1A,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

o which it belongs as the mo<u>st i</u>mportant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation. iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

portant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

rtant in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to focus attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the accentual function of intonation.

iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the <u>grammatical function</u> of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

ation may be indicated. This has been called the <u>gra</u>mmatical function of intonation. iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

matical function of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener what is to be taken as "new" information and what is already "given", can suggest when the

speaker is indicating some sort of contrast or link with material in another tone-unit and, in conversation, can convey to the listener what kind of response is expected. Such functions??are examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

tical function of intonation.

iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener what is to be taken as "new" information and what is already "given", can suggest when the speaker is indicating some sort of contrast or link with material in another tone-unit and, in conversation, can convey to the listener what kind of response is expected. Such functions??are examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

1A,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

an convey to the listener what kind of response is expected. Such functions??are examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

??are examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

re examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

e examples of intonation's discourse function.

discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

e discussed separately in this chapter, although??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

??it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

t should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element **and the conte**xt in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.  $\lambda \wedge \lambda$  The attitudinal function of interaction

14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful",f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

# nal function.

# 14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", f marking intonation, however, the mark' (black type) indicates a stressed syllable in a high head and the mark , indicates a stressed syllable in a low head. In practice this is not usually found confusing as long as one is aware of whether one is marking stress levels or intonation, and the colour difference helps to distinguish them. When the high and low marks ' and , are being used to indicate intonation, it is no longer possible to mark two different levels of stress within the word. However, when looking at speech at the level of the tone-unit we are not usually interested in this; a much more important difference here is the one between tonic stress (marked by underlining the tonic syllable and placing before it one of the five tone-marks) and non-tonic stressed syllables (marked ' or , in the head or • in the tail).

It needs to be emphasised that in marking intonation, only stressed syllables are marked; this implies that intonation is carried entirely by the stressed syllables of a tone- unit and that the pitch of unstressed syllables is either predictable from that of stressed syllables or is of so little importance that it is not worth marking. Remember that the additional information given in the examples above by drawing pitch levels and movements between lines is only included here to make the examples clearer and is not normally

given with our system of transcription; all the important information about intonation must, therefore, be given by the marks placed in the text.

## *vv*, *v* Problems in analysing the form of intonation

The analysis of intonational form presented in this chapter and in Chapters 1° and 17 is similar in most respects to the approaches used in many British studies of English

When a high head is followed by a rise the stressed syllables tend to move downwards, as one would expect, towards the beginning pitch of the tone:
intonation. There are certain difficulties that all of these studies have had to confront, and it is useful to give a brief summary of what the major difficulties are.

# Identifying the tonic syllable

It is often said that the tonic syllable can be identified because it is the only syllable in the tone-unit that carries a movement in pitch; this is in fact not always true. We have seen how when the tonic syllable is followed by a tail the tone is carried by the tonic plus tail together in such a way that in some cases practically no pitch movement is detectable on the tonic syllable itself. In addition, it has been claimed that one of the tones is the *level* tone, which by definition may not have any pitch movement. It is therefore necessary to say in this particular case that the tonic syllable is identified simply as the most prominent syllable.

In addition, it sometimes seems as if some tone-units (though only a small number, known as compound tone-units) contain not one but two tonic syllables, almost always with the first syllable having a fall on it and the other a rise. An example is: .



In this example there seems to be equal prominence on 'seen' and 'him'. It could be claimed that this is the same thing as:



It has, however, been pointed out that the two versions are different in several ways. Since 'him' has greater prominence in (i), it cannot occur in its weak form Im, but must be pronounced hIm, whereas in (ii) the pronunciation is likely to be aIv v<u>si:n</u> Im. The two versions are said to convey different meanings, too. Version (i) might be said in conversation on hearing someone's name, as in this example:

A: 'John 'Cleese is a 'very 'funny\actor

B: 'Oh \yes | Ive  $\underline{\text{seen}}$  /<u>him</u>

In version (ii), on the other hand, the word 'seen' is given the greatest prominence, and it is likely to sound as though the speaker has some reservation, or has something further to say:

A: 'Have you 'seen my /father -yet

B: Ive vseen him I but I 'havent had 'time to talk to him

The same is found with 'her', as in:

Ive <u>seen</u> /<u>her</u> aiv <u>si:n</u> /h3: compared with: Ive v<u>seen</u> her

aiv v<u>si:n</u> ə

This is a difficult problem, since it weakens the general claim made earlier that each tone- unit contains only one tonic syllable.

## Identifying tone-unit boundaries

It is a generally accepted principle in the study of grammar that utterances may contain one or more sentences, and that one can identify on grammatical grounds the places where one sentence ends and another begins. In a similar way, in suprasegmental phonology it is claimed that utterances may be divided up into tone-units, and that one can identify on phonetic or phonological grounds the places where one tone-unit ends and another tone-unit begins. However, giving rules for identifying where the boundaries are placed is not easy, except in cases where a clear pause separates tone-units. Two principles are usually mentioned: one is that it is possible in most cases to detect some sudden change from the pitch level at the end of one tone-unit to the pitch level that starts the following tone-unit, and recognition of the start of the following tone-unit is made easier by the fact that speakers tend to "return home" to a particular pitch level at the beginning of a tone-unit. The second principle used in tone-unit boundary identification is a rhythmical one: it is claimed that within the tone-unit, speech has a regular rhythm, but that rhythm is broken or interrupted at the tone-unit boundary. Both the above principles are useful guides, but one regularly finds, in analysing natural speech, cases where it remains difficult or impossible to make a clear decision; the principles may well be factually correct, but it should be emphasised that at present there is no conclusive evidence from instrumental study in the laboratory that they are.

#### Anomalous tone-units

However comprehensive one's descriptive framework may be (and the one given in this course is very limited), there will inevitably be cases which do not fit within it. For example, other tones such as fall-rise-fall or rise-fall-rise are occasionally found. In the head, we sometimes find cases where the stressed syllables are not all high or all low, as in the following example:

.After ,one of the 'worst 'days of my vlife

It can also happen that a speaker is interrupted and leaves a tone-unit incomplete - for example, lacking a tonic syllable. To return to the analogy with grammar, in natural speech one often finds sentences which are grammatically anomalous or incomplete, but this does not deter the grammarian from describing "normal" sentence structure. Similarly,

although there are inevitably problems and exceptions, we continue to treat the tone-unit as something that can be described, defined and recognised.

# ۱۷, ٤ Autosegmental treatment of intonation

In recent years a rather different way of analysing intonation, sometimes referred to as **autosegmental**, has become quite widely used, especially in American work. We will look briefly at this, in a simplified account that tries to introduce some basic concepts. In the autosegmental approach, all intonational phenomena can be reduced to just two basic phonological elements: H (high tone) and L (low tone). A movement of pitch from high to low (a fall) is treated as the sequence HL. Individual stressed ("accented") syllables must all be marked as H or L, or with a combination marking a pitch movement, and with an asterisk \* following the syllable. In addition, H and L tones are associated with boundaries. A major tone-unit boundary (equivalent to what we have been marking with ||) is given the symbol %, but it must also be given a H or a L tone. Let us take an utterance like 'It's time to leave', which might be pronounced

its 'time to \leave (using our usual transcription)

The basic parts of the alternative transcription might look like this (the tone symbols may be placed above or below the line, aligned with the syllables they apply to):

H\* H\*L%..

its time to leave

Instead of marking a falling tone on the word 'leave', the high-pitched part of the word is shown by the H and the low part by the L associated with the boundary %. There is another boundary (corresponding to the minor tone-unit boundary |) which is marked with -, and again this must be marked with either an H or an L. There must always be one of these boundaries marked before a % boundary. So, the following utterance would be transcribed like this in the system introduced in this book:

we .looked at the /sky | and 'saw the \clouds

and in this way using autosegmental transcription:

L\* L\*H- H\* H\* L-L%

we looked at the sky and saw the clouds

How would this approach deal with complex tones spread over several syllables?

H\* L-H%

vmost of them could be transcribed most of them

Although this type of analysis has some attractions, especially in the way it fits with contemporary phonological theory, it seems unlikely that it would be more useful to learners of English than the traditional analysis presented in this book.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

The main concern of this chapter is to complete the description of intonational form, including analysis of perhaps the most difficult aspect: that of recognising fall-rise and rise-fall tones when they are extended over a number of syllables. This is necessary since no complete analysis of intonation can be done without having studied these "extended tones".

Cruttenden (199V: Chapters r and  $\epsilon$ ) gives a good introduction to the problems of analysing tones both within the traditional British framework and in autosegmental terms. On tone-unit boundaries, there is a clear explanation of the problems in Cruttenden (199V: Section r,r), and in more detail in Crystal (1979:  $r \cdot \epsilon - V$ ). A study of Scottish English by Brown *et al.* ( $19A \cdot r$ ) gives ample evidence that tone-units in real life are not as easy to identify as tone-units in textbooks.

Some writers follow Halliday (197) in using the terms **tone, tonality** and **tonicity** (the "three Ts") to refer (respectively) to tone, to the division of speech into tone-units and to the placement of the tonic syllable; see for example Tench (1997), Wells  $(7 \cdot \cdot 7)$ . In my experience people find it difficult to remember which is which, so I don't use these terms.

There has recently been a growth of interest in the comparative study of intonation in different languages and dialects: see Cruttenden (199V: Chapter °); Hirst and di Cristo (199A); Ladd (1997: Chapter  $\xi$ ).

On declination, see Cruttenden (۱۹۹۷: ۱۲۱-۳).

For reading on autosegmental analysis (often given the name ToBI, which stands for Tones and Break Indices), a good introduction is Cruttenden (1997: o7-77). A fuller and more critical analysis can be read in Ladd (1997: Chapters 7 and 7); see also Roca and Johnson (1999: Chapter 12). A short account of the problems found in trying to compare this approach with the traditional British analysis is given in Roach (1992). ToBI is essentially a computer-based transcription system, and more information about it is provided on this book's website.

## Note for teachers

I would like to emphasise how valuable an exercise it is for students and teachers to attempt to analyse some recorded speech for themselves. For beginners it is best to start on slow, careful speech - such as that of newsreaders - before attempting conversational speech. One can learn more about intonation in an hour of this work than in days of reading textbooks on the subject, and one's interest in and understanding of theoretical problems becomes much more profound.

#### Written exercises

The following sentences are given with intonation marks. Sketch the pitch within the lines below, leaving a gap between each syllable.

- a) 'Which was the /<u>cheap</u> one did you –say
- b) I 'only 'want to v<u>taste</u> it
- c) ,She would have .thought it was Vobvious
- d) There 'wasnt 'even a 'piece of \bread in the -house
- e) \Now will you be lieve me
- <sup>Y</sup> This exercise is similar, but here you are given polysyllabic words and a tone. You must draw an appropriate pitch movement between the lines.

a) (rise)	opportunity	d) (rise-fall)	magnificent
b) (fall-rise)	actually	e) (rise)	relationship
c) (fall)	confidently	f) (fall-rise)	afternoon

# 18 Functions of intonation 1

The form of intonation has now been described in some detail, and we will move on to look more closely at its functions. Perhaps the best way to start is to ask ourselves what would be lost if we were to speak *without* intonation: you should try to imagine speech in which every syllable was said on the same level pitch, with no pauses and no changes in speed or loudness. This is the sort of speech that would be produced by a "mechanical speech" device (as described at the beginning of Chapter  $1 \le 1$ ) that made sentences by putting together recordings of isolated words. To put it in the broadest possible terms, we can see that intonation makes it easier for a listener to understand what a speaker is trying to convey. The ways in which intonation does this are very complex, and many suggestions have been made for ways of isolating different functions. Among the most often proposed are the following:

- i) Intonation enables us to express emotions and attitudes as we speak, and this adds a special kind of "meaning" to spoken language. This is often called the **attitudinal function** of intonation.
- ii) Intonation helps to produce the effect of prominence on syllables that need to be perceived as stressed, and in particular the placing of tonic stress on a particular syllable marks out the word to which it belongs as the most important in the tone-unit. In this case, intonation works to **focus** attention on a particular lexical item or syllable. This has been called the **accentual function** of intonation.
- iii) The listener is better able to recognise the grammar and syntactic structure of what is being said by using the information contained in the intonation; for example, such things as the placement of boundaries between phrases, clauses or sentences, the difference between questions and statements, and the use of grammatical subordination may be indicated. This has been called the grammatical function of intonation.
- iv) Looking at the act of speaking in a broader way, we can see that intonation can signal to the listener what is to be taken as "new" information and what is already "given", can suggest when the speaker is indicating some sort of contrast or link with material in another tone-unit and, in conversation, can convey to the listener what kind of response is expected. Such functions are examples of intonation's **discourse function**.

The attitudinal function has been given so much importance in past work on intonation that it will be discussed separately in this chapter, although it should eventually become clear that it overlaps considerably with the discourse function. In the case of the other three functions, it will be argued that it is difficult to see how they could be treated as separate; for example, the placement of tonic stress is closely linked to the presentation of "new" information, while the question/statement distinction and the indication of contrast seem to be equally important in grammar and discourse. What seems to be common to accentual, grammatical and discourse functions is the indication, by means of intonation, of the relationship between some linguistic element and the context in which it occurs. The fact that they overlap with each other to a large degree is not so important if one does not insist on defining watertight boundaries between them.

The rest of this chapter is concerned with a critical examination of the attitudinal function.

### 14,1 The attitudinal function of intonation

Many writers have expressed the view that intonation is used to convey our feelings and attitudes: for example, the same sentence can be said in different ways, which might be labelled "angry", "happy", "grateful", "bored", and so on. A major factor in this is the tone used, and most books agree on some basic meanings of tones. Here are some examples (without punctuation):

۱ Fall

 Finality, definiteness:
 That is the end of the \news

 Im absolutely \ certain

 Stop \talking

#### ۲ Rise

٣

Most of the functions attributed to rises are nearer to grammatical than attitudinal, as in the first three examples given below; they are included here mainly to give a fuller picture of intonational function.

General questions:	Can you / <u>help</u> me
	Is it / over
Listing:	/ <u>Red</u> / <u>brown</u> / <u>yell</u> ow or \blue
	(a fall is usual on the last item)
"More to follow":	I phoned them right $a/way$ ('and they agreed to come')
	You must write it a/gain (and this time, get it right)
<b>F</b> :	T4
Encouraging:	It wont / <u>hurt</u>
Encouraging: Fall-rise	It wont / <u>nurt</u>
0 0	It wont / <u>nurt</u> You v <u>may</u> be right
Fall-rise	
Fall-rise	You v <u>may</u> be right

٤ Rise-fall

Surprise, being impressed: You were a first

# $v\underline{All}$ of them

It has also been widely observed that the form of intonation is different in different languages; for example, the intonation of languages such as Swedish, Italian or Hindi is instantly recognisable as being different from that of English. Not surprisingly, it has often been said that foreign learners of English need to learn English intonation. Some writers have gone further than this and claimed that, unless the foreign learner learns the appropriate way to use intonation in a given situation, there is a risk that he or she may unintentionally give offence; for example, the learner might use an intonation suitable for expressing boredom or discontent when what is needed is an expression of gratitude or affection. This misleading view of intonation must have caused unnecessary anxiety to many learners of the language.

Let us begin by considering how one might analyse the attitudinal function of intonation. One possibility would be for the analyst to invent a large number of sentences and to try saying them with different intonation patterns (i.e. different combinations of head and tone), noting what attitude was supposed to correspond to the intonation in each case; of course, the results are then very subjective, and based on an artificial performance that has little resemblance to conversational speech. Alternatively, the analyst could say these different sentences to a group of listeners and ask them all to write down what attitudes they thought were being expressed; however, we have a vast range of adjectives available for labelling attitudes and the members of the group would probably produce a very large number of such adjectives, leaving the analyst with the problem of deciding whether pairs such as "pompous" and "stuck-up", or "obsequious" and "sycophantic" were synonyms or represented different attitudes. To overcome this difficulty, one could ask the members of the group to choose among a small number of adjectives (or "labels") given by the analyst; the results would then inevitably be easier to quantify (i.e. the job of counting the different responses would be simpler) but the results would no longer represent the listeners' free choices of label. An alternative procedure would be to ask a lot of speakers to say a list of sentences in different ways according to labels provided by the analyst, and see what intonational features are found in common - for example, one might count how many speakers used a low head in saying something in a "hostile" way. The results of such experiments are usually very variable and difficult to interpret, not least because the range of acting talent in a randomly selected group is considerable.

A much more useful and realistic approach is to study recordings of different speakers' natural, spontaneous speech and try to make generalisations about attitudes and intonation on this basis. Many problems remain, however. In the method described previously, the analyst tries to select sentences (or passages of some other size) whose meaning is fairly "neutral" from the emotional point of view, and will tend to avoid material such as 'Why don't you leave me alone?' or 'How can I ever thank you enough?' because the lexical meaning of the words used already makes the speaker's attitude pretty clear,

whereas sentences such as 'She's going to buy it tomorrow' or 'The paper has fallen under the table' are less likely to prejudice the listener. The choice of material is much less free for someone studying natural speech. Nevertheless, if we are ever to make new discoveries about intonation, it will be as a result of studying what people *really* say rather than inventing examples of what they *might* say.

The notion of "expressing an emotion or attitude" is itself a more complex one than is generally realised. First, an emotion may be expressed involuntarily or voluntarily; if I say something in a "happy" way, this may be because I *feel* happy, or because I want to convey to you the *impression* that I am happy. Second, an attitude that is expressed could be an attitude towards the listener (e.g. if I say something in a "friendly" way), towards what is being said (e.g. if I say something in a "sceptical" or "dubious" way) or towards some external event or situation (e.g. "regretful" or "disapproving").

However, one point is much more important and fundamental than all the problems discussed above. To understand this point you should imagine (or even actually perform) your pronunciation of a sentence in a number of different ways: for example, if the sentence was 'I want to buy a new car' and you were to say it in the following ways: "pleading", "angry", "sad", "happy", "proud", it is certain that at least some of your performances will be different from some others, but it is also certain that the technique for analysing and transcribing intonation introduced earlier in the course will be found inadequate to represent the different things you do. You will have used variations in loudness and speed, for example; almost certainly you will have used different voice qualities for different attitudes. You may have used your pitch range (see Section <code>\o,\")</code> in different ways: your pitch movements may have taken place within quite a narrow range (**narrow pitch range**) or using the full range between high and low (**wide pitch range**); if you did not use wide pitch range, you may have used different **keys: high key** (using the upper part of your pitch range), **mid key** (using the middle part of the range) or **low key** (the lower part). It is very likely that you will have used different facial expressions, and even gestures and body movements. These factors are all of great importance in conveying attitudes and emotions, yet the traditional handbooks on English pronunciation have almost completely ignored them.

If we accept the importance of these factors it becomes necessary to consider how they are related to intonation, and what intonation itself consists of. We can isolate three distinct types of suprasegmental variable: **sequential, prosodic** and **paralinguistic.** 

# Sequential

These components of intonation are found as elements in sequences of other such elements occurring one after another (never simultaneously). These are:

- i) pre-heads, heads, tonic syllables and tails (with their pitch possibilities);
- ii) pauses;
- iii) tone-unit boundaries.

These have all been introduced in previous chapters.

## Prosodic

These components are characteristics of speech which are constantly present and observable while speech is going on. The most important are:

- i) width of pitch range;
- ii) key;
- iii) loudness;
- iv) speed;
- v) voice quality.

It is not possible to speak without one's speech having some degree or type of pitch range, loudness, speed and voice quality (with the possible exception that pitch factors are largely lost in whispered speech). Different speakers have their own typical pitch range, loudness, voice quality, etc., and contrasts among prosodic components should be seen as relative to these "background" speaker characteristics.

# Paralinguistic

Mention was made above of facial expressions, gestures and body movements. People who study human behaviour often use the term **body language** for such activity. One could also mention certain vocal effects such as laughs and sobs. These paralinguistic effects are obviously relevant to the act of speaking but could not themselves properly be regarded as components of speech. Again, they need a proper descriptive and classificatory system, but this is not something that comes within the scope of this course, nor in my opinion should they be regarded as components of intonation.

#### ۱۸,۲ Expressing attitudes

What advice, then, can be given to the foreign learner of English who wants to learn "correct intonation"? It is certainly true that a few generalisations can be made about the attitudinal functions of some components of intonation. We have looked at some basic examples earlier in this chapter. Generalisations such as these are, however, very broad, and foreign learners do not find it easy to learn to use intonation through studying them. Similarly, within the area of prosodic components most generalisations tend to be rather obvious: wider pitch range tends to be used in excited or enthusiastic speaking, slower speed is typical of the speech of someone who is tired or bored, and so on. Most of the generalisations one could make are probably true for a lot of other languages as well. In short, of the rules and generalisations that could be made about conveying attitudes

through intonation, those which are not actually wrong are likely to be too trivial to be worth learning. I have witnessed many occasions when foreigners have unintentionally caused misunderstanding or even offence in speaking to a native English speaker, but can remember only a few occasions when this could be attributed to "using the wrong intonation"; most such cases have involved native speakers of different varieties of English, rather than learners of English. Sometimes an intonation mistake can cause a difference in apparent grammatical meaning (something that is dealt with in Chapter 19). It should not be concluded that intonation is not important for conveying attitudes. What is being claimed here is that, although it is of great importance, the complexity of the total set of sequential and prosodic components of intonation and of paralinguistic features makes it a very difficult thing to teach or learn. One might compare the difficulty with that of trying to write rules for how one might indicate to someone that one finds him or her sexually attractive; while psychologists and biologists might make detailed observations and generalisations about how human beings of a particular culture behave in such a situation, most people would rightly feel that studying these generalisations would be no substitute for practical experience, and that relying on a textbook could lead to hilarious consequences. The attitudinal use of intonation is something that is best acquired through talking with and listening to English speakers, and this course aims simply to train learners to be more aware of and sensitive to the way English speakers use intonation.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

Perhaps the most controversial question concerning English intonation is what its function is; pedagogically speaking, this is a very important question, since one would not wish to devote time to teaching something without knowing what its value is likely to be. At the beginning of this chapter I list four commonly cited functions. It is possible to construct a longer list: Wells  $(7 \cdot 7)$  suggests six, while Lee (190A) proposed ten.

For general introductory reading on the functions of intonation, there is a good survey in Cruttenden  $(1997: Chapter \xi)$ . Critical views are expressed in Brazil *et al.* (1994: 94-1) and Crystal (1979: 747-7). There are many useful examples in Brazil (1995). Few people have carried out experiments on listeners' perception of attitudes through intonation, probably because it is extremely difficult to design properly controlled experiments.

Once one has recognised the importance of features other than pitch, it is necessary to devise a framework for categorising these features. There are many different views about the meaning of the term "paralinguistic". In the framework presented in Crystal and Quirk (1975), paralinguistic features of the "vocal effect" type are treated as part of intonation, and it is not made sufficiently clear how these are to be distinguished from prosodic features. Crystal (1975) defines paralinguistic features as "vocal effects which are primarily the result of physiological mechanisms other than the vocal cords, such as the direct results of the workings of the pharyngeal, oral or nasal cavities" but this does not seem to me to fit the facts. In my view, "paralinguistic" implies "outside the system of contrasts used in spoken language" - which does not, of course, necessarily mean

"non-vocal". I would therefore treat prosodic variables as linguistic - and consequently part of intonation - while I would treat vocal effects like laughs or sobs as non-linguistic vocal effects to be classed with gestures and facial expressions. Brown (199), on the other hand, uses "paralinguistic" to include what I call "prosodic", and appears to have no separate term for non-linguistic vocal effects.

The term "voice quality" needs comment, as it tends to be used with different meanings: sometimes the term is used to refer to the personal, "background" characteristics that make one person's voice recognisably different from another, mainly as a result **of** the complex interaction of laryngeal and supralaryngeal features (Crystal, 1979:  $1 \cdot \cdot \cdot \cdot$ ; Laver,  $19A \cdot , 1991$ ; for some writers, however, "voice quality" is the auditory result of different types of vocal fold vibration. A better name for this is **phonation type.** 

#### Note for teachers

Audio Unit *\A* consists of extracts from a recording of spontaneous dialogue. Students usually feel that listening to these unfamiliar voices chopped up into small pieces is hard work, but generally the transcription exercise is not found nearly as difficult as expected.

#### Written exercise

In the following bits of conversation, you are supplied with an "opening line" and a response that you must imagine saying. You are given an indication in brackets of the feeling or attitude expressed, and you must mark on the text the intonation you think is appropriate (mark only the response). As usual in intonation work in this book, punctuation is left out, since it can cause confusion.

١	It 'looks 'nice for a \swim	its rather cold (doubtful)
۲	'Why not 'get a /car	because I cant afford it (impatient)
٣	Ive .lost my $\setminus \underline{tick}$ et	youre silly then (stating the obvious)
٤	You 'cant 'have an 'ice \cream	oh please (pleading)
٥	'What 'times are the / <u>bus</u> es	seven oclock seven thirty and eight (listing)
٦	She got 'four \A-levels	four (impressed)
٧	'How much $\underline{\text{work}}$ have you .got to-do	Ive got to do the shopping (and morethings after that)
٨	'Will the v <u>chil</u> dren -go	some of them might (uncertain)

# **Functions of intonation r**

In the previous chapter we looked at the attitudinal function of intonation. We now turn to the accentual, grammatical and discourse functions.

#### 19.1 The accentual function of intonation

The term accentual is derived from "accent", a word used by some writers to refer to what in this course is called "stress". When writers say that intonation has accentual function they imply that the placement of stress is something that is determined by intonation. It is possible to argue against this view: in Chapters  $\cdot$  and  $\cdot$  word stress is presented as something quite independent of intonation, and subsequently (p.  $\cdot \cdot \cdot$ ) it was said that "intonation is carried entirely by the stressed syllables of a tone-unit". This means that the presentation so far has implied that the placing of stress is independent of and prior to the choice of intonation. However, one particular aspect of stress *could* be regarded as part of intonation: this is the placement of the tonic stress within the tone- unit. It would be reasonable to suggest that while word stress is independent of intonation, the placement of tonic stress is a function (the **accentual** function) of intonation. Some older pronunciation handbooks refer to this function as "sentence stress", which is not an appropriate name: the sentence is a unit of grammar, while the location of tonic stress is a matter which concerns the tone unit, a unit of phonology.

The location of the tonic syllable is of considerable linguistic importance. The most common position for this is on the last lexical word (e.g. noun, adjective, verb, adverb as distinct from the function words introduced in Chapter *\Y*) of the tone-unit. For contras- tive purposes, however, any word may become the bearer of the tonic syllable. It is frequently said that the placement of the tonic syllable indicates the focus of the information. In the following pairs of examples, (i) represents normal placement and (ii) contrastive:

i) I .want to .know ,where hes  $\ \underline{trav}$ elling to

(The word 'to' at the end of the sentence, being a preposition and not a lexical word, is not stressed.)

ii) (I 'dont want to 'know 'where hes 'travelling vfrom)

I .want to .know .where hes .travelling  $\to$ 

- i) She was 'wearing a 'red  $\underline{\text{dress}}$
- ii) (She 'wasnt 'wearing a vgreen -dress) I She was .wearing a \red -dress

Similarly, for the purpose of emphasis we may place the tonic stress in other positions; in these examples, (i) is non-emphatic and (ii) is emphatic:

- i) It was 'very \boring
- ii) It was \very -boring
- i) You 'mustnt 'talk so \loudly
- ii) You  $\ \underline{mus}$ tnt -talk so -loudly

However, it would be wrong to say that the only cases of departure from putting tonic stress on the last lexical word were cases of contrast or emphasis. There are quite a few situations where it is normal for the tonic syllable to come earlier in the tone-unit. A well- known example is the sentence T have plans to leave'; this is ambiguous:

i) I have 'plans to  $\underline{}$ 

(i.e. I am planning to leave)

ii) I have  $\setminus \underline{plans}$  to -leave

(i.e. I have some plans/diagrams/drawings that I have to leave)

Version (ii) could not be described as contrastive or emphatic. There are many examples similar to (ii); perhaps the best rule to give is that the tonic syllable will *tend* to occur on the last lexical word in the tone-unit, but may be placed earlier in the tone-unit if there is a word there with greater importance to what is being said. This can quite often happen as a result of the last part of the tone-unit being already "given" (i.e. something which has already been mentioned or is completely predictable); for example:

i) 'Heres that \book you -asked me to -bring

(The fact that you asked me to bring it is not new)

ii) Ive 'got to 'take the  $\underline{\log}$  for a -walk

('For a walk' is by far the most probable thing to follow 'I've got to take the dog'; if the sentence ended with 'to the vet' the tonic syllable would probably be 'vet')

Placement of tonic stress is, therefore, important and is closely linked to intonation. A question that remains, however, is whether one can and should treat this matter as separate from the other functions described below.

# <sup>19,7</sup> The grammatical function of intonation

The word "grammatical" tends to be used in a very loose sense in this context. It is usual to illustrate the grammatical function by inventing sentences which when written are ambiguous, and whose ambiguity can only be removed by using differences of intonation. A typical example is the sentence "Those who sold quickly made a profit'. This can be said in at least two different ways:

- i) 'Those who 'sold vquickly I ,made a \profit
- ii) 'Those who vsold I,quickly .made a profit

The difference caused by the placement of the tone-unit boundary is seen to be equivalent to giving two different paraphrases of the sentences, as in:

- i) A profit was made by those who sold quickly.
- ii) A profit was quickly made by those who sold.

Let us look further at the role of tone-unit boundaries, and the link between the tone- unit and units of grammar. There is a strong tendency for tone-unit boundaries to occur at boundaries between grammatical units of higher order than words; it is extremely common to find a tone-unit boundary at a sentence boundary, as in:

I 'wont have any /tea. I 'dont \like it

In sentences with a more complex structure, tone-unit boundaries are often found at phrase and clause boundaries as well, as in:

In vFrance | where .farms .tend to be vsmaller | the 'subsidies are 'more im\portant

It is very unusual to find a tone-unit boundary at a place where the only grammatical boundary is a boundary between words. It would, for example, sound distinctly odd to have a tone-unit boundary between an article and a following noun, or between auxiliary and main verbs if they are adjacent (although we may, on occasions, hesitate or pause in such places within a tone-unit; it is interesting to note that some people who do a lot of arguing and debating, notably politicians and philosophers, develop the skill of pausing for breath in such internationally unlikely places because they are less likely to be interrupted than if they pause at the end of a sentence). Tone-unit boundary placement can, then, indicate grammatical structure to the listener and we can find minimal pairs such as the following:

- i) The Con'servatives who vlike the pro-posal I are \pleased
- ii) The Convservatives I who vlike the pro-posal I are \pleased

The intonation makes clear the difference between (i) "restrictive" and (ii) "non-restrictive" relative clauses: (i) implies that only *some* Conservatives like the proposal, while (ii) implies that *all* the Conservatives like it.

Another component of intonation that can be said to have grammatical significance is the choice of tone on the tonic syllable. One example that is very familiar is the use of a rising tone with questions. Many languages have the possibility of changing a statement into a question simply by changing the tone from falling to rising. This is, in fact, not used very much by itself in the variety of English being described here, where questions are usually grammatically marked. The sentence 'The price is going up' can be said as a statement like this:

# The $\ \underline{price}$ is going -up

(the tonic stress could equally well be on 'up'). It would be quite acceptable in some dialects of English (e.g. many varieties of American English) to ask a question like this:

(Why do you want to buy it now?) The /price is going -up

But speakers in Britain would be more likely to ask the question like this:

(Why do you want to buy it now?) 'Is the /price going -up

It is by no means true that a rising tone is always used for questions in English; it is quite usual, for example, to use a falling tone with questions beginning with one of the "wh-question-words" like 'what', 'which', 'when', etc. Here are two examples with typical intonations, where (i) does not start with a "wh-word" and has a rising tone and (ii) begins with 'where' and has a falling tone.

- i) 'Did you 'park the /<u>car</u>
- ii) 'Where did you 'park the  $\ car$

However, the fall in (ii) is certainly not obligatory, and a rise is quite often heard in such a question. A fall is also possible in (i).

The intonation of **question-tags** (e.g. 'isn't it', 'can't he', 'should she', 'won't they', etc.) is often quoted as a case of a difference in meaning being due to the difference between falling and rising tone. In the following example, the question-tag is 'aren't they'; when it has a falling tone, as in (i), the implication is said to be that the speaker is comparatively certain that the information is correct, and simply expects the listener to provide confirmation, while the rising tone in (ii) is said to indicate a lesser degree of certainty, so that the question-tag functions more like a request for information.

- i) They 'are 'coming on  $\underline{\text{Tues}}$  day I  $\underline{\text{arent they}}$
- ii) They 'are 'coming on \Tuesday I /arent they

The difference illustrated here could reasonably be said to be as much attitudinal as grammatical. Certainly there is overlap between these two functions.

### 19,7 The discourse function of intonation

If we think of linguistic analysis as usually being linked to the sentence as the maximum unit of grammar, then the study of discourse attempts to look at the larger contexts in which sentences occur. For example, consider the four sentences in the following:

- A: Have you got any free time this morning?
- B: I might have later on if that meeting's off.
- A: They were talking about putting it later.
- B: You can't be sure.

Each sentence could be studied in isolation and be analysed in terms of grammatical construction, lexical content, and so on. But it is clear that the sentences form part of some larger act of conversational interaction between two speakers; the sentences contain several references that presuppose shared knowledge (e.g. 'that meeting' implies that both

speakers know which meeting is being spoken about), and in some cases the meaning of a sentence can only be correctly interpreted in the light of knowledge of what has preceded it in the conversation (e.g. 'You can't be sure').

If we consider how intonation may be studied in relation to discourse, we can identify two main areas: one of them is the use of intonation to focus the listener's attention on aspects of the message that are most important, and the other is concerned with the regulation of conversational behaviour. We will look at these in turn.

In the case of "attention focusing", the most obvious use has already been described: this is the placing of tonic stress on the appropriate syllable of one particular word in the tone-unit. In many cases it is easy to demonstrate that the tonic stress is placed on the word that is in some sense the "most important", as in:

She 'went to  $\ Scotland$ 

Sometimes it seems more appropriate to describe tonic stress placement in terms of "information content": the more predictable a word's occurrence is in a given context, the lower is its information content. Tonic stress will tend to be placed on words with high information content, as suggested above when the term *focus* was introduced. This is the explanation that would be used in the case of the sentences suggested in Section 19,1:

i) Ive 'got to 'take the  $\dog$  for a -walk

ii) Ive 'got to 'take the 'dog to the wet

The word 'vet' is less predictable (has a higher information content) than 'walk'. However, we still find many cases where it is difficult to explain tonic placement in terms of "importance" or "information". For example, in messages like:

Your coat's on fire	The wing's breaking up
The radio's gone wrong	Your uncle's died

probably the majority of English speakers would place the tonic stress on the subject noun, although it is difficult to see how this is more important than the last lexical word in each of the sentences. The placement of tonic stress is still to some extent an unsolved mystery; it is clear, however, that it is at least partly determined by the larger context (linguistic and non-linguistic) in which the tone-unit occurs.

We can see at least two other ways in which intonation can assist in focusing attention. The tone chosen can indicate whether the tone-unit in which it occurs is being used to present new information or to refer to information which is felt to be already possessed by speaker and hearer. For example, in the following sentence:

'Since the vlast time we .met | 'when we 'had that 'huge vdinner | Ive ,been on a \diet

the first two tone-units present information which is relevant to what the speaker is saying, but which is not something new and unknown to the listener. The final tone-unit, however, does present new information. Writers on discourse intonation have proposed that the falling tone indicates new information while rising (including falling-rising) tones indicate "shared" or "given" information.

Another use of intonation connected with the focusing of attention is **intonational subordination**; we can signal that a particular tone-unit is of comparatively low importance and as a result give correspondingly greater importance to adjacent tone-units. For example:

- i) As I ex.pect youve \heard I theyre 'only ad'mitting e\mergency -cases
- ii) The 'Japavnese I for ,some ,reason or /other I 'drive on the \left I like \us

In a typical conversational pronunciation of these sentences, the first tone-unit of (i) and the second and fourth tone-units of (ii) might be treated as intonationally subordinate; the prosodic characteristics marking this are usually:

- i) a drop to a lower part of the pitch range ("low key");
- ii) increased speed;
- iii) narrower range of pitch; and
- iv) reduced loudness, relative to the non-subordinate tone-unit(s).

The use of these components has the result that the subordinate tone-units are less easy to hear. Native speakers can usually still understand what is said, if necessary by guessing at inaudible or unrecognisable words on the basis of their knowledge of what the speaker is talking about. Foreign learners of English, on the other hand, having in general less "common ground" or shared knowledge with the speaker, often find that these subordinate tone-units - with their "throwaway", parenthetic style - cause serious difficulties in understanding.

We now turn to the second main area of intonational discourse function: the regulation of conversational behaviour. We have already seen how the study of sequences of tone-units in the speech of one speaker can reveal information carried by intonation which would not have been recognised if intonation were analysed only at the level of individual tone-units. Intonation is also important in the conversational interaction of two or more speakers. Most of the research on this has been on conversational interaction of a rather restricted kind - such as between doctor and patient, teacher and student, or between the various speakers in court cases. In such material it is comparatively easy to identify what each speaker is actually doing in speaking - for example, questioning, challenging, advising, encouraging, disapproving, etc. It is likely that other forms of conversation can be analysed in the same way, although this is considerably more difficult. In a more general way, it can be seen that speakers use various prosodic components to indicate to others that they have finished speaking, that another person is expected to speak, that a particular type of response is required, and so on. A familiar example is that quoted above (p. <code>\owwwwwtauthouty, where the difference between falling and rising intonation on question-tags is supposed to indicate to the listener what sort of response is expected. It seems that key (the part of the pitch range used) is important in signalling information about conversational interaction. We can observe many examples in non-linguistic</code>

behaviour of the use of signals to regulate turn-taking: in many sports, for example, it is necessary to do this - footballers can indicate that they are looking for someone to pass the ball to, or that they are ready to receive the ball, and doubles partners in tennis can indicate to each other who is to play a shot. Intonation, in conjunction with "body language" such as eye contact, facial expression, gestures and head-turning, is used for similar purposes in speech, as well as for establishing or confirming the status of the participants in a conversation.

## ۱۹, ٤ Conclusions

It seems clear that studying intonation in relation to discourse makes it possible to explain much more comprehensively the uses that speakers make of intonation. Practically all the separate functions traditionally attributed to intonation (attitudinal, accentual and grammatical) could be seen as different aspects of discourse function. The risk, with such a broad approach, is that one might end up making generalisations that were too broad and had little power to predict with any accuracy the intonation that a speaker would use in a particular context. It is still too early to say how useful the discourse approach will be, but even if it achieves nothing else, it can at least be claimed to have shown the inadequacy of attempting to analyse the function of intonation on the basis of isolated sentences or tone-units, removed from their linguistic and situational context.

#### Notes on problems and further reading

Important work was done on the placement of tonic stress by Halliday (197V); his term for this is "tonicity", and he adopts the widely-used linguistic term "marked" for tonicity that deviates from what I have called (for the sake of simplicity) "normal". Within generative phonology there has been much debate about whether one can determine the placing of tonic ("primary") stress without referring to the non-linguistic context in which the speaker says something. This debate was very active in the  $19V \cdot s$ , well summarised and criticised in Schmerling (19V7), but see Bolinger (19V7). For more recent accounts, see Couper-Kuhlen (19A7: Chapters V and A) and Ladd (1997: 771-7°).

One of the most interesting developments of recent years has been the emergence of a theory of discourse intonation. Readers unfamiliar with the study of discourse may find some initial difficulty in understanding the principles involved; the best introduction is Brazil *et al.* ( $\uparrow \uparrow \land \cdot$ ), while the ideas set out there are given more practical expression in Brazil ( $\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow \xi$ ). I have not been able to do more than suggest the rough outline of this approach.

The treatment of intonational subordination is based not on the work of Brazil but on Crystal and Quirk (1975: 07-7) and Crystal (1979: 770-07). The basic philosophy is the same, however, in that both views illustrate the fact that there is in intonation some organisation at a level higher than the isolated tone-unit; see Fox (1977). A parallel might be drawn with the relationship between the sentence and the paragraph in writing. It

seems likely that a considerable amount of valuable new research on pronunciation will grow out of the study of discourse.

### Note for teachers

Audio Unit <sup>1</sup> is short and intensive. It is meant primarily to give a reminder that English spoken at something like full conversational speed is very different from the slow, careful pronunciation of the early Audio Units.

#### Written exercises

<sup>1</sup> In the following exercise, read the "opening line" and then decide on the most suitable place for tonic stress placement (underline the syllable) in the response.

a)	Id 'like you to \ <u>help</u> me	(right) can I do the shopping for you
b)	I 'hear youre 'offering to 'do the \shopping for someone	(right) can I do the shopping for you
c)	'What was the 'first' thing that $\underline{happ}$ ened	first the professor explained her theory
d)	'Was the 'theory ex'plained by the /students	(no) first the professor explained her theory
e)	'Tell me 'how the \theory was pre-sented	first she explained her theory
f)	I 'think it 'starts at 'ten to\three	(no) ten past three
g)	I 'think it 'starts at 'quarter past \three	(no) ten past three
h)	I 'think it 'starts at 'ten past\ <u>four</u>	(no) ten past three

The following sentences are given without punctuation. Underline the appropriate tonic syllable places and mark tone-unit boundaries where you think they are most appropriate.

- a) (he wrote the letter in a sad way) he wrote the letter sadly
- b) (*it's regrettable that he wrote the letter*) he wrote the letter sadly
- c) four plus six divided by two equals five
- d) four plus six divided by two equals seven
- e) we broke one thing after another fell down
- f) we broke one thing after another that night

# 20 Varieties of English pronunciation

In Chapter \ there was some discussion of different types of English pronunciation and the reasons for choosing the accent that is described in this book. The present chapter returns to this topic to look in more detail at differences in pronunciation.

#### (,,) The study of variety

Differences between accents are of two main sorts: **phonetic** and **phonological.** When two accents differ from each other only phonetically, we find the same set of phonemes in both accents, but some or all of the phonemes are realised differently. There may also be differences in stress or intonation, but not such as would cause a change in meaning. As an example of phonetic differences at the segmental level, it is said that Australian English has the same set of phonemes and phonemic contrasts as BBC pronunciation, yet Australian pronunciation is so different from that accent that it is easily recognised.

Many accents of English also differ noticeably in intonation without the difference being such as would cause a difference in meaning; some Welsh accents, for example, have a tendency for unstressed syllables to be higher in pitch than stressed syllables. Such a difference is, again, a phonetic one. An example of a phonetic (non-phonological) difference in stress would be the stressing of the final syllable of verbs ending in '-ise' in some Scottish and Northern Irish accents (e.g. 'realise' r1ə'la1z).

Phonological differences are of various types: again, we can divide these into segmental and suprasegmental. Within the area of segmental phonology the most obvious type of difference is where one accent has a different number of phonemes (and hence of phonemic contrasts) from another. Many speakers with northern English accents, for example, do not have a contrast between **a** and u, so that 'luck' and 'look' are pronounced identically (both as lok); in the case of consonants, many accents do not have the phoneme h, so that there is no difference in pronunciation between 'art' and 'heart'. The phonemic system of such accents is therefore different from that of the BBC accent. On the other hand, some accents differ from others in having *more* phonemes and phonemic contrasts. For example, many northern English accents have a long e: sound as the realisation of the phoneme symbolised eI in BBC pronunciation (which is a simple phonetic difference); but in some northern accents there is both an eI diphthong phoneme and also a contrasting long vowel phoneme that can be symbolised as e:. Words like 'eight', 'reign' are pronounced eIt, reIn, while 'late', 'rain' (with no 'g' in the spelling) are pronounced le:t, re:n.

A more complicated kind of difference is where, without affecting the overall set of phonemes and contrasts, a phoneme has a distribution in one accent that is different from the distribution of the same phoneme in another accent. The clearest example is r, which is restricted to occurring in pre-vocalic position in BBC pronunciation, but in many other accents is not restricted in this way. Another example is the occurrence of j between a consonant and u:,  $\upsilon$  or  $\upsilon$ . In BBC pronunciation we can find the following: 'pew' pju:, 'tune' tju:n, 'queue' kju:. However, in most American accents and in some English accents of the south and east we find that, while 'pew' is pronounced pju: and 'queue' as kju:, 'tune' is pronounced tu:n; this absence of j is found after the other alveolar consonants; hence; 'due' du:,'new' nu:. In Norwich, and other parts of East Anglia, we find many speakers who have no consonant + j clusters at the beginning of a syllable, so that 'music' is pronounced mu:z1k and 'beautiful' as bu:t1fl.

We also find another kind of variation: in the example just given above, the occurrence of the phonemes being discussed is determined by their phonological context; however, sometimes the determining factor is lexical rather than phonological. For example, in many accents of the Midlands and north-western England a particular set of words containing a vowel represented by 'o' in the spelling is pronounced with **a** in BBC but with **Q** in these other accents; the list of words includes 'one', 'none', 'nothing', 'tongue', 'mongrel', 'constable', but does not include some other words of similar form such as 'some' sAm and 'ton' tAn. One result of this difference is that such accents have different pronunciations for the two members of pairs of words that are pronounced identically (i.e. are homophones) in BBC - for example, 'won' and 'one', 'nun' and 'none'. In my own pronunciation when I was young, I had **b** instead of **a** in these words, so that 'won' was pronounced **wAn** and 'one' as won, 'nun' as nAn and 'none' as nbn; this has not completely disappeared from my accent.

It would be satisfying to be able to list examples of phonological differences between accents in the area of stress and intonation but, unfortunately, straightforward examples are not available. We do not yet know enough about the phonological functions of stress and intonation, and not enough work has been done on comparing accents in terms of these factors. It will be necessary to show how one accent is able to make some difference in meaning with stress or intonation that another accent is unable to make. Since some younger speakers seem not to distinguish between the noun 'protest' and the verb 'protest', pronouncing both as <sup>j</sup>proutest, we could say that in their speech a phonological distinction in stress has been lost, but this is a very limited example. It is probable that such differences will in the future be identified by suitable research work.

#### ${}^{\gamma} \cdot {}^{\gamma}$ Geographical variation

For a long time, the study of variation in accents was part of the subject of **dialectology**, which aimed to identify all the ways in which a language differed from place to place. Dialectology in its traditional form is therefore principally interested in

geographical differences; its best-known data-gathering technique was to send researchers (usually called "field workers") mainly into rural areas (where the speakers were believed to be less likely to have been influenced by other accents), to find elderly speakers (whose speech was believed to have been less influenced by other accents and to preserve older forms of the dialect) and to use lists of questions to find information about vocabulary and pronunciation, the questions being chosen to concentrate on items known to vary a lot from region to region. Surveys of this kind have provided the basis for many useful generalisations about geographical variation, but they have serious weaknesses: dialectology concentrated too much on rural varieties, tended to be interested in archaic forms of the language and took little notice of variation due to social class, education and other such factors. More recent research has tended to be carried out within the framework of **sociolinguistics**, and has tried to cover urban speech with a balanced coverage of ages and social classes.

Studies of different accents often concentrate on small communities, but for our purposes it will be more useful to look briefly at differences between some of the largest groups of speakers of English. A word of caution should be given here: it is all too easy to talk about such things as "Scottish English", "American English", and so on, and to ignore the variety that inevitably exists within any large community of speakers. Each individual's speech is different from any other's; it follows from this that no one speaker can be taken to represent a particular accent or dialect, and it also follows that the idea of a standard pronunciation is a convenient fiction, not a scientific fact.

#### American

In many parts of the world, the fundamental choice for learners of English is whether to learn an American or a British pronunciation, though this is by no means true everywhere. Since we have given very little attention to American pronunciation in this course, it will be useful at this stage to look at the most important differences between American accents and the BBC accent. It is said that the majority of American speakers of English have an accent that is often referred to as **General American (GA)**; since it is the American accent most often heard on international radio and television networks, it is also called **Network English.** Most Canadian speakers of English have a very similar accent (few British people can hear the difference between the Canadian and American accents, as is the case with the difference between the Canadian and American accents, as is the case with the difference between the "deep south" of the country, but isolated rural communities everywhere tend to preserve different accents; there is also a growing section of American society whose native language is Spanish (or who are children of Spanish speakers) and they speak English with a pronunciation influenced by Spanish.

The most important difference between GA and BBC is the distribution of the r phoneme, GA being rhotic (i.e. r occurs in all positions, including before consonants and at the end of utterances). Thus where BBC pronounces 'car' as ka: and 'cart' as ka:t, GA has ka:r and ka:rt. Long vowels and diphthongs that are written with an 'r' in the

spelling are pronounced in GA as simple vowels followed by r. We can make the following comparisons:

	BBC	GA
'car'	ka:	ka:r
'more'	mo:	mər
'fear'	fıə	fır
'care'	keə	ker
'tour'	tuə	tor

American vowels followed by r are strongly "r-coloured", to the extent that one often hears the vowel at the centre of a syllable as a long r with no preceding vowel. The GA vowel in 'fur', for example, could be transcribed as 3:r (with a transcription that matched those for the other long vowels in the list above), but it is more often transcribed 3 with a diacritic - to indicate that the whole vowel is "r-coloured". Similarly, the short "schwa" in GA may be r-coloured and symbolised as in 'minor' matnə. It would be wrong to assume that GA has no long vowels like those of the BBC accent: in words like 'psalm', 'bra', 'Brahms', where there is no letter 'r' following the 'a' in the spelling, a long non-rhotic vowel is pronounced, whose pronunciation varies from region to region.

One vowel is noticeably different: the  $\mathbf{Q}$  of 'dog', 'cot' in BBC pronunciation is not found in GA. In most words where the BBC accent has  $\mathbf{Q}$  we find a: or o:, so that 'dog', which is dbg in BBC, is da:g or db:g in American pronunciation. In this case, we have a phonological difference, since one phoneme that is present in BBC pronunciation is absent in American accents. Other segmental differences are phonetic: the l phoneme, which was introduced in Section  $\uparrow$  of Chapter  $\lor$ , is almost always pronounced as a "dark l" in American English: the sound at the beginning of 'like' is similar to that at the end of 'mile'. The pronunciation of t is very different in American English when it occurs at the end of a stressed syllable and in front of an unstressed vowel. In a word like 'betting', which in BBC pronunciation is pronounced with a t that is plosive and slightly aspirated, American speakers usually have what is called a "flapped r" in which the tip of the tongue makes very brief contact with the alveolar ridge, a sound similar to the r sound in Spanish and many other languages. This is sometimes called "voiced t", and it is usually represented with the symbol  $\xi$ .

There are many other differences between American and English pronunciation, many of them the subject of comic debates such as "You say tomato (tə'meit əu) and I say tomato (tə'ma:təu)."

# Scottish

There are many accents of British English, but one that is spoken by a large number of people and is radically different from BBC English is the Scottish accent. There is much variation from one part of Scotland to another; the accent of Edinburgh is the one most usually described. Like the American accent described above, Scottish English pronunciation is essentially rhotic and an 'r' in the spelling is always pronounced; the words 'shore'

and 'short' can be transcribed as  $\int \mathfrak{I} r$  and  $\int \mathfrak{I} r$ . The Scottish r sound is usually pronounced as a "flap" or "tap" similar to the r sound in Spanish.

It is in the vowel system that we find the most important differences between BBC pronunciation and Scottish English. As with American English, long vowels and diphthongs that correspond to spellings with 'r' are composed of a vowel and the r consonant, as mentioned above. The distinction between long and short vowels does not exist, so that 'good', 'food' have the same vowel, as do 'Sam', 'psalm' and 'caught', 'cot'. The BBC diphthongs eI, au are pronounced as pure vowels e, o, but the diphthongs eI, aI, aI exist as in the BBC accent (though with phonetic differences).

This brief account may cover the most basic differences, but it should be noted that these and other differences are so radical that people from England and from parts of lowland Scotland have serious difficulty in understanding each other. It often happens that foreigners who have learned to pronounce English as it is spoken in England find life very difficult when they go to Scotland, though in time they do manage to deal with the pronunciation differences and communicate successfully.

### ${}^{\tau}\,{\scriptstyle \cdot}\,{\scriptstyle ,}^{\tau}$ Other sources of variation

We do not have space for a detailed examination of all the different types of variation in pronunciation, but a few more are worth mentioning.

Age

Everybody knows that younger people speak differently from older people. This seems to be true in every society, and many people believe that younger people do this specially to annoy their parents and other people of the older generation, or to make it difficult for their parents to understand what they are saying to their friends. We can look at how younger people speak and guess at how the pronunciation of the language will develop in the future, but such predictions are of limited value: elderly professors can safely try to predict how pronunciation will change over the coming decades because they are not likely to be around to find themselves proved wrong. The speech of young people tends to show more elisions than that of older people. This seems to be true in all cultures, and is usually described by older speakers as "sloppy" or "careless". A sentence like the following: 'What's the point of going to school if there's no social life?' might be pronounced in a careful way as (in phonemic transcription) wpts ðə point əv gəuŋ to sku: I f ðəz nəu səuʃ! laif, but a young speaker talking to a friend might (in the area of England where I live) say it in a way that might be transcribed phonetically as s põi? gœu? skou f s næu sæuʃ loif.

There is an aspect of intonation that has often been quoted in relation to age differences: this is the use of rising intonation in making statements, a style of speaking that is sometimes called "upspeak" or "uptalk". Here is a little invented example:

I was in Marks and Spencer's. In the food section. They had this chocolate cake. I just had to buy some.

A typical adult pronunciation would be likely to use a sequence of falling tones, like this:

I was in 'Marks and <u>Spencers</u> | In the <u>food</u> section | They had this <u>choc</u>olate cake | I just 'had to <u>buy</u> some

But the "upspeak" version would sound like this:

I was in 'Marks and /<u>Spen</u>cers | In the / <u>food</u> section | They had this /<u>choc</u>olate cake | I just 'had to <u>buy</u> some

(with a falling tone only on the last tone-unit). It is widely believed that this style of intonation arose from copying young actors in Australian and American soap operas. One thing that keeps it alive in young people's speech is that older people find it so intensely irritating. It is, I believe, a passing fashion that will not last long.

#### Social and class differences

We can find differences in pronunciation (as well as in other fields of linguistic analysis) resulting from various factors including (in addition to geographical origin) one's age and sex, social class, educational background, occupation and personality. In addition, various situational factors influence pronunciation, such as the social relationship between speaker and hearer, whether one is speaking publicly or privately, and the purposes for which one is using language. Some people (who usually turn out to do well in phonetic training) find that in speaking to someone with a different accent their pronunciation gets progressively more like that of the person they are speaking to, like a chameleon adapting its colour to its environment.

#### Style

Many linguists have attempted to produce frameworks for the analysis of style in language. There is not space for us to consider this in detail, but we should note that, for foreign learners, a typical situation - regrettably, an almost inevitable one - is that they learn a style of pronunciation which could be described as careful and formal. Probably their teachers speak to them in this style, although what the learners are likely to encounter when they join in conversations with native speakers is a "rapid, casual" style. We all have the ability to vary our pronunciation to suit the different styles of speech that we use. Speaking to one's own children, for example, is a very different activity from that of speaking to adults that one does not know well. In broadcasting, there is a very big difference between formal news-reading style and the casual speech used in chat shows and game shows. Some politicians change their pronunciation to suit the context: it was often noticed that Tony Blair, when he was prime minister, would adopt an "Estuary English" style of pronunciation when he wanted to project an informal "man of the people" style, but a BBC accent when speaking on official state occasions. In the former style, it was not unusual to hear him say something like 'We've got a problem' with a glottal stop replacing the t in 'got': wiv gp? ə probləm. I can't remember any other prime minister doing this.

Rhythm forms an important part of style: careful, deliberate speech tends to go with regular rhythm and slow speed. Casual speech, as well as being less rhythmical and faster, tends to include a lot of "fillers" - such as hesitation noises (usually written 'um' or 'er') or exaggeratedly long vowels to cover a hesitation.

It should now be clear that the pronunciation described in this course is only one of a vast number of possible varieties. The choice of a slow, careful style is made for the sake of convenience and simplicity; learners of English need to be aware of the fact that this style is far from being the only one they will meet, and teachers of English to foreigners should do their best to expose their students to other varieties.

## Notes on problems and further reading

Yere For general reading about sociolinguistics and dialectology, see Trudgill (1999); Foulkes and Docherty (1999); Spolsky (199 $\Lambda$ ).

<sup> $\gamma$ </sup>•.<sup> $\gamma$ </sup> There are some major works on geographical variation in English pronunciation. Wells ( ${}^{\gamma}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\gamma}$ ) is an important source of information in this field. For a brief overview, with recorded examples, see Collins and Mees ( ${}^{\gamma}{}^{\bullet}{}^{\Lambda}$ : Section C). To find out more about American and Scottish pronunciation, see Cruttenden ( ${}^{\gamma}{}^{\bullet}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\circ}$ : Sections  ${}^{\vee}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda}$ ) and  ${}^{\vee}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\Lambda}{}^{\gamma}{}^{\circ}{}^$ 

 $\gamma \cdot \gamma$  On "upspeak" or "uptalk", see Wells ( $\gamma \cdot \gamma$ : Section  $\gamma \cdot \gamma$ ); Cruttenden ( $\gamma \cdot \gamma \cdot \gamma$ ). Collins and Mees ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ ) reproduce a valuable extract from the work of Barbara Bradford, who has done pioneering work in this area. Shockey ( $\gamma \cdot \cdot \gamma$ ) shows the great variation between formal and informal styles of speech.

### Note for teachers

In talking about differences in pronunciation between younger and older speakers, we should consider what I would like to call the Pronunciation Teaching Paradox: this is that the books and other teaching materials, syllabuses and examination standards are usually produced by middle-aged or old teachers, while the people who are taught are usually young. The model accent for pronunciation practice is almost always that of middle-aged English people. It would in theory be possible to teach young foreign learners of English to speak like young native speakers of English, and many students from other countries who have a period of study in a British university or language school manage to acquire something of the accent of young people in the area, but in my own experience it is likely

that when they get back home they risk being given a lower mark by their (middle-aged) examiners in an oral examination than students producing a more traditional accent. I regret this, but I can't change it.

The comment about Audio Unit  $\uparrow \land$  at the end of Chapter  $\uparrow \land$  applies also to Audio Unit  $\uparrow \bullet$ . At first hearing it seems very difficult, but when worked on step by step it is far from impossible. If there is time, students should now be encouraged to go back to some of the more difficult Audio Units dealing with connected speech (say from Audio Unit  $\uparrow \uparrow$  onwards, missing out Audio Unit  $\uparrow \circ$ ); they will probably discover a lot of things they did not notice before.

#### Written exercise

Phonological differences between accents are of various types. For each of the following sets of phonetic data, based on non-BBC accents, say what you can conclude about the phonology of that accent.

١	'sing' siŋ	'finger' fiŋgə
	'sung' sʌŋ	'running' rʌnɪn
	'singing' sıŋın	'ring' r1ŋ
۲	'day' de:	'you' ju:
	'buy' baı	'me' mi:
	'go' go:	'more' ma:
	'now' nau	'fur' fa:
	'own' o:n	'eight' e:t
٣	'mother' mavə	'father' fa:və
	'think' fıŋk	'breath' bref
	'lip' lɪp	'pill' pɪw
	'help' ewp	'hill' IW
٤	'mother' m∧ðər	'father' fa:ðər
	'car' ka:r	'cart' ka:rt
	'car' ka:r 'area' e:riəl	'cart' ka:rt 'aerial' e:riəl
	'area' e:riəl	'aerial' e:riəl
٥	'area' eːriəl 'idea' aɪdɪəl	'aerial' eːriəl 'ideal' aɪdɪəl
٥	'area' eːriəl 'idea' aɪdɪəl 'India' ındiəl	'aerial' eːriəl 'ideal' aɪdɪəl 'Norma' nəməl
0	'area' eːriəl 'idea' aɪdɪəl 'India' ındiəl 'cat' kat	'aerial' e:riəl 'ideal' aıdıəl 'Norma' nəməl 'plaster' pla:stər

# **Recorded exercises**

Each Audio Unit corresponds to a chapter of this book. As far as possible I have tried to relate the content of each Audio Unit to the material of the chapter; however, where the chapter is devoted to theoretical matters I have taken advantage of this to produce revision exercises going back over some of the subjects previously worked on.

In some of the exercises you are asked to put stress or intonation marks on the text. It would be sensible to do this in such a way that will make it possible for you, or someone else, to erase these marks and use the exercise again.

As with the chapters of the book, these exercises are intended to be worked through from first to last. Those at the beginning are concerned with individual vowels and consonants, and the words containing them are usually pronounced in isolation in a slow, careful style. Pronouncing isolated words in this way is a very artificial practice, but the recorded exercises are designed to lead the student towards the study of comparatively natural and fluent speech by the end of the course. In some of the later exercises you will find it necessary to stop the recording in order to allow yourself enough time to write a transcription. You will also need to stop the recording to check your answers. The answers section for the Recorded Exercises is on pages  $\Upsilon (\cdot \cdot)^{\Lambda}$ .

#### Audio Unit 1 Introduction

To give you practice in using the audio exercises in this book, here are two simple exercises on English word stress.

#### **Exercise 1 Repetition**

Each word is shown with a diagram showing which syllables are strong  $(\bullet)$  and which are weak  $(\bullet)$ . Listen to each word and repeat it.

- ۰ • potato
- ۲ ••• optimist
- ۰۰ decide

- ٤ • • Reservation
- ••• Quantity

Exercise 2 Stress pattern notation

You will hear five words. After each word, write down the stress pattern using the two symbols used above.  $(1-\circ)$ 

Check your answers.

# Audio Unit 2 English short vowels

The exercises in this Unit practise the six short vowels introduced in Chapter  $\checkmark$ . When pronouncing them, you should take care to give the vowels the correct length *and* the correct quality.

Exercise 1 Repetition

Listen and repeat:

Ι			
bit bit	bid bid	hymn h1m	miss mis
e			
bet bet	bed bed	hen hen	mess mes
æ			
bat bæt	bad bæd	ham hæm	mass mass
Λ			
cut kAt	bud bAd	bun bʌn	bus bas
D			
pot ppt	cod kpd	Tom tom	loss <b>tps</b>
u			
put put	wood wud	pull pul	push pu∫
		1 1	1 1 3

Exercise 2 Identification

Write the symbol for the vowel you hear in each word. (1-1) Check your

answers.

# **Exercise 3 Production**

When you hear the number, pronounce the word (which is given in spelling and in phonetic symbols). Repeat the correct pronunciation when you hear it.

Example: \ 'mad'

- ۱ mad mæd ٤ bet bet
- ۲ mud mʌd ° cut kʌt
- ۳ bit bit ٦ cot kpt

- $\vee$  put put  $\vee$  man m{n
- ^ pot ppt <sup>γ</sup> fun fΛn
- ۹ men men ۲۲ fan fen

Exercise 4 Short vowels contrasted

Listen and repeat (words given in spelling):

1 and	e	e and	æ	æ and	Λ
bit	bet	hem	ham	lack	luck
tin	ten	set	sat	bad	bud
fill	fell	peck	pack	fan	fun
built	belt	send	sand	stamp	stump
lift	left	wreck	rack	flash	flush
$\Lambda$ and	D	<b>D</b> and	υ		
dug	dog	lock	look		
cup	cop	cod	could		
rub	rob	pot	put		
stuck	stock	shock	shook		
luck	lock	crock	crook		

Exercise **5** Repetition of sentences with short vowels Listen and repeat:

1	Six fat men stopped	sıks fæt men støpt
۲	That bus is full	ðæt bas iz ful
٣	Tim hid Jan's bag	tım hıd dzænz bæg
٤	This dog gets cats mad	ðis dog gets kæts mæd
0	Bring back ten cups	brıŋ bæk ten kʌps
٦	Tom picked up twelve books	tom pikt np twelv boks
٧	What bad luck	wpt bæd lak
٨	Ken pushed Sam's truck	ken pu∫t sæmz tr∧k

# Audio Unit 3 Long vowels, diphthongs and triphthongs

# Long vowels

Exercise 1 Repetition Listen and repeat:

i:			
beat birt	bead bi:d	bean bi:n	beef bi:f
a:			
heart ha:t	hard ha:d	harm hɑːm	hearth haːm
<b>)</b> :			
caught ko:t	cord ko:d	corn ko:n	course kors

root ru:t rude ru:d room ru:m roof ru:f hurt h3:t heard h3:d earn 3:n earth  $3:\theta$ 

#### Exercise 2 Production

u:

When you hear the number, pronounce the word. Repeat the correct pronunciation when you hear it.

١	heard h3:d	٦	heart ha:t
۲	bean bi:n	٧	cord ko:d
٣	root ru:t	٨	beef bi:f
٤	hearth hα:θ	٩	rude ru:d

• caught ko:t 
• earn 3:n

### Exercise 3 Transcription

Write the symbol for the vowel you hear in each word. (1-1+) Check your answers.

#### Exercise 4 Long-short vowel contrasts

#### Listen and repeat (words in spelling):

i: and	Ι	a: and	a	a: and	æ		
feel	fill	calm	come	part	pat		
bead	bid	cart	cut	lard	lad		
steel	still	half	huff	calm	Cam		
reed	rid	lark	luck	heart	hat		
bean	bin	mast	must	harms	hams		
o: and	D	u: and	u	з: and	a	a: and	D
o: and caught		u: and pool	u pull	31 and hurt	a hut	a: and dark	ນ dock
	cot						
caught	cot	pool	pull	hurt	hut	dark	dock
caught stork	cot stock shot	pool suit	pull soot	hurt turn	hut ton	dark part	dock pot

Exercise • Transcription

Write the symbol for the vowel (long or short) you hear in each word. (1-1.) Check your answers.

# Diphthongs

Exercise 6 Repetition

Listen and repeat, making sure that the second part of the diphthong is weak.

еі			
mate meit	made meid	main mem	mace meis
аі			
right rait	ride raid	rhyme raim	rice rais
quoit koit	buoyed boid	Boyne boin	Royce rois
ອບ			
coat kəut	code kəud	cone kəun	close klaus
au			
gout gaut	loud laud	gown gaun	louse laus
IƏ			
	feared fiad		fierce fias
eə			
	cared keəd	cairn keən	scarce skeəs
ບອ			
	moored muəd		

### Exercise V Transcription

Write the symbol for the diphthong you hear in each word. (1-17) Check your answers.

# Triphthongs

Exercise 8 Repetition Listen and repeat:

eıə	layer	leıə	ອບອ	lower ləuə
aiə	liar	laıə	auə	tower tauə
SIS	loyal	loıəl		

#### Audio Unit 4 Plosives

# Exercise 1 Repetition of initial plosives

# INITIAL FORTIS p, t, k

Each word begins with a fortis plosive; notice that the plosive is aspirated. Listen and repeat:

paw pa:	care keə
tea ti:	two tu:
car ka:	key ki:
pie pai	tar ta:
toe təu	pay pei

# INITIAL LENIS b, d, g

Each word begins with a lenis plosive; notice that there is practically no voicing of the plosive. Listen and repeat:

bee bi:	gear giə
door do:	boy boi
go gəu	dear dıə
bear beə	bough bau
do du:	day dei

#### INITIAL sp, st, sk

The plosive must be unaspirated. Listen and repeat:

spy spai	score sko:
store sto:	spear sp1ə
ski ski:	stay ster
spare speə	sky skai
steer stiə	spar spa:

#### Exercise 2 Repetition of final plosives

In the pairs of words in this exercise one word ends with a fortis plosive and the other ends with a lenis plosive. Notice the length difference in the vowel. Listen to each pair and repeat:

## FORTIS FOLLOWED BY LENIS

mate made	meit meid
rope robe	roup rəub
leak league	li:k li:g
cart card	ka:t ka:d
back bag	bæk bæg

#### LENIS FOLLOWED BY FORTIS

code coat	kəud kəut
bid bit	bid bit
lobe lope	ləub ləup
heard hurt	h3:d h3:t
brogue broke	brəug brəuk

#### Exercise 3 Identification of final plosives

a) You will hear the twenty words of Exercise <sup>Y</sup>. Each will be one of a pair. You must choose whether the word is the one ending with a fortis plosive or the one ending with a lenis plosive. When you hear the word, say "fortis" if you hear the word on the left, or "lenis" if you hear the word on the right. You will then hear the correct answer and the word will be said again for you to repeat.

# Example: 'coat'

Fortis	Lenis	Fortis	Lenis
coat kəut	code kəud	mate meit	made meid
leak li:k	league li:g	coat kəut	code kəud
hurt h3:t	heard h3:d	leak li:k	league li:g
bit bit	bid bid	rope rəup	robe rəub
mate meit	made meid	hurt h3:t	heard h3:d
lope loup	lobe ləub	broke brəuk	brogue braug
back bæk	bag bæg	lope loup	lobe laub
cart ka:t	card ka:d	bit bɪt	bid b1d
broke brəuk	brogue brəug	back bæk	bag bæg
rope rəup	robe rəub	cart ka:t	card ka:d

b) Each of the words which follow ends with a plosive. Write the symbol for each plosive when you hear the word. Each will be said twice. (1-1.)

Check your answers.

# Exercise 4 Repetition of words containing plosives

The following words contain several plosives. They are given in spelling and in transcription. Listen and repeat:

potato pəteitəu	carpeted ka:pitid
topic top1k	bodyguard bodiga:d
petticoat petikout	tobacco təbækəu
partake pa:te1k	doubted dautid
cupboard kлbэd	decode di:kəud
decapitated dikæpiteitid	bigoted bigətid
pocket p¤kıt	about əbaut

#### Exercise • Reading of words in transcription

When you hear the number, pronounce the word given in transcription taking care to pronounce the plosives correctly and putting the strongest stress on the syllable preceded by the stress mark'. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.'

- ۱ dı'beit ۲ 'ga:dıd
- ۲ 'kɒpɪd ۲ 'dedɪkeɪtɪd
- <sup>т</sup> 'bʌtəkʌp ^ 'pædək
- ٤ 'koku: ۹ bu:'ti:k
- dı'keid )• 'æpitait

(You will find these words in spelling form in the answers section.)

#### Audio Unit 5 Revision

# Exercise 1 Vowels and diphthongs

Listen and repeat:

a: and	31	ei and e	at and a:
barn	burn	fade fed	life laugh
are	err	sale sell	tight tart
fast	first	laid led	pike park
cart	curt	paste pest	hide hard
lark	lurk	late let	spike spark
or and	<b>)</b> :	and and	19 and it
toy	tore	phone fawn	fear fee
coin	corn	boat bought	beard bead
boil	ball	code cord	mere me
boy	bore	stoke stork	steered steed
foil	fall	bowl ball	peer pea
eə and	еі	eə and 1ə	up and p:
dare	day	fare fear	poor paw
stared	stayed	pair pier	sure shore
pairs	pays	stare steer	moor more
hair	hay	air ear	dour door
mare	may	snare sneer	tour tore

#### Exercise 2 Triphthongs

Listen and repeat:

егэ	player	pleıə
aiə	tyre	taiə
SIS	loyal	ləɪəl
ອບອ	mower	məvə
auə	shower	∫αυə

#### Exercise 3 Transcription of words

You should now be able to recognise all the vowels, diphthongs and triphthongs of English, and all the plosives. In the next exercise you will hear one-syllable English words composed of these sounds. Each word will be said twice. You must transcribe these words using the phonemic symbols that you have learned in the first three chapters. When you hear the word, write it with phonemic symbols. (1-7)

Now check your answers.

#### **Exercise 4 Production**

The following are all English words; they are given only in phonemic transcription. When you hear the number you should say the word. You will then hear the correct pronunciation,
which you should repeat. If you want to see how these words are spelt when you have finished the exercise, you will find them in the answers section.

١	ki:p	))	dлk
۲	bəut	١٢	kəup
٣	клр	١٣	døg
٤	dɜːt	۱ ٤	kauəd
0	baık	10	beık
٦	kæb	١٦	taid
٧	geit	1 V	bıəd
٨	keəd	١٨	put
٩	taıəd	١٩	bлg
۱.	b3:d	۲.	daut

#### Exercise • Fortis / Lenis discrimination

When you hear the word, say "fortis" if you hear it as ending with a fortis consonant, and "lenis" if you hear it as ending with a lenis consonant. You will then hear the correct answer and the word will be said again for you to repeat.

	Fortis	Lenis
١	right rait	ride raid
۲	bat bæt	bad bæd
٣	bet bet	bed bed
٤	leak li:k	league ling
٥	feet fi:t	feed fi:d
٦	right raɪt	ride raid
٧	tack task	tag tæg
٨	rope rəup	robe rəub
٩	mate meit	made meid
۱.	beat bi:t	bead bird

#### Audio Unit 6 Fricatives and affricates

Exercise 1 Repetition of words containing fricatives Listen and repeat (words given in spelling and transcription):

f fin fin	offer pfə	laugh la:f
$\Lambda$ vat vast	over əuvə	leave li:v
thing $\theta_{IJ}$	method meθəd	breath breθ
ð these ði:z	other Aðə	breathe bri:ð
s sad sæd	lesser lesə	moss mps
z zoo zu:	lazy leizi	lose lu:z
∫ show ∫ <b>ວ</b> ບ	washing wa∫ıŋ	rush r∧∫

Exercise 2 Identification

Write the symbol for the fricative you hear in each word.

- a) initial position (1-°)
- b) medial position (٦-١٠)
- c) final position (11-10)

Now check your answers.

# Exercise 3 Production

When you hear the number, pronounce the word, giving particular attention to the fricatives. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

ði:z these	٦ fif0 fifth
------------	--------------

- <sup>γ</sup> feiθ faith <sup>γ</sup>  $\int Iv ∂z$  shivers
- ۳ heðə heather ^ bıheıv behave
- ٤ si:∫o: seashore ۹ si:ʒə seizure
- feðəz feathers \• læ∫ız lashes

Exercise 4 Repetition of fricative and affricate pairs Listen and repeat:

a) Initial  $\int$  and  $t\int$ 

∫pp t∫pp (shop, chop)
∫i:t t∫i:t (sheet, cheat)
∫u:z t∫u:z (shoes, choose)

b) Medial  $\int$  and  $t \int$ 

li:fiz li:tfiz (leashes, leeches) wofin wotfin (washing, watching) bæfiz bætfiz (bashes, batches)

c) Final  $\int$  and  $t \int$ 

mæ∫ mæt∫ (mash, match) kæ∫ kæt∫ (cash, catch) wı∫ wıt∫ (wish, witch)

d) Medial 3 and d3

leʒə ledʒə (leisure, ledger) pleʒə pledʒə (pleasure, pledger) li:ʒən li:dʒən (lesion, legion)

Exercise 5 Discrimination between fricatives and affricates

You will hear some of the words from Exercise  $\xi$ . When you hear the word, say "A" if you hear the word on the left, or "B" if you hear the word on the right. You will then hear the correct answer and the word will be said again for you to repeat.

А	В
∫op	t∫ɒp
kæ∫	kæt∫
wɒ∫ɪŋ	wɒt∫ıŋ
∫u:z	t∫u:z
li:3ən	li:dʒən
bæ∫ız	bæt∫ız
∫i:t	t∫i:t
lezə	ledʒə
li:∫ız	li:t∫ız
wı∫	wīt∫
pleʒə	pledʒə
mæ∫	mæt∫

Exercise 6 Repetition of sentences containing fricatives and affricates Listen and repeat:

١	See the size of the fish	si: ðə saız əv ðə fı∫
۲	Jeff chose four sausages	dʒef t∫ə∪z fɔ: sɒsɪdʒız
٣	The view is the chief feature	ðə vju: ız ðə tʃi:f fi:tʃə
٤	She has five choices	∫i hæz faıv t∫oısız
٥	I watch the house for Suzie	aı mots ðə haus fə su:zi
٦	Save this cheese for the chef	seıv ðıs t∫i:z fə ðə ∫ef

#### Audio Unit 7 Further consonants

Exercise 1 Repetition of words containing a velar nasal

Listen and repeat; take care not to pronounce a plosive after the velar nasal.

hæŋ	hæŋə
suŋıŋ	røŋ
rлŋ	bæŋɪŋ
θιŋ	rıŋ

Exercise 2 Velar nasal with and without g WORDS OF ONE MORPHEME Listen and repeat:

fıŋgə	finger
æŋgə	anger
bæŋgə	Bangor
hлŋgə	hunger

æŋgl angle

#### WORDS OF TWO MORPHEMES

#### Listen and repeat:

sıŋə	singer
	0

hæŋə hanger

longing longing

rıŋıŋ ringing

bæŋə banger

# Exercise3 "Clear" and "dark"]

#### "CLEAR I" BEFORE VOWELS

#### Listen and repeat:

laı lie ləu low lu:s loose laud loud li:k leak lɔ: law

#### "DARK 1" BEFORE PAUSE

#### Listen and repeat:

fıl fill	peil pale
bel bell	mail mile
ni:l kneel	kıl kill

#### "DARK 1" BEFORE CONSONANTS

#### Listen and repeat:

help help	feild failed
filθ filth	mīlk milk
belt belt	wel∫ Welsh

#### Exercise 4 r

Listen and repeat, concentrating on not allowing the tongue to make contact with the roof of the mouth in pronouncing this consonant:

eərin airing	reərs rarer
ri:rait rewrite	herin herring
terərist terrorist	mırə mirror
ærəu arrow	ro:rin roaring

#### Exercise $\circ$ j and w

### Listen and repeat:

ju: you	wei way
jo:n yawn	wa: war
jıə year	win win
juə your	weə wear

#### Exercise 6 Dictation of words

When you hear the word, write it down using phonemic symbols. Each word will be said three times; you should pause the CD if you need more time for writing. (1-17)

Check your answers.

Exercise  ${}^{\forall}$  Repetition of sentences with nasal consonants and l, r, w, j

Listen and repeat:

One woman was the winner	wan wumən wəz də winə
I'm on a really new liner	aım on ə rıəli nju: laınə
Will you learn rowing	wıl ju l3:n rəviŋ
No way will Mary marry you	nəo wei wil meəri mæri ju:
We were away a year	wi war əwei ə jiə
Wear the yellow woollen one	weə ðə jeləu wulən wʌn
	I'm on a really new liner Will you learn rowing No way will Mary marry you We were away a year

#### Audio Unit 8 Consonant clusters

Exercise 1 Devoicing of I, r, w, j

When l, r, w, j follow p, t or k in syllable-initial position they are produced as voiceless, slightly fricative sounds.

Listen and repeat:

ple1 play	tre1 tray	klıə clear
prei pray	twin twin	kraı cry
pju: pew	tju:n tune	kju: queue

Exercise 2 Repetition of initial clusters TWO CONSONANTS

Listen and repeat:

spot	spot	plau	plough
stəun	stone	twist	twist
skeit	skate	kri:m	cream
sfiə	sphere	рјиә	pure
smaıl	smile	fleım	flame
snəu	snow	∫rıŋk	shrink
stem	slam	vju:	view
swit∫	switch	0wo:t	thwart

### THREE CONSONANTS

#### Listen and repeat:

sple1 splay	strei	stray	skru: screw
sprei spray	stju:	stew	skw⊅∫ squash
spju: spew			skju: skew

Exercise 3 Final plosive-plus-plosive clusters

a) When one plosive is followed by another at the end of a syllable, the second plosive is usually the only one that can be clearly heard. In this exercise, take care not to make an audible release of the first plosive.

Listen and repeat:

pækt	packed	rıgd	rigged
bægd	bagged	dлkt	duct
dropt	dropped	lept	leapt
rɒbd	robbed	græbd	grabbed

b) It is difficult to hear the difference between, for example, 'dropped back' and 'drop back', since in the normal pronunciation only the last plosive of the cluster (the b of b{k) is audibly released. The main difference is that the three- consonant cluster is longer.

Listen and repeat:

	А	В	
græbd bəu0	grabbed both	græb bəuθ	grab both
laıkt ðəm	liked them	laık ðəm	like them
hopt bæk	hopped back	hop bæk	hop back
lukt fɔ:wəd	looked forward	luk fo:wəd	look forward
pegd daun	pegged down	peg daun	peg down
wıpt kri:m	whipped cream	wıp kri:m	whip cream

Exercise 4 Recognition

Look at the items of Exercise (b) above. When you hear one of them, say "A" if you hear an item from the left-hand column, or "B" if you hear one from the right- hand column. You will then hear the correct answer and the item will be said again for you to repeat. (1-7)

#### Exercise • Final clusters

Listen and repeat:

helps	helps	nekst	next
sıksθ	sixth	reındzd	ranged
θæŋkt	thanked	risks	risks
edʒd	edged	ri:t∫t	reached
twelfθs	twelfths	teksts	texts

Exercise 6 Pronouncing consonant clusters

When you hear the number, say the word. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

- skreipt ۳ kləuuðz
- ۲ grʌdʒd ٤ skripts

- ° kr∧n∫t <sup>V</sup> pl∧ndʒd
- <sup>¬</sup> θrəυnz <sup>∧</sup> kwen∫

(The spelling of these words is given in the answers section.)

Exercise  $\forall$  Repetition of sentences with consonant clusters

Listen and repeat:

- Strong trucks climb steep gradients stron traks klaim sti:p greidients
- Y He cycled from Sloane Square through Knightsbridge hi saikld from sloon skweo θru: naitsbridz
- <sup>γ</sup> Old texts rescued from the floods were preserved auld teksts reskju:d from ða fλndz wa priz3:vd
- <sup>2</sup> Six extra trays of drinks were spread round siks ekstrə treiz əv driŋks wə spred əraund
- ° Thick snowdrifts had grown swiftly  $\theta_{Ik}$  snoudrifts od groun swiftli
- <sup>7</sup> Spring prompts flowers to grow sprig prompts flauez to grou

#### Audio Unit 9 Weak syllables

# Exercise 1 "Schwa" ə

TWO-SYLLABLE WORDS WITH WEAK FIRST SYLLABLE AND STRESS ON THE SECOND SYLLABLE

Listen and repeat:

,	Weak syllable spelt 'a'		
;	about ə <sup>j</sup> baut	ahead ə <sup>j</sup> hed	again ə <sup>i</sup> gen
2	Spelt 'o'		
(	obtuse əb'tju:s	oppose ə'pəuz	offend ə'fend
	Spelt 'u'		
5	suppose sə'pəuz	support sə'pə:t	suggest sə'dzest
	Spelt 'or'		
t	forget fə'get	forsake fə'seik	forbid fə'bıd
	Spelt 'er'		
]	perhaps pə'hæps	per cent pə'sent	perceive pə'si:v
	Spelt 'ur'		
5	survive sə'vaıv	surprise sə'praız	survey (verb) sə'vei
TWO-S SYLLA		WITH WEAK SECO	ND SYLLABLE AND STRESS ON THE FIRST
T :			

Listen and repeat:

Weak syllable spelt 'a'		
ballad 'bæləd	Alan 'ælən	necklace 'nekləs
Spelt 'o'		
melon 'melən	paddock 'pædək	purpose 'p3:pas

Spelt 'e'		
hundred 'hAndrəd	sullen 's∧lən	open 'əupən
Spelt 'u'		
circus 's3:kəs	autumn 'ɔːtəm	album 'ælbəm
Spelt 'ar'		
tankard 'tæŋkəd	custard 'kʌstəd	standard 'stændəd
Spelt 'or'		
juror 'ðzvərə	major 'me1d3ə	manor 'mænə
Spelt 'er'		
longer 'løŋgə	eastern 'i:stən	mother 'mʌðə
Spelt 'ure'		
nature ' neīt∫ə	posture 'pɒst∫ə	creature 'kri:t∫ə
Spelt 'ous'		
ferrous 'ferəs	vicious 'vı∫əs	gracious 'grei∫əs
Spelt 'ough'		
thorough 'θʌrə	borough 'bʌrə	
Spelt 'our'		
saviour 'seivjə	succour 'sʌkə	colour 'kʌlə

THREE-SYLLABLE WORDS WITH WEAK SECOND SYLLABLE AND STRESS ON THE FIRST SYLLABLE Listen and repeat:

1			
Weak syllable spelt 'a'			
workaday 'w3:kədei	roundabout 'raundəbaut		
Spelt 'o'			
customer 'kʌstəmə	pantomime 'pæntəmaım		
Spelt 'u			
perjury 'p3:d3əri	venturer 'vent∫ərə		
Spelt 'ar'			
standardise 'stændəda1z	jeopardy 'dzepədi		
Spelt 'er'			
wonderland 'wAndəlænd	yesterday 'jestədeı		
Exercise 2 Close front vowels			
WEAK INITIAL SYLLABLES			

# Listen and repeat:

excite	ık'saıt	resume	rı'zju:m
exist	ıg'zıst	relate	rı'leit
inane	ı'neın	effect	ı'fekt
device	dı'vaıs	ellipse	ılıps

#### WEAK FINAL SYLLABLES

Listen and repeat:

city	'sıti	many	'meni
funny	'fʌni	lazy	'leızı
easy	'i:zi	only	'əunli
busy	'bızi	lady	'leıdi

Exercise 3 Syllabic I

Listen and repeat:

	bottle	'bɒtļ	bottled	'bɒtļd	bottling	ˈbɒtļɪŋ
	muddle	'mʌdļ	muddled	'mʌdļd	muddling	ˈmʌdļɪŋ
	tunnel	'tʌnl	tunnelled	'tʌnļd	tunnelling	'tʌnļiŋ
	wrestle	'resl	wrestled	'resld	wrestling	'reslb1ŋ
Exercis	se 4 Syllabic	n				
Listen	and repeat:					
	burden	ˈbɜːdn	burdened	ˈbɜːdnd	burdening	ˈbɜːdnʌŋ
	frighten	'fraɪtņ	frightened	'fra1tnd	frightening	g'fraitnin
	listen	'lısņ	listened	'lısņd	listening	'lısnıŋ

Exercise 5 Transcription

Transcribe the following words when you hear them, giving particular attention to the weak syllables. Each word will be said twice. If you need more time for writing, pause the CD and restart it when you are ready for the next word. (1-1)

Now check your answers.

#### Audio Unit 10 Word stress

Exercise 1 Stress marking

When you hear the word, repeat it, then place a stress mark (') before the stressed syllable.

enəmi	enemy	səbtrækt	subtract
kəlekt	collect	elıfənt	elephant
kæpītļ	capital	əbzs:və	observer
ka:neı∫ņ	carnation	profit	profit
pærədais	paradise	entətein	entertain

Now check your marking with the correct version.

Exercise 2 Pronouncing from transcription

The following are British place names. When you hear the number, pronounce them with the stress as marked. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

- ۱ '∫rəuzbri ۲ 'bɜ:mɪŋəm
- <sup>γ</sup> ppl'perəυ <sup>γ</sup> ,nɔ:'θæmptən
- $^{r}$  ,æbə'di:n ^ d $\Lambda$ n'di:
- ٤ ,wulvə'hæmptən ٩ 'kæntəbri
- ° ,æbə'rıstwəθ \· 'beızıŋstəuk

(The spelling for these names is given in the answers section.)

Exercise 3 Placing stress on verbs, adjectives and nouns When you hear the number, pronounce the word with the appropriate stress. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

# TWO-SYLLABLE WORDS

#### VERBS

disi:v deceive	٦	əbdzekt object
۲ ∫a:pən sharpen	٧	koŋkə conquer
۳ kəlekt collect	٨	riko:d record
<sup>٤</sup> prənauns pronounce	٩	pɒlı∫ polish
° kopi copy	۱.	dipend depend
ADJECTIVES		
i:zi easy	٦	jeləu yellow
۲ kəmpli:t complete	٧	з:li early
۳ meɪdʒə major	٨	səblaım sublime
٤ ələun alone	٩	hevi heavy
° biləu below	۱.	əlaiv alive
NOUNS		
۱ bi∫əp bishop	٦	pfis office
۲ æspekt aspect	٧	ərei array
۳ əfeə affair	٨	pətrəul patrol
٤ ka:pit carpet	٩	dentist dentist
° difi:t defeat	۱.	o:təm autumn

# THREE-SYLLABLE WORDS

VERBS		
) entətein entertain	٦	ılısıt elicit
<sup>7</sup> rezərekt resurrect	٧	koməndıə commandeer
۳ əbændən abandon	٨	ımædʒın imagine
<sup>٤</sup> dılıvə deliver	٩	dıt3:min determine
° IntərApt interrupt	۱.	sepəreit separate

#### ADJECTIVES

١	ımpɔ:tņt	important	٦	instant	insolent
۲	ınə:məs	enormous	٧	fæntæstik	fantastic
٣	derəlıkt	derelict	٨	negətiv	negative
٤	desimļ	decimal	٩	ækjərət	accurate
٥	æbnɔ:məl	abnormal	۱.	лnlaıkli	unlikely
NOUN	NS				
١	f3:nīt∫ə	furniture	٦	kə0i:drəl	cathedral
۲	dıza:stə	disaster	٧	holəkə:st	holocaust
٣	dısaıpļ	disciple	٨	trænzistə	transistor
٤	æmbjələns	ambulance	٩	æksıdņt	accident
٥	kwontəti	quantity	۱.	təmp:təu	tomato

#### Audio Unit 11 Complex word stress

Exercise 1 Stress-carrying suffixes

a) When you hear the number, pronounce the word with stress on the suffix. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

١	-ain:	entertain	,entə'tein	٤	-ese:	Portuguese	.pɔːt∫ə'giːz
۲	-ee:	refugee	,refju'dʒi:	٥	-ette:	cigarette	,sigr'et
٣	-eer:	mountaineer	.maunti'niə	٦	-esque	e: picturesque	.pıkt∫r'esk

b) When you hear the stem word, say the word with the given suffix, putting the stress on that suffix. In these examples, a secondary stress comes on the penultimate syllable of the stem.

employ+- ee	absent+-ee
engine+-eer (engineer)	profit+-eer
Sudan+-ese	Pekin+-ese
usher+-ette	statue+-ette (statuette)

Exercise 2 Neutral suffixes

When you hear the stem word, add the suffix, without changing the stress.

comfort+-able	power+-less
anchor+-age	hurried+-ly
refuse+-al (refusal)	punish+-ment
wide+-en (widen)	yellow+-ness
wonder+-ful	poison+-ous
amaze+-ing (amazing)	glory+-fy (glorify)
devil+-ish	other+-wise
bird+-like	fun+-y (funny)

#### Exercise 3 Stress-moving suffixes

When you hear the stem word, say it with the suffix added and put the stress on the last syllable of the stem.

advantage+-ous	injure+-ious (injurious)
photo+-graphy	tranquil+-ity (tranquillity)
proverb+-ial	reflex+-ive
climate+ -ic (climatic)	embryo+-logy

#### Exercise 4 Compound words

When you hear the number, say the item.

- a) First element adjectival, stress on second element
  - ا loudspeaker ٤ second-class
  - ۲ bad-tempered ه three-wheeler
  - ۳ headquarters
- b) First element nominal, stress on first element
  - ۲ typewriter ٤ suitcase
  - ۲ car ferry ° teacup
  - ۳ sunrise
- c) Mixture of types (a) and (b)
  - ۱ long-suffering ٤ red-blooded
  - ۲ gunman ° gearbox
  - ۳ shoelace ۲ overweight

#### Exercise • Word-class pairs

You will hear the number of the item and its word-class. Stress the second syllable if it is a verb; stress the first syllable if it is a noun or adjective.

habstract (adjective)	۱.	object (noun)
۲ conduct (verb)	11	perfect (adjective)
۳ contract (noun)	١٢	permit (verb)
٤ contrast (verb)	۱۳	present (adjective)
° desert (noun)	١٤	produce (verb)
۲ escort (noun)	10	protest (noun)
<sup>v</sup> export (verb)	١٦	rebel (verb)
^ import (noun)	١٧	record (noun)
۹ insult (verb)	١٨	subject (noun)

#### Audio Unit 12 Weak forms

Words occurring in their weak forms are printed in smaller type than stressed words and strong forms, for example:

'we can 'wait 'wi: kən 'weit

Exercise 1 Sentences for repetition Listen and repeat:

-	
We can 'wait for the 'bus	wi kən 'weıt fə ðə 'bʌs
'How do the 'lights 'work	'hau də ðə 'laıts 'wɜ:k
There are some 'new 'books I must 'read	ðər a səm 'nju: 'boks aı mas 'ri:d
She 'took her 'aunt for a 'drive	∫i 'tuk ər 'a:nt fər ə 'draıv
The 'basket was 'full of 'things to 'eat	da 'ba:skıt wəz 'ful əv 'θıŋz tu 'i:t
'Why should a 'man 'earn 'more than a 'woman?	<sup>j</sup> waı ∫əd ə 'mæn '3:n 'mɔ: dən ə 'wumən
You 'ought to 'have your 'own 'car	ju 'ə:t tə 'hæv jər 'əun 'ka:
He 'wants to 'come and 'see us at 'home	hi 'wɒnt∫ tə 'kʌm ən 'si: əs at 'həum
'Have you 'taken them from 'that 'box?	<sup>j</sup> hæv ju 'teıkən ðəm frəm 'ðæt 'bɒks
It's 'true that he was 'late, but his 'car could have 'broken 'down	ıts 'tru: ðət i wəz 'leıt bət ız 'ka: kəd əv 'brəukən 'daun
I shall 'take as 'much as I 'want	aı ∫ı 'teık əz 'm∧t∫ əz aı 'wɒnt
'Why am I 'too 'late to 'see him to 'day?	'waı əm aı 'tu: 'leit tə 'si: im tə'dei

Exercise 2 Weak forms with pre-vocalic and pre-consonantal forms

# DIFFERENT VOWELS

When you hear the number, say the phrase, using the appropriate weak form

the	١	the apple	di æpļ	$\gamma$ the pear	da pea
to	٣	to Edinburgh	tu edņbrə	٤ to Leeds	tə li:dz
do	0	so do I	səu du ai	۶ so do they	səu də ðei
LINK	NC	G CONSONAN	Т		
a/an	٧	an ear	an 1ə	^ a foot	ə fut
(The o	the	r words in this s	section have "linking	ng r".)	
her	٩	her eyes	hər aız	• her nose	ha nəuz
your	11	your uncle	jar ar)kl	۲۲ your friend	jə frend
for	۱۲	for Alan	far ælən	۱٤ for Mike	fə maık
there	١٥	there aren't	ðər a:nt	יז there couldn't	ðə kudnt
are	١٧	these are ours	ði:z ər auəz	1A these are mine	eði:z a mam
were	۱۹	you were out	ju: war aut	۲۰ you were there	e ju: wə ðeə

### Exercise 3 Transcription

(Note: this exercise is a long one, and it is possible to go directly to Exercise <sup>£</sup> if you wish.)

Write the following sentences in transcription, taking care to give the correct weak forms for the words printed in smaller type.

- 'Leave the 'rest of the 'food for 'lunch
- Y 'Aren't there some 'letters for her to 'open?
- <sup> $\Upsilon$ </sup> 'Where do the 'eggs 'come from?
- ٤ 'Read his 'book and 'write some 'notes
- At 'least we can 'try and 'help

Now correct your transcription, using the version in the answers section.

#### Exercise <sup>2</sup> Pronunciation of weak forms

This exercise uses the sentences of Exercise  $\mathcal{V}$ . When you hear the number, say the sentence, giving particular attention to the weak forms. (1- $\circ$ )

#### Audio Unit 13 Revision

Exercise 1 Reading unfamiliar words from transcription

The following are British place names written in transcription\*. When you hear the number, say the word, making sure that the stress is correctly placed. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

- ו 'kəult∫ıstə'
- ۲ kaː'laıl
- ۳ 'herıfəd
- ٤ 'skan °o:b
- ° glə'mə:gən
- ۰ .hpli'hed
- ∀ 'fræmlıŋəm
- $\wedge$  sav $\theta$ 'end
- ۹ ′t∫eltnəm
- ۰ .invə'nes

Exercise 2 Transcription of unfamiliar words

The following are also place names. Each will be said twice; write what you hear in transcription, including stress marks. (1-1+)

Now check your transcriptions with the correct version. Exercise "Stress placement in sentences

Put a stress mark 'before each syllable you would expect to be stressed in the following sentences. For example, given the sentence 'I think I'll be late for work' you should mark the words 'think', 'late' and 'work' like this:

I 'think Ill be 'late for 'work

<sup>\*</sup> Spelling is given in the Answers section.

- James decided to type the letter himself
- <sup>۲</sup> The plane was approaching the runway at high speed
- $^{r}$  Try to see the other persons point of view
- <sup>2</sup> You put your brakes on when the light turns to red
- In a short time the house was full of children

Now correct your stress marking by looking at the versions given in the answers section.

#### Exercise 4 Pronunciation of stressed syllables

When you hear the number, say the sentence from the list in Exercise  $\mathcal{V}$ , taking care to stress the correct syllables. You will then hear the correct version, which you should repeat. (1- $\circ$ )

#### Exercise • Weak forms

In the following sentences, those words which are not stressed must be pronounced in their weak forms. When you hear the number, say the sentence:

- ) 'Heres a 'present for your 'brother
- <sup>r</sup> These are 'all the 'pictures that are 'left
- $\checkmark$  There 'could be a 'bit of 'rain at the 'end of the 'morning
- ٤ A 'few 'people 'asked him a 'question
- Co'llect your 'luggage be'fore 'leaving the 'train

#### Audio Unit 14 Elisions and rhythm

#### Exercise 1 Rhythm and the foot

Listen to the following sentences. Put a stress mark ' on each stressed syllable, then divide the sentences into feet by placing a dotted line I at each foot boundary.

*Example:* | 'Come to the | 'party on | 'Monday | 'evening |

- <sup>1</sup> Each person in the group was trained in survival
- Y About three hundred soldiers were lined up
- $^{\text{r}}$  Buying a new computer is a major expense
- ٤ All the people who came to the wedding were from England
- Try to be as tactful as you can when you talk to him

#### Exercise 2 Elisions in natural speech Read this before starting this exercise

This Audio Unit gives you practice in recognising places where elision occurs in natural speech (i.e. where one or more phonemes which would be pronounced in careful speech are not pronounced). The examples are extracted from dialogues between speakers who are discussing differences between two similar pictures. Each extract is given three times. You must transcribe each item, using phonemic symbols so that the elision can be seen in the transcription. For example, if you heard 'sixth time' pronounced without the  $\cdot$  fricative at the end of the first word you would write sIks taIm, and the elision would be clearly indicated in this way. You can use the <sup>h</sup> symbol to indicate a devoiced weak vowel, as in 'potato' p<sup>h</sup>tettao.

You will probably need to pause your CD or tape to give yourself more time to write the transcription. This is a difficult exercise, but explanatory notes are given in the answers section.

# Transcription

# ONE ELISION

- a beautiful girl
- $\gamma$  we seem to have a definite one there
- $^{\circ}$  could it be a stool rather than a table
- ٤ a fifth in
- any peculiarities about that
- $\gamma$  and how many stripes on yours
- $\forall$  well it appears to button up its got three
- $\wedge$  or the what do you call it the sill

# TWO ELISIONS

- ۹ by column into columns all right
- I diamond shaped patch
- 1) and I should think from experience of kitchen knives
- 17 what shall we do next go down

#### THREE ELISIONS

 $\mathbf{M}^{\tau}$  the top of the bottle is projecting outwards into the room

Now check your transcriptions.

#### Audio Unit 15 Tones

Exercise 1 Repetition of tones Listen and repeat:

Fall:	\yes	\no	\well	\four
Rise:	/yes	/no	/well	/four
Fall-rise:	vyes	vno	vwell	vfour
Rise-fall:	лyes	лno	۸well	лfour
Level:	_yes	_no	_well	_four

#### Exercise 2 Production of tones

When you hear the number, say the syllable with the tone indicated:

- ۱ /them
- ۲ \why
- ۳ vwell

- ٤ \John
- ° /what
- ٦ <sub>A</sub>no
- ∨ \here
- ۸ /you
- ۹ /now
- $\cdot \cdot$  \end
- Exercise **\*** Identification

You will hear each syllable twice. Write an appropriate tone symbol. (1-1.) Now check your answers. Exercise 4 Repetition of tones on polysyllabic words

Listen and repeat:

\ <u>ob</u> viously	de\lightful	maga\ <u>zine</u>
/ <u>pos</u> itive	re/ <u>lat</u> ed	disa/ppeared
v <u>nor</u> mally	av <u>ppar</u> ently	av <u>round</u>
<u>∧terr</u> ible	e <u>nnor</u> mousdis	angree
		/ <u>pos</u> itive re/ <u>lat</u> ed v <u>nor</u> mally av <u>ppar</u> ently

Exercise 5 Production in context

When you hear the sentence, say the response with the tone indicated.

Hello, is that <i>TTI.VI</i> ?	/yes
Do you know any scientists?	vsome
Keep away from that road!	\why
How many dogs have you got?	\two
Have you ever heard such a terrible thing?	лno
What colour is your car?	\red
Do you want my plate?	/please
Don't you like it?	vyes
You haven't seen my watch, have you?	/no
What was the weather like?	\wet

#### Audio Unit 16 The tone-unit

#### Exercise 1 Identifying the tonic syllable

Listen and repeat, then underline the tonic syllable.

- We could go by bus
- ۲ Of course its broken
- $^{\text{T}}$  The car was where Id left it
- ٤ How much is the biggest one
- I knew it would go wrong
- ٦ It was too cold

- $\vee$  Here it is
- $\wedge$  That was a loud noise
- <sup>9</sup> We could go from Manchester
- ۱۰ Have you finished

Now check your answers.

Exercise 2 Pronouncing the tonic syllable

When you hear the number, say the item with the tonic syllable in the place indicated, using a falling tone:

- Dont do <u>that</u>
- ۲ Dont <u>do</u> that
- $\nabla$  <u>Dont</u> do that
- ٤ Write your <u>name</u>
- Write your name
- ۲ <u>Write</u> your name
- V Heres my pen
- $\wedge$  Heres <u>my</u> pen
- ۹ <u>Heres</u> my pen
- Why dont you <u>try</u>
- Why dont <u>you</u> try
- Why <u>dont</u> you try
- ۱۳ <u>Why</u> dont you try

# Exercise " Repetition of tone-units

Listen and repeat, trying to copy the intonation exactly; no transcription is given.

What time will they come

A day return to London

The North Pole would be warmer

Have you decided to buy it

I recorded them on cassette

# Exercise <sup>2</sup> Partial analysis of tone-units

The items of Exercise  $\gamma$  will now be said again twice, and you must do the following things:

- a) Identify the tonic syllable and underline it.
- b) Identify the tone (in these items the only tones used are fall and rise) and place the appropriate tone mark before the tonic syllable.
- c) Identify any stressed syllables preceding the tonic syllable and place a stress mark' before each.

You may need to pause the CD to allow enough time to complete the analysis of each item.

- What time will they come
- A day return to London
- The North Pole would be warmer
- Have you decided to buy it
- I recorded them on cassette

Now check your transcription.

#### Exercise • Reading intonation transcription

When you hear the number, read the sentence with the intonation indicated by the transcription.

- 1 'Is there a / car -park
- $\gamma$  'Meet me at the \bus -stop
- $\Gamma$  It 'really 'isnt the v<u>best</u>
- $\xi \quad I \setminus cycled \text{ to -work}$
- /<u>What</u> was it -called

#### Audio Unit 17 Intonation

#### Exercise \ Repetition of tonic syllable plus tail

Listen and repeat, taking care to continue the pitch movement of the tone over the tail:

-bought it	$\setminus$ <u>Four</u> of them -came	\Why do you -do it
-bought it	/ <u>Four</u> of them -came	/ <u>Why</u> do you -do it
-bought it	v <u>Four</u> of them -came	v <u>Why</u> do you -do it
-bought it	$_{\Lambda}$ Four of them -came	۸ <u>Why</u> do you -do it
	-bought it	-bought it / <u>Four</u> of them -came -bought it v <u>Four</u> of them -came

#### Exercise Y Production of tonic syllable plus tail

The items from Exercise  $\$  will be used again. When you hear the number, say the item with the tone that is marked. (1-17)

#### Exercise 3 High and low head

The following tone-units will be repeated with high and low heads. Listen and repeat:

'Taxes have 'risen by 'five per  $\ \underline{cent}$ 

. Taxes have . risen by . five per  $\cent$ 

'Havent you 'asked the 'boss for /more

. Havent you .asked the .boss for  $/\underline{more}$ 

We 'dont have 'time to 'read the \paper

We .dont have .time to .read the paper

'Wouldnt you 'like to 'read it on the / train

.Wouldnt you .like to .read it on the / train

# Exercise <sup>£</sup> Transcription of tone-units

Each item will be pronounced as one tone-unit, and will be heard three times. You must do the following things:

- a) Identify the tonic syllable and underline it.
- b) Decide which tone it carries (only \, / and v are used in this exercise) and put the appropriate tonemark before the tonic syllable.
- c) Listen for stressed syllables preceding the tonic syllable and mark them high (') or low (,).
- d) Listen for stressed syllables in the tail and mark them (if there are any) with a raised dot (•)•

You will probably need to pause the CD to complete the transcription of each item.

- Now heres the weather forecast
- ۲ You didnt say anything about rates
- <sup> $ilde{v}$ </sup> A few years ago they were top
- ٤ No one could say the cinema was dead
- Is there anything you wouldnt eat
- ۲ Have you ever considered writing
- $\vee$  That was what he claimed to be
- <sup>A</sup> We try to do our shopping in the market
- <sup>9</sup> But I never go there now
- It wouldnt be difficult to find out

Now check your transcriptions. If there is time, you will find it useful to go back to the start of Exercise  $\xi$  and practise repeating the items while looking at the transcriptions.

#### Audio Unit 18 Intonation: extracts from conversation

The following extracts are from the same recorded conversations as were used in Audio Unit  $1 \pm$ . Each extract will be heard three times, with four or five seconds between repetitions. Mark the intonation; the instructions for how to do this are given in the text for Audio Unit  $1^{\vee}$ , Exercise  $\pm$ . In addition, for numbers  $1 + 1^{\vee}$  you will need to use the vertical line | to separate tone-units.

#### Transcription

ONE TONE-UNIT

- 1. it looks like a French magazine
- $\gamma$ . the television is plugged in
- $\tilde{}$ . does your colander have a handle
- $\varepsilon$ . a flap on it
- °. you tell me about yours
- well dark hair
- <sup>v</sup>. more than halfway

- $^{\Lambda}$ . but er not in the other corners
- <sup>9</sup>. a sort of Daily Sketch format newspaper

# TWO TONE-UNITS

- ۰. on the top on the lid
- 1). well theyre on alternate steps theyre not on every step
- 1 °, what about the vent at the back
- ۱۳. and a ladys handbag hanging on a nail on the wall
- ۱٤. you do the left hand bit of the picture and Ill do the right hand bit
- <sup>1</sup>°. were being very particular but we just havent hit upon one of the differences yet

#### THREE TONE-UNITS

17. and what about your television two knobs in the front Now check your intonation marking.

#### Audio Unit 19 Further practice on connected speech

Exercise 1 Dictation

You will hear five sentences spoken rapidly. Each will be given three times. Write each sentence down in *normal spelling*.  $(1-\circ)$ 

Compare what you have written with the correct version.

#### Exercise 2 Transcription

Now skip backwards on the CD and listen to the above sentences again; this time *transcribe* what you hear, using mainly phonemic symbols but also using raised h (<sup>h</sup>) to indicate a weak voiceless vowel, as in 'potato'  $p^{h}$ teIt@U. Do not mark intonation. (1-°)

#### Exercise 3 Reading intonation

When you hear the number, say the sentence with the intonation indicated. You will then hear the correct pronunciation, which you should repeat.

- $\cdot$ . I .thought you were on <u>holi</u>day this -week
- $\gamma$ . v<u>Some</u> -day | Im ,going to get .round to .mending the <u>fuse</u>
- ". There were a \lot | 'not just 'one or vtwo
- $\epsilon$ . 'Didnt 'anyone 'try to / stop them
- °. 'Leave it till 'after youve 'had some /tea | .otherwise youll be .too .full to \eat

#### Exercise *É* Study passage

The following passage will first be read as continuous speech, then each tone-unit will be heard separately, twice.

They're building wind farms all over the area where we live. We can see long lines of them along the tops of the hills, and down by the coast there are wind turbines out at

sea and along the shore. They only build them where there's plenty of wind, obviously. We certainly get a lot of that near us. You could say the landscape's been transformed, but most people don't seem to mind.

- a) Transcribe each tone-unit using phonemic symbols, but paying attention to connected-speech features such as elisions and assimilations.
- b) Add intonation transcription to each tone-unit.

Check your transcription.

#### Audio Unit 20 Transcription of connected speech

Listen to the recording on which this exercise is based:

it was rather frightening because there there are scores of these bicycles and er you really have to have your wits about you all the time because the you know they stop suddenly and it's awkward because the traffic regulations are more honoured in the breach than the observance I'm not in not really sure what regulations there are er for instance the er traffic lights red red lights do not apply if you're turning right erm which means that if you're coming up to a traffic light and there's erm someone stopped who wants to go straight on or turn left and you want to turn right then you pull out overtake them and then cut across in front

The above passage will now be heard divided up into <sup>YV</sup> tone-units, each of which will be heard three times. Incomplete tone-units (those without a tonic syllable) are omitted. The main object of the exercise is to transcribe the intonation; however, for a harder exercise taking more time, you can also write a transcription using phonemic symbols plus any non-phonemic symbols you may need. The transcription given in the answers section is in this form.

it was rather frightening because there there are scores of these bicycles you really have to have your wits about you all the time because the you know they stop suddenly its awkward because the traffic regulations are more honoured in the breach than the observance Im not in not really sure what regulations there are for instance the er traffic lights red red lights

do not applyif youre turning rightwhich means thatif youre coming up to a traffic lightsomeone stoppedwho wants to go straight onor turn leftand you want to turn rightthen you pull outovertake themand then cut acrossin frontNow check your transcription.

# Answers to written exercises

#### Chapter 1

- 1. BBC (BBC Pronunciation); ii) RP (Received Pronunciation); iii) GB (General British)
- <sup>7</sup>. Accent is concerned only with pronunciation differences, while dialect refers to all language variation including grammatical and lexical factors.
- ۳. stress
- $\xi$ . a) three (lAV) b) three (ha:f) c) four (rist) d) five (frink) a) two (2it)
  - d) five  $(\int rink)$  e) two (3:t)

#### Chapter 2

- 1 a) Soft palate or velum
  - b) Alveolar ridge
  - c) Front of tongue
  - d) Hard palate
  - e) Lower lip
- ۲ a) Close back rounded
  - b) Close-mid front unrounded
  - c) Open front unrounded
  - d) Close front unrounded
  - e) Close-mid back rounded





You will obviously not have written descriptions identical to the ones given below. The important thing is to check that the sequence of articulatory events is more or less the same.

a) goat

Starting from the position for normal breathing, the back of the tongue is raised to form a closure against the velum (soft palate). The lungs are compressed to produce higher air pressure in the vocal tract and the vocal folds are brought together in the voicing position. The vocal folds begin to vibrate, and the back of the tongue is lowered to allow the compressed air to escape. The tongue is moved to a mid-central vowel and then moves in the direction of a closer, backer vowel: the lips are moderately rounded for the second part. The tongue blade is raised to make a closure against the alveolar ridge, the vocal folds are separated and voicing ceases. Then the compressed air is released quietly and the lips return to an unrounded shape.

b) ape

The tongue is moved slightly upward and forward, and the vocal folds are brought together to begin voicing. The tongue glides to a slightly closer and more central vowel position. Then the lips are pressed together, making a closure, and at the same time the vocal folds are separated so that voicing ceases. The lips are then opened and the compressed air is released quietly, while the tongue is lowered to the position for normal breathing.

۲a)	beik	d) bo:t	g)	bo:d
-----	------	---------	----	------

	b)	gəut	e) tık	h) ga:d
--	----	------	--------	---------

c) daut f) bau i) pi:

a)	speed	spi:d	[spi:d]
b)	partake	pa:teik	[pha <sup>j</sup> theik]
c)	book	buk	[þŭk]
d)	goat	gəut	[gǎut]
e)	car	ka:	[khaː]
f)	bad	bæd	[toed]
g)	appeared	əpıəd	[əphıəd]
h)	toast	təust	[thðust]
i)	stalk	sto:k	[stɔ <sup>j</sup> k]

#### Chapter 6

۱

a)	fı∫ız	e)	ət∫i:v

b) ∫əɪvə f)	лðәz
-------------	------

- c) siksθ g) mezə
- d) ði:z h) əhed
- Starting from the position for normal breathing, the lower lip is brought into contact with the upper teeth. The lungs are compressed, causing air to flow through the constriction, producing fricative noise. The tongue moves to the position for I. The vocal folds are brought together, causing voicing to begin, and at the same time the lower lip is lowered. Then the tongue blade is raised to make a fairly wide constriction in the post-alveolar region and the vocal folds are brought together to begin voicing; the flow of air causes fricative noise. Next, the vocal folds are brought together to begin voicing again and at the same time the tongue is lowered from the constriction position into the I vowel posture. The tongue blade is then raised against the alveolar ridge, forming a constriction which results in fricative noise. This is initially accompanied by voicing, which then dies away. Finally, the tongue is lowered from the alveolar constriction, the vocal folds are separated and normal breathing is resumed.

#### Chapter 7

۲

	Plosives:	p t k b d g
	Fricatives:	fθs∫hvðz3
	Affricates:	t∫ dʒ
	Nasals:	m n ŋ
	Lateral:	1
	Approximants:	r w j
(This course has also mentioned the possibility of $\square$ and		also mentioned the possibility of $\Box$ and $\Box$ .)
	a) səufə c)	stiəriŋ

b) A3:S d) bredkrAm

- e) skweə g) bo:t
- f) æŋgə h) naınti:n
- \* a) The soft palate is raised for the b plosive and remains raised for æ. It is lowered for n, then raised again for the final θ.
  - b) The soft palate remains lowered during the articulation of m, and is then raised for the rest of the syllable.
  - c) The soft palate is raised for the æ vowel, then lowered for ŋ. It is then raised for the g plosive and remains raised for the l.

PRE- INITIAL s	INITIAL k	POST- INITIAL W	PEAK i:	FINAL 1	POST- FINAL d
	ONSET		PEAK		CODA

(It would be possible to treat 1 as pre-final and d as final, but the above analysis is slightly preferable in that d here is a suffix and we know that 1 occurs finally ir 'squeal' skwi:l.)

b)	and the second	FINAL	POST FINAL	- PO	ST- AL 2	
	eı	t L	θ		s	
	PEAK		CODA			
c)	PRE-		POST-			
	INITIAL	INITIAL	INITIAL		FINAL	
	s	р	1	æ		
		ONSET		PEAK	CODA	
d)				POST-	POST-	POST-
	INITIAL		FINAL	FINAL I	FINAL 2	FINAL 3
	t L	e	k	S	t	8
	ONSET	PEA	K i Lik	CC	DDA	alas Romana a

#### Chapter 9

- ) ə pətikjələ probləm əv ðə bəut wəz ə li:k
- v oppin do botl prizentid nou difiklti

- <sup>ε</sup> wi o:t tə meik ə kəlek∫n tə kʌvə ði ikspensız (also possible: kļek∫n)
- fainli dei əraivd ət ə ha:bər ət di edz əv də mauntinz (also possible: ha:br)

١	a) pro'tect	prə'tekt	
	b) 'clamber	'klæmbə	
	c) fes'toon	fes'tu:n	
	d) de'test	dı'test	
	e) 'bellow	'beləu	
	f) 'menace	'menis	
	g) disconnect	,dıskə'nekt	
	h) 'enter	'entərıŋ	('entrıŋ
١	a) 'language	'læŋgw1dz	
	b) 'captain	'kæptın	
	c) ca'reer	kə'rıə	
	d) 'paper	'регрә	
	e) e'vent	ı'vent	
	f) 'jonquil	'dʒɒŋkwıl	
	g) 'injury	'ındʒəri	('ındʒŗi)
	h) co'nnection	kə'nek∫ən	(kə'nek∫ņ)

#### Chapter 11

۱ and ۲

a)	'shop,keeper	'∫ɒp,kiːpə
b)	,open 'ended	,əupən 'endıd
c)	Java'nese	,dza:və'ni:z
d)	'birthmark	'bɜ:θma:k
e)	,anti'clockwise	,æntı'klokwaız
f)	,confir'mation	,konfə'meı∫ņ
g)	,eight'sided	,eit'saidid
h)	'fruitcake	'fru:t,ke1k
i)	de'fective	dı'fektıv
j)	'roof .timber	'ru:f,tımbə

#### Chapter 12

- ) ai wont ə tə pa:k ðæt ka:r əuvə ðeə
- ۲ əv o:l ðə prəpəuzlz ðə wʌn ðət ju: meid wəz ðə siliəst

- ۳ dʒeɪn ən bil kəd əv drivn tu: an from ðə pa:ti (kud is also possible)
- ٤ tə kʌm tə ðə pɔint wpt ∫ī wi du: fa ðə rest əv ðə wi:k
- həz eniwAn got ən aıdıə weər it keim from
- pədestriənz məst o:lweiz ju:z ðə krosinz prəvaidid
- Y i:t∫ wAn waz a p3:fikt igza:mpl av di a:t dat ad bi:n divelapt dea

- In this data there is no evidence of r) contrasting with n, since r) never occurs except before k and g. So all phonetic \r consonants are phonemic n.
  - a) Øing
  - b)  $\theta$ ink
  - c)  $\theta$ inking
  - d) fingə
  - e) sıngə
  - f) singing
- ۲ a) saund
  - b) æŋgə
  - c) ka:nt
  - d) kæmpə
  - e) bond
- The phoneme t is realised as [t] when it occurs between vowels if the preceding vowel is stressed and the following vowel is unstressed.

٤

	Р	d	S	m	Z
Continuant	-	-	+	+	+
Alveolar	-	+	+	-	+
Voiced	-	+	-	+	+

- a) All the vowels are close or close-mid (or between these heights).
  - b) All require the tongue blade to be raised for their articulation, and all are in the alveolar or postalveolar region.
  - c) None of these requires the raising of the tongue blade all are front or back articulations.
  - d) All are voiceless.
  - e) All are rounded or end with lip-rounding.
  - f) All are approximants (they create very little obstruction to the airflow).

# Chapter \f

١

- a) A | bird in the | hand is worth | two in the | bush |
- b) | Over a | quarter of a | century has e | lapsed since his | death |

- c) Com | puters con | sume a con j siderable a | mount of | money and | time |
- d) | Most of them have a | rrived on the j bus |
- e) | Newspaper | editors are in | variably | under | worked |



(the stress levels of 'Rolls' and 'Royce' are exchanged to avoid "stress clash" between 'Royce' and 'ra-'.) <sup> $\pi$ </sup> a) way koz av æsmar is spaus ta bi æladziz

- b) wot ði 3:bm popjəleisn kədzu:z iz beta treinz
- c) si æks pətikjəli wel innə fais siin

(Each of the above represents just one possible pronunciation: many others are possible.)

#### Chapter 15

- This train is for /<u>Leeds</u> /<u>York</u> and <u>Hull</u>
- Y Can you give me a /<u>lift</u>
  - vPossibly Where  $\to$
- $\label{eq:certainly_not} \begin{tabular}{c} & & \end{tabular} V & & \end{tabular} Certainly \end{tabular} \end{t$
- <sup> $\xi$ </sup> Did you know hed been convicted of drunken / driving  $\Box$  <u>No</u>
- $\circ \quad If \ I \ give \ him \ /\underline{mon} ey \ he \ goes \ and \ \underline{spends} \ it$

If I lend him the  $/\underline{bike}$  he \loses it

Hes completely unre\liable

- (This is an exercise where there is more than one correct answer.)
  - a) <u>buy</u> it for me
  - b) <u>hear</u> it
  - c) <u>talk</u> to him
- $\gamma$  a) 'mind the <u>step</u>
  - b) 'this is the 'ten to 'seven train
  - c) 'keep the 'food hot
- $^{\text{T}}$  a) 'Only when the v<u>wind</u> –blows







# Chapter 17

- a) Which was the <u>/cheap</u> one did you -say
  - b) I 'only 'want to vtaste it



c) ,She would have ,thought it was <u>Aob</u>vious



d) There 'wasn't 'even a 'place of \bread in the .house

e) \Now will you be .live me



۲ a) ,opp ort /un it y



b) v<u>ac</u> tua lly



c) \con fid ent ly



d) mag Ani fi cent



e) re /la tion ship



f) ,af ter vnoon



# Chapter 18

(The following are possible intonation patterns, but others could be correct.)

- 1. Its 'rather vcold
- Y. Be 'cause I 'cant a\fford it
- ٤. Oh v<u>please</u>
- °. .Seven o/clock | ,seven/thirty | and \eight
- ٦. AFour
- $^{V}$ . Ive ,got to ,do the /<u>shop</u>ping
- $\wedge$ . v<u>Some</u> of them -might

- a) <u>right</u> I can I do the <u>shopping</u> for you
  - b) <u>right</u> | can I do the shopping for <u>you</u>
  - c) first the professor explained her theory
  - d) <u>no</u> | first the professor explained her theory
  - e) first she explained her theory
  - f) <u>no</u> | ten <u>past</u> three
  - g) <u>no</u> | ten past three
  - h) no I ten past three
- γ a) he wrote the letter <u>sad</u>ly
  - b) he wrote the <u>letter | sadly</u>
  - c) four plus  $\underline{six}$  | divided by  $\underline{two}$  | equals five
  - d) <u>four</u> | plus six divided by two I equals seven
  - e) we broke <u>one</u> thing I after another fell <u>down</u>
  - f) we broke one thing after a<u>noth</u>er I that <u>night</u>

#### Chapter 20

- 1. This accent has a distribution for r) similar to BBC pronunciation (i.e. a case can be made for a N phoneme), except that in the case of the participial '-ing' ending n is found instead of N.
- <sup>v</sup>. This accent has two additional long vowels (e:, O:) and, correspondingly, two fewer diphthongs (eI, @U). This situation is found in many Northern accents.
- \*. The fricatives T, D, h are missing from the phoneme inventory, and f, v are used in place of T, D. This accent has w where BBC pronunciation has "dark l". This is typical of a Cockney accent.
- ٤. This data is based on the traditional working-class accent of Bristol, where words of more than one syllable do not usually end in a. The accent is rhotic, so where there is an 'r' in the spelling (as in 'mother') an r is pronounced: where the spelling does not have 'r', an l sound is added, resulting in the loss of distinctiveness in some words (cf. 'idea', 'ideal'; 'area', 'aerial').
- •. Here we appear to have three vowels where BBC pronunciation has two: the word 'cat' has the equivalent of ee, 'calm' has a vowel similar to a: while in the set of words that have { in many Northern accents ('plaster', 'grass', etc.) an additional long vowel a: is used. This is found in Shropshire.

# Answers to recorded exercises

# Audio Unit 1

#### Exercise 2

- ). radical • •
- ۲. emigration • •
- ۳. enormous • •
- ٤. disability • • •
- °. alive ••

# Audio Unit 2

# Exercise 2

). as in bæn 'ban'	ت v in pot 'put'
۲. a in hʌb 'hub'	۷ A in kAm 'come'
۳. ı in fıl 'fill'	^ 1 in m1d 'mid'
٤. p in mps 'moss'	۹ p in bom 'bomb'
°. e in led 'led'	۰ e in sel 'sell'

# Audio Unit 3

# Exercise 3

١.	i: in si:t 'seat'	٦	u: in fu:d 'food'
۲.	a: in do:k 'dark'	٧	з: in kз:t 'curt'
٣.	з: in bз:d 'bird'	٨	aː in paːk 'park'
٤.	o: in fo:t 'fought'	٩	i: in ni:d 'need'
٥.	a: in pa:t 'part'	١٠	o: in ho:s 'horse'

# Exercise 5

- 3: in h3:d 'heard' <sup>£</sup> A in kA
- 𝔅 in ∫𝔅ỷ 'song'
- o: in so: 'saw'
- $\epsilon$  A in kAM 'come'
- ° a: in ma:t∫ 'march'
- ت u in ful 'full'

٧	a: in pa:t 'part'	٩	лі	n iav 'love'
٨	p in dpl 'doll'	۱.	31	in b3:n 'burn'
Exercis	se <b>7</b>			
١.	19 in f19s 'fierce'		٧	aı in kaıt 'kite'
۲.	eə in keəd 'cared'		٨	19 in b19d 'beard'
٣.	və in muəz 'moors'		٩	və in tvəz 'tours'
٤.	ei in reid 'raid'		۱۰	əu in bəun 'bone'
٥.	aı in taım 'time'		11	oi in boil 'boil'
٦.	əu in kəut 'coat'		۱۲	au in taun 'town'

# Audio Unit 4

Exercise 3 b)

١.	p in haːp 'harp'	٦	k in eik 'ache'
۲.	g in rəug 'rogue'	٧	d in oud 'ode'
٣.	t in eıt 'eight'	٨	p in rıp 'rip'
٤.	d in raıd 'ride'	٩	g in sæg 'sag'
٥.	b in mpb 'mob'	۱.	t in fi:t 'feet'
Exercis	ie 5		
١.	'debate'	٦	'guarded'
۲.	'copied'	٧	'dedicated'
٣.	'buttercup'	٨	'paddock'
٤.	'cuckoo'	٩	'boutique'

\. 'appetite'

- ٤. 'cuckoo'
- °. 'decayed'

# Audio Unit 5

Exercise 3

). geit 'gate'	ון gæp 'gap'
۲. kəut 'coat'	) f biəd 'beard'
۳. bıt 'bit'	۳ ka: 'car'
٤. taiəd 'tired'	۱٤ peid 'paid'
•. bi:t 'beat'	۱۰ gat 'gut'
٦. pəuk 'poke'	い daut 'doubt'
<sup>v</sup> . ka:t 'cart'	\∀ təud 'toad'
<ol> <li>ko:t 'caught'</li> </ol>	\∧ du: 'do'
<sup>9</sup> . paus 'power'	۱۹ peə 'pair'
۰. kɔːd 'cord'	۲۰ dek 'deck'

#### Exercise 4

۱.	'keep'	۱۱	'duck'
۲.	'boat'	۱۲	'cope'
۳.	'cup'	۱۳	'dog'
٤.	'dirt'	١٤	'coward'
٥.	'bike'	١٥	'bake'
٦.	'cab'	١٦	'tied'
۷.	'gate'	١٧	'beard'
٨.	'cared'	١٨	'put'
٩.	'tired'	۱۹	'bug'
۱.	. 'bird'	۲.	'doubt'

### Audio Unit 6

Exercis	e 2				
a)	initial position	b)	medial position	c)	final position
١	∫ in ∫ə∪ 'show'	٦	v in əuvə 'over'	۱۱	ð in ləud 'loathe'
۲	$\theta$ in $ \theta$ aı 'thigh'	٧	з in meʒə 'measure'	۱۲	v in i:v 'Eve'
٣	z in zu: 'zoo'	٨	s in aisiŋ 'icing'	۱۳	∫ in æ∫ 'ash'
٤	f in faː 'far'	٩	∫ in eı∫ə 'Asia'	١٤	f in rʌf 'rough'
٥	ð in ðəu 'though'	۱۰	h in əhed 'ahead'	١٥	θ in əυθ 'oath'

# Audio Unit 7

#### Exercise 6

). ju:30əl 'usual'	Y vaia√ans 'violence'
۲. rimein 'remain'	^ emfəsis 'emphasis'
<ul><li>eksəsaiz 'exercise'</li></ul>	۹ d3entli 'gently'
٤. weəriŋ 'wearing'	ν θιŋkıŋ 'thinking'
°. 3:dʒənt 'urgent'	1) taipraitə 'typewriter'
۲. mınıməm 'minimum'	۲ jıəli 'yearly'

# Audio Unit 8

Exercise 6 (spellings)

- 1. 'scraped' ° 'crunched'
- ۲. 'grudged' ۲ 'thrones'
- ". 'clothes'  $\forall$  'plunged' -
- ٤. 'scripts' ^ 'quench'
# Audio Unit ٩

# Exercise 5

- ۱. <sup>j</sup>gɑːdnʌə 'gardener' ، 'sʌdnʌ 'sudden'
- Y. 'kpləm 'column'
  Y 'kæləs 'callous'
- ". 'hændl $\Lambda z$  'handles'  $\Lambda$  ' $\theta$ retn $\Lambda$ Iŋ 'threatening'
- ٤. ə'laıv 'alive' ۹ pə'laıt 'polite'
- °. pri'tend 'pretend' '• 'pAzlA 'puzzle'

# Audio Unit 10

# Exercise 1

۱.	'enəmi	٦	səb'trækt
۲.	kə'lekt	٧	'elıfənt
۳.	'kæpıtla	٨	əb'zs:və
٤.	ka:'neı∫n∧	٩	'profit

o. 'pærədais Vo. entə'tein

# Exercise 2 (spellings)

1. Shrewsbury	٦	Birmingham
۲. Polperro	٧	Northampton
۳. Aberdeen	٨	Dundee
٤. Wolverhampton	٩	Canterbury

•. Aberystwyth V• Basingstoke

# Audio Unit 12

# Exercise 3

- <sup>r</sup>. 'a:nt ðə səm 'letəz fər ə tu 'əupən
- ". 'weə də ði 'egz 'kam from
- $\epsilon$ . 'ri:d 1z 'buk ən 'rait səm 'nəuts
- °. ət 'li:st wi kən 'traı ən 'help

# Audio Unit 13

# Exercise 1 (spellings)

- ۲. Colchester ٤ Scunthorpe
- <sup>r</sup>. Carlisle <sup>o</sup> Glamorgan
- ۳. Hereford ٦ Holyhead

- ٤. Framlingham ۹ Cheltenham
- •. Southend **\.** Inverness

## Exercise 2

). 'lestə∫ə	(Leicestershire)	٦	kəul'rein	(Coleraine)
۲. dan'f3:mlin	(Dunfermline)	۷	'hʌdəsfiːld	(Huddersfield)
۳. 'sti:vnʌidʒ	(Stevenage)	٨	heilz'əuin	(Halesowen)
٤. pen'zæns	(Penzance)	٩	'wɪlmzləʊ	(Wilmslow)
°. 'gılfəd	(Guildford)	۱.	'ba:nstəpla	(Barnstaple)

## Exercise 3

- ). 'James de'cided to 'type the 'letter him'self
- <sup>٢</sup>. The 'plane was a'pproaching the 'runway at 'high 'speed
- <sup> $\tau$ </sup>. 'Try to 'see the 'other 'persons 'point of 'view'
- $\epsilon$ . You 'put your 'brakes on when the 'light 'turns to 'red
- °. In a 'short 'time the 'house was 'full of 'children

## Audio Unit 14

## Exercise 1

- 1. | 'Each | 'person in the | 'group was | 'trained in sur | 'vival |
- Y. A | 'bout | 'three | 'hundred | 'soldiers were | 'lined | 'up |
- ". |'Buying a | 'new com | 'puter is a | 'major ex | 'pense |
- <sup>£</sup>. |'All the | 'people who I 'came to the | 'wedding were from | 'England !
- •. |'Try to be as | 'tactful as you | 'can when you | 'talk to him |

## Exercise 2

*Note:* When recordings of conversational speech are used, it is no longer possible to give definite decisions about "right" and "wrong" answers. Some problems, points of interest and alternative possibilities are mentioned.

- ). a bju:thfl∧g3:l (Careful speech would have had bju:tIfl□ or bju:tIfUl.)
- vi si:m tə hæv ə defnət w∧n ∫ea (Careful speech would have definit, definət or defn∧ət; notice that this speaker uses a glottal stop at the end of 'definite' so that the transcription phonetic rather than phonemic defnə? would be acceptable. There is a good example of assimilation in the pronunciation of 'one there'; as often happens when n and \ are combined, the n becomes dental n. In addition, the ð loses its friction which is always weak and becomes a dental nasal, so that this could be transcribed phonetically as wʌnneə.)
- \*. kod it bi a stuil ra:ððna teibl (Careful speech would have ra:ða dan a; the ð is long, so the symbol is written twice to indicate this.)

- <sup> $\xi$ </sup>.  $\Im$  fi $\theta$  in (Careful speech would have fif $\theta$ ; the transcription cannot, of course, show very fine details of articulation, but it is likely that though the sound one hears is most like  $\theta$ , there is some slight constriction between upper teeth and lower lip as well.)
- •. eni phkju:ljærətız əbaut ðæt (The main elision is of the I vowel in the first syllable of 'peculiarities': a less noticeable case is that instead of having i before the æ in this word the speaker has a non-syllabic j; note the glottal stop at the end of 'about'.)
- <sup>7</sup>. æn hau mni strarps on jo:z (Careful speech would have meni; it is perhaps surprising that the speaker has æ rather than a in 'and'; jo:z is a frequently found alternative pronunciation to juaz.)
- v. wel it əpiəz tə bʌtŋ ʌp is gpt θri: (The elision is in 'its'; careful speech would have Its or, since this speaker uses glottal stops quite frequently - notice one between 'it' and 'appears', and another at the end of 'got' - i?s.)
- <sup>∧</sup>. ɔ: ðə wpt∫əkɔ:l ɪt ðə sɪl ('What do you call it' or 'what d' you call it' is used frequently when speakers cannot remember a word, and is always pronounced rapidly.)
- <sup>9</sup>. bai kpləm inth kpləmz o:rait (Careful speech would have into and o:l rait.)
- · . darəmən ∫erp pæt∫ (Careful speech would have darəmənd ∫erpt pæt∫.)
- ). ænd at ∫d θιŋk from ikspiriøns f kit∫in naivz (Careful speech would have ∫ud or ∫ød and øv.)
- 14. wot n wi du: neks gou daun (Careful speech would have ∫ol and nekst.)
- Y<sup>\*</sup>. ði: top f ða botl iz prdzektin autwadz inth ða ru:m (Careful speech would have av, pradzektin and inta; the r in 'projecting' is devoiced as well as being syllabic; notice the glottal stops, one before the k in 'projecting' and another before the t in 'outwards': the strong form of 'the' at the beginning is probably a sort of slight hesitation.)

# Audio Unit 15

## Exercise 3

- 1. vone. 7 /six
- $Y. \quad \forall \quad v \in V$
- $^{\circ}$ . /three  $^{\wedge}$  vyou
- ٤. Vfour ۹ Vmore
- •. \five \. /us

## Audio Unit 16

## Exercise 1

- ). We could go by <u>bus</u>  $\tilde{}$  The car was where Id left it
- Y. Of <u>course</u> its broken  $\xi$  How much is the biggest one

- $\tilde{}$ . I knew it would go wrong  $\Lambda$  That was a loud noise
- <sup>£</sup>. It was too cold<sup>¶</sup> We could go from Manchester
- •. Here it is **\** Have you finished

## Exercise 4

- 1. 'What 'time will they/<u>come</u>
- $\Lambda$  'day re'turn to <u>Lon</u>don
- $\tilde{}$ . The 'North \<u>Pole</u> would be warmer
- $\epsilon$ . 'Have you de'cided to /<u>buy</u> it
- °. I re'corded them on ca

## Audio Unit 17

Exercise 4

- ). 'Now 'heres the  $\underline{weath}er$  -forecast
- Y. You ,didnt say .anything about / rates
- $\tilde{}$ . A ,few .years ago they were  $\underline{\mathrm{vop}}$
- $\epsilon$ . 'No one could 'say the 'cinema was v<u>dead</u>
- °. Is there / anything you -wouldnt -eat
- 7. 'Have you 'ever con'sidered / writing
- $^{\vee}$ . .That was .what he v<u>claimed</u> to be
- <sup>A</sup>. We 'try to 'do our 'shopping in the\market
- $^{9}$ . But I <u>nev</u>er -go there -now
- . It .wouldnt be .difficult to find /out

## Audio Unit 18

*Note:* Since these extracts were not spoken deliberately for illustrating intonation, it is not possible to claim that the transcription given here is the only correct version. There are several places where other transcriptions would be acceptable, and suggestions about alternative possibilities are given with some items, in addition to a few other comments.

- ). it 'looks like a 'French maga\zine (slight hesitation between 'looks' and 'like')
- $\gamma$ . the 'television 'is plugged vin
- <sup>γ</sup>. 'does your 'colander have a \handle ('does' possibly not stressed)
- $\varepsilon$ . a / <u>flap</u> on it
- •. 'you tell me about /yours (narrow pitch movement on 'yours'; 'tell' may also be stressed)
- ٦. 'well <u>\dark</u> hair
- V. .more than .half/way
- $^{\text{A}}.$  but er 'not in the \other -corners
- <sup>9</sup>. a .sort of .Daily <u>Sketch</u> -format -newspaper ('sort' possibly not stressed)

- . 'on the top I 'on the hd (both pronunciations of 'on' might be unstressed)
- 1. well theyre 'on al vternate -steps I theyre 'not on vevery -step
- 1 Y. 'what about the went I at the \back
- ۱۳. and a 'ladys \handbag | .hanging on a .nail on the \wall
- ۱٤. 'you do the \left hand -bit of the -picture I and .Ill do the \right hand -bit
- `•. were being 'very par vticular I but we 'just haven't 'hit upon 'one of the \differ- ences-yet (stress on 'just' is weak or absent)
- 17. and 'what about your tele\vision I 'two /knobs I in the / front

#### Audio Unit 19

Exercise 1

- 1. I suppose the best thing's to try later.
- <sup>Y</sup>. If he's coming today there ought to be a letter around.
- <sup>°</sup>. The world's greatest lawn tennis festival begins on Monday.
- $\xi$ . We've fixed for the repair man to come and mend it under guarantee.
- •. The number's been engaged for over an hour.

#### Exercise 2

- ). at spauz  $\delta$  bes  $\theta_{1\eta z}$  th trat letta
- Y. If IZ kAMIN the dr other than the set of the set o
- ". ðə w3:lz greitş lo:n tenis festhvl biginz om mAndei
- ٤. wif fiks fə ðə ripeə mæn th kʌm əm mend it ʌndə gærnti:
- °. ð nambaz bin ingeidz fr auvr an aua

### Exercise 4

 $| \delta e bildin \underline{win} fa:mz | b:l b:v \delta i /eprip | we wi \underline{v} we wi \underline{v} wi kon si: bildin \underline{v} \delta o d bildin \underline{v} \delta o d \delta i /eprip | we wi \underline{v} \delta o d \delta i /eprip | wi kon si: bild \delta o d bildin bildin \delta v bildin \delta v bildin \delta o v bildin \delta o d bildin \delta o d bildin bildin \delta o d bildin b$ 

#### Audio Unit 20

*Note:* Transcription of natural speech involves making decisions that have the effect of simplifying complex phonetic events. The broad transcription given below is not claimed to be completely accurate, nor to be the only "correct" version.

ıwəz 'ra:ðə \<u>fraı?</u>nıŋ bıkəz ðə ðərə \<u>skə:z</u> <u>ə</u> ði:z \baısk|z ju 'ri:li\hæv tu .hæv ja wits a\baut∫u 'ɔːl ðə ∖<u>taım</u> bıkəz ðə jə nəu ðə ðei vstpp -sadnli its o:kwəd bkəz ðə \<u>træf</u>ık regjə-leı∫nz a: ,mo: ,pnəd in ðə \britf ðən ði əb/z3:vəns aım 'npt in \<u>npt</u> ri:li + ∫o: wpt .regjəleı∫nz ðər \a: fr \instans ði: ə \træfik -laits 'red \red -lasts du ,not ə\plaı fo: ,ts:niŋ \rait wıt∫ ∖<u>mi:nz</u> ðət 'ıf jə 'kʌmɪŋ 'ʌp tu ə \<u>træfı</u>k -laıt 'sʌmwʌn \<u>stɒpt</u> hu ,wonts to ,gou streit \on o: ,t3:n \left ən 'ju: wont tə ts:n v<u>rait</u> <u>ð</u>en ju 'pul /<u>aut</u> ,əuvə vteik ðəm ən ðen 'k∧t ə\<u>krps</u> In frAnt

# **Recommendations for general reading**

References to reading on specific topics are given at the end of each chapter. The following is a list of basic books and papers recommended for more general study: if you wish to go more fully into any of the areas given below you would do well to start by reading these. I would consider it very desirable that any library provided for students using this book should possess most or all of the books listed. I give full bibliographic references to the books recommended in this section.

## English phonetics and phonology

The best and most comprehensive book in this field is A. C. Gimson's book originally titled *Introduction* to the Pronunciation of English, now in its Seventh Edition edited by A. Cruttenden with the title *The* Pronunciation of English (London, Edward Arnold,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ); the level is considerably more advanced and the content much more detailed than the present course. All writers on the pronunciation of British English owe a debt to Daniel Jones, whose book *An Outline of English Phonetics* first appeared in  $(19)^{\Lambda}$  and was last reprinted in its Ninth Edition (Cambridge University Press,  $(19)^{\circ}$ ), but the book, though still of interest, must be considered out of date.

Two other books that approach the subject in rather different ways are G. O. Knowles, *Patterns of Spoken English* (London: Longman,  $\uparrow \uparrow \land \lor$ ) and C. W. Kreidler, *The Pronunciation of English*, Second Edition (Oxford: Blackwell,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot ἱ$ ). A. McMahon, *An Introduction to English Phonology* (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \uparrow$ ) covers the theory of phonology in more depth than this book: it is short and clearly written. H. Giegerich, *English Phonology: An Introduction* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,  $\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$ ) is more advanced, and contains valuable information and ideas. I would also recommend *Practical Phonetics and Phonology* by B. Collins and I. Mees (Second Edition, London: Routledge,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land$ ).

#### **General phonetics**

I have written a basic introductory book on general phonetics, called *Phonetics* in the series 'Oxford Introductions to Language Studies' (Oxford: Oxford University Press,  $\forall \cdot \cdot \forall$ ). There are many good introductory books at a more advanced level: I would recommend P. Ladefoged, *A Course in Phonetics* (Fifth Edition, Boston: Thomson,  $\forall \cdot \cdot \forall$ ), but see also

the same author's *Vowels and Consonants* (Second Edition, Oxford: Blackwell,  $(\cdot, \cdot, \cdot)$ ) or M. Ashby and J. Maidment, *Introducing Phonetic Science* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,  $(\cdot, \cdot, \circ)$ ). Also recommended is *Phonetics: The Science of Speech* by M. Ball and J. Rahilly (London: Edward Arnold, (199)). D. Abercrombie, *Elements of General Phonetics* (Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, (97)) is a well-written classic, but less suitable as basic introductory reading. J. C. Catford, *A Practical Introduction to Phonetics* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, (93)) is good for explaining the nature of practical phonetics; a simpler and more practical book is P. Ashby, *Speech Sounds* (Second Edition, London: Routledge,  $(\cdot, \circ)$ ). J. Laver, *Principles of Phonetics* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, (199)) is a very comprehensive and advanced textbook.

#### Phonology

Several books explain the basic elements of phonological theory. F. Katamba, *An Introduction to Phonology* (London: Longman, 19149) is a good introduction. Covering both this area and the previous one in a readable and comprehensive way is J. Clark, C. Yallop and J. Fletcher, *An Introduction to Phonetics and Phonology* (Third Edition, Oxford: Blackwell,  $1 \cdot 199$ ). A lively and interesting course in phonology is I. Roca and W. Johnson, *A Course in Phonology* (Oxford: Blackwell, 1999). A recent addition to the literature is D. Odden's *Introducing Phonology* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,  $1 \cdot 10^{\circ}$ ). The classic work on the generative phonology of English is N. Chomsky and M. Halle, *The Sound Pattern of English* (New York: Harper and Row, 1974); most people find this very difficult.

## Accents of English

The major work in this area is J. C. Wells, *Accents of English*,  $\forall$  vols. (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1947), which is a large and very valuable work dealing with accents of English throughout the world. A shorter and much easier introduction is A. Hughes, P. Trudgill and D. Watt, *English Accents and Dialects* (Third Edition, London: Edward Arnold,  $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \circ$ ). See also P. Foulkes and G. Docherty, *Urban Voices* (London: Edward Arnold, 1999) and P. Trudgill, *The Dialects of England* (Second Edition, Oxford: Blackwell, 1999).

#### Teaching the pronunciation of English

I do not include here books which are mainly classroom materials. Good introductions to the principles of English pronunciation teaching are M. Celce-Murcia, D. Brinton and J. Goodwin, *Teaching Pronunciation* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997), C. Dalton and B. Seidlhofer, *Pronunciation* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1992) and J. Kenworthy, *Teaching English Pronunciation* (London: Longman, 19AY). M. Hewings, *Pronunciation Practice Activities* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,  $7 \cdot \cdot 2$ ) contains much practical advice. A. Cruttenden's revision of A. C. Gimson's *The Pronunciation of*  *English* (Seventh Edition, London: Edward Arnold,  $\forall \cdot \cdot \wedge$ ) has a useful discussion of requirements for English pronunciation teaching in Chapter  $\forall \forall$ .

#### **Pronunciation dictionaries**

Most modern English dictionaries now print recommended pronunciations for each word listed, so for most purposes a dictionary which gives only pronunciations and not meanings is of limited value unless it gives a lot more information than an ordinary dictionary could. A few such dictionaries are currently available for British English. One is the Seventeenth Edition of the *Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary*, originally by Daniel Jones, edited by P. Roach, J. Hartman and J. Setter (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ). Jones' work was the main reference work on English pronunciation for most of the twentieth century; I was the principal editor for this new edition, and have tried to keep it compatible with this book. There is a CD-ROM disk to accompany the dictionary which allows you to hear the English and American pronunciations of any word. Another dictionary is J. C. Wells, *Longman Pronunciation Dictionary* (Third Edition, London: Longman,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ). See also C. Upton, W. Kretzschmar and R. Konopka (eds.), *Oxford Dictionary of Pronunciation* (Oxford: Oxford University Press,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ). A useful addition to the list is L. Olausson and C. Sangster, *The Oxford BBC Guide to Pronunciation* (Oxford: Oxford University Press,  $(\cdot, \cdot)$ ), which makes use of the BBC Pronunciation Research Unit's database to suggest pronunciations of difficult names, words and phrases.

#### Intonation and stress

Good introductions to intonation are A. Cruttenden, *Intonation* (Second Edition, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997), J. C. Wells, *English Intonation* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997), and E. Couper-Kuhlen, *An Introduction to English Prosody* (London: Edward Arnold, 1947). D. R. Ladd, *Intonational Phonology* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1997) is much more difficult, but covers contemporary theoretical issues in an interesting way. E. Fudge, *English Word Stress* (London: Allen and Unwin, 1945) is a useful textbook on word stress.

# **Bibliography**

Abercrombie, D. (1977) *Elements of General Phonetics*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Abercrombie, D. (1991) 'RP today: its position and prospects', in D. Abercrombie, *Fifty Years in Phonetics*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, pp.  $\xi \wedge_{-} \circ \gamma$ .

Adams, C. (1979) English Speech Rhythm and the Foreign Learner, The Hague: Mouton.

Ashby, P. (<sup>(</sup>·· °) Speech Sounds, <sup>(</sup>nd edn., London: Routledge.

Ashby, M. and Maidment, J. (<sup>\*</sup>··°) *Introducing Phonetic Science*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ball, M. and Rahilly, J. (1999) Phonetics: The Science of Speech, London: Arnold.

Bauer, L. (1947) English Word-Formation, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Bolinger, D. (1977) 'Accent is predictable - if you're a mind-reader', Language, vol. ٤٨, pp. ٦٣٣-٤٤.

Brazil, D. (1995) Pronunciation for Advanced Learners of English, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Brazil, D., Coulthard, M. and Johns, C. (۱۹۸۰) *Discourse Intonation and Language Teaching*, London: Longman.

Brown, G. (199.) Listening to Spoken English, London: Longman.

Brown, G., Curry, K. and Kenworthy, J. (1911) Questions of Intonation, London: Croom Helm.

Brown, G. and Yule, G. (1917) Teaching the Spoken Language, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Catford, J. C. (1977) Fundamental Problems in Phonetics, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Catford, J. C. (19AA) A Practical Introduction to Phonetics, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Celce-Murcia, M., Brinton, D. and Goodwin, J. (1997) *Teaching Pronunciation*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Chen, M. ( $^{\gamma}$ , )'Vowel length variation as a function of the voicing of the consonant environment', *Phonetica*, vol.  $^{\gamma}$ , pp.  $^{\gamma}$ ,  $^{\gamma}$ .

Chomsky, N. and Halle, M. (197A) The Sound Pattern of English, New York: Harper and Row.

Clark, J., Yallop, C. and Fletcher, J.  $({}^{\checkmark} \cdot {}^{\lor})$  An Introduction to Phonetics and Phonology,  ${}^{\forall}$ rd edn., Oxford: Blackwell.

Collins, B. and Mees, I. ( $\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land$ ) *Practical Phonetics and Phonology*,  $\uparrow$ nd edn., London: Routledge.

Couper-Kuhlen, E. (1947) An Introduction to English Prosody, London: Edward Arnold.

Cruttenden, A. (1997) Intonation, <sup>7</sup>nd edn., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Cruttenden, A. (ed.) (۲۰۰۸) *Gimson's Pronunciation of English*, <sup>V</sup>th edn., London: Edward Arnold.

Crystal, D. (1979) Prosodic Systems and Intonation in English, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Crystal, D. (<sup>ү</sup>··<sup>γ</sup>) English as a Global Language, <sup>ү</sup>nd edn., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Crystal, D. and Quirk, R. (1975) Systems of Prosodic and Paralinguistic Features in English, The Hague: Mouton.

Dalton, C. and Seidlhofer, B. (1992) Pronunciation, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Dauer, R. (1947) 'Stress-timing and syllable-timing reanalysed', Journal of Phonetics, vol. 11, pp. 01-77.

Davidsen-Nielsen, N. (1979) 'English stops after initial Is/', English Studies, vol. °, pp. "Y)-A.

Dimitrova, S. (199V) 'Bulgarian speech rhythm: stress-timed or syllable-timed?', *Journal of the International Phonetic Association*, vol. V, pp. V-V.

Foulkes, P. and Docherty, G. (eds.) (1999) Urban Voices, London: Arnold.

Fox, A. T. C. (1977) 'Tone sequences in English', Archivum Linguisticum, vol. ٤, pp. 14-57.

Fromkin, V. A. (ed.) (194) *Tone: A Linguistic Survey*, New York: Academic Press.

Fudge, E. (1979) 'Syllables', Journal of Linguistics, vol. °, pp. ۲۰۳-۸٦.

Fudge, E. (1965) English Word Stress, London: Allen and Unwin.

Fudge, E. (1999) 'Words and feet', Journal of Linguistics, vol. ۳°, pp. ۲۷۳-97.

Giegerich, H. (1997) English Phonology: An Introduction, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Gimson, A. C. (1975) 'Phonetic change and the RP vowel system', in D. Abercrombie *et al.* (eds.) In *Honour of Daniel Jones*, London: Longman, pp. 171-7.

Goldsmith, J. A. (199) Autosegmental and Metrical Phonology, Oxford: Blackwell.

Halliday, M. A. K. (1977) Intonation and Grammar in British English, The Hague: Mouton.

Harris, J. (1995) English Sound Structure, Oxford: Blackwell.

Hewings, M. (<sup>\*</sup>··<sup>\$</sup>) Pronunciation Practice Activities, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hewings, M. (<sup>\*</sup>··<sup>\*</sup>) English Pronunciation in Use; Advanced, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hirst, D. and di Cristo, A. (eds.) (199A) Intonation Systems, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Hogg, R. and McCully, C. (۱۹۸۷) *Metrical Phonology: A Coursebook*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Honikman, B.  $(197\xi)$  'Articulatory settings' in D. Abercrombie *et al.* (eds.) *In Honour of Daniel Jones*, London: Longman, pp.  $\forall \tilde{r}_{-}\Lambda \xi$ .

Hughes, A., Trudgill, P. and Watt, D. (<sup>Y</sup>··°) *English Accents and Dialects*, <sup>£</sup>th edn., London: Edward Arnold.

Hyman, L. (1940) Phonology: Theory and Analysis, New York: Holt, Rinehart.

International Phonetic Association (۱۹۹۹) *Handbook of the International Phonetic Association*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Jakobson, R. and Halle, M. (1972) 'Tenseness and laxness', in D. Abercrombie *et al.* (eds.) *In Honour of Daniel Jones*, London: Longman, pp. 97-1+1.

James, A. R. (19AA) The Acquisition of a 'Ind Language Phonology, Tubingen: Narr.

Jenkins, J. (<sup>Y</sup>···) *The Phonology of English as an International Language*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Jones, D. (1981) 'The word as a phonetic entity', Le Maitre Phonetique, vol. "7, pp. 7.-0.

Jones, D. (1907) *The Pronunciation of English*, <sup>±</sup>th edn., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (first published 19.9).

Jones, D. ( $^{\circ}$ ) An Outline of English Phonetics,  $^{\circ}$ th edn., Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (first published  $^{\circ}$ ).

Jones, D. (1977) *The Phoneme: its Nature and Use*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (first published 190.).

Jones, D., eds. Roach, P., Hartman, J. and Setter, J. (۲۰۰٦) *Cambridge English Pronouncing Dictionary*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (first published ۱۹۱۷).

Katamba, F. (۱۹۸۹) An Introduction to Phonology, London: Longman.

Kenworthy, J. (\٩∧\) *Teaching English Pronunciation*, London: Longman. - ■

Knowles, G. (19AY) Patterns of Spoken English, London: Longman.

Kreidler, C. (<sup>ү</sup>··<sup>٤</sup>) *The Pronunciation of English*, <sup>ү</sup>nd edn., Oxford: Blackwell.

Ladd, D. R. (1997) Intonational Phonology, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Ladefoged, P. (<sup>Y</sup>··<sup>٤</sup>) Vowels and Consonants, <sup>Y</sup>nd edn., Oxford; Blackwell.

Ladefoged, P. (۲...) A Course in Phonetics, oth edn., Boston: Thomson.

Laver, J. (1911) The Phonetic Description of Voice Quality, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Laver, J. (1995) Principles of Phonetics, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Lee, W. R. (190A) English Intonation: A New Approach, Amsterdam: North Holland.

Lehiste, I. (1977) 'Isochrony reconsidered', Journal of Phonetics, vol. °, pp. ۲۰۳-۲۳.

Lisker, L. (197.) 'Supraglottal air pressure in the production of English stops', *Language and Speech*, vol.  $1^{\circ}$ , pp.  $1^{\circ}$ .

MacCarthy, P. A. D. (1907) English Pronunciation, <sup>2</sup>th edn., Cambridge: Heffer.-

McMahon, A. (<sup>ү</sup>··<sup>ү</sup>) An Introduction to English Phonology, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Mitchell, T. F. (1979) Review of Abercrombie (1977), Journal of Linguistics, vol. °, pp. 107-72.

Obendorfer, R. (1997) Weak Forms in Present-Day English, Oslo: Novus Press.

O'Connor, J. D. and Arnold, G. F. ( $\$  ) *The Intonation of Colloquial English*,  $\$  nd edn., London: Longman.

O'Connor, J. D. and Tooley, O. (1975) 'The perceptibility of certain word boundaries', in D. Abercrombie *et al* (eds.) *In Honour of Daniel Jones*, pp. 117-7, London: Longman.

O'Connor, J. D. and Trim, J. L. (1907) 'Vowel, consonant and syllable: a phonological definition', *Word*, vol. 9, pp.  $1 \cdot r_{-} \gamma \gamma$ .

Odden, D. (<sup>(</sup>·· °) *Introducing Phonology*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Olausson, L. and Sangster, C. (eds.) (۲۰۰٦) *The Oxford BBC Guide to Pronunciation*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Pike, K. L. (1957) Phonetics, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Pike, K. L. (1950) The Intonation of American English, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Pike, K. L. (1957) Phonemics, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Pike, K. L. (195A) Tone Languages, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Pullum, G. K. and Ladusaw, W. (1997) *Phonetic Symbol Guide*, <sup>7</sup>nd edn., Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Radford, A., Atkinson, M., Britain, D., Clahsen, H. and Spencer, A. (1999) *Linguistics: An Introduction*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Raphael, L. J., Borden, G. and Harris, K. (۲۰۰٦) *Speech Science Primer*, London: Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins.

Roach, P. J. (1967) 'On the distinction between "stress-timed" and "syllable-timed" languages', in D. Crystal (ed.) *Linguistic Controversies*, London: Edward Arnold.

Roach, P. J. (1995) 'Conversion between prosodic transcription systems: "Standard British" and ToBI', *Speech Communication*, vol. 10, pp. 91-9.

Roach, P. J. (<sup>Y</sup>··<sup>Y</sup>) *Phonetics*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Roach, P. J.  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \not{z})$  'Illustration of British English: Received Pronunciation', *Journal of the International Phonetic Association*, vol.  $\uparrow \not{z}, \uparrow$ , pp.  $\uparrow \uparrow \neg \not{z} \neg$ .

Roach, P. J.  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \circ)$  'Representing the English model', in Dzubialska-Kolaczyk, K. and Przedlacka, J. (eds.) *English Pronunciation Models: a Changing Scene*, pp.  $\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow \uparrow$ , Basel: Peter Lang.

Roca, I. and Johnson, W. (1999) A Course in Phonology, Oxford: Blackwell.

Sapir, E. (1970) 'Sound patterns in language', Language, vol. 1, pp. "V-01.

Schmerling, S. (1977) Aspects of English Sentence Stress, Austin: University of Texas Press.

Shockey, L. (<sup>Y</sup> · · <sup>w</sup>) Sound Patterns of Spoken English, Oxford: Blackwell.

Spolsky, D. (199A) Sociolinguistics, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Taylor, D. S. (191) 'Non-native speakers and the rhythm of English', *International Review of Applied Linguistics*, vol. 19, pp. 719-77.

Tench, P. (1997) The Intonation Systems of English, London: Cassell.

Trager, G. and Smith, H. (1901) An Outline of English Structure, Washington: American Council of Learned Societies.

Trudgill, P. (1999) *The Dialects of England*, <sup>7</sup>nd edn., Oxford: Blackwell.

Upton, C., Kretzschmar, W. and Konopka, R. (eds.) (۲۰۰۱) Oxford Dictionary of

Pronunciation, Oxford: Oxford University Press. Wells, J. C.  $(\uparrow \uparrow \land \uparrow)$  Accents of English, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Wells, J. C.  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \uparrow)$  English Intonation, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Wells, J. C.  $(\uparrow \cdot \cdot \land)$  Longman Pronunciation Dictionary,  $\neg$ rd edn., London: Longman. Williams, B.  $(\uparrow \uparrow \uparrow \uparrow)$  'The formulation of a transcription system for British English', in Rnowles, G., Wichmann, A. and Alderson, P., Working with Speech, London: Longman.

# Index

accents **T-E**, 171-A American  $\xi$ , 19, 00, V, 100-7, 177, 177-1, 171 Australian 171, 17 Canadian **\\\** Irish ° London ٤. ٦٨ New Zealand 177 northern English ٤, ١٦١ Northern Irish **\7**\ Norwich 177 Scottish 0, 19, 00, 122, 171, 172-0, 17V southern English **£**.177 Spanish 177, 175 Welsh 77, 171 Yorkshire 77 Adam's Apple **<sup>YY</sup>** affixes  $\Lambda \gamma_{-} \circ$ affricates ٣٩-٤٠, ٤٣ one-phoneme analysis 9V, 9A-9 two-phoneme analysis ٩٧-٩ age variation 170-7, 17V-A airstream ۲٤-۵ egressive pulmonic Y 2-0 subglottal pressure ۲0 allophones "" allophonic transcription <sup>w</sup><sup>£</sup> alphabet "1-" Cyrillic "Y alveolar ridge 9 alveolar sounds 9, 77, ٤١،٤٦ ambisyllabic consonants <sup>٦</sup> American English  $\xi$ , 19,  $\circ$ ,  $\gamma$ , 100-7, 177, 175-5.174 analphabetic notation  $\gamma\gamma$ approximants £1.01 articulators  $\Lambda_{-}$  · articulatory phonetics  $^{\Lambda}$ articulatory settings 11V arytenoid cartilages <sup>۲</sup><sup>۳</sup> aspiration  $\gamma \gamma_{-} \Lambda$ assimilation 11.-17 coalescent 111

progressive ווו regressive ווו attitude ונז, ונע-סז, וסז Australian וזוגוזד

BBC pronunciation  $r, \epsilon_0, 19, \epsilon_V$ BBC Pronunciation Research Unit ° bilabial sounds **\., ۲٦, ۲۷, ٤٦** Blair, Tony 177 body language 10., 109 body movement 159, 10. brackets ٣٤ breathing Y 2-0 breathy voice *٤*۲ Britain 2 cardinal vowels 17-17 cartilage ۲۲-۳ centralisation <sup>w</sup><sup>٤</sup> Chinese (Mandarin) 1., 177 clear 15A\_9 coalescence 111 coarticulation 11" coda 07, 09, 70, V7\_V complementary distribution "" compound words <sup>AY</sup>, <sup>Ao</sup>-<sup>7</sup> connected speech  $) \cdot \vee_{-} \setminus \wedge$ consonant clusters ov\_7.... consonants 1.-11, 12, 07 affricates ٣٩-٤٠, ٤٣ ambisyllabic **1**7 approximants ٤٨-٥١ continuant <sup>۳۹</sup> fortis TA-T., 22-0 fricatives TT, T9^1T, 20 glottal ٤, ٢٣, ٢٤, ٢٦, ٤٢ lenis ۲۸-۳. nasals 27-1, 01, 08-2, 79-V. palatal 9, 28,20 plosives 77-7.1.1 post-alveolar ٤١-٢. ٤٩-0.

consonants (continued) retroflex ٤٩ syllabic  $\neg \cdot, \neg \xi, \neg \Lambda_{-} \vee 1 \cdot 1 \cdot \cdot - 1$ continuant consonants <sup>٣٩</sup> contoids 12 contractions A9.112\_10 contrasts 17. conversational interaction 10A-9 cover terms ۲۹\_۳. cricoid cartilage ۲۳ dark 1 21-9, 172 declination 12. deletion 117 dental sounds 9, 5.-1, 50 devoicing of diacritics ٣٤, ٣٧ dialectology 177dialects " diphthongs 1Y-1A, Y.... centring 1V, 1A closing 17.1A discourse 127, 127, 107\_7. distinctive feature analysis 1.1-T.1.5 distribution 11, "" elision 15.117 - 10.170emotion 159 emphasis 105 England £ English as an International Language 7 Estuary English ٤, °, ٦٨, ١٦٦ extra pitch height *\YY* facial expression 159, 10. final consonants ۲٦, ۲٨, ٥٩-٦٠ flapped r 175 focus  $107-\xi$ ,  $10V-\lambda$ foot 1.1, 1. force of articulation ۲۹-۳. fortis  $7A_7.52_0$ frequency Youly. fricatives ٣٩, ٤٠-٣ alveolar ٤١ dental  $\xi \cdot -1, \xi \circ$ glottal ۲۳،٤۲ labiodental ٤٠, ٤١ palatal 27, 20 post-alveolar ٤١-٢ voiceless TT. ET\_T, 20 friction 17 function words <sup>A9</sup>

fundamental frequency *\Y*. GA (General American) 19, 175-5 GB (General British) ° generative phonology A.-1, 1. ٤, ١٥٩ gesture 129,10. glide vowels 1Y-19 glottal fricatives YT.EY glottal plosives/stops ٤, ٢٤, ٢٦ glottalisation 55-0 glottis ۲۳-٤ goals 7 grammar 1, 127, 127,127,102\_7 Greek AT hard palate 9 heads 171 high 181-2. low ITA-2. hesitation **\\\** homorganic <sup>٣9</sup>—٤. IATEFL<sup>7</sup> information 127, 10Y-A initial consonants Y7-V, ov intelligibility VY, V9 intensity Yo International Phonetic Alphabet (IPA) xii, <sup>w</sup><sup>£</sup>, <sup>w</sup><sup>V</sup> International Phonetic Association (IPA) xii, 17, 75,77 intonation  $\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{I}, \mathcal{I},$ function 157, 15V, 10T-5attitudinal function 127, 12V\_07, 107 autosegmental treatment 157.155 contrastive 107 discourse function 127.12V, 107\_7. emphatic 102 form 17. function 17.-1, 175-0, 127-7. grammatical function 157, 15V, 105-7 listing 177, 12V suprasegmental variables 159-01, 101-1 tone Vo, 171\_7, 17V\_A, 122 tone-units 177, 179\_00, 187\_28 transcription 171, 179, 177, 175, 12. intonation languages 179 intonational subordination 104, 109 intrusive r 110 IPA see International Phonetic Alphabet; International Phonetic Association jaws 1. juncture 110-17, 11V key 159, 101 Kono 177

labiodental sounds 1.5.51larynx A, V., 11- 2, 70 lateral approximant  $\xi \Lambda_{-9}$ lateral release <sup>1</sup>A Latin AT length mark 17 lenis ۲۸-۳. level tone 171-7.170 linguistics \ linking r 110-17 lip-position 17 lip-rounding 17, 17, 27, 0. lips \. loudness V£.10. lungs Y 2\_0 Mandarin Chinese \... manner of articulation ۲۹ maximum onsets principle *T* metrical analysis  $\cdot$ . minimal pairs 01, 07 minimum syllables or models 7 morphemes *٤*V morphology £V, AY mouth <sup>A</sup> muscles  $^{\Lambda}$ nasal cavity ^, `• nasal consonants ٤٦-٨, ٥١, ٥٣-٤, ٦٩-٧. Network English see GA (General American) neutralisation 77.1.. non-rhotic accents o. nose ). nuclear stress see tonic stress nucleus see tonic syllables onsets °7, °V, 7. oral cavity ^ palatal consonants 9, 57, 50 paralinguistics 101, 101-Y pause 157 peak  $\forall \cdot, \forall \exists \neg \forall, \land \cdot$ pharynx  $\Lambda_-9$ phonation ۲0 phonation type 107 phonemes ۲, ۳۱-۳, ۹۷.۱۳. phonemic symbols x-xi, Y, 0,19-Y, TT-0 phonemic system ٣٢, ٣٤, ٣٦ phonemic transcription **""**-• phonetic symbols xii, ٣٣, ٣٤-0, ٣٧ phonetic transcription  $7\xi_{-0}$ phonetic variation 171

phonetics 1, A, To phonological variation 171-7 phonology 1, To\_7, 1.7, 119, 171-7 see also generative phonology phonotactics °V. 77 pitch ٧٤, ١١٩-٢٠, ١٣٣-٤, ١٣٦-٤. high 119, 177 low 119, 177 movement V£.17£ perception 17. pitch level 177 pitch range 177\_T.10. narrow 159 wide 129 place of articulation ۲۹, ٤٠, ٥٢ plosion ۲٦ plosives 12, 17-8. 1.1 closing phase **Y**7 compression phase <sup>۲</sup>٦ post-release phase Y7 release phase Y7 post-alveolar approximant ٤٩-0. post-alveolar fricatives ٤١-٢ post-final consonants og post-initial consonants ov, on pre-final consonants og pre-fortis clipping <sup>YA</sup> pre-head <sup>YY</sup> pre-initial consonants ov, on prefixes AY, Ao prepositions, co-ordinated 9. primary cardinal vowels 17 primary stress Vo prominence VT-E.IT., 1E1 pronunciation 1, Y-7, 171-A age variation 170-7, 17Y-A geographical variation 177-0, 17V phonetic variation **\\** phonological variation 171-7 social and class differences 177 style 177-V Pronunciation Teaching Paradox 17Y-A prosodic phonology 119 prosodic variables 101, 101-7 prosody 119 Public School Pronunciation ° question-tags 107 questions 100\_7 realisation "", "" Received Pronunciation (RP) <sup>m</sup>, °, <sup>19</sup>, <sup>r</sup>

retroflex consonants ٤٩ rhotic accents o., V., 175-0 rhyme 7., ٧٦-٧, ١٣٧ rhythm 1. V-1., 117-1V, 10., 17V stress-timed  $1 \cdot 1 \cdot 1 \cdot 1 \cdot 1 \cdot 1$ syllable-timed  $\gamma \cdot \gamma - \Lambda$ root (tongue) 9 root (word) <sup>A</sup> schwa 12, 70-7, V1-7, 1.1-7, 1.2, 172 Scottish English  $\circ$ , 19,  $\circ$ , 155, 171, 175- $\circ$ , 17V secondary cardinal vowels 17 secondary stress Vo segmental phonology 119, 171 segments " semivowels °. sentence stress 107 slant brackets <sup>w</sup><sup>٤</sup> sociolinguistics 177 soft palate 9 sonority ٦٢ Spanish 11., 177, 175 speed 159 spelling <sup>r</sup> Spoken English Corpus 175 square brackets <sup>\varepsilon</sup> ± stem <sup>A</sup><sup>r</sup>, <sup>A</sup><sup>r</sup> stress T, TI, IE, VT-AI, 10T complex words  $\vee 7$ ,  $\wedge 7$ - $\wedge$ levels V2-0 perception VT-£ placement Vo-V primary Vo production **V**<sup>m</sup> secondary Vo sentence stress 10° tertiary Vo three-syllable words  $\forall A_- 9$ tonic stress 18., 108-5, 104, 109 transcription **Y**, **Y**o two-syllable words  $\forall \forall - \Lambda$ variable ^٦-٧ word-class pairs AV stress-shift ۱۰۹ stress-timed rhythm  $1. \forall, 1. \lambda_{-}$ strictures Yo style 177-V subglottal pressure Yo suffixes Ar, Ar\_0 suprasegmental phonology *T*, 119

suprasegmental variables paralinguistic 10., 101-Y prosodic 10., 101\_Y sequential 159 syllabic consonants 7, 72, 7A-V1, 1...1 syllabicity \.\ syllable-timed rhythm  $1 \cdot V_{-\Lambda}$ syllable-timing )). syllables "7, 07\_7", 1". coda 07, 7., A. division ٦٠-٢ heavy V9-A. length V £ light Y9\_A. loudness V£ minimum °٦ onsets 07, 0V, 7. peak 7., ٧٦-٧, ٨. sonority theory **٦**٢ strong 75, V7 structure ov\_7., ٦٢\_٣ tonic 18., 188, 187-A, 121-7, 108 unstressed Vo weak 75-VY, VV symbols "V phonemic x-xi, 7, 0, 19\_7., 77\_0 phonetic xii, ٣٣, ٣٤-0, ٣٧ tail 171-7, 177-5 teeth 9 tertiary stress Vo TESOL 7 thyroid cartilage <sup>۲</sup>۲ ToBi 155 tonal rhyme 187 tonality \22 tone Vo, 171-7, 17V-A, 155 falling 171, 177, 177, 127, 107, 10A fall-rise 177, 172-0, 177, 187-V, 12V, 10A fall-rise-fall **\YY** level 171, 170 moving 111 rise-fall 177, 170, 177, 184-154 rise-fall-rise **\YY** rising 171, 177-£, 177, 1£V, 100-7, 10A tone languages 177, 177-V, 179 tone-units 177, 179\_80, 187\_28 anomalous 127-۳ boundaries 187, 127, 100 heads 171, 171-2. pitch possibilities 177-1, 177-2. pre-head 171

structure 17.-7 tail 181-7. 188-5 tonic syllables 17.177.177.A.1E1.7, 107 transcription 171, 179, 177 tongue 9 tongue position 11-17,  $\xi \Lambda_{-0}$ ,  $7\Lambda$ tonic stress 17., 107-2, 104, 109 tonic syllables IT., ITT.ITT\_A.IEI\_T, IOT tonicity 155, 109 trachea ۲۲ transcription allophonic <sup>w</sup><sup>£</sup> broad phonetic <sup>w</sup><sup>٤</sup> from dictation "" intonation 171.179, 177.172.12. narrow phonetic <sup>\varphi</sup> phonemic **"**"-0 phonetic <sup>\\\\flace\-0</sup> stress VT, Vo from written text ٣٣-٤ triphthongs  $1^{-19}$ ,  $7^{-19}$ ,  $7^{-19}$ ,  $7^{-19}$ ,  $1^{-19}$ turn-taking 109 United Kingdom <sup>£</sup> unstressed syllables Vo upspeak/uptalk 170-7, 17V utterances 17. 17. velar consonants 9, 77, 77, 27 velar nasal consonant ٤٦, ٥١, ٥٣—٤ velum ٩ vocal apparatus  $\Lambda_{-1}$ . vocal cords ۲۲-٤ vocal effects 10., 101,107 vocal folds ۲۲-٤ vibration  $\gamma \pi_{-\xi}$ ,  $\gamma \circ_{\gamma} \gamma \gamma$ . vocal tract  $^{\Lambda}$ vocoids 12 voice quality 129, 10..107 voiced t 175

voiceless glottal fricatives ٢٣.٤٢ voiceless palatal fricatives ٤٣, ٤٥ voiceless w ٤٢-٣،٤٥ voicing Yo vowels 1.-10, 17-71 back 17 cardinal 17-17 close 11, 77-A diphthongs 1V-1A, Y., 1.. front 17 glide 1Y-19 lax 19.1.2 long 17-17, 1..open 11 pure 1V quadrilateral 17 quality ۲0, ۷٤ schwa 12, 70-7, V1-7, 1.1-7, 1.2, 172 short 17-12 tense 19, 1.2 triphthongs 1A-19, Y., I.. websites Y 'wh' EY-T, 20 "wh-question words" 107 whispered speech *\o*. words boundaries 111-17, 110-17 complex V7, AY\_A compound AY, Ao\_7 contracted forms  $\wedge 9$ ,  $11\xi_{-10}$ function words <sup>A</sup>9 polysyllabic VV-9, AY simple **V**٦ stress VT-A1, AT-A, 10T strong forms A9-9., 97-0 weak forms <a>^٩-٩٦</a> ero coda ۹۰ zero onset ov zero realisation 11"